
 

 

 
Agenda for Strategic Planning Committee 

Tuesday, 12th March, 2024, 10.00 am 
 
Members of Strategic Planning Committee 

Councillors: B Bailey, J Bailey, K Blakey, B Collins, O Davey 

(Chair), P Fernley, C Fitzgerald, M Hartnell, P Hayward, M Howe 
(Vice-Chair), B Ingham, D Ledger, Y Levine, T Olive and H Parr  

 
Venue: Clyst & Otter Rooms, Blackdown House, Honiton 

 
Contact: Wendy Harris; 

01395 517542; email wharris@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Friday, 1 March 2024; Re-issued Wednesday, 6 March 2024 
 

 
This meeting is being recorded for subsequent publication on the Council’s website and will 
be streamed live to the East Devon District Council Youtube Channel. 

 
1 Apologies   

2 Declarations of interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 

declarations of interest 
 

3 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 
 

4 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 
 

5 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have 

been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 
with in this way. 
 

6 Creation of Local Plan Member Working Group  (Pages 3 - 4) 

 This report seeks Member approval to the setting up of an informal Member Local 

Plan Working Group to oversee development of the East Devon Local Plan. 
 

7 Proposed Employment Sites for Consultation  (Pages 5 - 69) 

8 Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement in the new Local Plan  

(Pages 70 - 296) 

East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

https://www.youtube.com/@eastdevoncouncil1/streams
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


9 Coastal Preservation Area Policy Boundaries in the new Local Plan  (Pages 297 - 

359) 

 
 

 
 
Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 

public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 

it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 
you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 

meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 
equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  

 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 
disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 

asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 
oral commentary during the meeting. The Chair has the power to control public recording 

and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 
Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Speaking will be 

recorded. 
 

Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 5 March 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Creation of Local Plan Member Working Group 

Report summary: 

This report seeks Member approval to the setting up of an informal member Local Plan working 
group to oversee development of the East Devon Local Plan 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Committee agree to set up an informal working group of members to oversee 

development of the East Devon Local Plan. The working group to be made up of the Leader of 
Council, Chair and Vice Chair of the Strategic Planning Committee plus four other members of the 
Committee. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

Due to the significance of the development of the Local Plan, it is important that officers are able to 

engage with members informally between Committee meetings. It is also important that Members 
can oversee progress and ensure that the Local Plan is developing in accordance with the 
direction set by the Committee.     

 

Officer: Melanie Wellman, Director of Governance and Licensing 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☒ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Communications and Democracy 

☒ Economy 

☒ Finance and Assets 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☒ Culture, Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

page 3

Agenda Item 6



If choosing High or Medium level outline the equality considerations here, which should include 
any particular adverse impact on people with protected characteristics and actions to mitigate 

these.  Link to an equalities impact assessment form using the equalities form template. 

Climate change Medium Impact 

Risk: Low Risk; Having a small Working Group of members ensures that officers have a member 
sounding board between meetings and enables members to oversee progress of the Local Plan which is a 
critical document for the Council.  

Links to background information None 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Better homes and communities for all  

☒ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 

 

1. Report in full 

1.1 This report seeks members approval to the setting up of an informal Local Plan member 

working group that can oversee officer development of the East Devon Local Plan. The 
working group will supplement the already scheduled Committee meetings and workshops 

taking place with all members of the Committee.  
 

1.2 It is proposed that the working group consist of the Leader of Council, Chair and Vice Chair 

of the Strategic Planning Committee plus four other members of the Committee. It is 
important to emphasise that the role of this informal working group will be to simply oversee 

progress and not to make any decisions or direct the process. It will simply allow a small 
group of members to oversee progress on behalf of the Committee between formal 
Committee meetings. The working group needs to be small enough to be agile and needs 

to consist of members who will be able to meet regularly during the working day. It is 
anticipated that the working group will meet on a regular basis every 2 – 3 weeks. 

 

 

Financial implications: 

 There are no direct financial implications identified. 

Legal implications: 

 There are no substantive legal issues to be added to this report. 

 

page 4

http://eddcintranet/equalities/equality-impact-assessment-guidance-and-forms/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

Date of Meeting 12 March 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Proposed employment sites for consultation 

Report summary: 

At the 14 February 2023 meeting, this committee noted a report advising of the “Greater 
Exeter Economic Development Needs Assessment” (January 2023) report by the 

consultants Hardisty Jones into future employment needs in the district. Some proposed 
employment sites to accommodate some/all of this need were included in the draft Local 

Plan consultation but, since that time, a number of ‘new’ possible employment sites have 
been assessed as potential allocations. It is intended that the proposed ‘new’ employment 
sites, supported by the assessment work, be subject to public consultation in Spring 2024.   

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That Strategic Planning Committee agree to consult on the employment sites detailed in 

this report as part of the Reg 18 Addendum consultation planned to start at the end of 

March. 

 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that the public are given an opportunity to comment on the proposed allocations 
as part of the local plan production process.  

 

Officer: Ed Freeman  – Assistant Director, Planning Strategy and Development 

Management, e-mail – efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel 01395 517519 

  

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action and Emergency Response 
☒ Coast, Country and Environment 
☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☒ Economy and Assets 

☒ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 
☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 
 

page 5

Agenda Item 7

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


Equalities impact Low Impact 

. 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Medium Risk; It is important that we follow a defined assessment process in deciding 

which sites to allocate, to ensure a rational process is followed and can subsequently be 

justified. It is important that the public are given the opportunity to provide feedback in 
response to the draft proposals. 

Links to background information  

See links in the report. 

 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The emerging East Devon Local Plan will contain policies to ensure that sufficient 

employment land is allocated to meet East Devon’s needs. These areas will be 

restricted to employment uses such as offices, research and development, industrial 

processes and storage and distribution (uses within the E(g), B2 and B8 classes) but 

subordinate uses that are directly compatible with and complementary to the overall 

business use, such as trade counter sales, may also be allowed. The draft Local Plan 

consultation included a number of proposed employment allocations, but further sites 

have been put forward, and further assessment work has been undertaken, since then 

so that several additional sites have been identified with potential for employment use. 

Members are asked to agree that the additional proposed allocations be subject to 

public consultation early in 2024. 

1.2 This report is concerned only with ‘stand-alone’ employment allocations. It does not 

address the requirements for employment provision as part of ‘mixed use’ sites to 

provide jobs in conjunction with new housing developments, a number of which were 

consulted on as part of the previous draft plan consultation. It also does not seek to 

address employment land to be provided at the new town (which will be addressed 

through a masterplan) or Cranbrook (which is already identified in the adopted 

Cranbrook Plan). It is anticipated that small scale, individual employment will also be 

permitted on non-allocated sites (for example through changes of use of redundant 

buildings, re-use of brownfield sites or expansion of existing businesses) but these will 

be determined against the employment policies of the Local Plan and are likely to be 

very low numbers.  

2 Key evidence sources    

 
page 6

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


2.1 Evidence to underpin the level, type and location of new employment development will 

be derived from a number of sources. An employment topic paper will be produced 

prior to the Regulation 19 stage of Plan making which will set out clear justification for 

the proposed allocations and the policies which accompany them.  

Employment Land Review 

2.2 This monitoring document employment-land-review-to-year-end-31-march-2021-

min.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) is produced by the Planning Policy team and is updated 

regularly. The latest version was published in June 2022, with an updated document 

due in the coming months. It identifies the major employment sites and business parks 

in the district and within these employment areas it records and identifies plots of land 

and building floorspace that has been developed in previous years and vacant or 

undeveloped plots of land that could be suitable for future business development. The 

document also records planning permissions that have been implemented and any 

extant planning permissions on the land as at the report year end date.  

2.3 In addition to reporting on land availability this report provides a district wide analysis 

of Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) and Vacant NDR units at employment sites, 

commenting on identified uses of units, numbers and distribution across the district. 

The report also contains information on wage levels, unemployment rates and 

employee/job numbers in East Devon. 

Economic Development work 

2.4 The Economic Development team recently took a report to Cabinet Local Economic 

Review.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) and this highlights the core issues and challenges 

facing the district economy. This report is evidenced by the most up to date Census 

and ONS data, and data from the Economic Development Needs Assessment. A new 

Economic Development Strategy (2024-29) is being produced and (timing dependent) 

the emerging policies and actions will inform/be reflected in the Local Plan. This is due 

to be taken to Cabinet for endorsement in May 2024. 

 

Economic Development Needs Assessment 

2.5 Members agreed at SPC on 14th February 2023 that the “Economic Development 

Needs Assessment” (EDNA) produced by Hardisty Jones, should form a key part of 

the Local Plan evidence base, along with a market overview and assessment of 

potential supply (provided as an appendix to the report, by JLL property consultants).  

The report enables the council to ensure that there is evidence on employment need 

that is up to date in accordance with the latest Government planning policy and 

practice guidance and informed by available information.  

2.6 The report was commissioned collaboratively with Exeter City, Mid Devon District and 

Teignbridge District Councils, and covered the whole GESP area but was broken 

down to assess the level of need for each of the four districts. This council therefore 

only endorsed the East Devon element of the report as evidence.  It was intended that 

further evidence could be commissioned to add further sector-specific and site-specific 

detail and further quantify the amount of provision that is needed. 

page 7

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724425/employment-land-review-to-year-end-31-march-2021-min.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724425/employment-land-review-to-year-end-31-march-2021-min.pdf
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s21425/Local%20Economic%20Review.pdf
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s21425/Local%20Economic%20Review.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/flflexie/greater-exeter-edna-final-report-combined-v2-0.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/flflexie/greater-exeter-edna-final-report-combined-v2-0.pdf


2.7 In line with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Practice 

Guidance the focus of the EDNA report is on quantifying and justifying the economic 

development need for East Devon. Through the Local Plan the Council then needs to 

allocate enough employment land to meet the forecast demand over the 20 year plan 

period and support the delivery of allocated sites to ensure sufficient supply of suitable 

premises. Members should be aware that there is an historic, and ongoing, issue with 

the delivery of suitable sites in the district despite sufficient land being allocated to 

meet previously identified demand. This is discussed later in the report. 

2.8 The main body of the EDNA explains the methodology and assesses employment 

change, need arising from this change and likely demand for floorspace/sites in key 

employment sectors as a result. It also looks at the potential availability of sites to 

meet this need. It should be noted that the need for logistics was calculated on a 

study-wide basis and further, detailed work was recommended. The report concludes 

that an additional 8ha of land for logistics is likely to be required and given the activity 

in the West End and proximity to main transport routes, demand is likely to be 

concentrated in East Devon.  

1.3 Evidence Findings 

 

3.1 The EDNA considers a range of growth scenarios, from minimal growth to maximum 

growth, and estimates how much land is needed over the Plan period for each. 

Members have previously considered that a mid-point scenario should be used for 

forecasting. Recognising the Council’s sustainable, net-zero aspirations, the 

consultants were also asked to consider a ‘clean growth’ scenario which applies an 

uplift to employment growth in the Information & Communication and Professional, 

Scientific & Technical Activities sectors. Interestingly, there is very little difference in 

land requirements between the mid-point and clean growth requirements. 

  

 Fig 1 Requirements for office space 2020-2040 

Offices Minimum Mid-Point Clean Growth Maximum 

Total land requirement 

(ha) 2020-2040 

2-4 3-8 4-10 5-12 

Average annual land 

requirement (ha) 

0.1-0.2 0.2-0.4 0.2-0.5 0.2-0.6 

 

 Fig 2 Requirements for industrial space 2020-2040 

Industrial Minimum Mid-Point Clean Growth Maximum 

Total land requirement 

(ha) 2020-2040 

57-65 60-69 61-69 64-73 

Average annual land 

requirement (ha) 

2.9-3.3 3.0-3.5 3.0-3.5 3.2-3.6 

NB an additional 8 ha for logistics is likely to be required, with demand most likely in 

East Devon 

 

Employment Space Requirements 

 

page 8



3.2 Assuming Members agree that the mid-point and clean growth scenarios continue to 

be the most appropriate approach, taking the middle of the range of these figures 

gives the following approximate requirements from 2020-2040: 

 

 7ha of land for offices 

 73ha of industrial land (if the requirement for 8ha specifically for logistics is 

included), 65ha of industrial land otherwise 

 

The figures quoted above are considered to be the most accurate forecast of demand 

for the period 2020 to 2040 and take account of economic growth, economic change 

and demand for replacement premises.   

 

Appended to the EDNA is an assessment of known current demand in the market at 

the time of the report (50.8ha, August 2022). This is a snapshot at a single point in 

time based on enquiries to the agent undertaking the work. It is not therefore a 

complete picture of supply.  

 

Although these demand figures could be used to justify making provision for more 

employment land than that estimated in the EDNA, they should not be added to the 

EDNA figures.  

 

Employment Space supply 

 

3.3 The EDNA is accompanied by an assessment of supply (undertaken by JLL 

consultants). This provides a ‘snapshot in time’ assessment of available sites over 

185sqm, along with a Red/Amber/Green rating of their deliverability. This assessment 

concludes that there is a considerable oversupply of office space (albeit mostly 

concentrated at one location in Clyst St Mary) and a slight shortfall in industrial 

land. This was based on the need for 65ha of industrial land and the shortfall did not 

include the 8ha of additional logistics land. The report notes, however, that “some of 

the sites may have barriers to their delivery, and the District Council needs to work 

with landowners and promoters to understand and potentially help to overcome these. 

East Devon should also consider how to accommodate some of the forecast future 

demand driven by the economy of the City of Exeter, which may require further site 

allocations.” The report also acknowledges that as little as 39ha of the industrial land 

may be deliverable in the short term, so that the shortfall is likely to be greater than the 

figures suggest. 

 

3.4 This raises several issues which will impact on the need for additional employment 

allocations: 

 

 The available evidence suggests that there is a very high level of demand for 

sites and premises for smaller businesses and only a limited number of sites 

being marketed to accommodate that demand. The EDNA supply evidence does 

not look at availability of premises below 185sqm but a review of land agents 

websites suggests that there is little to no current availability of such units. 

Compounded with the barriers to short term delivery acknowledged in the EDNA, 

the potential current supply will not meet demand. 
page 9



  

 A number of employment allocations in the adopted Local Plan are very 

longstanding and have not been developed despite being identified for many 

years. As allocations, some of these sites are identified in the EDNA as potentially 

being available in the short term, but further work has recently been undertaken to 

understand the barriers to their delivery and why they have not come forward 

already despite clear policy support. An example being the allocations at 

Finnimore Industrial Estate in Ottery St Mary where the sites are within the 

floodplain and are not considered suitable for reallocation. Other reasons could 

include landowner intention, infrastructure cost, title restrictions and land values. 

If these sites are not likely to be developed in the short term then, if need is to be 

met, alternative, additional sites will need to be identified.  

 There is potential pressure to identify further land to meet Exeter’s employment 

need and this is explicitly referred to in the introductory summary to the EDNA 

(quoted in the preceding para above). The EDNA also states that “The City of 

Exeter is the main office location in Greater Exeter. However, it has insufficient 

employment land to meet its forecast demand for both offices and industrial 

development between 2020 and 2040. Delivery should be encouraged on all 

currently identified sites and conversion of redundant retail units should be 

considered. There is limited scope for more employment land in the city, above 

that already identified, so some of the demand for employment land stimulated by 

the city’s economy will need to be accommodated in its hinterland, in adjoining 

local authority areas. The Liveable Exeter initiative sets out proposals to replace 

some industrial sites with mixed-use development, including residential as well as 

employment space. This, along with the lack of potential employment sites 

emphasises the need to accommodate new employment development in its 

hinterland.” Since the EDNA’s production ECC have consulted on revised Local 

Plan proposals. Members agreed a response to this consultation at their meeting 

of 9th January 2024 part of which highlighted that the plan did not set out how the 

employment needs of the city would be met in full by the plan and asked ECC to 

advise how they will meet their need. The response also highlighted the lack of 

detail about the Liveable Exeter sites, the levels of employment to be provided on 

these sites and how displaced employment uses are to be accommodated. 

4. Potential sites for allocation in the new Local Plan 

 

4.1 The new Local Plan will identify sites as employment allocations. Primarily these areas 

will be reserved for offices, research and development, industrial processes and storage 

and distribution (uses within the E(g), B2 and B8 classes) but subordinate uses that are 

directly compatible with and complementary to the overall business use, and will 

enhance job provision and the effective operation and business appeal of the park or 

site, may also be allowed. Allocated sites will usually be distinct, undeveloped (or 

intended to be redeveloped) areas of at least 0.5ha; in addition, there will also be 

numerous unallocated, smaller parcels of land within existing established employment 

sites which could come forward as ‘windfalls’ (an allowance for these was made in the 

EDNA). 

4.2 Allocated sites will come from a number of sources, and some will have already been 

consulted upon: 
page 10



 Undeveloped allocations from the adopted Local Plan have been reallocated 

where there are sound reasons for them not being developed during the current 

plan period and there is a realistic expectation that they now will be.  As long-

standing allocations, these may not have been subject to the Draft Plan 

consultation last year. 

 Sites submitted to the initial Call for Sites. Many of these were consulted upon 

at Draft Plan consultation stage. This consultation included some longstanding 

allocations if they were submitted to the Call for Sites for reassessment. 

 ‘New’ sites submitted since last year’s consultation. These sites have now 

been assessed along with outstanding sites previously submitted. These will be 

consulted on in Spring if Members agree to the recommendation in this report. 

4.3 A list of proposed employment site allocations currently considered as having potential 

to be included in the new Local Plan is attached at Appendix 1. This identifies the site 

locations, site size and the consultation which has been carried out/is proposed to be 

carried out. This list may be revised in light of consultation feedback or on the basis of 

additional evidence, for example the viability work which is ongoing. The full list of sites 

to be consulted on, and the assessments undertaken, at this stage is attached at 

Appendix 2. Previous site assessment work can be viewed at Evidence Base and 

Supporting Documents - Site Selection and Settlement Boundary Setting - East Devon  

4.4 Appendix 1 shows that currently around 156ha of potential employment land has been 

identified in the district, of which around 120ha could potentially be allocated based on 

officers’ assessment. This does not discount sites which have been approved/built since 

the last employment land review (published in 2021) and some of the proposed sites 

may be discounted following consultation, so these figures will not be finalised until the 

next stage of Plan production. However, potential supply of 120ha of employment land 

against the identified need stated at Para 3.2 will potentially leave us with a pool of sites 

to choose from in drafting the Reg 19 version of the plan. There is some benefit in 

allocating more employment land than is strictly identified as being needed by the EDNA 

as some sites may not come forward. The market may also benefit from a range of 

choice given the changing needs of different employment sectors. There is also 

potential latent demand that should be taken into account when finalising employment 

land allocations. There is through a need to strike a balance between allocating enough 

employment land and not allocating too much because if there is perceived to be an 

oversupply of employment land then it may leave us under pressure from developers to 

release some for housing in the future. Equally some parties may argue that we need 

to increase our housing numbers in the Local Plan to meet demand from increased 

economic activity if we are seen to be over provided against the mid-point and clean 

growth scenarios in the EDNA.  

4.5 Appendix 1 includes provision for 18.4ha of employment land at Cranbrook and around 

17.5ha at the second new community. These will not be specifically allocated in the 

Local Plan (the former is identified in the Cranbrook Plan and the latter will be required 

and identified in a masterplan as a detailed scheme is progressed).  

4.6 In terms of the new second community an approximate figure has been calculated 

based on the total land budget for the new community which includes 48 hectares of 

employment land in total. The quantum of that figure that would come forward in this 
page 11

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/emerging-local-plan/evidence-base-and-supporting-documents/site-selection-and-settlement-boundary-setting/#article-content
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/emerging-local-plan/evidence-base-and-supporting-documents/site-selection-and-settlement-boundary-setting/#article-content


plan period will be determined from the masterplan work as there are various reasons 

why this figure may need to flex through this work. There is however an assumption that 

significant employment land should be delivered early in the build out to encourage self-

containment.  Overall, around 35.9ha from Cranbrook and the second new community 

have been counted towards the total employment provision in the district. 

4.7 It is considered sensible to ensure that a range and choice of sizes and types of 

employment land are provided in locations across the district. To allow flexibility and 

address the situation in the last local plan where some allocations did not come forward, 

it is proposed to allocate some additional land, over and above the EDNA identified 

need but the amount has yet to be finalised. Whilst the Enterprise Zone and wider West 

End are identified as strategically important and will provide the focus for high quality, 

highly skilled jobs, it is essential that land continues to be allocated at the market towns 

and larger villages with good public transport connectivity, to ensure that residents and 

local businesses are able to work close to home. In any case, it is intended that larger 

housing sites will be required to incorporate an element of employment land, thus 

making them mixed use, although these sites are not the subject of this report, and such 

provision is not taken into account in the totals reported on in this report. 

 5. Proposed Draft Plan Allocations which may need to be deleted 

 

5.1 Last year, a number of potential employment allocations (including sites submitted in 

response to the ‘Call for Sites’ and longstanding allocations) were assessed and 

consulted on. Very few objections to these sites were received and it is a clear option 

that most will progress to the Regulation 19 consultation stage. Unfortunately, two of 

the sites in the West End require more detailed consideration and may be deleted as 

employment allocations. As with many sites, both received mixed feedback, with views 

ranging from strong support for employment, to suggested alternative uses (mainly 

open space or housing), to objections to employment and objections to any 

development of the sites, however fundamental issues were also raised which are 

explained below. As these are both quite substantial sites, in a strategic location, 

Members are asked to note the position.  

 

5.2 The first of these sites, referred to in the consultation as “Land north of the Science 

Park”, measuring 4.37ha, (outlined purple on the map below) is being pursued as a 

housing site by the submitter, and may not be available for employment. Without 

owner support the site could not be progressed: 

page 12



 

  

5.3 The second site, referred to in the consultation as “Land north of Sowton village”, 

measures 19.29ha, and is outlined in purple on the map below. Historic England has 

raised concerns at the impact that employment development could have on Sowton 

Conservation Area and nearby heritage assets to the south of the site, and it lies 

within the proposed Clyst Valley Regional Park boundary. The eastern two fields are 

steeply sloping and visually prominent, as well as raising heritage considerations, but 

there may be scope to retain these as a more active part of the Clyst Valley Regional 

Park whilst developing the middle and western areas for employment. This warrants 

further assessment. Potentially around 10ha could be allocated. 

page 13



 

 

 

5.4 In addition the longstanding group of small-scale allocations at Honiton Industrial 

Estate, known as 11A, 11B, 11D and 11M (see plan below) are proposed for deletion. 

All of the sites, except 11A, have current planning applications on them. The sites are 

all within the existing employment area, where other non-employment uses would be 

contrary to policy, and therefore there is no policy benefit in continuing to specifically 

allocate them for such use. 

page 14



 
 

6. Public consultation  

 

6.1 It is proposed that public consultation on various local plan designations and 

allocations, including the new, additional, employment allocations, will be undertaken 

as soon as possible after receiving SPC approval. Such consultation will last for a 

minimum of 6 weeks. The suggested text and maps for the consultation are appended 

as Appendix 2 (these may be subject to minor amendments prior to the consultation. 

These will be limited to typographical or other corrections and improvements to the 

clarity of the maps/text): 

page 15



Financial Implications  

There are no direct financial implication resulting from the report.  

 

Legal Implications  

There are no direct legal implications resulting from the report.  

 

 

page 16



 APPENDIX 1- Existing and Proposed Employment Site Allocations 

Please note that, for existing allocations, the approximate areas are based on the vacant areas figures in the Employment land Review 

(2021). These will be updated once the 2023 report is published 

Is site 

proposed 

as an 

allocation 

in the new 

Local 

Plan? 

HELAA or 

consultation 

Ref 

Address Approx 

Size ha 

Is the site in 

the adopted 

Local Plan? 

Was the site 

consulted 

on at Draft 

Local Plan 

stage? 

Is the site 

proposed for 

the Spring 

consultation? 

These are the 

sites in the 

Committee 

Report  

Notes 

YES Brcl_27 Lodge Trading Estate, 

Broadclyst 

1.90   Yes Undeveloped part of an existing business 

park. Size reduced to exclude floodplain. 

Suited to most industrial use. 

YES Clge_07 Sandygate, Sandy 

Lane, Clyst St Mary 

0.72   Yes Extension to existing retail site. Suitable for 

light industry. 

YES Clge_23 Land at Dart’s Farm, 

Topsham Road 

0.63   Yes Intensification of existing retail park, best 

suited to manufacture of food/drink 

YES Far_01 Ware’s Farm, Clyst 

Honiton 

1.00   Yes Former farmyard, redundant following A30 

construction. Suitable for light industry. 

YES GH/ED/43 Land at Long Lane, 

adj Exeter Airport 

11.80   Yes Enterprise zone site, adjoining Exeter Airport. 

YES Otry_20 Land lying south east 

of Bridge Cottages, 

Feniton 

4.60   Yes Greenfield site suitable for light industry 

YES Sowt_15 Adjacent to Langdon’s 

Business Park, 

Sidmouth Road 

1.00   Yes Greenfield expansion of existing business 

park. Suitable for light industry. 

page 17



YES Axmi_01a Land west of Musbury 

Road, Axminster 

3.39  Yes  The developable area is dependent upon 

advice from flooding consultants 

YES GH/ED/82 Land east of Chard 

Road, Axminster 

3.30  Yes  Originally consulted on as 8.86ha but 

developable area is reduced to 

accommodate safeguarded land for a 

‘bypass’ and landscaping 

YES Gitti_03 

Gitti_04 

West of Hayne Lane, 

Honiton 

15.60 Yes Yes  In the adopted plan as phase 1- 5ha and 

phase 2- 10ha.  

YES Exmo_18 Phase 3, Liverton 

Business Park, 

Exmouth 

2.70 Yes Yes   

YES Sidm_24 

(041A) 

Sidford employment 

site Phase 2 (northern 

section) 

1.64 Yes Yes   

YES 041B Sidford employment 

site Phase 1 (southern 

section) 

4.18 Yes    Site already has outline planning permission 

for employment 

YES Sidmouth 

001A 

Alexandria Industrial 

Estate, Sidmouth 

0.20 Yes    

YES Exeter 

Gateway 

Office Park 

Adjoining Exeter 

Science Park 

1.48 Yes   Recorded as 1.63 in the ELR 

YES Exeter 

Science Park 

(27E-27L) 

Exeter Science Park 3.98 Yes   Vacant land within the Science Park 

 Skypark (26E-

26L) 

Skypark 19.39     

page 18



YES  Land north of Seaton, 

East of Harepath Road 

2.20  Yes  Part of a much larger mixed use scheme. 

Consultants previously estimated it as 4.6ha 

but it is currently proposed to be 2.2ha.  

YES Exeter 

Logistics Park 

Exeter Logistics Park, 

adjoining Lidl, Amazon 

and DHL 

10.12 Yes    

YES East of Airport 

(GH/ED/44) 

Employment land to 

the east of the Airport 

Buildings  

7.32  Yes  This site is already approved as it is the 

subject of a Local Development Order 

YES East of 

Airport, north 

of A30 

Employment land east 

of the airport, between 

Long Lane and the 

A30 

12.33  Yes   

PART Land north of 

Sowton 

(GH/ED/66) 

Land north of Sowton  (19.28) 

10.00? 

 Yes  See report. Assume 10ha of the original 

19.28ha site will be allocated but note this is 

subject to further work 

There is currently 119.48 ha of employment land that could be allocated in the new Local Plan.  Additionally, around 35.9ha of land at 

Cranbrook and the second new community will be provided but not specifically allocated in the Local Plan (see below) 

NO- this is 

in the 

Cranbrook 

Plan 

Land within 

the Cranbrook 

Plan Area 

Cranbrook Plan Area 18.40 Yes   Land identified within the Cranbrook Plan is 

counted towards the District figures but does 

not need to be allocated in the Local Plan 

NO Second New 

Community 

Second New 

Community 

Around 

17.50 

 Yes  Location and final quantum to be determined. 

An overall area for the new community will be 

identified in the Local Plan. The community 

will be developed beyond the 2040 plan 

timescale and the delivery timescale for the 

employment provision has yet to be finalised 

 

page 19



Appendix 2- Employment Site Selection summary findings 

 

East Devon Local Plan 2020 to 2040  

Preferred Options Reg. 18 Further Consultation Draft Plan  

Spring 2024 

We consulted on a draft local plan from November 2023 to December 2024 that 

referred to employment sites. At that stage we suggested possible policy wording 
and showed some sites on maps but we have now identified some extra, new sites. 
These would be allocated in addition to the sites we have published previously. We 

are now consulting on: 

 New employment site allocations 

In considering these we would encourage you to look at the consultation  
commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) as this sets out the 

context for the policy and also to read our background technical papers - insert link 
(the summaries, methodology and full assessments).  

We propose to identify sites for employment use only, to ensure we have enough 

land for jobs close to where people live and work. On these sites we would allow 
industrial and business uses, storage and distribution. This will enable new 

businesses to find premises and existing businesses to have space to expand as 
well as encouraging investment in high value jobs that will increase skills and wages.    

We propose that other types of development are only permitted within these areas if 

they will directly support the employment use and encourage investment.  

For information, on employment sites we will apply the following policy:  

Strategic Policy xx – Employment development within settlement boundaries 

In order to ensure that employment is an integral part of communities, development 
for employment uses will be permitted within defined settlement boundaries, as 

shown on the Policies Map. Such development must be compatible with 
neighbouring developments and land uses and not give rise to adverse amenity 
impacts or not undermine plan strategy or specific policies directly relevant to the 

use of the land in question. 

 

On existing employment and business parks, and on employment allocated land, 
uses other than those within classes  E(g), B2 and B8 (offices, research and 
development, industrial processes and storage and distribution) will not be permitted 

unless they can be shown to be subordinate to, directly compatible with and 
complementary to the overall business use and will enhance job provision and the 

effective operation and business appeal of the park or site.  

The maps that follow show the areas of land that we think should be designated as 
new employment sites, in addition to those that we have previously consulted on. 

We include maps and assessments of the potential employment sites in the 
remainder of this report and we would welcome your views on whether you think 

page 20

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724891/commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf
https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/employment-site-allocations-and-other-policies/step1


these should be allocated and if so whether we have shown appropriate boundaries. 
If you think that different boundaries would be more appropriate, please tell us where 

they should go and why. At this stage we are not asking for new sites to be 
suggested. 

page 21



 

page 22



Site details 

Location: Lodge Trading Estate, near Broadclyst 

Reference number: Brcl_27 

Site area (ha): 8.42 

Address: Lodge Trading Estate, Broadclyst Station Road, EX5 3BS 

Proposed use: Mixed use/Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

The site contains an existing business park. DCC advise that careful consideration needs 
to be given to Broadclyst Station, the WEA of Cranbrook, and the associated detail in the 

emerging Cranbrook Plan 

Landscape  

page 23



Low-medium sensitivity. The site is not in a designated landscape. It does feature in 
some medium-long range views and is relatively flat and open, but development would 

be seen in the context of existing development. 

Historic environment 

Medium-There is evidence of prehistoric enclosure and field boundaries. An 
archaeological survey is needed prior to development and it may be possible to design a 
layout to incorporate any subterranean remains. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse harm predicted (not significant). Site lies immediately adjacent to a 

unconfirmed wildlife site, priority habitat and nature recovery network. Retention of the 
boundary hedgerow and careful landscaping could minimise any impact on these areas 

Accessibility 

Site adjoins the outskirts of Cranbrook and lies approximately halfway between the A30 
and Broadclyst in a small hamlet. Accessibility is reasonable and the main road is very 

well used, albeit prone to flooding and narrow in parts.The site is within 1,600 metres of 4 
or more different local facilities and within 1,600 metres of a train station or bus route with 
an hourly or better service.  

Other constraints 

Overhead high voltage electricity line with possible easement on a very small part of the 

northern boundary. No high pressure gas pipeline zones. Site lies adjacent to the Cranny 
Brook. Approx 4 ha of the total site is in Flood Zone 3. This will impact on the gross 
development area. An additional 0.9 ha is in Flood Zone 2, Flood zones 2 and 3 are on 

the northern and eastern boundaries. Area of low risk of surface water flooding in the 
northern part of the site. Grade 3a and 3b agricutlural land.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

The site is partly developed, partly overgrown. Opportunity to reuse a brownfield site. 
Poorly related to Cranbrook despite proximity, due to difficulty with bridging the railway 

line. 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

1.89 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Site is located in the countryside but within walking/cycling distance of Cranbrook 

and a tier 4 settlement. Includes existing business park. 

page 24



Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

The site is reasonably well located adjacent to development (and including existing 

commercial development), close to facilities and public transport. It could function as 

an expansion to the existing business park. Development could affect subterranean 

heritage assets. The design would need to protect existing trees and hedgerows and 

an archeological assessment would be required. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Yes, 1.89 ha is outside the floodplain and not already in an active employment use. 

page 25



Site details 

Location: Land south of Sandygate Farm, M5 J30 

Reference number: Clge_07 

Site area (ha): 0.72 

Address: Land adjacent Martins of Exeter Ltd, Clyst Road, Sandygate, Exeter, EX2 

7JL 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

DCC Highways: Access via Martins only. 

Landscape 

page 26



This site sits on the border of East Devon, near the developed area of Exeter and 
alongside the busy M5 motorway. It is not within a designated landscape, Site could be 

seen in the context of caravan dealer, M5 and Sandy Park rugby ground, however the 
views has been minimises due to the distance and intervening vegetation and hedgerow. 

Due to these limitations, the overall landscape sensitivity of the site is considered low.  

Historic environment 

The nearest designated heritage asset is Clyst St Mary bridge ancient monument 219m 

east of site, however Site is not visible from this asset, due to the distance and 
intervening vegetation minimises views. 

Ecology 

The site covered by Unimproved grassland, including overgrown grass, Trees and 
vegetation on the edge of the site boundary, including some mature trees. Clyst Marshes 

CWS within 150m and Sowton - Winslade Park Marshes UWS within 200m and located 
in the other side of A376. Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant). 

Accessibility 

The site is within 1,600 metres of 4 or more different local facilities and within 1,600 
metres of a train station or bus route with an hourly or better service. 

Other constraints 

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Yes 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

0.72 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Located in the Western side of East Devon where the Local Plan focuses new 

development, including a new town and other major strategic developments close to 
Exeter. 

Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Positives:  Good access to existing facilities and employment opportunities. The site with 
limited impact upon the historic environment, limited impact on the landscape and minor 

ecological impact. Negatives: Accessible from Clyst Road available, however extra 

page 27



arrangement and work would be needed, worth to note that the land owned by Martins, a 
company owned by the landowner. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

N/A

page 28



Site details 

Location: Darts Farm 

Reference number: Clge_23 

Site area (ha): 3.3 

Address: Darts Farm, EX30QH 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Existing developed site. Good road access 

Landscape  

page 29



Low-medium As a site with existing commercial development on it, in an undesignated 
landscape, the potential harm is limited. 

Historic environment 

Low: no concerns identified on current evidence, although archaeological mitigation 

measures may be required. No impact upon an asset is predicted or, if an impact is 
predicted, the cultural heritage value of the asset(s) would be unaffected. 

Ecology 

No concerns identified 

Accessibility 

The site includes a range of shops and there are community facilities and services within 
1600m. There is a frequent bus service.  The majority of these facilities are within the 
village centre although access from the site would be via an unlit main road.  

Other constraints 

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Yes 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

0.63ha 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is not at a tiered settlement but is previously developed and already offers 

local employment. As such it is suitable for a small amount of additional employment 

use to meet local needs. 

Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

The sites performs well in all respects. As it is largely developed already, there is 

limited space for further development. It is recommended that an area 0.63ha to the 

north east of the site be allocated for employment 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Yes- 0.63ha to the north east could be allocated for employment 

page 30



Site details 

Location: Land NE of Darts Farm 

Reference number: Clge_25 

Site area (ha): 4.51 

Address: Land adjoining Darts Farm, EX30QH 

Proposed use: Mixed Use 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Would need a new access or potentially could share Dart's Farm access. Close to 

facilities and bus route 

Landscape  

page 31



Medium- The site is an undeveloped, open field with some existing development around 
it. 

Historic environment 

Low: no concerns identified on current evidence, although archaeological mitigation 

measures may be required. No impact upon an asset is predicted or, if an impact is 
predicted, the cultural heritage value of the asset(s) would be unaffected. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect, although a hedgerow may need to be removed to facilitate access 

Accessibility 

The site lies adjacent to a small range of shops and there are community facilities and 
services within 1600m. There is a frequent bus service.  The majority of these facilities 
are within the village centre although access from the site would be via an unlit main 

road.  

Other constraints 

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Yes 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

4.51 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is not at a tiered settlement and is an undeveloped field in open countryside. 

Although it lies adjacent to a site which offers local employment (hence it 

progressing to stage 3 assessment), that site can accommodate the additional 

employment required to meet local needs. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

This site performs reasonably well but it is not required as sufficient employment 

land to serve local needs can already be accommodated on the adjoining site. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 32



Site details 

Location: Adj. Darts Business Pk 

Reference number: Clge_39 

Site area (ha): 2.77 

Address: Land south of Old Ebford Lane, Ebford, EX3 0GA 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Landscape  

Development of any part of the site will urbanise a currently rural area. Visual impact will 
be significantly increased if a major access is required. Sensitivity is increased because 

page 33



the site is bounded by footpaths/cycleways which access the wider footpath/cycle 
network along the Exe Estuary approx 100m away 

Historic environment 

Medium- There is evidence of medieval earthworks and field remnants. An 

archaeological survey is needed prior to development and it may be possible to design a 
layout to incorporate any subterranean remains. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse harm predicted (not significant). Despite proximity to the nationally 
important River Exe and estuary development is unlikely to have a significant impact due 

to intervening land uses 

Accessibility 

Site lies between Ebford and Clyst St George (Approx 400m and 800m respectively). 

There is a nearby bus service on the main road. The site is bounded by public footpahs 
on three sides. Access roads to the north and south are very narrow country lanes.  

Other constraints 

Grade 1 agricultural land (a very small area to the north west corner is Grade 2)  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

2.77 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Site is located in the countryside but within walking/cycling distance of two tier 4 

settlements. Close to existing business park. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Site is located in a rural position accessed along single track roads. Development, 

along with additional commercial traffic, would change the character to an 

unacceptable degree. Grade 1 agricultural land. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 34



Site details 

Location: Adj. Darts Business Pk 

Reference number: Clge_40 

Site area (ha): 3.34 

Address: Land south of Topsham Road, Clyst St George, EX3 0QH 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Nearby highway network already has capacity issues, 

Landscape  

page 35



Low-medium sensitivity. The site is not in a designated landscape. It does feature in 
some medium-long range views and is relatively flat and open, but development of the 

western end would be seen in the context of existing development. 

Historic environment 

Moderate- A Grade 2 listed farmhouse and it's garden lie within the western section of 
the site and there is potential for harm. It is recommended that any development be 
restricted to the eastern field and not encroach onto the farmhouse garden in any way. 

Harm could be reduced through landscaping, design, reducing density and height, and 
reflecting the agricultural charater of the area. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse harm predicted (not significant). Despite proximity to the nationally 
important River Exe and estuary development is unlikely to have a significant impact due 

to intervening land uses 

Accessibility 

Site lies between Ebford and Clyst St George (Approx 400m from each). There is a 
nearby bus service. The site is opposite an existing shopping/retail park and there are 
several other businesses nearby.  

Other constraints 

Grade 1 agricultural land  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Yes 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

2.9 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Site is located in open countryside, albeit close to a tiered settlement, adjacent to a 

small business park and opposite a retail park 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

The site is reasonably well located but it forms the pastoral setting to the Grade 2 

listed farmhouse to the west. The site is quite exposed, so development will be 

highly visible, and the land is Grade 1. 

page 36



If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 37



Site details 

Location: Land to north of Exeter Airport 

Reference number: Clho_09 

Site area (ha): 15.3 

Address: Land to north (Phase 1) of Exeter International Airport, Exeter, Devon 

(37.51 acres), EX5 2BD 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Poor access, very close to airport 

Landscape  

page 38



Low- the landscape is previously developed/degraded 

Historic environment 

Moderate - Change affecting the special character of assets, where elements which 
contribute to their significance and their setting are harmed.  The site was formerly 

farmland but was built as an RAF airfield in the 1940's. The site contains infrastructure on 
the HER associated with the airfield use 

Ecology 

No concerns identified 

Accessibility 

The site lies close to Cranbrook and employment uses, within the airfield, although these 
are not easily accessible. It will adjoin the Treasbeare expansion area but that is not yet 
developed  

Other constraints 

Within the airport safeguarding and noise zones  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

15.3 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is not at a tiered settlement, although it will be in future. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

This site performs reasonably well but it is not required as sufficient employment 

land can already be accommodated on more accessible and better related sites. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 39



Site details 

Location: South of Exeter Airport Business Park 

Reference number: Farr_01 

Site area (ha): 0.9 

Address: Wares farm, Clyst Honiton Exeter, EX5 2BL 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Close to existing employment site, albeit on opposite sides of the A30. Access may need 

to be upgraded 

Landscape  

page 40



Medium- non-designated rural landscape dominated by trunk road. 

Historic environment 

High-Medium- but further assessment is needed to confirm significance as little remains. 
The site was formerly a farmyard serving surrounding fields and potetially dating from 

1452, however the A30adjoins the site and has totally severed it from the surroundings. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

Close to existing employment site and bus stop  

Other constraints 

Grade 2 Agricultural land  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

1 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is not at a tiered settlement, it is in open countryside, albeit very closely 

related to an existing employment site 

Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

The site performs well and could provide an alternative to the very high quality 

employment sites at the Airport 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

N/A

page 41



Site details 

Location: Exmouth 

Reference number: Exmo_24 

Site area (ha): 9.88 

Address: Land to the north of Salterton Road, Exmouth, EX8 2NR 

Proposed use: Mixed residential and employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

No specific infrastructure concerns are currently identified for this site.  Road access 

would appear to be possible from Salterton Road. 

Landscape  

page 42



The site lies just to the north of the East Devon AONB, separated from it by the east-west 
running Salterton Road.  There is, however, comparatively limited inter-visibility between 

the AONB to the south (at least so for westerly parts of the site) and the site itself.  In 
views from the north the site is more open and exposed, including from longer distance 

AONB views.  The site has a rural feel for large areas, rather than an urban edge of 
Exmouth feel, with higher land in western parts of the site blocking views to urban built up 
areas.  However a solar farm to the north of the site does compromise the sense of site 

tranquillity to some degree. 

Historic environment 

There are no designated heritage assets in close proximity of the site. 

Ecology 

The site comprises of a series of fields of improved grassland.  It has hedgerow 

boundaries with these supporting a number of mature trees. To much of the northern 
edge of the site the planting is particularly mature.  The hedgerows and some trees 

around the site can be expected to be of some local wildlife interest. 

Accessibility 

Parts of the site fall within 1,600 metres of a range of facilities.  However many of the 

facilities, even for the closer westerly parts of the site, are towards the upper end of this 
distance range and for easterly parts of the site walking distances to some services and 

facilities would be beyond this distance range.  

Other constraints 

There are no significant site constraints noted.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Opportunities 

There are no specific identified opportunities that site development might help deliver. 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

148 dwellings or 9.8768 Ha employment land 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Exmouth is the Principal Centre in East Devon and should therefore see significant 

development to serve its own needs and that of the wider surrounding areas. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

page 43



The site is not regarded as appropriate for allocation for development.  It is quite 

open and exposed in landscape terms and large parts have a rural rather than urban 

fringe character.  Easterly parts of the site, in particular, are remote from services 

and facilities and if the site were developed it would form a quite large 'tongue of 

development' projecting into open countryside with visual impacts on areas of open 

countryside and designated AONB. On account of potential for adverse impacts the 

site is not recommended as an allocation for development. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Not applicable. 

page 44



Site details 

Location: Exmouth 

Reference number: Lymp_13 

Site area (ha): 1.1 

Address: Kings Garden & Leisure, Higher Hulham Road, Exmouth, EX8 5DZ 

Proposed use: Site is understood to be promoted for employment development 

though it may contain scope for some housing. 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

No specific infrastructure concerns are noted. 

Landscape  

page 45



The site comprises of an existing garden centre with around 20% of the site comprising 
of buildings, part forming outdoor display and retail areas and most comprising of car 

parking and  hard surfacing.  The site is reasonably flat and well screened from 
surrounding areas, noting also the current ongoing/planned development to the south of 

the site.  The garden centre frontage to Hulham Road to the north is quite prominent 
from the road. 

Historic environment 

There are no designated heritage assets in close proximity of the site. 

Ecology 

The site is currently developed land, a garden centre, comprising mostly of car parking 
and hard standing and as such it has low ecological value.  There are, however, some 
areas of local wildlife importance in relative close proximity of the site. 

Accessibility 

The site falls within 1,600 metres of a range of services and facilities.  However, the 

relatively remote location of the site on the northern edge of Exmouth means that many 
services are toward the upper rather than lower end of this distance with  busy roads also 
present.  

Other constraints 

A small section of the site to the west is at high risk of flooding from surface water runoff.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

Opportunities 

No specific matters are identified. 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

1.1 ha employment land or 25 dwellings 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Exmouth is the Principal Centre in East Devon and should therefore see significant 

development to serve its own needs and that of the wider surrounding areas. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

The site is in current productive developed use and whilst redevelopment for 

residential or other purposes would be likely to have minimal adverse landscape, 

heritage or wildlife interest  a redevelopment scheme for housing (or lower density 

page 46



employment uses) would result in job losses.  Given its current productive use it is 

suggested that the site should be retained for employment/job generating uses and 

not allocated for residential purposes.  Furthermore, in assessing the site the HELAA 

panel advised "Probably unachievable if the site is for a net additional 2200 sqm of 

development i.e. additional to the existing retail floorspace.  Possibly achievable if 

the site is for a replacement 2200sqm". Allocation for housing is not proposed as the 

site is in a current active employment use. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 47



Site details 

Location: Exeter Airport Business Park 

Reference number: GH/ED/43 

Site area (ha): 11.8 

Address: Land north of Long Lane, adjacent Exeter International Airport 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

The site adjoins an existing business park. There may be access constraints but Long 

Lane is undergoing/has undergone improvements. Wider junction capacity constraints 

Landscape  

page 48



Low 

Historic environment 

Moderate - Change affecting the special character of assets, where elements which 
contribute to their significance and their setting are harmed.  The site is within the RAF 

airfield, a non-designated heritage asset 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

Site lies within the West End, in close proximity to employment development.  

Other constraints 

Access can be achieved through existing field gate off Long Lane. Long Lane is 
unsuitable to serve strategic employment at present. However, widening of Long Lane 

from the B3184 past the airport main entrance to this site is identified in the adopted 
Local Plan and IDP. Bids for grant funding to bring the allocation forward have been 

submitted. Alternative access could potentially be acheived through provision of a new 
junction on the A30, to serve this allocation and surrounding sites. Development has 
potential to impact on Junction 29 of the M5, which suffers congestion at peak periods. 

The centre of the site is approx 2.3km from Cranbrook train station, although the airport’s 
location means that the route is actually far longer. The Exmouth-Woodbury Airport-

Exeter bus serves the airport terminal and the site is a short walk from here. 
Pedestrian/cycle access to the airport terminal and other West End sites would need to 
be greatly improved.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

11.8 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is not at a tiered settlement, it is in open countryside, albeit very closely 

related to an existing employment site 

Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

page 49



The site is well located in the West End adjacent to an existing employment area 

(and forming an extension to it). Road improvements are required but these are 

planned for. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Not applicable

page 50



Site details 

Location: Feniton 

Reference number: Otry_20 

Site area (ha): 4.64 

Address: Land Lying To The South East Of Bridge Cottages, Feniton, EX14 3BR 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

There are no infrastuctre matters identified. 

Landscape  

page 51



The site juts out in a south easterly direction from the existing built form of Feniton and 
would constitute new development south of Green Lane that for the most part forms the 

southerly boundary of built development in/at the village.  The site is, however, flat and 
quite low lying and with some mature planting to parts of site boundaries. The site is 

currently predominantly used as an orchard, though with a poultry house within. The 
north-easterly boundary of the site is bounded by the railway and this limits views in, 
however a public footpath runs along the westerly boundary and this has a more  visually 

open aspect to the site. 

Historic environment 

The nearest Listed building to the site is the Grade II Metcombe Cottage which is around 
200 metres to the west and at this distance, and noting existing mature vegetation, there 
is limited visual connectivity between the site and this property.  Whilst a large scale, 

high, development may have some degree of adverse impact this is likely to be limited 
and mitigation, or more simply low level development, should address concerns. 

Ecology 

There are no designated wildlife sites in close proximity of the site nor other nearby 
features or areas of wildlife importance that development could be expected to adversly 

impact on.  Being a site that is intensively managed for fruit production it is liable to have 
limited on site wildlife value.  However tree coverage, with some mature trees, to 

boundaries are likely to be of some value. 

Accessibility 

The site falls within 1,600 metres of the modest range of services and facilities that are 

available in Feniton.  

Other constraints 

No identified constraints to development are noted.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

No specific opportunities are identified. 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

4.64 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Feniton is a Service Village where there should be limited development to meet local 

needs. 

Should the site be allocated? 

page 52



It is concluded that, for employment uses only, the site would be a credible option for 
allocation.  However, this maybe applicable to part of the site only. 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Yes - but depending on quantified needs assessment work. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Not applicable. 

page 53



Site details 

Location: Adj. M5 near Poltimore 

Reference number: Polt_04 

Site area (ha): 34.2 

Address: Land at Poltimore Barton, Poltimore, EX4 0BQ 

Proposed use: Employment/Service Station 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Large combination of sites. Distant from Stoke Canon Primary which has some capacity 

to support development - consider in relation to Pinhoe. New primary and secondary 
capacity required, and depending on provision, transport costs would apply for primary 

and secondary. Need to be considered alongside west end development and Exeter 
development plans. We would have no problem with self-contained services for the M5 

page 54



in this location being in the next local plan as long as there is no through route to the local 
highway network. 

Landscape  

Medium- the topography is such that the development would be visible in long range 

views 

Historic environment 

High-  contains several Historic Environment Record's but also impacts on the Deer Park 

setting of nearby Grade 2* listed Poltimore House. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

The site is within 1,600 metres of 4 or more different local facilities and within 1,600 

metres of a train station or bus route with an hourly or better service  

Other constraints 

Approx. 1.1 ha of the site is in Flood Zone 3. It may contain some grade 1 agricultural 
land.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

34.2 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is in open countryside, however it adjoins the motorway and (if the emerging 

spatial strategy requires a services) this is one of a very limited locations where the 

development could be located 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Probably unachievable for all employment uses, except possibly for motorway 

services, if there is evidence of need for these services; and subject to not linking on 

to the local highway network. No confirmation that a services is required. Moderate 

page 55



impact on the agricultural setting of Grade 2* Poltimore House, parkland and 

associated Grade 2 listed buildings. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 56



Site details 

Location: Adj. M5 near Poltimore 

Reference number: Polt_06 

Site area (ha): 45.2 

Address: Land at Poltimore/Broadclyst, EX40BQ 

Proposed use: Employment/Service Station 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Large combination of sites. Distant from Stoke Canon Primary which has some capacity 

to support development - consider in relation to Pinhoe. New primary and secondary 
capacity required, and depending on provision, transport costs would apply for primary 

and secondary. Need to be considered alongside west end development and Exeter 
development plans. We would have no problem with self-contained services for the M5 

page 57



in this location being in the next local plan as long as there is no through route to the local 
highway network. 

Landscape  

Medium- the topography is such that the development would be visible in long range 

views 

Historic environment 

High-  contains several Historic Environment Record's but also impacts on the Deer Park 

setting of nearby Grade 2* listed Poltimore House. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

The site is within 1,600 metres of 4 or more different local facilities and within 1,600 

metres of a train station or bus route with an hourly or better service  

Other constraints 

Approx. 16 ha of the site is in Flood Zone 3.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

45.2 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is in open countryside, however it adjoins the motorway and (if the emerging 

spatial strategy requires a services) this is one of a very limited locations where the 

development could be located 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Probably unachievable for all employment uses, except possibly for motorway 

services, if there is evidence of need for these services; and subject to not linking on 

to the local highway network. No confirmation that a services is required. Moderate 

page 58



impact on the agricultural setting of Grade 2* Poltimore House, parkland and 

associated Grade 2 listed buildings. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 59



Site details 

Location: Adj. Oil Mill Ln Ind Est 

Reference number: Sowt_15 

Site area (ha): 9.55 

Address: Langdon Business Park Sidmouth Road, Clyst St Mary, EX5 1AF 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

Existing business park with established access, limited in size, reasonable road collision 

record within vicinity. 

Landscape  

page 60



The sensitivity varies across the site and increases to the east. Any development should 
be restricted to the west of the site, between Langdon's Business Park and the 

commercial buildings to the south. Visual impact will be significantly increased if a new 
access onto A3052 is required. The development boundaries should be landscaped with 

a hedge of native species and a strip of woodland to soften the transition between the 
remaining field and new development. 

Historic environment 

Medium- no significant effects which cannot be mitigated.  An impact is predicted, but 
would not compromise the asset(s) cultural heritage value to the extent that the attributes 

that led to its designation, or ability to understand or appreciate its value, are diminished 
or compromised.  Mitigation may make the impact acceptable, this is likely to be in the 
form.  The overall significance of the asset would not therefore be materially changed 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

The site lies around 400m from Clyst St Mary, adjacent to an existing business park with 
established access and close to a pub, an exhibition centre and a residential caravan 

park. Bus stop within easy walking distance (although there is limited pavement).  

Other constraints 

Protected trees lie within and in the boundary of the site. These would require protection.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

The existing business park could be extended, providing an opportunity for existing 

businesses to expand 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

1 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

Site is located in the countryside but within walking/cycling distance of a tier 4 

settlement. Adjoins existing business park. 

Should the site be allocated? 

Yes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

page 61



The site is reasonably well located adjacent and opposite development, close to 

facilities and public transport. It could function as an expansion to the existing 

business park. Development of the whole site would be excessive and inappropriate 

visually, it could also affect heritage assets. Restricting development to the western 

half of the site would be more appropriate, although the design would need to protect 

existing trees and an archeological assessment would be required. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

Yes, approximately 1 ha to the west of the site could be allocated provided existing 

trees are protected and an archaeological assessment is undertaken. Landscaping 

should also be undertaken along the new eastern field boundary of the allocation 

page 62



Site details 

Location: Adjoining Woodbury Business Park 

Reference number: Wood_31 

Site area (ha): 5.5 

Address: Land Adjoining Woodbury Business Park, Woodbury, EX5 1AY 

Proposed use: Employment 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

DCC Highways: A3052/A376 Sites - The highway network already has capacity issues, 

there are limited public transport options and distance from the main attractors is beyond 
most walking and cycling distance. There are numerous sites in the vicinity and they 

need to be considered in a comprehensive masterplan and access strategy. In addition 
the site is remote from other development and facilities with poor ped/cycle links. Middle 

page 63



and outer zone of high pressure gas pipeline covers western part of site, which has been 
excluded from site area to end up with a yield of 2.3 ha. 

Landscape  

Gently rolling portion of larger field in arable cultivation. Bounded by historic hedgerow on 

north west, and west boundary. Woodbury Business Park is adjacent to the north, 
bounded by modern planting. Elsewhere, fields surround the site, with a single 
carriageway road adjacent to north west. On-site high voltage electricity mast and pylons, 

with an electricity sub station adjacent to west. Overall, medium landscape sensitivity to 
development. 

Historic environment 

Grade II listed Venmore Farm is around 110m from NE edge of the site. The intervening 
Woodbury Business Park, existing mature trees to the south of the Grade II listed 

Venmore Farm, and distance (over 100m) all limit/obscure views between the site and 
the listed building. There is a post-medieval to modern extraction pit in the northern part 

of the site close to the road. Overall, Low: no concerns identified on current evidence, 
although archaeological mitigation measures may be required 

Ecology 

Large, arable field within Exe Estuary and Pebblebed Heaths habitat mitigation zones, 
but the proposed use for employment development means a limited effect compared to 

residential. Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant) 

Accessibility 

8 out of 12 facilities within 1,600m of site. However, as of October 2022, bus services are 

no longer stopping at the bus stops adjacent to Woodbury Business Park. With no 
footpath, car travel is the only realistic means of travel for people travelling to work at the 

site, and to access facilities elsewhere.  

Other constraints 

Grade 3 agricultural land. Slither of 1/30 year surface water flood risk crosses W part of 

site. Site includes existing business park which has been removed from final yield.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

None identified. 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

2.3 

Contribution to spatial strategy 

page 64



Extension of existing business park in a countryside location, where the emerging 

spatial strategy does not support development. 

Should the site be allocated? 

No 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Site is of a significant scale in a countryside location that is only accessible by 

private car, with no public transport service or walking/cycling potential to access the 

site. In addition, medium landscape sensitivity to development. The relatively limited 

employment land need alongside these constraints means that this site should not 

be allocated. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 65



Site details 

Location: Adjoining Greendale Business Park 

Reference number: Wood_38 

Site area (ha): 72.1 

Address: Greendale Business Park, Sidmouth Road, Woodbury Salterton, Exeter, 

EX51EX 

Proposed use: Employment/Mixed use 

Site map 

 

Site Assessment Summary and Conclusion  

Infrastructure  

A3052/A376 Sites - The highway network already has capacity issues, there are limited 

public transport options and distance from the main attractors is beyond most walking 
and cycling distance. There are numerous sites in the vicinity and they need to be 

considered in a comprehensive masterplan and access strategy 

page 66



Landscape  

Medium- Limited sense of the site from the A3052 to the north, but views from the 

access road quickly become apparent showing the extensive existing business park 
in the foreground and fields beyond. There are open views of the site from lane 

(Warkidons Way) to the south, which show the built form of the existing business 
park set lower down the valley, along with Hogsbrook Farm buildings to east, 
surrounded by rural context of agricultural fields rising to the south. Similar findings 

for view along White Cross Road and Honey Lane - predominantly rural context, with 
the presence of existing business park in views to the north. 

Historic environment 

Medium- no significant effects which cannot be mitigated.  An impact is predicted, 

but would not compromise the asset(s) cultural heritage value to the extent that the 

attributes that led to its designation, or ability to understand or appreciate its value. 

Grade II listed Greendale Barton is located in the centre of the site, on the southern 

edge of the existing business park. Grade II listed Brooklands Farm is around 30m 

from edge of site in north west mature trees obscure views into the site, but potential 

impact upon this asset. 

Ecology 

Minor adverse effect predicted (not significant)- Several TPOs cover parts of the site. 

Hogsbrook Farm County Wildlife Site located 131m to south. 

Accessibility 

The site is within 1,600 metres of 4 or more different local facilities and within 1,600 

metres of a train station or bus route with an hourly or better service  

Other constraints 

Northern tip of site may contain Grade 2 agricultural land, but the remainder is Grade 3. 
A slither of Flood zone 3 and high surface water flood risk bisects the central part of the 
site, east to west. Flood risk also present on western and eastern fringes. Most of site, 

except southern and eastern edge, is within waste consultation zone. No overhead high 
voltage electricity lines. High pressure gas pipeline and related easement lies beneath 

26.8 Ha of site. Also 24.5 Ha on land with existing employment development. Discount 
51.3 Ha to reduce gross development area to 20.8 hectares. Southern part of site is 
within (outer) water protection zone.  

Within Green Wedge in adopted Local Plan 2013-31 or made Neighbourhood Plan? 

No 

Opportunities 

Yield (number of dwellings or hectares of employment land) 

20.8 

page 67



Contribution to spatial strategy 

The site is in open countryside, however it incorporates an existing business park 

and some of the site therefore adjoins it 

Should the site be allocated? 

See notes 

Reasons for allocating or not allocating  

Countryside location and landscape impact is a concern. Probably unachievable on 

the whole site due to the position and extent of the HSE High Pressure Gas pipeline 

and its safeguarding zones across the central/ eastern part of the site, plus the 

amount of land within the Flood Zone. Sites to the west might be achievable but the 

areas where landscape impact is reduced are not directly related to the existing 

business park and therefore would not have passed stage 2 'site sifting' as stand 

alone sites. 

If whole site is not suitable for allocation, could a smaller part be allocated? 

No 

page 68



 

page 69



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 12 March 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement in the new Local Plan 

 

Report summary: 

At the 13 February 2024 meeting, this Committee agreed two options to be put forward as 
‘reasonable alternatives’ for public consultation for how we propose to calculate Designated 

Neighbourhood Area housing requirement figures for inclusion in the new Local Plan.  This 
decision was subject to sight of the full set of material for the consultation comprising a full 
detailed technical report, the calculations (using both options) for each of our 41 Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas, and the supporting text for the consultation.  This report provides that 
detailed information and seeks Member approval to proceed to Regulation 18 stage public 

consultation on this basis in Spring 2024.  

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

 

Recommendation: 

1. That Strategic Planning Committee endorse the technical report (Appendix 2 of this 

report) as evidence setting out the rationale for the selection of the reasonable 
alternatives, and as the basis for the calculation of Designated Neighbourhood Area 
Housing Requirement figures in the emerging Local Plan. 

 
2. That Strategic Planning Committee note the calculations for Designated Neighbourhood 

Area housing requirement (Appendices F and G of the technical report), prepared in 
accordance with the methodology set out in the technical report. 

 

3. That Strategic Planning Committee agree that the method selection for the calculation of 

Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement can now be subject to public 
consultation. 

 

4. That Strategic Planning Committee agree the non-technical summary information 

(Appendix 1 of this report), including the summary table of housing requirements) as the 
basis for the Spring 2024 public consultation, alongside the publication of the full 
detailed technical report with appendices as supporting information, and delegate 

authority be given to the Assistant Director – Planning Strategy and Development 
Management in consultation with the Chair – Strategic Planning Committee for any 

minor/non-material amendments for the final release. 
 

page 70

Agenda Item 8



Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement figures are based on a 

logical and transparent methodology and that the public are given an opportunity to comment 
on the methodology and its application as part of the local plan production process.  

 

Officer: Ed Freeman  – Assistant Director, Planning Strategy and Development Management, 

e-mail – efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel 01395 517519 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Medium Risk; It is important that we set out how Designated Neighbourhood Area 

housing requirement figures are to be calculated to ensure a rational and appropriate 
approach is followed and evidenced so that it can be relied on to justify local plan policy on 

these figures. It is important that the public are given the opportunity to provide feedback in 
response to the draft proposals. 

Links to background information  

 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☐ A resilient economy 

 
 

 

 
1. Overview and Update 

 

1.1 As per the report brought to last Committee (and previously in March 2023), the 

emerging East Devon Local Plan must set a housing requirement figure in strategic 

policy for each of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas in the district, as required by 

page 71

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


the NPPF (para 67).  As there is no set method prescribed by Government for how 

this should be calculated, it is necessary to consult on the methodology to be used.  

The current adopted Local Plan was not subject to this requirement, which was 

introduced subsequently to its adoption, through revision to the NPPF in 2019.   

 

1.2 Based on further investigation by Officers of compliant and robust options for method 

calculation (including research into how other authorities are approaching the matter 

and the extent to which we might reasonably rely on neighbourhood plans to bring 

forward housing sites in the plan period), Members agreed in principle at the February 

Committee to there being two reasonable alternatives.  Both are supply-based.  They 

comprise deriving Designated Neighbourhood Areas figures from the sum of housing 

numbers expected to come forward in the plan period from all sources of housing 

supply, with the variation between them being whether a windfall allowance be 

included or not.  The full detailed technical report setting out all options considered 

and the justification for the two reasonable alternatives is now available for members 

consideration (see Appendix 2 of this report). 

 

1.3 It was noted in the discussion at February Committee that the consequence for 

neighbourhood planning of using either of the identified reasonable alternative options 

would not be dissimilar to the approach in the adopted Local Plan.  Although not 

explicitly stated, the adopted Local Plan did not rely on supply on future 

neighbourhood plan allocations for forecast housing supply to meet the district 

housing requirement. Instead, the combination of policies set out how the adopted 

Local Plan would meet the minimum district housing requirement in full whilst making 

provisions and exceptions for neighbourhood plans to bring forward housing in 

addition to meet identified local needs, where this could be justified on sustainability 

grounds. Consequently, to date the council have provided indicative zero housing 

requirement figures for neighbourhood planning purposes. 

 

1.4 The approach in the adopted Local Plan is generally considered to have worked well, 

with a high level of neighbourhood planning activity occurring, but it will not be 

compliant with the current NPPF and PPG for use in the new Local Plan, unless the 

minimum housing requirement figure for each DNA is explicitly set out in policy and 

justified on the basis of a robust methodology which establishes it as the “scale of 

housing expected to take place” in each area.  This is the essence of the proposed 

approach to be consulted on to inform the new Local Plan. 

 

1.5 In accordance with the February report, calculations have now been undertaken for 

each of the 41 Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon for both the preferred 

‘reasonable alternative’ option (excluding windfall allowance) and the currently 

rejected ‘reasonable alternative option (including windfall allowance).  Members can 

view the breakdown of the calculations in detail in Appendix G, and the summary 

table in Appendix F of the Technical Report.  It should be stressed that these are not 

the final figures as they will appear in the new Local Plan as it is too early to be able 

to provide a definitive set.  The figures are calculated as at the 2023 Monitoring Point 

page 72



and based on the Regulation 18 draft Local Plan as it stood at the 2022/23 

consultation.  The figures will need to be recalculated at the 2024 (and possibly 2025) 

Monitoring Points in terms of completions and commitments, and also as decisions 

are made about Local Plan site allocations, including an apportionment of dwellings 

related to the new community which it has not been possible to include at this time.  

The figures as they currently stand/are known are included in the consultation 

material as interim and will change but are intended to help consultees with 

considering the implications of the different method options. 

 

1.6 The summary table sets out the forecast supply by supply sources for each 

Designated Neighbourhood Area. It shows that the proposed method does not rely on 

supply from future neighbourhood plan allocations in justifying the Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figures. Whilst few if any Designated 

Areas would then have a zero total housing requirement figure, the proposed 

approach would effectively continue to give an expectation of ‘net nil’ housing 

provision being made through future neighbourhood plan making.  However, 

consistent with NPPF it sets out the context of the total numbers of dwellings 

expected to come forward in the area from all supply sources across the full plan 

period.  On this basis, Neighbourhood Plan groups can use and rely on the figures 

(including at examination) to underpin decisions about the scope and content of their 

own plans, including whether to plan for additional (or potentially alternative) housing 

provision, and ensure they at least meet, and where possible exceed, the minimum 

requirement. 

 

2  Proposed Consultation 

 

2.1 It is proposed that public consultation on various Regulation 18 stage local plan 

matters, including methodology for Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing 

Requirement, will be undertaken as soon as possible after receiving Committee 

approval. Such consultation will last for a minimum of 6 weeks. 

 

2.2 The suggested text and summary information for the consultation are overleaf. It is 

proposed to also make available the full detailed technical report, including the 

detailed breakdown of the DNAHR calculation for each area, as supporting document 

for those who wish to consider the matter in greater depth.  The consultation material 

may be subject to minor amendments before the start of the consultation. 

 

2.3 NPPF does not require the plan to provide housing requirement figures for areas that 

are not Designated Neighbourhood Areas. So, at this time we would not propose that 

an emerging local plan policy includes housing requirement figures for those areas. 

As explained in the technical report, the council will be able to provide indicative 

housing requirement figures for these areas in the future, or exceptionally 

neighbourhood plans for these areas can produce their own figures which they will 

have to justify for examination. However, some consultees may have questions about 

page 73



forecast supply in their areas compared to other areas. This may influence their views 

about future neighbourhood planning.  

 

3 Next Steps 

 

3.1 After the public consultation, the responses will be analysed and a report brought back 

to Committee for decision on the final selection of the method to be used in the 

Regulation 19 version of the Plan. 

 

Financial Implications:  

There are no direct financial implication resulting from the report.  

Legal Implications:  

There are no direct legal implications resulting from the report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 74



Appendix 1: Proposed Consultation Material Summary 

 

East Devon Local Plan 2020 to 2040  

Preferred Options Reg. 18 Further Consultation Draft Plan  

Spring 2024 

 

We consulted on a draft local plan from November 2022 to January 2023 that referred to the 
setting of ‘housing provision requirement’ (now referred to simply as ‘housing requirement’) 

figures in Designated Neighbourhood Areas in the draft policy wording and justification of 
Strategic Policy 3: Levels of Future Housing Development.  Designated Neighbourhood Areas 
are areas (typically parishes) which have had applications approved to designate them for the 

purposes of neighbourhood planning.   There are now 41 of these in East Devon as shown in 
the map at Figure 1 below.  In simple terms, housing provision requirement figures are 

numbers of houses to be built in the Local Plan period (2020-2040). 

At the previous consultation stage, we simply stated an intention that the policy would set out 
the housing provision requirements for designated neighbourhood areas in East Devon 2020-

2040 (or other timeframe to be specified).  The Designated Neighbourhood Areas (as existed 
at the time) were identified by name but the housing requirement figures were not included.   

It was stated that these would be set following consultation on the methodology for identifying 
the scale of housing provision requirement in these areas. 

Work has now been undertaken to consider the method options.  Two potential options have 

been identified from a wider range of options considered and discounted.  Both options are 
based on sources of housing supply across the Plan period (2020-2040).  Housing supply 

sources are:  

- Completions (houses built) 
- Commitments (houses with planning approval) 

- Site allocations (housing on land proposed in adopted/made development plan 
documents (i.e. Local Plan, Cranbrook Plan, Made Neighbourhood Plans) 

- ‘Windfalls’ (an allowance for housing coming forward on other sites, not yet known) 

The preferred option is for the housing requirement figures to comprise the sum total of 
houses from all sources of housing supply excluding windfalls. The currently rejected but 

alternative option would be to include a windfall allowance in the figures.  The latter would 

give a more complete picture but is not the preferred option as windfalls are difficult to predict 

with certainty for small geographical areas. 

The summary table at Figure 2 below shows the housing requirement figures for each of the 
41 Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon as far as it is currently possible to 
calculate them.  It is important to note that these figures will need to be recalculated as 
more data becomes available until they are fixed at a point in time for publication in the 

new Local Plan.  They are therefore not the final figures at this stage. 

In considering your views on the methodology, we would encourage you to look at the 
consultation  commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) as this sets out the 

context for the policy  For more detailed explanation you might find it useful to also read our 
background technical paper, which includes the detailed breakdown of the calculations in 

each area for the 2 options put forward, as well as information on other rejected options.  

 

page 75

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724891/commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf


The key points to be aware of are: 

- We are required by Government to set housing requirement figures for all of our 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas within strategic policy of the Local Plan (this was not 
a requirement at the time of preparing the current adopted Local Plan).  Government 
advises that the figures should establish the ‘scale of housing expected to take place in 

each area’ and should reflect the overall spatial strategy of the Local Plan. 
- Government does not set a method for how these should be calculated and this is why 

we are consulting on the method to be used for the new Local Plan 
- Government stipulates that these housing figures form part of the overall district 

housing requirement that the Local Plan needs to provide for (and are not additional to 

it).  The Local Plan will therefore need to be able to robustly evidence and rely on them 
at its independent examination. 

- They are strictly minimum figures - Neighbourhood Plans cannot plan for less housing, 

but they can plan for more housing should they wish to do so to meet specific local 
needs. 

- The figures can be used to help inform and justify neighbourhood plan preparation. 
- The requirement figures are not zero for any of the DNAs.  However, the sum of the 

types of supply that are used to calculate the housing requirement do not include a 
figure for allocations in future (not yet made or started) neighbourhood plans. Similar to 
the policy approach in the adopted Local Plan, neither of the options being put forward 

for use in the new Local Plan would place an expectation on future neighbourhood 
plans to make provision for housing to meet the minimum requirement through site 

allocations.  This would not prevent neighbourhood plans for making additional 
provision for housing should they wish to do so and this would be supported and 
encouraged. 

 

Subject to the results of the consultation and the final selection of the method to be used for 

calculating the figures, we would expect the wording within Strategic Policy 3 to say:  

Strategic Policy 3 - Levels of Future Housing Development 
[…] 

8. Minimum housing provision requirements for designated neighbourhood areas in East 
Devon are as follows: 

 

This would then include a table / list of all DNAs that exist in East Devon at the time and give 
the total figure for each DNA. 

 

The policy would then cross-refer to a table similar to the summary table (in Figure 2) below 

for confirmation and interpretation of what the total figures comprise.  This would be for the 
plan period (currently still set at 2020-2040 but subject to change at this stage) 

 

The policy would also state as previously drafted words to the effect that “Where it is not 
possible to provide a requirement figure for a neighbourhood area, the Local Planning 

Authority will provide an indicative figure, if requested to do so by the neighbourhood planning 
body.” 
 

 

page 76



We would expect the justification to the policy to make it explicitly clear that there is no 
expectation for neighbourhood plans to make housing provision to meet the District minimum 

housing requirement. Also that, if some supply identified within the housing figures does not 
materialise (e.g. because planning permissions expire) there is no expectation of 
neighbourhood plans addressing the shortfall by allocating sites for additional housing. The 

local plan intends to manage risk to deliverability through the amount of housing in local plan 
allocations.  

 

The map below shows the areas of the district that are currently designated as 
Neighbourhood Areas and for which a housing requirement figure has been calculated for the 

two options, based on the data available.   

 

We welcome your views on whether you think Option 1 (as our preferred option) is the most 
appropriate method to use to give housing requirement for Designated Neighbourhood Areas 
in the new Local Plan.  If you think Option 2 or any of the other rejected alternative options is 

more appropriate, or if you think there is another alternative option, please tell us why.  

 

To help with consideration of the implications of the options, figures are provided for in Figure 
2 overleaf (with more detail about their make up in Appendix F of the Technical paper), These 
are primarily to illustrate the options and show how it could work in practice.  The figures are 

not however the final figures as they will appear in the Local Plan.  They do not include any 
housing completions or commitments for planning approvals since 01/04/23, nor housing that 

would be expected to form part of a second new community as the numbers and timing is not 
available at this time so we cannot yet forecast delivery in the affected DNAs.  They also refer 
to emerging Local Plan allocations as defined as preferred and second choice sites in the  

December 2022 consultation because no decisions on sites have yet been made.  They do 
not include the further sites being consulted on alongside this consultation. 

page 77



Figure 1 

 

page 78



Figure 2: Designated Neighbourhood Areas Housing Provision Requirement Figures Summary Table (interim figures) 

 

DESIGNATED 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 

AREA 

 

Emerging 

Local Plan 

Allocations 

 
Adopted 

Cranbrook 

Plan 

Allocations 

Neighbourhood 

Plan* 

Allocations 

(w ithout 

planning 

permission) 

 

Future 

Neighbourhood 

Plan Provision 

 

Completions 

01/04/2020 to 

31/03/2023 

 

 
Commitments 

at 31/03/23 

TOTAL DNA 

Minimum 

Housing 

Requirement 

Figure 

(OPTION 1 ) 

 

 
Windfall 

allow ance 

TOTAL DNA 

Minimum 

Housing 

Requirement 

Figure 

(OPTION 2) 

All Saints 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 8 10 

Axminster 1,115 0 0 0 182 140 1,437 108 1,545 

Axmouth 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 6 9 

Aylesbeare 0 0 0 0 1 6 7 8 15 

Beer 0 0 0 0 1 42 43 18 61 

Bishops Clyst # 102 0 0 0 10 87 199 20 219 

Broadclyst 175 90 44 0 777 1,261 2,347 73 2,420 

Broadhembury 10 0 0 0 12 12 34 10 44 

Budleigh Salterton 152 0 0 0 38 51 241 75 316 

Chardstock 30 0 0 0 0 1 31 12 43 

Clyst St. George 580 0 0 0 1 2 583 10 593 

Clyst Honiton # 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 6 

Colyton and Colyford 49 0 0 0 21 87 157 45 202 

Cotleigh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 

Dalw ood 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 6 8 

Dunkesw ell 43 0 0 0 4 25 72 26 98 

East Budleigh w ith Bicton 0 0 0 0 2 6 8 14 22 

Exmouth 730 0 0 0 401 534 1,665 472 2,137 

Farringdon # 0 0 0 0 2 3 5 4 9 

Feniton 42 0 0 0 14 11 67 26 93 

Haw kchurch 38 0 0 0 2 3 43 8 51 

Honiton 397 0 0 0 143 147 687 157 844 

Kilmington 28 0 24 0 2 2 56 12 68 

Luppitt 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 6 8 

Lympstone 359 0 0 0 14 113 486 26 512 

Membury 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 6 10 

Monkton 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 

New ton Poppleford and Harpford 0 0 0 0 10 11 21 29 50 

Otterton 23 0 0 0 15 2 40 8 48 

Ottery St. Mary 416 0 5 0 101 50 572 98 670 

Payhembury 0 0 0 0 7 16 23 10 33 

Rockbeare 0 780 0 0 14 13 807 12 819 

Seaton 217 0 0 0 48 204 469 114 583 

page 79



 

DESIGNATED 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 

AREA 

 

Emerging 

Local Plan 

Allocations 

 
Adopted 

Cranbrook 

Plan 

Allocations 

Neighbourhood 

Plan* 

Allocations 

(w ithout 

planning 

permission) 

 

Future 

Neighbourhood 

Plan Provision 

 

Completions 

01/04/2020 to 

31/03/2023 

 

 
Commitments 

at 31/03/23 

TOTAL DNA 

Minimum 

Housing 

Requirement 

Figure 

(OPTION 1) 

 

 
Windfall 

allow ance 

TOTAL DNA 

Minimum 

Housing 

Requirement 

Figure 

(OPTION 2) 

Sidmouth (including Sidford and Sidbury) 206 0 0 0 64 196 466 204 670 

Stockland 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 8 11 

Uplyme 0 0 19 0 11 14 44 22 66 

Upottery 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 10 12 

West Hill 57 0 0 0 2 5 64 26 90 

Whimple 33 500 0 0 12 14 559 22 581 

Woodbury 354 0 0 0 17 36 407 39 446 

Yarcombe 0 0 0 0 1 5 6 6 12 

TOTAL MIN HOUSING REQUIREM ENT 
(ALL DNAs) 

      11,666  13,438 

page 80



Notes to be read alongside Figure 2 Summary Table 

Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.   

The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are 

made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time 

when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan. 

Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 

2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan. 

Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community 

proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available (for Option 1 

which has been agreed by EDDC as the preferred option for further work, the 

affected DNAs are Bishops Clyst, Farringdon and Clyst Honiton). 

Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 

Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5  

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means sites allocated in a Made or 'Recommended 

for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or 

consented (committed)) 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are 

included in Commitments and Completions figures. 

Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being 

Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and 

would be additional. 

Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as 

they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan 

Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure) 

Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure) 

Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the 

DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report 

Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a 

Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories 

(excluding a windfall allowance) 

Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a 

Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories 

(including a windfall allowance) 

Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as 

referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the 

Council annually): Monitoring - East Devon 

page 81

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/monitoring/


 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

East Devon Local Plan evidence 

Technical Report  

Method options for calculating housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas in East Devon  

Version 1 

This technical report is Appendix 2 to the report to the council’s Strategic 

Planning Committee on 12 March 2024 on how to calculate housing 
requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

 

Subject to Committee approval, this technical report will be available 

when the council undertakes the Regulation 18 stage public consultation 

in Spring 2024 on selected matters for the emerging East Devon Local 

Plan. This includes consulting on options on how to calculate the 

housing requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East 

Devon. The technical report provides background evidence to that 
consultation and will be part of the Local Plan evidence base.    

 

Readers should note that the Designated Neighbourhood Area housing 

requirement figures in this report are illustrative to show the implications 

of the calculation method options. They will be replaced by updated 

figures using the selected method, at the next plan-making stage for the 

Regulation 19 Publication Plan.  So, the council will update this report in 

late summer 2024, informed by the consultation responses about the 

methods. It will also take account of the latest 2024 monitoring point 

housing supply information, and the proposed Regulation 19 Local Plan 

housing allocations. The updated report will provide evidence to justify 

the Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement numbers to 

include in strategic policy in the Regulation 19 Plan which the council 
intends to consult on in December 2024/January 2025.   

March 2024 

page 82



 
 

Contents 
1. INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................... 3 

Document status .................................................................................................................. 3 

What are ‘Designated Neighbourhood Areas’? ................................................................ 3 

Where are the Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon? ................................ 4 

Evidence for DNA housing requirement figures .............................................................. 5 

2. WHAT’S HAPPENED TO DATE? ..................................................................................... 7 

2021 Issues and Options - Consultation and Feedback.................................................. 8 

2022 Draft Local Plan - Consultation and Feedback...................................................... 10 

2023 Early engagement ..................................................................................................... 10 

Lessons Learnt from the Early Engagement .................................................................. 12 

3. CURRENT STAGE - SPRING 2024 CONSULTATION .................................................. 14 

Spring 2024 consultation on method options ................................................................ 14 

Technical Evidence Report - Version 1 and data ........................................................... 14 

Alternative Options ............................................................................................................ 15 

4. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE ....................................................... 16 

NPPF - Strategic policy role to set DNA housing requirements .................................. 17 

NPPF - What about non-designated areas?.................................................................... 18 

PPG – Neighbourhood Planning ...................................................................................... 19 

Neighbourhood plans making provision for housing ................................................... 20 

Must a neighbourhood plan include a housing requirement figure? .......................... 21 

How should a housing requirement figure be set for DNAs?....................................... 21 

5. LOCAL PLANS AND NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS ....................................................... 23 

Relationship between local plans and neighbourhood plans ...................................... 23 

6.  LEARNING LESSONS FROM OTHER LOCAL PLANS ................................................ 32 

Learning from recent local plans ..................................................................................... 32 

Analysis of local plans and methods  .............................................................................. 34 

Analysis of Inspectors’ questions and conclusions ..................................................... 36 

7. WHICH LESSONS LEARNT APPLY TO EAST DEVON? ............................................. 39 

1. Set out DNA HR figures in ‘strategic policy’ in the local plan. .......................... 39 

2. Be clear about the purpose of the strategic policy ............................................. 39 

3. A supply based method is easier to understand and justify ............................. 42 

4. Not continuing the historic approach of zero DNA HR figures.......................... 43 

5. Base DNA HR figures on ‘the scale of housing expected to take place’ and be 

clear about what ‘expected’ means.................................................................................. 44 

6.     Be clear about ‘what, where and when’. .............................................................. 45 

page 83



 
 

7. Evidence of method consistency with NPPF paragraph 67: .............................. 49 

8. APPORTIONING THE WINDFALL ALLOWANCE TO DNAs........................................ 50 

District windfall projection ................................................................................................ 50 

Should a DNA HR figure include an allowance for windfall provision? ...................... 51 

Options for apportioning the district windfall allowance to DNAs  .............................. 53 

9. METHOD OPTIONS - ASSESSMENTS .......................................................................... 57 

TABLE 1  Criteria for assessing if methods would be reasonable alternatives ......... 58 

1. Housing supply based methods ............................................................................ 58 

TABLE 2  Assessment of individual supply sources .................................................... 60 

TABLE 3  Assessment of combinations of supply sources ......................................... 75 

2. Other methods ......................................................................................................... 91 

TABLE 4 Assessment of other options ........................................................................... 98 

10. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ..............................................................105 

11. FUTURE STAGE - TECHNICAL REPORT: VERSION 2 ..............................................109 

APPENDICES ......................................................................................................110 

APPENDIX A    Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon..................................111 

APPENDIX B    Early Engagement - Feedback ..................................................................113 

APPENDIX C    Examples of local plan approaches to housing requirement figures..118 

APPENDIX D    Analysis of other Local Plans  ...................................................................125 

APPENDIX E    Comparison of Windfall Options A and B  ...............................................154 

APPENDIX F    TABLE 5  DNA HOUSING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY .......................156 

APPENDIX G    Detailed Tables of DNA Housing Requirement by DNA -Supply 

categories and Totals (2023 monitoring point) .................................................................159 

 

 

 

page 84



Page 3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

Document status 

1.1. This is a technical evidence document. It contains in-depth information and 

detailed analysis about the options for the method to calculate housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon. Produced 

by East Devon District Council, this technical report is part of the evidence 

base for the emerging East Devon Local Plan 2020 to 2040. 

1.2. This technical report is Version 1 and is intended to accompany and support 

the council’s consultation in Spring 2024 on potential methods for how to 

calculate and quantify the housing requirement for each of the Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas within East Devon district. It is therefore available to all 

but is likely to be of particular interest to those readers seeking further 

detailed evidence and explanations on this issue. 

1.3. The report has been prepared in the context of Government’s national 

planning policy. This is currently as set out in National Planning Policy 

Framework as published on 20 December 2023.1 

1.4. Please note that this technical report will be updated in the future to Version 2 

to inform subsequent plan-making stages. 

What are ‘Designated Neighbourhood Areas’?  

1.5. A Designated Neighbourhood Area is the local area in which a 

neighbourhood development plan2 or neighbourhood development order3 can 

be introduced. Designation of a neighbourhood area is the first formal stage 

of preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan4 by a neighbourhood 

planning body. 

1.6. The District Council currently understands that a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area does not expire even after a neighbourhood plan has been ‘made’, or a 

neighbourhood development order has been approved.5. Furthermore, there 

                                                                 
1 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65a11af7e8f5ec000f1f8c46/NPPF_December_2023.pdf  
2 A plan prepared by a parish council or neighbourhood forum for a designated neighbourhood area. In law 
this is described as a neighbourhood development plan in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
3 An Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) through which 
parish councils and neighbourhood forums can grant planning permission for a specific development proposal 
or classes of development. These orders are part of the neighbourhood planning process. 
4 The Localism Act 2011 (Part 6 chapter 3) sets out the LPA responsibilities which include designating the area 

of the Neighbourhood Development Plan.  See the Council’s webpage on Neighbourhood Planning 
5 Unlike the designation of a Neighbourhood Forum which expires after 5 years. 

page 85



Page 4 
 

appears to be no legal mechanism to ‘de-designate’ a neighbourhood area, 

even if a plan is ‘made’ or the neighbourhood planning body decides not to 

proceed further with preparing a neighbourhood plan. This has 

consequences for local plan policy on housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. 

Where are the Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon? 

1.7. Map 1 shows the coverage of Designated Neighbourhood Areas (DNA) in 

East Devon.   

MAP 1 – Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon 

 

1.8. At the time of preparing this evidence document there are 41 Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon which are listed in Appendix A of this 

report.  All but one are based on civil parish boundaries, the exception being 

Clyst Honiton.  Appendix A makes clear which Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas contain two or more parishes. 

1.9. As at end February 2024, of these 41 Designated Neighbourhood Areas: 

 27 have ‘made’ neighbourhood plans (in the context of the current 

adopted local plan), 6 of which include site allocations for housing totalling 

page 86



Page 5 
 

160 dwellings. One of these neighbourhood plans is progressing through 

a formal review process and is proposed to include site allocations for 

housing. 

 1 neighbourhood plan has been submitted (Regulation 16 consultation 

due to start late February 2024). This plan includes a proposed site 

allocation (up to 9 dwellings) and separate to the neighbourhood plan, a 

Neighbourhood Development Order for a community facility with enabling 

housing (up to 50 dwellings) is being progressed and has been subject to 

pre-submission consultation. 

 No neighbourhood plans are currently at examination, post examination or 

referendum. 

 Neighbourhood plans have not yet been submitted In 13 areas. Of these, 

5 are known to be actively progressing (1 potentially to include a site 

allocation for housing), and at least 3 are not expected to progressing 

plan preparation in the foreseeable future. 

1.10. 28 parishes or part parishes have not been designated as at end February 

2024. One of these is currently undertaking initial community consultation to 

consider whether to make an application for a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area. 

Evidence for DNA housing requirement figures 

1.11. The Council has previously provided indicative housing requirement figures 

to neighbourhood planning groups on request, for their work in preparing 

Neighbourhood Plans. However, the emerging East Devon Local Plan is the 

first time that the Council has had to include housing requirement figures for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas in strategic policy (i.e. in the local plan), in 

order to be consistent with the NPPF. The planning authority has to justify the 

strategic policy numbers and explain why it has selected and used the 

method to calculate them. The updated NPPF December 2023 did not 

change this. 

1.12. To be consistent with national planning policy, Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs) have been required since 2019 to set a housing requirement figure in 

Local Plan strategic policy for each of their Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

(i.e. areas with an approved designation for undertaking neighbourhood 

planning).  Government policy on this matter is set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework6 (NPPF). Further Government guidance is set out 

in Planning Practice Guidance – Neighbourhood Planning7. There are more 

details on this  in Section 4 of this report. 

                                                                 
6 Currently paragraph 67 in the NPPF 20 December 2023.    
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65829e99fc07f3000d8d4529/NPPF_December_2023.pdf 
7 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2  25 September 2020 

page 87

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65829e99fc07f3000d8d4529/NPPF_December_2023.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2


Page 6 
 

1.13. In East Devon, this means stating the individual housing requirement figure 

for each Designated Neighbourhood Area in the district in one or more 

strategic policies in the emerging East Devon local plan. Each of the 41 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas listed in Appendix A of this report will need 

to have a housing requirement figure to be included in a strategic policy. 

1.14. For the local plan strategic policy to be found sound it must meet the tests of 

soundness set out in NPPF. This includes being consistent with national 

planning policy, and for the plan to be justified. Passing those tests depends 

on the local plan policy being based on proportionate evidence. The council 

as the Local Planning Authority relies on such evidence to justify policy in the 

emerging East Devon local plan. This technical evidence report and the 

related consultation on the method options are therefore part of the wider 

plan-making process for the emerging local plan. There will be further plan 

making steps before plan adoption, such as the Regulation 19 publication 

plan and the Examination. 

1.15. Once the local plan is adopted the Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing 

Requirement figures in the strategic policy should not need re-testing at the 

neighbourhood plan examination, unless there has been a significant change 

in circumstances that affects the requirement. So these figures can then be 

used as a basis to inform consideration of housing policies and allocations to 

be included in neighbourhood plans and relied on as evidence in 

neighbourhood plan examinations.8 

1.16. The relationship between the emerging local plan and neighbourhood plans, 

for plan making purposes is explored further in section 5 of this report.  

 

                                                                 
8 NPPF paragraph 68 states that  “Where it is not possible to provide a requir ement figure for a neighbourhood 
area34, the local planning authority should provide an indicative figure, if requested to do so by the 

neighbourhood planning body”     (footnote 34 “Because a neighbourhood area is designated at a late stage in 
the strategic policy-making process, or after strategic policies have been adopted; or in instances where 
strategic policies for housing are out of date”) 

page 88



Page 7 
 

2. WHAT’S HAPPENED TO DATE? 

2.1. Government provides the current national planning policy and practice 

guidance on including Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing 

Requirements figures in strategic policies. However, this does not set out a 

clear method on how to derive those figures. It is the council’s role to assess, 

select and justify the method to use in deriving the figures.  

2.2. Research for the Local Government Association9 concluded that open 

communication, proactive support and early engagement are central to 

successful interactions between local plan making and neighbourhood plan 

making occurring in the context of NPPF changes first introduced in 2019. 

Fostering open and continued communication between the Local Planning 

Authority and neighbourhood planning groups is crucial for effective plan 

production. 

2.3. Providing housing requirement figures for neighbourhood planning purposes 

is part of the wider support for neighbourhood planning delivered by East 

Devon District Council. Timely engagement complements the Council’s work 

to liaise with and support individual neighbourhood plan groups. It helps them 

when considering their relationship with the emerging Local Plan. 

2.4. The council has already taken some steps in the process to prepare for 

calculating Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirements figures 

within the district. These steps comprised: 

 Signalling the intention to include such figures in a strategic policy in 

the emerging East Devon Local Plan, in the 2022 consultation draft 

plan. 

 Consulting on the draft plan and collating information from the 2022 

consultation responses’ feedback. 

 Exploring the lessons learnt from Local Plans elsewhere in England 

on this issue, in the context of NPPF and planning practice guidance. 

 Undertaking focused, early engagement with town and parish councils 

in 2023 to raise awareness of potential issues in deriving the figures 

and to understand their aspirations for neighbourhood planning. 

2.5. It is essential that the District Council consults with neighbourhood planning 

bodies, and more widely, on what is the purpose of setting these housing 

requirements figures and how to calculate them. The responses to the Spring 

                                                                 
9  Researching the interactions between local plan making and neighbourhood plans  DAC Planning (commissioned by the 

Planning Advisory Service on behalf of the Local Government Association 10 February 2021,    Researching the 
interactions between local plan making and neighbourhood plans | Local Government Association  

page 89

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/researching-interactions-between-local-plan-making-and-neighbourhood-plans
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/researching-interactions-between-local-plan-making-and-neighbourhood-plans


Page 8 
 

2024 consultation therefore need to be considered before making decisions 

related to the content of the emerging East Devon Local Plan 

2021 Issues and Options - Consultation and Feedback 

2.6. Consultation in early 2021 on the issues and options stage of the emerging 

East Devon Local Plan did not ask specific questions about housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. However, the 

consultation document touched on the role neighbourhood plans and their 

relationship with the local plan and asked how we might make best use of 

neighbourhood plans to inform the new Local Plan. 

2.7. Many respondents highlighted the relevance, value and importance of 

neighbourhood planning work in informing the new Local Plan, and there was 

some acknowledgement of the difficulties of reconciling a new Local Plan 

coherently and in a meaningful way with numerous neighbourhood plans. 

Overall, the responses received can be split into two broad ‘schools of 

thought’ which exist on a spectrum of views expressed. At either end of the 

spectrum are:  

1.  Those who feel neighbourhood plans should essentially be 

sacrosanct/paramount in the process, and fully incorporated into & 

endorsed by the Local Plan (predominantly expressed by those who have 

been directly involved or live in an area with a neighbourhood plan they 

support), and  

2.  Those who acknowledge there is a role for Neighbourhood Plans and a 

value as a point of reference but feel that many are too protectionist and 

that the Local plan strategy must be able to be developed entirely 

unconstrained by them and require them to align (typically stated by 

developers/land-owners and commercial entities and their agents.)  

2.8. In seeking to reconcile these views, key points to consider from the 

responses are that neighbourhood plans:  

 have been subject to significant local consultation and provide the LPA 

with evidence of community views and aspirations  

 provide a wealth of evidence on needs and issues at the local level  

 have been encouraged and supported by the District Council  

 have taken considerable local time and resources to develop  

 have been subject to a transparent and democratic process, including 

public vote. 

And also that: 

 there are variations in the level of detail across plans  

page 90



Page 9 
 

 that the age of plans needs to be taken into account  

 they do not necessarily represent an up to date or ‘whole community’ 

view  

  the Local Plan will need to consider the latest evidence and national 

policy available 

2.9. The middle ground in the responses is that neighbourhood plans cannot be 

ignored and that a way must be found to ensure they are given due 

consideration, in an open, transparent and constructive way, as part of the 

preparation of the Local Plan. It was expressed a number of times that the 

starting point should be with a view to enabling them to remain in alignment 

as far as /wherever possible with the new Local Plan but recognising that 

deviation would be justifiable to ensure conformity with national policy, to 

respond to new evidence, and where major changes in local plan strategy 

and policy are necessitated.  

2.10. There was less suggestion, in direct response to the question, about exactly 

how neighbourhood plans should be taken into account from a practical or 

process point of view. Those suggestions that have been made are 

summarised below, with the most common being that they should be 

reviewed to identify similar themes & policies, and that communities should 

be kept informed, consulted and engaged throughout:  

 to undertake a comprehensive review of neighbourhood plans 

including their visions/aims/objectives, policies, designations (e.g. 

Local Green Spaces), identified sites for development etc. to identify 

key themes, issues and also differences and areas where 

neighbourhood plans might be plugging gaps in current Local Plan 

policy  

 to engage widely and openly with neighbourhood plan groups, and the 

community at large, throughout the process of developing the local 

plan, in order to understand the strategy behind the neighbourhood 

plans, identify early any likely conflicts with emerging Local Plan policy 

and work to find solutions where possible.  

 Use neighbourhood plans to inform the development of masterplans  

 Build in formal steps/mechanisms into the Local Plan preparation 

process to consideration and review and the relationship with 

neighbourhood plans  

 Recognise, clearly define and utilise the role of neighbourhood plans 

in supporting the delivery of national and local policy objectives & 

targets, and in responding to particular circumstances in local 

communities. Key areas identified included the natural and historic 

environment, influencing design, and making provision of development 

page 91



Page 10 
 

that is sustainable / supports the sustainability of towns and villages 

across the district. 

2022 Draft Local Plan - Consultation and Feedback 

2.11. The East Devon Local Plan (Regulation 18 version November 202210) 

signalled that Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement figures 

would be included within strategic policy 3 (‘Levels of Future Housing‘), 

subject to consultation on the methodology for how they would be set. 

2.12. The council received responses to the November 2022 Regulation 18 

Consultation local plan relevant to housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. Issues raised were reported in a substantial feedback 

report to Strategic Planning Committee in July 2023. These included: 

 Numerous responses with concerns about the level of housing proposed 

and calls for a greater say by communities on development in their areas 

and greater adherence to what neighbourhood plans say. 

 Comment that the Local Plan allocations were undermining the 

community control intention of the localism agenda and pre-judging local 

community requirements.  

 Some general support (particularly from developers / landowners) 

regarding the intention to include a minimum housing requirement for 

DNAs in strategic policy, subject to consultation on the method.    

2.13. There were comments with specific relevance to method selection: 

 There was a concern raised from one parish that if allocations made 

through a neighbourhood plan were seen as additional windfall 

development this could remove the incentive for neighbourhood plans to 

make allocations and so they should count against the minimum housing 

requirement figures expected to be delivered in that area.   

 Call for figures set to be realistic to help avoid speculative development in 

unsuitable locations. 

2023 Early engagement 

2.14. On 7 March 2023 the Strategic Planning Committee approved early 

engagement to be undertaken with town and parish councils and 

neighbourhood plan groups to help raise awareness and give an 

understanding of the concept and help inform our thinking on a suitable 

approach to take. The results of this early engagement will assist the council 

in undertaking a formal (Regulation 18) consultation on the method choice 

that encourages effective, wider engagement in that consultation stage. 

                                                                 
10 https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724891/commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf 

page 92

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724891/commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf


Page 11 
 

2.15. The council held two early engagement exercises in 2023 to inform how the 

local plan might approach setting the housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Area. These were comprised of a webinar (held in June 

2023) and a Neighbourhood Plan Intentions survey (autumn/winter 2023).  

Whilst the primary target audience has been communities with an existing 

Designated Neighbourhood Area, both were widely promoted to include all 

town and parish councils as they are all potential neighbourhood planning 

bodies. This helps to maintain a level playing field across the district in 

engagement and information sharing in respect of the Local Plan. 

2.16. Through the presentation at the webinar the council provided initial 

information to participants about potential multiple options on methods for 

calculating the housing requirements and the issues that this raises. This 

focussed on the five broad options plus variants, which were set out in Table 

1 in the report to 7 March 2023 Strategic Planning Committee.11 

2.17. The webinar and survey results were reported to Strategic Planning 

Committee on 13 February 2024. Appendix B to this technical report 

reproduces information provided to Committee.  Based on this, the following 

analysis is relevant to selecting the method for calculating the housing 

requirement numbers for Designated Neighbourhood Areas:  

 Although the survey recorded a potentially greater appetite for bringing 

housing forward than Officers were aware of before the survey and 
was suggested by the webinar, this is still limited. Much has yet to be 
resolved about what can be forecast or relied on for evidencing 

deliverability of the Designated Neighbourhood Area and district 
minimum housing requirements for the Regulation 19 Local Plan. 

 It is not considered therefore that if the Local Plan identified less 
allocations, that neighbourhood plans could be reasonably expected to 
make allocations to offset this to ensure the minimum district housing 

requirement can be met and evidence this at the local plan 
examination. 

 The method can take account of allocations in made neighbourhood 
plans and those plans recommended for referendum within minimal 
risk to the Local Plan examination. The council would need to take a 

view on at what point in the process we consider a neighbourhood 
plan to be sufficiently advanced and when we draw a line for 

calculating the figures, for sites proposed to be relied on and included 
in the DNAHR calculations. In some cases these sites do/may overlap 
with those currently in the emerging Local Plan and this requires 

consideration in each case. 

 Given the Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement figure 

is a minimum, it need not constrain the relatively small number of 

                                                                 
11 
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s19358/3.%20SPC%20Report%20Neighbourhood%20Area%
20Housing%20Requirement%20v0.5.pdf 

page 93



Page 12 
 

communities likely to pursue allocations to meet specific local needs in 
the future / in less well-advanced plans – and the burden of evidence 

on communities for these is not (based on previous experience) unduly 
onerous 

 There are a number of likely effectively ‘dormant’ Designated 
Neighbourhood Area s where a neighbourhood plan is unlikely to be 
pursued but as these designations cannot be revoked, they would still 

need to be given a Designated Neighbourhood Area housing 
requirement figure in the new Local Plan using the same agreed 

methodology. 

 It must be borne in mind that because the Designated Neighbourhood 
Area housing requirement is within the district housing requirement, it 

will effectively be a different (and incomplete) way of presenting the 
housing being provided for through the Local Plan in the plan period in 

different parts of the district which have Designated Neighbourhood 
Area status. It will need to follow the spatial strategy, even though the 
Designated Neighbourhood Area geography, being parish based is not 

necessarily in alignment. This is because some settlement boundaries 
overlap Designated Neighbourhood Area / parish boundaries. So, 

some allocations at a settlement may be in an adjoining Designated 
Neighbourhood Area. For example local plan site GH/ED/72 at 
Lympstone settlement is actually in the Woodbury Designated 

Neighbourhood Area. 

Lessons Learnt from the Early Engagement  

2.18. Appendix B to this technical report summarises the feedback from early 

engagement with neighbourhood planning bodies and town and parish 

councils.  From that engagement the council has identified the following 

messages which have informed some of the assessment criteria in Table 1 in 

Section 9 of this technical report, and consequently the assessment of 

method options and the identification of the recommended preferred option 

(see the conclusions in Section 10 of this technical report). 

 The consultation on potential methods to calculate housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas needs to be as 

simple as possible 

 The approach needs to be the same across all of the parishes for 

consistency and to avoid over burdening Neighbourhood Plan groups 

and the Neighbourhood Plan process 

 Be mindful that there can be enough difficulty in preparing a 

neighbourhood plan and getting agreement between the local planning 

authority and the local community about what development is 

appropriate locally and that this will add extra complexity and 

challenge, particularly in explaining and consulting on the concept of 

Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement figures 

through public consultation. 

page 94



Page 13 
 

2.19. From that information and analysis the council draws the following 

conclusion. 

CONCLUSION 1: Multiple and seemingly rather nuanced options for 

calculating Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirements broken 

down by different aspects of housing supply, is likely to be overly complex 

and technical. Therefore the options for the wider Spring 2024 consultation 

need to be considerably simplified to enable meaningful engagement in the 

public consultation. 

2.20. Sections 5 to 9 of this report show how that early engagement informed the 

analysis of potential options (including Table 1 in this technical report), which 

led to further conclusions and shaped the focus on method options for the 

Spring 2024 consultation. 

.

page 95



Page 14 
 

3. CURRENT STAGE - SPRING 2024 CONSULTATION 

 

Spring 2024 consultation on method options 

3.1. The council will use a consultation document for the Spring 2024 consultation 

as a way to seek views on potential approaches to calculating the amount of 

housing requirement for 2020 to 2040 in each Designated Neighbourhood 

Area in East Devon.  This is a full public consultation stage of plan making 

under Regulation 18 12. Consultation on the method options helps to raise 

awareness and understanding of the concept. It also encourages wider 

engagement in the process of assessing the options. 

3.2. There are a number of inherent and potentially complex and sensitive issues 

associated with both the principle and the choice of method. The consultation 

material to accompany the Spring 2024 consultations will set out simple, brief 

explanations, ask questions and give respondents the opportunity to express 

their views on the options identified. Respondents will also be able to put 

forward their own options and explain how and why these should be used. 

3.3. This technical evidence report will supplement the brief explanations on the 

method options in the consultation document, by providing in-depth evidence 

and analysis for readers wanting to explore the issues in more detail.  

3.4. Readers are reminded that the purpose of this report is not to justify the total 

plan period housing requirement for the District in the emerging local plan. 

That was the subject of the Regulation 18 consultation stage in 2022 and it 

will be the subject of future consultation at the Regulation 19 Publication Plan 

stage. 

3.5. Consultation responses received on the Spring 2024 consultation will inform 

the council’s preparation of strategic policy in the emerging Local Plan which 

will set out the housing requirement in each Designated Neighbourhood Area 

in East Devon in due course. Feedback helps to inform the LPA’s thinking on 

a suitable approach to take, before the plan then proceeds to Regulation 19 

stage (Publication) and then submitted for Examination.  

Technical Evidence Report - Version 1 and data 

3.6. This is Version 1 of the technical document. It identifies and assesses the 

implications of potential options for calculating Designated Neighbourhood 

Area housing requirements.  

                                                                 
12 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012  – UK Statutory Instrument 

2012 No.767 

page 96



Page 15 
 

3.7. To enable timely consultation on the method options, this document has been 

informed by available policy/guidance, analysis and evidence as follows: 

 Latest national planning policy and guidance as at end of January 2024. 

 Lessons learnt from analysing the experience of other local plans up to 

end of January 2024, including matters, issues and questions raised at 

local plan Examinations, and Local Plan Inspectors’ conclusions in the 

Inspectors Reports. 

 Feedback from early engagement in 2023 with town and parish councils. 

 Actual and forecast housing supply for the period 2020 to 2040 based on 

the 2023 housing monitoring point (as at 31 March 2023) identified from a 

range of supply categories, including:  

o Dwelling completions 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023; and 

commitments as at 31 March 2023. 

o Allocations for housing in made Neighbourhood Plans as at end of 

January 2024 (with information on planning application progress 

and actual delivery of dwellings, to avoid double counting with 

dwelling completions and commitments). 

o Proposed housing allocations in the emerging East Devon Local 

Plan (Regulation 18) published November 2022. 

o Projected completions related to a windfall allowance. 

Alternative Options 

3.8. Current UK legislation about Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

requires the council to test reasonable alternatives when developing local 

plan policies. This report provides an initial assessment of the implications of 

the method options. Part of that assessment considers which options could 

be used to justify strategic policy that are “reasonable alternatives” for SEA 

purposes. It identifies which of these options is preferred and which are 

rejected at this time, and why. It also identifies which options are not 

considered to be “reasonable alternatives” and the reasons why. 

3.9. The Council will revisit that assessment in Version 2 of this technical report. 

This will inform the Strategic Environmental Assessment of the alternatives 

relating to the strategic policy on Designated Neighbourhood Area housing 

requirement, as part of the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental 

Assessment of the Regulation 19 local plan. 

page 97



Page 16 
 

4. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

4.1. Previous local plans in East Devon did not set housing requirements for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas. The emerging East Devon Local Plan will 

therefore be the first plan to do so.  This is because the changes to national 

planning policy which introduced this requirement were made after the 

adoption on 28 January 2016 of the East Devon Local Plan 2013 to 2031. 

4.2. The concept of setting a housing target for neighbourhood areas was first 

outlined in the government's White Paper13 ‘Fixing our broken housing 

market’, as a means to help produce neighbourhood plans in a timely way. 

4.3. In 2018, paragraph 65 of the updated National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) introduced national policy for strategic policy-making authorities to 

set out housing requirement figures for Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

through their Local Plans.  This was subsequently repeated in the 2019 and 

July 2021 versions of NPPF, the latest is reproduced below: 

 “Strategic policy-making authorities should establish a housing 
requirement figure for their whole area, which shows the extent to 
which their identified housing need (and any needs that cannot be met 

within neighbouring areas) can be met over the plan period. Within 
this overall requirement, strategic policies should also set out a 

housing requirement for Designated Neighbourhood Areas which 
reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of 
development and any relevant allocations32. Once the strategic 

policies have been adopted, these figures should not need re-
testing at the neighbourhood plan examination, unless there has 

been a significant change in circumstances that affects the 
requirement”.  [NPPF 2021 – paragraph 66] 

“Footnote 32  Except where a Mayoral, combined authority or high-level joint 
plan is being prepared as a framework for strategic policies at the individual 
local authority level; in which case it may be most appropriate for the local 
authority plans to provide the requirement figure.”  

4.4. On 22 December 2022, the Government published a prospectus consulting 

on proposed changes to the NPPF in the context of the Levelling Up and 

Regeneration Bill.  A year later, on 20 December 2023, Government 

published the updated NPPF. Paragraph 67of the NPPF did not change the 

text about housing requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas.  The 

consequences of changes to Paragraph 14b for neighbourhood plans and 

                                                                 
13 Fixing our Broken Housing Market  February 2017  Cm 9352  Paragraph 1.43     “so that neighbourhood 
planning groups can obtain a housing requirement figure from their local planning authority, to help avoid 
delays in getting a neighbourhood plan in place.” Fixing our broken housing market (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

page 98

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590464/Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_print_ready_version.pdf


Page 17 
 

related Government ‘signals’ regarding neighbourhood plan allocations are 

set out in Section 5 of this technical report. 

4.5. The emerging East Devon local plan must be consistent with national 

planning policy if it is to be found ‘sound’. Government policy on Designated 

Neighbourhood Area housing requirements is set out in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (currently 20 December 2023). This is supported by the 

Government’s planning practice guidance notably the PPG on 

Neighbourhood Planning. 

4.6. Those parts of the current NPPF and PPG relevant to DNA housing 

requirements are reported below in Section 5 of this report. This provides the 

policy context for the lessons learnt from other areas (see Section 6), the 

potential implications for neighbourhood planning (see Section 7), and the 

identification and assessment of potential methods for calculating housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon (see 

Section 8). 

NPPF - Strategic policy role to set DNA housing requirements 

4.7. Notwithstanding any future intentions for allocating housing sites in 

neighbourhood plans, the Local Planning Authority is still obliged to set a 

housing requirement figure in Local Plan strategic policy for each Designated 

Neighbourhood Area in its area. This stems from NPPF (20 December 2023) 

Paragraph 67 which states that: 

“Strategic policy-making authorities should establish a housing 

requirement figure for their whole area, which shows the extent to 

which their identified housing need (and any needs that cannot be met 

within neighbouring areas) can be met over the plan period. The 

requirement may be higher than the identified housing need if, for 

example, it includes provision for neighbouring areas, or reflects growth 

ambitions linked to economic development or infrastructure investment. 

Within this overall requirement, strategic policies should also set out a 

housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas which 

reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development 

and any relevant allocations33. Once the strategic policies have been 

adopted, these figures should not need re-testing at the neighbourhood 

plan examination, unless there has been a significant change in 

circumstances that affects the requirement.” 

“33 Except where a Mayoral, combined authority or high-level joint plan is being 

prepared as a framework for strategic policies at the individual local authority level; in 

which case it may be most appropriate for the local authority plans to provide the 

requirement figure.” 

page 99



Page 18 
 

4.8. The Local Planning Authority therefore has to justify the strategic policy on 

Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement figures and explain 

why it has selected and used the method to calculate them. However, the 

Government does not prescribe a method for the council to use in 

determining those figures. The Government’s updated NPPF December 2023 

did not change this. 

4.9. From NPPF paragraph 67, it is important to note that those housing 

requirement figures for Designated Neighbourhood Areas would be part of 

the emerging East Devon Local Plan’s district net housing requirement total 

for the plan period, and not additional to it. 

4.10. Furthermore, it is also important to note that strategic policy has a specific 

purpose for neighbourhood plan preparation. PPG Neighbourhood Planning 

paragraph 9 states that: 

   “A draft neighbourhood plan or Order must be in general conformity 

with the strategic policies of the development plan in force if it is to 

meet the basic condition.14” 

NPPF - What about non-designated areas? 

4.11. Parts of East Devon currently do not have Designated Neighbourhood Areas.  

Current national planning policy does not require the local plan to set housing 

requirement numbers for places that are not a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area.  

4.12. For places that are designated too late in the local plan process or 

designated after local plan adoption, NPPF 2023 Paragraph 68 sets out the 

policy approach15, stating that: 

“Where it is not possible to provide a requirement figure for a 

neighbourhood area34, the local planning authority should provide an 

indicative figure, if requested to do so by the neighbourhood planning 

body. This figure should take into account factors such as the latest 

evidence of local housing need, the population of the neighbourhood 

area and the most recently available planning strategy of the local 

planning authority.” 

“34 Because a neighbourhood area is designated at a late stage in the strategic 

policy-making process, or after strategic policies have been adopted; or in instances 

where strategic policies for housing are out of date.” 

                                                                 
14 Only a draft neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a set of basic conditions can be put to a 
referendum and be made. The basic conditions are set out in paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
15  And there is related planning practice guidance in PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 102  

page 100

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted


Page 19 
 

4.13. If a local planning authority is unable to do this, then the neighbourhood 

planning body may exceptionally need to determine a housing requirement 

figure themselves, taking account of relevant policies, the existing and 

emerging spatial strategy, and characteristics of the neighbourhood area. 

4.14. NPPF is silent on whether the Local Plan can set housing requirement figures 

for places not designated as neighbourhood areas. However, the NPPF and 

PPG enable the Council to provide indicative housing targets on request to 

relevant neighbourhood planning bodies. Government’s PPG on 

Neighbourhood Planning also sets out guidance on what happens if the local 

planning authority does not provide a housing requirement figure for a 

Designated Neighbourhood Area that wishes to plan for housing. 

4.15. The Spring 2024 consultation will be an opportunity for respondents to 

consider whether the Local Plan policy should only provide housing 

requirement figures for the 41 Designated Neighbourhood Areas. At this time 

the council is not intending to include housing requirement figures for non-

designated areas in the plan. However, this technical report could include 

supply category figures and totals for non-designated areas, for information 

(subject to committee approval) ,. 

PPG – Neighbourhood Planning  

4.16. Planning Practice Guidance on Neighbourhood Planning16 explains the 

neighbourhood planning system introduced by the Localism Act 2011, 

including key stages and considerations required.  

4.17. PPG Neighbourhood Planning Paragraph 004 states that: 

“A neighbourhood plan should support the delivery of strategic policies 

set out in the local plan or spatial development strategy and should 

shape and direct development that is outside of those strategic 

policies........ Within this broad context, the specific planning topics that 

a neighbourhood plan covers is for the local community to determine.” 

“A neighbourhood plan should, however, contain policies for the 

development and use of land.  This is because, if successful at 

examination and referendum (or where the neighbourhood plan is 

updated by way of making a material modification to the plan and 

completes the relevant process), the neighbourhood plan becomes part 

of the statutory development plan........” 

                                                                 
16  Planning Practice Guidance – Neighbourhood Planning   
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2 

page 101

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--


Page 20 
 

4.18. PPG Neighbourhood Planning includes some guidance about housing 

requirements, set out in in Paragraphs 009, 101, 102, 103, 104; 97, and 

related 96. Key guidance is reproduced in paragraphs 4.19 to 4.23 below  

Neighbourhood plans making provision for housing 

4.19. Neighbourhood plans can make provision for housing through allocations and 

policies. Current planning practice guidance sets out the circumstances when 

a housing requirement figure is needed for neighbourhood plans and how 

those plans should then include the figure and its origin. PPG Neighbourhood 

Planning Paragraph 103 states that,  

“Where neighbourhood planning bodies have decided to make 

provision for housing in their plan, the housing requirement figure and 

its origin are expected to be set out in the neighbourhood plan as a 

basis for their housing policies and any allocations that they wish to 

make. 

Neighbourhood planning bodies are encouraged to plan to meet their 

housing requirement, and where possible to exceed it. A sustainable 

choice of sites to accommodate housing will provide flexibility if 

circumstances change, and allows plans to remain up to date over a 

longer time scale. Where neighbourhood planning bodies intend to 

exceed their housing requirement figure, proactive engagement with 

their local planning authority can help to assess whether the scale of 

additional housing numbers is considered to be in general conformity 

with the strategic policies. For example, whether the scale of proposed 

increase has a detrimental impact on the strategic spatial strategy, or 

whether sufficient infrastructure is proposed to support the scale of 

development and whether it has a realistic prospect of being delivered 

in accordance with development plan policies on viability. Any 

neighbourhood plan policies on the size or type of housing required will 

need to be informed by the evidence prepared to support relevant 

strategic policies, supplemented where necessary by locally-produced 

information. ......” 

4.20. The ‘origin’ for a housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area can therefore be provided through one of the following mechanisms17: 

a) A housing requirement figure (that is, a number of dwellings) which is 

set out in a strategic policy in a local plan. This figure will not need 

retesting at examination of the neighbourhood plan  

b) Where it is not possible for the housing requirement to be set out in 

strategic policy, then the local planning authority can provide an 

                                                                 
17 PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 104 and 105 

page 102



Page 21 
 

‘indicative’ housing requirement figure if requested to do so by the 

neighbourhood planning body. This figure will be tested at the 

neighbourhood plan examination.  To date, the District Council has 

provided ‘indicative’ housing requirement figures on request, notably in 

2019 for the Broadclyst Neighbourhood Plan (the requirement was a 

net zero figure).  At the same time because Broadclyst is part of a 

larger parish grouping, the District Council also provided net zero 

housing requirement figures for the other parishes18 in that grouping. 

Similarly, a housing requirement figure was provided on request in 

2019 for the Kilmington neighbourhood plan (also net zero). 

c) if a local planning authority is unable to provide an indicative figure, 

then according to PPG, exceptionally, the neighbourhood planning 

body may need to determine the housing requirement figure for the 

Designated Neighbourhood Area taking account of relevant policies, 

the existing and emerging spatial strategy, and characteristics of the 

neighbourhood area. This figure will be tested at the neighbourhood 

plan examination.19 

Must a neighbourhood plan include a housing requirement figure? 

4.21. However, if a Neighbourhood Plan does not intend to provide for housing, 

then Planning Practice Guidance makes clear that housing requirement 

numbers for Designated Neighbourhood Areas are not binding.  PPG 

Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 104 states that : 

“The scope of neighbourhood plans is up to the neighbourhood 

planning body. Where strategic policies set out a housing requirement 

figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area, the neighbourhood 

planning body does not have to make specific provision for housing, or 

seek to allocate sites to accommodate the requirement (which may 

have already been done through the strategic policies or through non-

strategic policies produced by the local planning authority). The 

strategic policies will, however, have established the scale of housing 

expected to take place in the neighbourhood area.” 

4.22. So even if the Local Plan includes a housing requirement figure for a 

Designated Neighbourhood Area in a strategic policy, the neighbourhood 

plan for that area is not required to provide for housing or allocate sites. 

How should a housing requirement figure be set for DNAs? 

4.23. PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 101 states that : 

                                                                 
18  Clyst Honiton, Clyst Hydon, Clyst St Lawrence, Rockbeare and Poltimore 
19 PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 105 Reference ID: 41-105-20190509 

page 103



Page 22 
 

“The National Planning Policy Framework expects most strategic 

policy-making authorities to set housing requirement figures for 

designated neighbourhood areas as part of their strategic policies. 

While there is no set method for doing this, the general policy making 

process already undertaken by local authorities can continue to be 

used to direct development requirements and balance needs and 

protections by taking into consideration relevant policies such as the 

spatial strategy, evidence such as the Housing and economic land 

availability assessment, and the characteristics of the neighbourhood 

area, including its population and role in providing services. In setting 

requirements for housing in designated neighbourhood areas, plan-

making authorities should consider the areas or assets of particular 

importance (as set out in paragraph 11, footnote 6), which may restrict 

the scale, type or distribution of development in a neighbourhood plan 

area.” 

4.24. From analysing NPPF and PPG, the council has identified potential tensions 

between parts of the national planning policy and guidance when viewed 

from the perspectives of plan making for local plans and for neighbourhood 

plans. These are explored further in Section 5 of this report 

4.25. Section 6 of this report explores the implications of national planning policy 

and guidance. First,  through analysing other local plans’ application of NPPF 

and PPG when justifying their DNA housing requirements. Then in analysing 

Inspectors Reports and questions at Examination. 

4.26. This enabled the council in Sections 7 and 8 of this report to consider what 

lessons can be learnt about other plans’ and their evidence used to justify 

policy in terms of plan ‘soundness’, and to reach conclusions about what 

lessons that are relevant for East Devon. 

.

page 104



Page 23 
 

5. LOCAL PLANS AND NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANS 

Relationship between local plans and neighbourhood plans  

5.1. East Devon District Council is a strategic policy-making authority, and as 

explained in this report, NPPF requires the Local Plan to include a strategic 

policy on housing requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas.  

5.2. There are benefits to identifying housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas through the strategic policy. In particular they should 

provide certainty and avoid the need to retest the numbers during the 

Neighbourhood plan examination. Furthermore, the strategic policy will be 

subject to consultation during the process of preparing the Local Plan. All the 

difficult arguments around what the housing requirement should be in any 

given area should, in theory, be directed at the local planning authority writing 

its Local Plan, rather than overwhelming the neighbourhood planning group. 

In addition, the policy will be tested through the Local Plan examination, 

thereby demonstrating that the housing requirement is 'sound'. 

5.3. As made clear in NPPF paragraph 21 

“Plans should make explicit which policies are strategic policies12. 

These should be limited to those necessary to address the strategic 

priorities of the area (and any relevant cross-boundary issues), to 

provide a clear starting point for any non-strategic policies that are 

needed. Strategic policies should not extend to detailed matters that 

are more appropriately dealt with through neighbourhood plans or other 

non-strategic policies” 

5.4. There is no obligation on communities with a designated area to prepare a 

neighbourhood plan, and no obligation for those with ‘made’ neighbourhood 

plans to review and update them. Nevertheless, as all neighbourhood plans 

in East Devon to date have, by necessity, been devised in general conformity 

with the current adopted local plan, and typically to the same plan period 

(ending 2031), it is not unreasonable to anticipate that adoption of the new 

local plan (to 2040) will trigger reviews and preparation of new and modified 

neighbourhood plans in the district. 

5.5. The relationship between the emerging local plan and neighbourhood plans 

is at the heart of the issue of how to calculate and justify housing requirement 

figures for Designated Neighbourhood Areas in strategic policy.  That 

relationship revolves around: 

 The duty of the Local Planning Authority to produce a local plan 

(including setting the district housing requirement and making 

page 105



Page 24 
 

sufficient provision for meeting the requirement including ‘heavy lifting’ 

through allocating sites for housing development). 

 The aspirations of communities translated into neighbourhood plan 

policies and proposals for the development and use of land. 

 How a neighbourhood plan meets ‘basic conditions’ such that it 

supports the delivery of strategic policies in the local plan20; and  

 Legislative and procedural matters, evidence, the timing of plan 

making and the precedence of plans. 

5.6. The relationship between local plans and neighbourhood plans is also a 

wider theme in plan making for Development Plan Document purposes. For 

example, it led to many responses at the Issues and Options consultation 

stage in 2021 and the draft Local Plan consultation in 2022, not least about 

the relative roles of local and neighbourhood plans in determining the amount 

and location of housing growth in Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

5.7. Neighbourhood Plans have to be produced in accordance with legislation 

and, prior to going through a referendum, are subject to an Examination 

undertaken by an independent Examiner. Neighbourhood Plans must meet a 

set of ‘basic conditions’ including that they must be in general conformity with 

the strategic policies of the Local Plan and have regard to national policy, as 

well as complying with regulations relating to environmental assessment and 

the protection of habitats. The District Council is committed to supporting 

those communities who wish to produce a Neighbourhood Plan and a 

number of the Local Plan policies contain specific guidance in relation to 

areas of policy that Neighbourhood Plans may choose to cover. 

5.8. Whilst Government guidance ‘encourages’ neighbourhood planning bodies to 

plan to meet their housing requirement, and where possible exceed it” , 

crucially, neighbourhood planning groups do NOT have to make specific 

provision for housing in their plans. The scope of their plans is for them to 

determine. Nor do they have to seek to allocate sites to accommodate their 

designated neighbourhood area housing requirement – which indeed may 

have already been met through allocations in the local plan. Nevertheless, by 

including the designated neighbourhood area housing requirement figures 

                                                                 
20 PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 65  Only a draft neighbourhood Plan or Order that meets each of a 

set of basic conditions can be put to a referendum and be made. The basic conditions are set out in paragraph 
8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990  as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 
38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 “ –   Paragraph 65 lists the basic conditions. 

PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 009 “A draft neighbourhood plan or Order must be in general 
conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan in force if it is to meet the basic condition. 
Although a draft neighbourhood plan or Order is not tested against the policies in an emerging local plan the 
reasoning and evidence informing the local plan process is l ikely to be relevant to the consideration of the 

basic conditions against which a neighbourhood plan is tested. For example, up-to-date housing need evidence 
is relevant to the question of whether a housing supply policy in a neighbourhood plan or Order contributes to 
the achievement of sustainable development.” 

page 106

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#basic-conditions-for-neighbourhood-plan-to-referendum
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#evidence-to-support-a-neighbourhood-plan


Page 25 
 

within strategic policy as the Government requires us to do, this then 

connects directly into the ‘basic conditions test’ that all neighbourhood plans 

must meet. That is, to be in general conformity with the strategic policies of 

the local plan, and not to promote less development that these stipulate21 . 

5.9. The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning authorities 

to provide a housing requirement figure for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas. Section 4 of this report explores the implications of national planning 

policy and guidance towards housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. As made clear in PPG Neighbourhood Planning 

paragraph 104, strategic policies in the Local Plan will have established the 

scale of housing expected to take place in the neighbourhood area.  

Benefits of DNA HR figures for neighbourhood planning 

5.10. The council appreciates that it is  beneficial to groups who are planning for 

housing in their neighbourhood plan to have an understanding of the broad 

number their plan should address. The council acknowledges that not all 

Neighbourhood Plan groups will wish to address housing, however the 

Council’s starting point is that Neighbourhood Plan groups should have the 

opportunity to address housing wherever this is appropriate to the strategy of 

the Local Plan. This matter is considered in paragraphs 5.11 and 5.12 below 

and in more detail in Sections 7 to 9 of this report regarding the synthesis of 

method options, the implications of the origin of the Designated 

Neighbourhood Area housing requirement numbers, and what this means for 

Neighbourhood Plan groups who wish to make provision for housing. 

5.11. PPG indicates that setting a figure in strategic policy will help to expedite the 

plan-making process of neighbourhood plans, so that the figure does not 

need retesting at the Neighbourhood Plan examination.  The question is 

then, what does the housing requirement figure mean for neighbourhood 

planning?  

5.12. Preparation of new or reviewed neighbourhood plans provides an opportunity 

to consider site allocations in the context of the Designated Neighbourhood 

Area housing requirement figures, for example for the following reasons: 

 There is a need to review a made neighbourhood plan if it is nearing the 

end of its plan period 

 The emerging local plan has a different plan period (2020 to 2040) 

compared to existing neighbourhood plans (most of which have a plan 

period ending in 2031)  

 The neighbourhood planning body now considers that a new 

neighbourhood plan or a review of the neighbourhood plan should include 

                                                                 
21  Planning Practice Guidance – Neighbourhood Planning Paragraph: 103 Reference ID: 41-103-20190509 

page 107



Page 26 
 

housing provision, to address local housing needs and provide greater 

certainty i.e. through additional allocations to steer development, and less 

reliance on windfalls. 

NPPF 20 December 2024- Paragraph 14 

5.13. Neighbourhood plan preparation should also be mindful of the changes to 

NPPF paragraph 14 introduced by Government in the updated NPPF 20 

December 2023. 

5.14. In the context of NPPF paragraph 11d relating to decision-taking and the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development, NPPF paragraph 14 

states: 

“In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to 

applications involving the provision of housing, the adverse impact of 

allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is 

likely to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided 

the following apply:  

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan five 

years or less before the date on which the decision is made; and  

b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its 

identified housing requirement (see paragraphs 67-68” 

5.15. By extending the time period from two years to five years, NPPF 

strengthened the policy to protect areas with made neighbourhood plans that 

meet the policy criteria in paragraph 14 b).  It means that where the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development applies, provided that the 

made Neighbourhood Plan is less than 5 years old and contains policies and 

allocations to meet their identified requirement, then the adverse impact of 

allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Therefore, it will be 

important that neighbourhood plans can demonstrate that the policies and 

allocations meet the Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement in 

order to be afforded this protection by the NPPF. This brings a somewhat 

sharper focus to the potential role and value of the housing requirement 

calculations to neighbourhood planning communities. 22 

5.16. PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 96 explains why it is important for 

neighbourhood plans to include policies and allocations if the qualifying body 

wants to benefit from the protection of Paragraph 14, as follows: 

                                                                 
22  It should be noted that the Government made a last-minute change to the updated NPPF as published on 

19 December2023. The change was made the next day (20 December 2023) by removing text stating that a 
neighbourhood plan would only benefit from protection against speculative housing applications if its 
“identified housing requirement” was less than five years old . 

page 108



Page 27 
 

“Allocating sites and producing housing policies demonstrates that the 

neighbourhood plan is planning positively for new homes, and provides 

greater certainty for developers, infrastructure providers and the 

community. In turn this also contributes to the local authorities’ housing 

land supply, ensuring that the right homes are delivered in the right 

places.” 

5.17. PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 97 clarifies the meaning for 

neighbourhood plans of the phrase ‘policies and allocations to meet its 

identified housing requirement’ in the context of NPPF paragraph 14, as 

follows: 

“In order for a neighbourhood plan to meet the criteria set in paragraph 

14b of the Framework, the ‘policies and allocations’ in the plan should 

meet the identified housing requirement in full, whether it is derived 

from the housing figure for the neighbourhood area set out in the 

relevant strategic policies, an indicative figure provided by the local 

planning authority, or where it has exceptionally been determined by 

the neighbourhood planning body. For example, a neighbourhood 

housing requirement of 50 units could be met through 2 sites allocated 

for 20 housing units each and a policy for a windfall allowance of 10 

units. However, a policy on a windfall allowance alone would not be 

sufficient.” 

5.18. The updated National Planning Policy Framework (20 December 2023) 

introduced changes which post-date PPG Neighbourhood Planning (25 May 

2020). Those changes may encourage future neighbourhood plans to 

allocate housing sites and put further emphasis on supporting community led 

housing.  However, readers should note that in its response to the responses 

received on its consultation on planning reform23, Government signalled the 

following, although the proposed guidance change is still awaited at the time 

of this writing this technical report: 

“We also recognise from the responses that further clarity on how 

paragraph 14 applies in cases where the neighbourhood area has a 

housing requirement of zero is needed. We intend to publish guidance 

in due course to make clear that, irrespective of the housing 

requirement of the neighbourhood, a neighbourhood plan must allocate 

a housing site to benefit from the protection under paragraph 14.” 

 

                                                                 
23  Government response to the Levelling-up and Regeneration Bill: reforms to national planning policy 
consultation Updated 19 December 2023   

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-
planning-policy/outcome/government-response-to-the-levelling-up-and-regeneration-bill-reforms-to-national-
planning-policy-consultation 

page 109



Page 28 
 

Lessons learnt from the previous Local Plan 

5.19. The District Council is mindful of the conclusions drawn by the Inspector in 

his report on the East Devon Local Plan 2013 to 2031, where he concluded: 

 in paragraph  29...  “However, there is no requirement for 

communities to produce a Neighbourhood Plan and most of the Town 

and Parish Councils engaged in the examination resisted rather than 

welcomed new housing.......” 

 in paragraph 30...” The Council is confident that new housing will 

come forward through Plans but there is no guarantee that they will 

nor does this strategy give the Council any control over when or 

where they will be delivered...”24 

5.20. The District Council is also mindful of the concerns about the overall scale of 

housing raised by communities in their comments on the emerging local plan 

November 2022 Regulation 18 consultation. Nevertheless, the District 

Council does not wish to prejudge the aspirations of neighbourhood planning 

groups or town and parish councils regarding the amount of housing they 

might consider proposing to allocate in future neighbourhood plans.  The 

issue of the balance between local and neighbourhood plan allocations was 

therefore raised in the early engagement activity in 2023. 

5.21. Consequently, through the early engagement in 2023 the council has sought 

to gather evidence about neighbourhood planning groups’ intentions and 

aspirations about the potential for future neighbourhood plans to allocate 

sites for housing, and to start of assess the implications for deliverability. 

‘Heavy lifting’ by Local Plan allocations 

5.22. The proposed approach for identifying housing supply in the emerging new 

local plan would continue the approach taken under the adopted East Devon 

Local Plan 2013 to 2031. That is, the emerging local plan is taking the 

responsibility for doing the ‘heavy lifting’ by proposing local plan site 

allocations sufficient (in combination with forecast supply from completions 

since 2020, commitments, Cranbrook allocations and a windfall allowance) to 

provide in full for the minimum net district housing requirement with a supply 

‘headroom’25 to manage risk. 

                                                                 
24 Other conclusions by the Inspector about methods used to calculate housing provision in villages is set out in 
Section 9 of this report on metho options assessment– see ‘Other methods’ 
25 A supply headroom is the amount by which the actual and forecast net district housing supply for the plan 
period exceeds the policy district housing requirement for that period. It is a means to manage the risk about 
the uncertainty of housing delivery in the long term. 

page 110



Page 29 
 

5.23. The council would include housing supply from allocations in ‘made’ 

Neighbourhood Plans (or with Recommendation to go to Referendum) in the 

forecast of supply for the plan period of the emerging local plan. Excluding 

dwellings built before 1 April 2020, dwellings on the remainder of made 

neighbourhood allocations would count towards supply (either as completions 

1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023; commitments from permission at 31 March 

2023 or allocations without planning permission as at 31 March 2023).26 

5.24. EDDC has not sought (and are currently not proposing) to rely on emerging 

and future new or updated neighbourhood plans to make allocations in order 

to meet the district’s minimum housing requirement.  The onus is therefore on 

the council as LPA to evidence housing supply deliverability/developability 

through robust technical evidence. This will be rigorously tested at 

examination and monitored and reported on annually. 

5.25. The emerging Local Plan has various provisions to allow for neighbourhood 

plans to make allocations in addition to the local plan to meet locally identified 

community needs/priorities and preferences. For these, the neighbourhood 

plans need proportionate evidence but generally face less onerous testing at 

examination than is experienced during the Local Plan testing process. 

Should communities be responsible for more of the ‘heavy lifting’? 

5.26. Under the adopted Local Plan, there has been significant participation by 

communities in neighbourhood planning (with 27 made neighbourhood plans 

currently).  Of these, 6 (just over one-fifth) have chosen to make allocations 

for housing (for a combined total of about 160 homes), with 2 more emerging 

neighbourhood plans known to be advanced in work to allocate sites for 

housing.  Sites that come forward during the plan period of the adopted local 

plan through neighbourhood plans have been additional to the forecast 

supply to meet the minimum district requirement. That is, they are effectively 

seen as a 'bonus' in supplementing supply. 

5.27. Many comments received in response to the Regulation 18 draft local plan 

consultation 2022 related to the overall district housing requirement figure. 

Community responses largely sought a reduction in that figure. But there 

were some community responses on the housing requirements for 

Designated Neighbourhood Area and also on the issue about which type of 

plan should allocate sites for housing. For example, the council received the 

following comments: 

 Neighbourhoods and Parish Councils should make their own decisions 

on these matters.  

                                                                 
26 The council expects to update this approach to move to a 2024 monitoring point date ( i.e. 31 March 2024) 
for the evidence and policy basis for the Regulation 19 (Publication) local plan stage. 

page 111



Page 30 
 

 Where Neighbourhood Plans have been made, the housing 

requirement figures should be respected.  

 The wishes of communities already expressed in their democratically 

approved Neighbourhood Plans are ignored.  

 A local authority may seek to establish housing figures but it is the 

neighbourhood plan that determines where, when and numbers. 

 Should refer back to the principles of localism – the Neighbourhood 

Plan is the best way to determine new development sites  

 Should listen to local people, revisit Neighbourhood plans with them, 

work alongside them to encourage small pockets of organic growth 

with appropriate dwellings and support mechanisms already in place. 

 Self-determinism and localism should be applied - whereby power 

should be exercised at the lowest practical level steered by the 

emerging Neighbourhood Plan which will be the principal tool by which 

the community in a Designated Neighbourhood Area will direct, 

promote and control development  i.e. the community should 

determine the shape of the places in which their inhabitants live.   

5.28. After that consultation stage, the potential to place more expectation and 

onus on communities to identify and allocate sites to help meet the minimum 

district housing requirement was one aspect explored through the 2023 

engagement exercises. Paragraphs 2.6 to 2.10 and 2.17 report on that early 

engagement feedback, with more details in Appendix B of this report. 

5.29. CONCLUSION 2: The early engagement feedback through the survey 

indicates there appears to be more appetite to bring housing forward through 

Neighbourhood Plans than previously indicated through the initial webinar, 

notably to meet specific identified community needs. However, how much 

housing would be delivered through those plans is unclear. This is because 

of respondents’ general uncertainty about the eventual content of the 

emerging local plan, their concerns about resources to prepare new or 

updated neighbourhood plans, and concerns about housing need, constraints 

and infrastructure capacity. Therefore, at this time the feedback does not 

provide clear and compelling evidence that future neighbourhood plans 

would allocate sites that could be relied on in total to deliver a sizeable share 

of future housing supply in East Devon to 2040. 

5.30. CONCLUSION 3 :  The council’s duty to prepare a local plan, combined with 

the requirement for the local plan to be found ‘sound’ places a burden on the 

EDDC to justify whether it can or cannot rely on delivery of housing from 

future neighbourhood plan allocations as part of the forecast district housing 

supply to 2040. The Spring 2024 public consultation therefore provides an 

opportunity to consider the implications for the method to calculate housing 

page 112



Page 31 
 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas as a result of the balance 

between: 

 The appetite for future neighbourhood plans to allocate sites and 

whether this could deliver significantly more housing; and 

 The consequence of the emerging local plan’s ‘heavy lifting’ approach 

to ensure sufficient supply is identified through the local plan, and the 

evidential burden of demonstrating the deliverability of strategic policy 

on the district housing requirement for the plan period.  

 

page 113



Page 32 
 

6. LEARNING LESSONS FROM OTHER LOCAL PLANS 

6.  

6.1. In any project it helps to learn from the experience of others when we prepare 

our evidence and justification of the housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. Doing this early on helps to save time, avoid abortive 

work, and focus resources and effort effectively. 

6.2. As stated in PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 101, there is no set 

method for setting housing requirement figures for designated neighbourhood 

areas. However, PPG is clear that the council can use the general policy 

making process to direct development requirements and balance needs and 

protections. We can take relevant policies into consideration such as the 

spatial strategy, evidence such as the HELAA, characteristics of the 

neighbourhood areas including its population and role in providing services, 

and areas or assets of particular importance which may restrict the scale, 

type of distribution of development in a neighbourhood plan area. 

Learning from recent local plans 

6.3. Research commissioned by the Local Government Association in 2021 27 

concluded that different methods are being used by Local Planning 

Authorities to determine housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas in local plans. We can learn from them. 

6.4. The council is mindful that there are only a limited number of adopted (or very 

advanced) plans at this time with strategic policy on Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas housing requirements. Local Plan Examinations are 

still exploring these issues, and Local Planning Authorities are still learning 

from the lessons of other areas and considering how those lessons are 

relevant to their plan making.  LPAs are at this early learning stage because: 

 The NPPF requirement for strategic policy on this matter is relatively 

new. So only a few local plans that are recently adopted include DNA 

housing requirement figures. Some other plans that are examination or 

Regulation 19 stage consider the issue, but not all include figures or 

strategic policy. 

 Delays in local plan making because of uncertainty and Government 

consultations on changes to the planning system has meant that the 

number of local plans adopted in 2023 was at a 10 year low; and 

                                                                 
27 Researching the interactions between local plan making and neighbourhood plans 10 February 2021  Researching the 

interactions between local plan making and neighbourhood plans | Local Government Association  

page 114

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/researching-interactions-between-local-plan-making-and-neighbourhood-plans
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/researching-interactions-between-local-plan-making-and-neighbourhood-plans


Page 33 
 

 Some LPA areas do not have Designated Neighbourhood Areas, so 

do not need to include policy on this matter. 

6.5. The District Council has therefore studied the approaches used by other 

strategic policy-making authorities whose recent plan making processes are 

ahead of East Devon in identifying housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas.  

6.6. Based on an early analysis of recent plans, a report to the Council’s Strategic 

Planning Committee on 7 March 202328 advised that other LPAs have used a 

range of methods to calculate housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas in Local Plans. That analysis fed into the early 

engagement activity in June 2023 and Autumn 2023. 

6.7. This technical report updates that earlier analysis. The report is informed by 

updated evidence from our latest research which focused on 22 local plans 

(including reviews and partial updates) with recently adopted local plans or 

plans at Examination or at Regulation 19 (Publication) stage by February 

2024, where there are Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

6.8. The aim of the research is to help the council identify and assess potential 

method options for the emerging East Devon Local Plan.  We have gained 

insights and can learn lessons from the following information sources: 

 The conclusions and recommendations in recent local plan Inspectors’ 

reports, and from less recent Inspector reports where the Local Plan 

included an allowance for housing supply from future neighbourhood 

plans 

 Latest local plan examinations where the process has reached Main 

Modifications consultation stage. This follows on from matters discussed 

at the Examination, or from written questions and answers, and where the 

Inspector will have considered potential Main Modifications. 

 Latest local plan examinations where: 

o Inspectors’ Matters, Issues and Questions (MIQs) for Local Plan 

Examination hearings identify specific issues and /or questions 

about strategic policy (or the lack of it) on housing requirements for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

o There are participants’ Written Statement responses to MIQs 

o Inspectors’ have asked initial or further questions prior to 

examination hearings and planning authority provided written 

responses. 

                                                                 
28  
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s19358/3.%20SPC%20Report%20Neighbourhood%20Area%
20Housing%20Requirement%20v0.5.pdf 

page 115



Page 34 
 

 Very recent Regulation 19 Publication stage Local Plans and evidence 

underpinning policy on Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing 

requirements. For example, West Suffolk Local Plan (Regulation 19) 

Submission Draft January 2024. 

6.9. Drawing on our research, this report provides detailed technical information 

and analysis about approaches taken by other local plans. Table 5 in 

Appendix C provides a simplified summary. Appendix D provides the source 

data extracts with more details relevant to the lessons that can be learnt, 

including Inspectors questions and conclusions, and Main Modifications. 

Analysis of local plans and methods 

6.10. The main findings of that research are that LPAs interpret NPPF and PPG in 

different ways regarding housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. In particular there is variation in the approach towards 

the following matters: 

1. The methods vary, and fall into two broad groups: 

a) Supply based – specifying which types of supply are counted and 

when added together give the housing requirement for the 

Designated Neighbourhood Area 

b) Apportionment based – specifying what statistics are used as a 

basic percentage, which is then modified to take account of e.g. 

population/spatial strategy/areas or assets of particular importance. 

The percentage is then applied to the District requirement in order 

to calculate the housing requirement for the Designated 

Neighbourhood Area 

2. For supply based methods, for example whether to count: 

 all supply sources (including windfalls) as “expected” or 

 only local plan allocations, or  

 only allocations in made or submitted neighbourhood plans or 

neighbourhood plans where the neighbourhood planning body confirms 

the intention to allocate housing sites in the plan, or 

 local plan allocations and planning permissions 

3. Using the supply side method, including local plan allocations and existing 

completions and commitments, housing requirement figures in local plan 

policies are taking account of the matters raised by NPPF/PPG by default 

(i.e. population/spatial strategy/areas and assets of particular importance) 

as they are material considerations in identifying emerging local plan 

allocations and planning approvals. 

4. The supply source can raise different issues, notably: 

page 116



Page 35 
 

 If commitments on outstanding planning permissions as at the latest 

monitoring point are counted (currently those permissions that have not 

expired as at 31 March 2023 but where dwellings are either under 

construction or not started, but are expected to be built in the plan 

period), this can then raise further issues, for example: 

o Have planning permissions been allocated in the local plan or a 

neighbourhood plan? (and if so, the need to avoid double counting) 

o Should policy set out what happens if the planning permission 

expires? (for planning applications approved before the plan period) 

Is this an issue, if the local plan makes provision for a supply 

‘headroom’ above the local plan requirement? If there is no supply 

headroom, would expiry of planning permissions within a 

Neighbourhood area need to be offset by additional Neighbourhood 

Plan allocations, subject to the  local plan spatial strategy/ 

settlement hierarchy and strategic policies? 

 If future neighbourhood plans’ provision is included as a supply source, 

what happens if neighbourhood plans, when submitted, do not include 

housing site allocations? (and, would the neighbourhood plan then not 

meet basic conditions which would mean the plan cannot proceed to 

referendum?) 

 Should future windfalls be taken into account? If future windfalls are 

taken into account, can these be forecast at the Neighbourhood Area 

level in a sufficiently robust way? 

 If supply from made or submitted Neighbourhood Plan allocations are 

included, what should happen if planning applications are not 

forthcoming on those sites? Would this undermine delivery of the local 

plan strategy? 

5. Notwithstanding NPPF, plans vary in the status of the housing requirement 

figures, for example:  

 Only some Local Plans set designated neighbourhood housing 

requirement figures in strategic policy. Others include figures in non-

strategic policy, in reasoned justification, or in detached appendices 

(that are in the plan but not cross referenced by any policy or reasoned 

justification).  

 Some plans only include indicative housing requirement figures, which 

may be for Designated Neighbourhood Areas, although some plans 

also include figures for areas that are not designated. 

 Others refer to criteria and leave it to the neighbourhood planning body 

to justify a housing requirement figure, or state that they will provide 

page 117



Page 36 
 

indicative numbers on request (i.e. separate from the plan-making 

process 

6. Notwithstanding NPPF, plans also appear to vary in the ‘geography’ used 

for those housing requirement figures, for example: 

 Some LPAs with housing requirement figures base them on the area 

boundaries of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas (most of which are 

based on parish boundaries) and leave it to the neighbourhood plan 

process to translate this into supply provision for specific settlements. 

 Some LPAs base those housing requirements on their local plan spatial 

strategy ‘geography’ i.e. ‘settlements’. 

Analysis of Inspectors’ questions and conclusions  

6.11. The council has researched what questions have been asked by Inspectors 

at Local Plan examinations, and their conclusions particularly where this 

results in main modifications to the local plan so that the plan can be made 

‘sound’. The purpose of the following analysis is to understand and learn 

lessons. It is not to criticise or question Inspectors’ conclusions. 

6.12. Inspectors’ questions vary, depending on the content of the submission 

plans, the evidence, and information provided during the examination. 

6.13. Some Inspectors ask specific questions on consistency with NPPF, notably: 

1. Should there be a housing requirement for any Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas within the District, and what should these be? 

2. Is a figure provided for each and all Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

in a local plan area, even if the figure is zero? 

3. What is the policy status of housing requirement figures set out or not 

set out in submitted local plans?  i.e. are housing requirement figures 

set out in the plan in “strategic policy” or are the figures only 

“indicative”? 

4. Are the Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement figures 

a part of the district housing requirement? i.e. not additional. 

5. Are the housing requirement figures minimums? i.e. no ‘cap’ 

6. Is it clear whether policies about places and/or settlements contain 

specific housing requirements for each DNA? 

6.14. Some Inspectors ask questions about the following: 

1. What supply sources are counted towards the scale of housing 

“expected” to take place? 

2. What is the appropriate geography to use? 

page 118



Page 37 
 

6.15. Some Inspectors ask more detailed questions on the ‘justification’ of the local 

plan and its policies, for example 

1. How do the housing requirements figures support the Local Plan 

vision, objectives and strategy? 

2. What is the evidence audit trails justifying the housing requirement 

figures, including the effectiveness of consultation/engagement in 

developing the methodology? 

6.16. Some Inspectors ask questions about ‘effectiveness’ in the delivery of 

housing, for example: 

1. Are there detailed housing delivery forecasts? (e.g. using the same 

trajectories for major sites that are counted in the district housing 

trajectories) 

2. Which neighbourhood plans address housing provision and allocate or 

intend to allocate housing sites? 

3. Does each housing requirement figure avoid double counting supply 

from neighbourhood plan allocations and local plan allocations? 

6.17. Inspectors conclusions are set out in their reports to the LPAs at the end of 

the local plan examinations. However, there can also be early ‘signals’ about 

Inspectors views, without pre-judging their final report, either in interim 

reports following hearings, and/or in Main Modifications. The latter are only 

published on the Examination website with the agreement of the Inspector, 

and the changes proposed often follow discussions at hearings or responses 

to written questions. 

6.18. From our analysis of Inspectors Reports and Main Modifications in Section 6 

and Appendix D of this technical report, the council concludes that some 

variation in Inspectors’ conclusions and ‘signals’ could be explained by the 

circumstances of individual LPA areas. However, it appears that more can be 

explained by the current, inherent ‘tensions’ within and between NPPF and 

PPG. In particular, whether the Inspector accepts that the purpose of 

including DNA HR figures in the local plan is:  

 Simply to provide a context about the extent of ‘expected’ scale of 

housing (whereby the requirement figure is a total forecast supply for 

the plan period). The local plan policy would however then need to 

make clear what supply is forecast for specific supply categories; or  

 Notwithstanding that neighbourhood plans are not required to allocate 

sites for housing, it is more helpful to neighbourhood planning groups 

if the local plan makes clear how many dwellings the neighbourhood 

plan should allocate in total.(whereby the DNA housing requirement 

figure is then smaller than the total expected growth and may be a NIL 

figure - for example because the local plan supply does not rely on 

page 119



Page 38 
 

neighbourhood plans to deliver housing supply, or because some 

DNAs do not contain settlements where allocations would be 

appropriate). The council notes that Inspectors do not ask questions 

about what scale of housing requirement is ‘popular’ with local 

residents, although they do ask about what stage neighbourhood plan-

making has reached. 

CONCLUSION 4 : Considerable variation in methods and policy  

6.19. Overall, this research found that there does not appear to be much 

consistency in recent local plans in either the method used (and therefore the 

numbers) or whether the plans contain strategic policy on this matter or on 

policy content, or even in clarifying the purpose of including policy or housing 

requirement numbers in the plan. Notwithstanding this, local plan Inspectors 

appear to have largely accepted the variations in approach. 

6.20. Not all methods will be suitable for East Devon, as our circumstances differ 

from other areas, not least because we have 41 designated neighbourhood 

areas, and the evidence does not suggest a strong appetite amongst 

neighbourhood plan groups take on a ‘heavy lifting’ role for allocating 

significant number of dwellings in future neighbourhood plans. 

 

 

page 120



Page 39 
 

7. WHICH LESSONS LEARNT APPLY TO EAST 

DEVON? 

7.1. From the review of other local plans and Inspectors’ questions and 

conclusions set out in Section 6 of this report and Appendix D, combined with 

the council’s careful consideration of NPPF and PPG, the council has 

identified the following main lessons learnt as being applicable for East 

Devon plan-making and the related evidence gathering. The detailed 

assessment of method options in Section 9 draws on the following analysis to 

reach conclusions about each of the options. 

1. Set out DNA HR figures in ‘strategic policy’ in the local plan. 

7.2. CONCLUSION 5: The council concludes that the DNA HR figures need to be 

listed for all DNAs in East Devon in strategic policy in the local plan if the 

policy is to be fully compliant with NPPF. That policy needs to be clear that 

the DNA HR figures are part of (and not additional to) the overall district 

housing requirement figure for which the new Local Plan needs to make 

provision for (and therefore which we will need to justify robustly at 

examination in order for the Plan to be found sound).  

7.3. Furthermore, the strategic policy must also clearly state that the DNA HR 

figures are expected minimums. That is, they cannot and will not represent 

an upper target or maximum level of development in the Designated 

Neighbourhood Area over the plan period.  

7.4. By setting the DNA HR figures within a strategic policy, neighbourhood plans 

would therefore need to be in general conformity with that policy. This would 

mean that neighbourhood plans that make provision for housing cannot plan 

for less housing than the strategic policy sets. 

7.5. Reason: Omitting DNA HR figures from the plan, or only including them in 

non-strategic policy, or in reasoned justification or in evidence would not be 

consistent with NPPF and therefore there would be a risk that the emerging 

East Devon Local Plan would not meet the test of soundness.  Likewise 

stating or implying that the DNA HR figures are maximum targets would not 

be consistent with the NPPF. These risks can be avoided by setting out the 

DNA housing requirement figures in strategic policy. 

2. Be clear about the purpose of the strategic policy 

7.6. The DNA HR figures should provide a basis and a degree of certainty for 

neighbourhood plan bodies in considering what housing policies and 

allocations they may wish to include/make in their own plans, and potentially 

lessen the burden of evidence on them (as they would not be expected to 

page 121



Page 40 
 

need re-testing at individual neighbourhood plan examinations unless new 

evidence was presented). 

7.7. CONCLUSION  6 : The local plan needs to be very clear if the DNA HR 

policy is to help neighbourhood planning groups in preparing neighbourhood 

plans. In particular, this will mean ensuring that: 

 Each Designated Neighbourhood Area’s housing requirement figure (and 

any breakdown into it supply categories) provides sufficiently clear 

information to provide a context for neighbourhood plan making. 

 The policy and related reasoned justification are clear about the relative 

roles of the local plan and the neighbourhood plan regarding site 

allocations for housing. Notably how the ‘heavy lifting’ through housing 

allocations would be achieved to ensure that housing supply can be 

delivered over the plan period to achieve the housing requirements for the 

DNA and for the district (see Section 7 of this report). 

 The policy is clear about whether the housing requirement figure does or 

does not mean that there is identified housing supply gap that a 

Neighbourhood Plan is expected to meet through neighbourhood plan site 

allocation(s).  However, at this time, the council concludes that forecast 

housing supply from future neighbourhood plan allocations should not be 

included as a supply category in the justification of housing requirements 

for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

 If the strategic policy does not require neighbourhood plans to allocate 

sites, it will still need to enable housing allocations to be included in a 

neighbourhood plan to provide additional supply. 

7.8. Reason: There is an inherent tension between NPPF (paragraph 67) which 

states that strategic policies should set out a housing requirement figure for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas and Government guidance (PPG 

Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 104) that clearly states that housing 

requirement figures for neighbourhood plan areas are not binding. This is 

only resolved by understanding whether a neighbourhood plan makes or 

intends to make housing provision, and whether the local plan will rely on 

neighbourhood plan allocations as a source of housing supply in the future. 

7.9. There is a further tension within PPG about the justification of and therefore 

the scale of the housing requirement for the Designated Neighbourhood 

Area, where: 

a) PPG Neighbourhood Planning Paragraph 103 provides guidance on how 

neighbourhood planning bodies should use a housing requirement figure 

that has been provided to them:  

“Where neighbourhood planning bodies have decided to make provision 
for housing in their plan, the housing requirement figure and its origin are 

page 122



Page 41 
 

expected to be set out in the neighbourhood plan as a basis for their 
housing policies and any allocations that they wish to make. 

Neighbourhood planning bodies are encouraged to plan to meet 

their housing requirement, and where possible to exceed it……”      

b) But, PPG Neighbourhood Planning Paragraph 104 provides guidance that  

 the strategic policies will, however, have established the scale of 

housing expected to take place in the neighbourhood area; and  

 the neighbourhood planning body does not have to make specific 

provision for housing, or seek to allocate sites to accommodate the 

requirement (which may have already been done through the 

strategic policies or through non-strategic policies produced 

by the local planning authority)  (our emphasis) 

7.10. Paragraph 104 is clearly based on the scale of housing “expected” to take 

place in the DNA but it recognises that the requirement could be met through 

sites allocated by the local planning authority. Whereas Paragraph 103 

relates to the ability of the neighbourhood planning body to meet the 

requirement (e.g. via its neighbourhood plan making role)  

7.11. However, the local plan cannot require a neighbourhood plan to make 

provision for housing. It cannot compel a neighbourhood plan to allocate sites 

for housing.  The council is mindful that the information in Appendix B of this 

report does not provide evidence at this time to demonstrate that 

communities or neighbourhood planning bodies aspire to allocate sites for 

significantly more housing than previously understood from consultation 

responses or from the webinar held in 2023.  

7.12. The council is also mindful that at 160 dwellings, the number of dwellings on 

made Neighbourhood Plans allocations to date is very small compared to the 

adopted local plan housing requirements. 

7.13. If the emerging local plan were to include future neighbourhood plan 

allocations as a supply category, it would need to manage the risk of non-

delivery by providing ‘flexibility’. For example, this might have to be by 

increasing the local plan’s supply headroom through allocating additional 

sites in the emerging local plan. This was the approach taken in the adopted 

Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2016. 

7.14. Currently there is no robust evidence that many future neighbourhood plans 

could be relied on to deliver housing, and in particular could not be relied on 

to share the ‘heavy lifting’ in delivering significant numbers of dwellings 

towards meeting the emerging district plan housing requirement. In the 

absence of such evidence it is not considered that the council could rely on 

page 123



Page 42 
 

future neighbourhood plans as a housing supply source for achieving the 

local plan housing requirement for 2020 to 2040. 

7.15. The logical outcome is that it therefore remains the Local Plan’s role to do the 

‘heavy lifting’ through identifying housing allocations in the emerging local 

plan (in combination with other supply sources) sufficient to provide in full for 

the (net) minimum district housing requirement (with a supply ‘headroom’ to 

manage risk). 

3. A supply based method is easier to understand and justify 

7.16. CONCLUSION 7 : Of the two broad approaches (1. Supply based; 2. Top-

down apportionment), the council concludes that the East Devon DNA HR 

figures calculated by using a supply based method are more likely to be 

understood and more robust. 

7.17. Reason : Top-down apportionment of a district housing requirement relies on 

a range of assumptions. This type of method can appear theoretical and be 

more open to challenge. It appears to be less easy to understand, compared 

to a simple summing of actual and forecast supply from specific supply 

categories. Trying to make a generic top-down apportionment approach fit 

with strategy in East Devon will be particularly challenging because of the 

complications due to settlements and allocations overlapping the boundaries 

of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas (Appendix G of this report identifies 

the overlaps in the notes about sites). There are further complications when 

trying to produce a top-down apportionment due to the following: 

 As well as the list of the 41 Designated Neighbourhood Areas, 

Appendix A shows which of these include or do not include 

settlements listed in the settlement hierarchy in the emerging local 

plan (Regulation 18 November 2022).  

 There are 4 parishes which have settlements in the proposed 

settlement hierarchy in the emerging local plan which are not 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas (Branscombe, Musbury, Plymtree, 

Stoke Canon). 

 Appendix A also shows which Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

include strategic developments proposed in the western part of the 

district (i.e. the 2nd new settlement and land north of Topsham), plus 

Cranbrook Expansion Areas in the adopted Cranbrook Plan.  

Information is not available at this time to apportion housing in the 2nd 

new settlement to DNAs in Appendices F and G (but will need to be 

apportioned for the Regulation 19 plan).  

 Not all of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas are expected to have 

neighbourhood plans (new or reviewed). 

page 124



Page 43 
 

7.18. The consequence is that it is particularly challenging to develop an 

apportionment method which accommodates these complexities and at the 

same time is easy to understand and to evidence that it is deliverable, and 

results in consistency in how the housing figure for each Designated 

Neighbourhood Area has been calculated. 

7.19. Supply forecasting can be challenging, but the housing supply trajectories are 

already required when justifying the district housing requirement, so will be 

tested at the local plan examination. The only additional evidence that may 

be needed for DNA HR figures is the evidence about breaking down the 

district windfall allowance in order to apportion that supply category to the 

individual DNAs. 

4. Not continuing the historic approach of zero DNA HR figures  

7.20. The historic approach to Designated Neighbourhood Area housing 

requirement figures in East Devon has been to give a nil figure for each DNA 

That is, neighbourhood planning groups who requested indicative housing 

figures, were advised they were ‘zero’. This was considered to have worked 

well in the adopted Local Plan (which pre-dates the introduction of this 

Government requirement). In effect it meant that there was no strategic 

supply need to allocate sites for housing in the neighbourhood plans and the 

adopted Local Plan did not rely on housing allocations in neighbourhood 

plans in order to deliver housing supply to meet the local plan’s housing 

requirement policy figure. 

7.21. However, national planning policy and guidance has changed since the 

adoption of the East Devon Local Plan 2013 to 2031. The emerging local 

plan has to respond to those changes. 

7.22. CONCLUSION 8 : The council concludes that continuing to use the historic 

approach of zero DNA housing requirements is considered unlikely to be 

found consistent with current national policy and should therefore not be 

continued. The emerging local plan is an opportunity to consider alternative 

approaches whereby the emerging plan’s local plan policy on DNA housing 

requirement figures is consistent with NPPF and PPG so that the plan is 

‘sound’.  

7.23. The scale of the housing requirement figures depends on the method 

selected, notably which supply categories are included in a supply based 

approach.  The figures are unlikely to be zero when a supply based method 

uses all supply sources (as can be seen in Appendix F where only the figures 

at Cotleigh and at Monkton are zero under Option 1, but not under Option 2 if 

the apportioned windfall allowance is included). However, in small rural 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas, the figures may be very low, particularly if 

there are no local plan allocations, and /or if an apportioned windfall 

page 125



Page 44 
 

allowance is not part of the calculation. What will be important is to 

understand the implications of those figures for neighbourhood plan. In 

particular whether method used means that there is no expectation of supply 

from future neighbourhood plans. This is considered in Point 5 below. 

7.24. Reason:  The council considers that an automatic flat rate of ‘zero’ for each 

and all neighbourhood areas, and/or a reliance on neighbourhood plan 

groups to seek indicative figures from EDDC on request, would fail to comply 

with current Government policy and guidance. The risk would be that the 

emerging local plan policy would be found not sound.  That risk can be 

avoided by including housing requirement figures that indicate the scale of 

housing expected in the Designated Neighbourhood Area, and the sources of 

housing supply which are part of that expected scale of housing.  The figures 

would then provide a context for to help and support neighbourhood planning 

for the future. 

5. Base DNA HR figures on ‘the scale of housing expected to take place’ 

and be clear about what ‘expected’ means 

7.25. PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 104 states that “The strategic 

policies will, however, have established the scale of housing expected to take 

place in the neighbourhood area.”.  In the context of the emerging local plan 

the council considers that this means the net increase in housing delivered 

through development in the plan period (currently 1 April 2020 to 31 March 

2040). In a supply based method, it therefore would include actual 

completions from the start of the plan period to the last monitoring point (31 

March 2023) and forecasts of delivery from other supply sources from 1 April 

2023 to the end of the plan period. 

7.26. What is important to understand is what supply components are ‘expected’ 

and therefore counted towards the DNA housing requirement figure.’  

7.27. The council is mindful that in order to manage delivery risks, the local plan 

proposes to allocate housing sites, sufficient to provide a degree of supply 

headroom when combined with the other supply sources. This means that 

the housing requirement figures for DNAs would therefore reflect an element 

of supply headroom. 

7.28. CONCLUSION 9: The council concludes that basing the method on the scale 

of housing expected to take place requires the method and the policy to be 

clear about that what this means and how this is justified. 

7.29. Actual completions are known and are reported in the council’s Housing 

Monitoring Update. The council has also published delivery trajectories for 

planning commitments and the Cranbrook Plan expansion areas to 2031 (the 

end of the adopted local plan’s plan period). The council will be producing 

page 126



Page 45 
 

detailed site delivery trajectories to 2040, include allocations in the emerging 

local plan. The council does not produce specific forecasts for individual 

future windfall sites, as these are unknown. Instead, it forecasts a windfall 

allowance for the district, expected to be delivered by 2040. 

7.30. Reason: Lack of clarity about what growth is expected would not be 

consistent with NPPF and therefore there would be a risk that the Local Plan 

would not meet the test of soundness. Also, if the policy is not clear about 

what expected growth means then the policy would not be ‘clearly written and 

unambiguous’ and as a result it would not be evident how a decision maker 

should react to development proposals. It would be contrary to NPPF 

paragraph 16d).This would increase the risk that the local plan would not 

meet the test of soundness about consistency with NPPF (paragraph 16 

bullet point d). 

6.     Be clear about ‘what, where and when’. 

7.31. CONCLUSION 10: Of the two broad approaches to calculating DNA HR 

figures (supply based; and ‘apportionment’) the council concludes that 

forecasts of specific categories of housing supply in a DNA which are added 

together to give the DNA HR figure is clearer in terms of ‘what, where and 

when’ and therefore is preferred for the method to use for East Devon DNAs. 

7.32. Reason . The supply based approach is a more robust and easier to 

understand method. Unlike the approach of disaggregating the district figure 

of growth for the plan period, the supply based approach does not rely on a 

more ‘theoretical’ top-down method to breakdown and apportion the district 

requirement  through an algorithm to produce the DNA HR figures. It is also 

easier to compare to actual and forecast housing supply, although this will 

require housing monitoring data on a DNA basis to be provided to 

neighbourhood planning groups annually so that both they and the LPA can 

monitor progress of delivery against their DNA HR figures. 

7.33. But using a supply based method, the council also has to consider further 

details about what housing supply is counted, where and when. 

a) WHAT - Expected housing growth means the net number of dwelling 

completions in the Designated Neighbourhood Area, over a specified 

time period.  The council can already evidence how all but one of the 

housing supply categories are consistent PPG paragraph 103 (i.e. for 

completions (for April 2020 to 31 March 2023), commitments as at 31 

March 2023, Cranbrook Expansion Area allocations, made 

Neighbourhood Plan allocations (not yet completed or committed) and 

the emerging East Devon Local Plan allocations).  

page 127



Page 46 
 

When assessing supply within DNA boundaries, the council needs to 

consider how to apportion supply between DNAs where sites with 

planning permissions, resolution to grant or allocations straddle the 

DNA boundaries. The complexity of the 2nd new community, and the 

fact that the work on developing the proposal is still at an early stage 

means that the Technical Report will not be able to include DNA-

specific figures for the 2nd new community for the Spring 2024 

consultation. This is made clear in the consultation material. A DNA 

apportionment would need to be evidenced in time to justify the 

DNAHR figures in the Regulation 19 Plan. 

However, a method to breakdown the district windfall allowance 

forecast to give an apportioned figure to each DNA would be required if 

that supply category were to be included.  This is considered in Section 

8 of this report which explores 2 options for apportionment, and 

identifies a preferred option if windfalls were to be included. However, 

the council concludes that an apportionment of the forecast district 

windfalls allowance should not be included in the preferred method for 

the Spring 2024 consultation. 

Reason: Whilst the district windfall allowance could be disaggregated, it 

would be based on historic windfall rates (currently sites of less than 20 

dwellings on non-garden land) which would reflect the previous spatial 

strategy, rather than an emerging spatial strategy. Moreover, there is 

overlap between the historic and emerging strategies in East Devon, 

but it may be a challenge to demonstrate sufficient consistency with 

PPG paragraph 101 regarding spatial strategy, characteristics of the 

area, delivery and areas/assets of particular importance. Also, the 

small numbers of windfalls in some of the smaller rural areas without 

allocations may imply spurious accuracy regarding ‘expected growth’  

which would be challenging to justify and might result in misplaced 

expectations and misunderstandings. 

CONCLUSION 11: For these reasons the council’s preferred method is 

to omit a windfall allowance from DNA HR figures.  

However, the council acknowledges that the DNA HR figures might not 

be perceived as a complete picture of ‘the scale of expected housing’ 

without windfalls being included. Although excluding windfalls from 

supply is rejected at this stage, it is currently a ‘reasonable alternative’ 

to the ‘preferred’ method 

As reasonable alternatives, both options can be tested for 

Sustainability Appraisal /SEA purposes.  

page 128



Page 47 
 

Appendices E and F for the summary and detailed tables of the supply 

sources and the summed total housing requirement figure for each 

Designated Neighbourhood Area show the consequences of Option 1 

method (omitting windfalls) and Option 2 method (including windfalls). 

The council also acknowledges that a forecast supply based approach 

would, if totalled across all the district) result in the total supply being 

above the total requirement for the district. This is because the 

allocations proposed in the emerging Local Plan, when combined with 

other actual and forecast supply, will be more than the district housing 

requirement. This is necessary in order to provide a supply ‘headroom’, 

as a practical way to manage uncertainty over housing supply delivery. 

b) WHERE - The figures must relate to the ‘geography’ of each DNA, i.e. 

reflecting the ‘geographical boundaries’ shown on the maps delineating 

the DNA on the designation notice.  In most cases these are whole civil 

parishes. For a few DNAs this means two combined parishes. There is 

one Designated Neighbourhood Area that is only part of a civil parish.  

Adding the ‘geography’ of Designated Neighbourhood Areas into local 

plan policy is potentially confusing, because it is largely based on 

parish boundaries. This differs from the ‘settlement’ approach we use in 

strategic policy for ‘place-making’ in East Devon. A settlement can be 

in more than one parish or may be parts of one or more parishes.   It 

also raises issues if a local plan proposes a new settlement or other 

large strategic allocations that extend across two or more parishes, 

where apportioning housing delivery by parish at this time could 

prejudge the following: 

a) The outcome of master-planning and/or a separate Development 

Plan Document when apportioning housing across the new 

settlement or other large strategic allocation; and/or 

b) The need for amended boundaries for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas. This raises the question for example of whether a new 

settlement should be excluded from a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area. 

 

CONCLUSION 12: The council concludes that the DNA HR figures 

included in the strategic policy emerging local plan must be based on 

the DNA geography, not on settlements. 

Reason: Basing the method on DNA ‘geography’ (i.e. the boundaries of 

the designated area) is consistent with PPG and NPPF. A settlement 

based approach where the Housing requirement figures are based just 

on settlements, would not give a clear context for preparing 

Neighbourhood Plans, as it would not be clear how any housing 

page 129



Page 48 
 

development in the DNA outside of the settlements is to be taken into 

account. It would therefore not be wholly consistent with national 

planning policy and would run the risk of the local plan policy being 

found not sound. Also, there could be a further complication depending 

on whether local plan and/or neighbourhood plan policies refer to 

development “in the settlement” (i.e. inside the settlement boundary) or 

“at the settlement” which could mean inside and/or adjoining the 

settlement boundary. The issue of the complications arising from a 

spatial strategy based on settlements and the need for the DNA 

housing requirements to be based on the designated area boundaries 

is considered in this report in paragraph 7.17 above. 

It will also be necessary for the local plan to make clear what the policy 

means for those parts of East Devon without DNA-HR figures. 

c) WHEN - Both plan makers and decision makers need clarity about 

what time period the DNA housing requirement figure relates to in order 

to be able to compare actual and forecast housing supply to the 

requirement.  The choice of time period is constrained by the plan 

period for the emerging local plan (currently 1 April 2020 to 31 March 

2040). However, choice of supply categories and monitoring period for 

the housing supply evidence are also relevant. 

CONCLUSION 13: The council concludes that for the DNA HR figures 

derived from a supply based method, the following are relevant: 

 The relevant time frame is the plan period i.e. 1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2040 (this enables actual and forecast completions for 

the plan period to be included in the housing supply figures to 

inform the DNA HR figures). 

 The current monitoring point is 31 March 2023 for supply 

evidence.(i.e. actual completions are from 1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2023; the forecast completions of 

commitments/Cranbrook Expansion Areas/made Neighbourhood 

Plans (not yet completed or not yet approved/ and the emerging 

Local Plan allocations are from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2040) 

 If a windfall allowance (from non-garden land windfall sites of 20 

or less dwellings) is included this will be from 1 April 2023 but 

with overlaps with current commitments discounted to avoid 

double counting  

 For the avoidance of doubt, the summary table of forecast 

supply categories in Appendix F of this report has a column for 

forecast supply from future Neighbourhood Plans where the 

figure is zero for all Designated Neighbourhood Areas. This 

means there is no ‘expected’ housing supply from this category 

page 130



Page 49 
 

in the total net housing requirement figure in any Designated 

Neighbourhood Area. 

 The monitoring point will be updated to 31 March 2024 in 

Version 2 of this technical evidence report for the Regulation 19 

local plan. 

Reason:  If the policy is not clear about how much housing is expected 

over what time period this would means that the policy is not clearly 

written and unambiguous. As a result, it would not be evident how a 

decision maker should react to development proposals. This would 

increase the risk that the local plan would not meet the test of 

soundness about consistency with NPPF (paragraph 16 bullet point d). 

Furthermore, an unclear policy would not help to support, encourage 

and facilitate communities to make meaningful use of neighbourhood 

planning, and other appropriate tools available to them, to address 

specific identified local needs and requirements in shaping the future of 

their areas. 

7. Evidence of method consistency with NPPF paragraph 67: 

7.34. The council is mindful of NPPF paragraph 67 where strategic policies should 

also “set out a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas 

which reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development 

and any relevant allocations”. 

7.35. The expected housing supply in the emerging local plan, and in particular the 

proposed local plan allocations and policies towards windfall development, 

will be justified in the context of the new spatial strategy.  Consequently a 

supply based approach to justifying the designated Neighbourhood Area 

housing requirements which includes the emerging local plan allocations in 

combination with forecasts from known supply from completions and 

commitments and the Cranbrook Expansion areas  would be consistent with 

NPPF paragraph 67. 

7.36. If the District windfall allowance is apportioned and included as a supply 

category, it will be necessary to demonstrate how the apportionment is 

consistent with NPPF paragraph 67 regarding the overall strategy for the 

pattern and scale of development. This is explored in Section 8 of this report. 

7.37. CONCLUSION 14:  The council concludes that  we can demonstrate through 

evidence that a supply based approach used for the East Devon DNA 

housing requirements is consistent with NPPF paragraph 67. 

Reason:  If the policy is consistent with NPPF the risk is that the policy would 

not meet a test of soundness and could be found not sound.   

page 131



Page 50 
 

8. APPORTIONING THE WINDFALL ALLOWANCE TO 

DNAs 
 

8.1. Windfalls are defined in NPPF as “sites not specifically identified in the 

development plan”.  Adopted local plans and made neighbourhood plans are 

part of the ‘development plan’. For the avoidance of doubt, allocations in 

adopted local plans and allocations in made neighbourhood plans are sites 

that are specifically ‘identified’, that is as allocations. They are therefore not 

windfalls. 

8.2. The council monitors dwelling completions on windfall sites and reports this in 

the annual Housing Monitoring Update documents. 

District windfall projection 

8.3. The council includes a supply category based on a projection of dwelling 

completions on future windfalls in its district housing supply forecasts used 

for local plan and development management purposes (e.g. to be used in the 

calculations for the 5 year housing land supply for the former and currently to 

demonstrate at least a 4 year supply against a 5 year requirement 

development management purposes). This is the district windfall allowance 

for East Devon.  It is not a prediction about the delivery of specific sites 

because at the time of the forecasts those sites are not known. Instead, the 

allowance uses projections based on historic completion rates for sites of 20 

or less dwellings on non-garden land in East Devon.  The Housing Monitoring 

Update ending 31 March 202329 (the HMU 2023) provides more details about 

how the basic windfall projection is calculated and how it is then adjusted to 

avoid double counting with windfall commitments. 

8.4. At this time, the district windfall allowance does not include the following 

types of windfall sites: 

 ‘garden land’ sites (although the council is considering whether to 

include them in the Regulation 19 plan); and 

 Sites of 21 and more dwellings (the council considers that these are 

too difficult to predict, given the low numbers of sites each year, and 

not a sufficiently reliable source for the supply forecasts to include)  

8.5. The emerging East Devon Local Plan (Regulation 18 -November 2022) relies 

on the allowance for future windfalls as part of the forecast housing supply to 

meet the draft policy District housing requirement figure plus a supply 

                                                                 
29  Main HMU 2023 report -  hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023-sept-2023-v2.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) 

HMU 2023 Appendix 2 - hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023_appendix2.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) 
The  revised 5 year housing land supply calculations for East Devon updated post NPPF 20 December 2023  - 
published 18 January 2024   revised-ed-5yhls-calculations-18012023v2.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) 

page 132

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/ii1ddtjo/hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023-sept-2023-v2.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/mccdirai/hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023_appendix2.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/bexfw5wl/revised-ed-5yhls-calculations-18012023v2.pdf


Page 51 
 

headroom. Without the windfall allowance the total forecast supply would 

have been below the requirement for the plan period. 

8.6. The annual district basic windfall projection was updated to 138 dwellings per 

year in the HMU 2023. The adjusted windfall projection to 31 March 2031 

was a net 723 dwellings. The HMU 2023 figures only look to March 2031 

because this is the end of the plan period for the adopted East Devon Local 

Plan (2013 to 2031) 

8.7. The council can extend the projection to the end of the plan period for the 

emerging local plan. A further 1,242 dwellings are projected, calculated by 

applying the basic windfall projection rate of 138/year for the remaining 9 

years to the end of the plan period for the emerging local plan (i.e. to 31 

March 2040).  

8.8. Adding the 723 and 1,242 together would therefore a total windfall allowance 

for East Devon of 1,965 dwellings for the plan period for the emerging local 

plan.   These figures will be updated when data is available from the 2024 

Housing Monitoring Update.   

8.9. The council is aware that some plans do not rely on a windfall allowance, and 

therefore do not include an allowance for windfall provision to come forward 

in the DNA HR figures. For example, the West Suffolk Local Plan Review 

(Regulation 19) asserts that “windfall by its nature is unexpected delivery of 

homes” and that plan does not rely upon windfalls to meet the housing needs 

of that area. 

8.10. CONCLUSION 15: The emerging East Devon Local Plan does rely on 

housing projected to be delivered from windfalls as part of the district housing 

supply because the council considers that it has compelling evidence about 

historic windfall delivery on no- garden land sites of 20 or less dwellings. 

Based on that evidence, the council concludes that this type of windfall will be 

a reliable supply source in the future and is therefore part of the scale of 

housing ‘expected’ to take place in the future. 

Should a DNA HR figure include an allowance for windfall provision? 

8.11. An allowance for windfall provision to come forward could be included in 

supply based housing requirement figures for the DNAs provided there is a 

robust way to split the district windfall allowance down to the level of 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas. Some other local plans include windfalls 

in their supply based method, such as the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint 

Local Plan. 

8.12. The method to breakdown the district allowance would need to be consistent 

with PPG Neighbourhood Planning paragraph 101, that is by 

page 133



Page 52 
 

“taking into consideration relevant policies such as the spatial strategy, 

evidence such as the Housing and economic land availability 

assessment, and the characteristics of the neighbourhood area, 

including its population and role in providing services.” 

8.13. There are advantages and disadvantages both from including and from 

excluding a windfall allowance (relating to a supply category of future 

windfalls on non-garden land sites of 20 or less dwellings) in calculating the 

housing requirement figures for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

8.14. The advantages of including a projected windfall in the DNA requirement 

figures are that: 

 Combined with the other supply categories, it gives a complete picture 

of the level of ‘expected’ housing numbers in the Designated Area 

 It is therefore transparent about how the total expected scale of 

development is calculated. 

8.15. The main disadvantages of projecting a windfall allowance at the smaller 

scale of a Designated Neighbourhood Area are as follows: 

 Producing a projection relies on either a simple apportionment or an 

overly complicated method, and the evidence used to justify this (more 

on this in paragraphs 8.18 to 8.26 below).  The disadvantages are: 

o A simple method that is based for example on one statistic to 

produce the percentage figure for the apportionment, would not 

readily encompass the matters set out in NPPF and PPG, and 

may be perceived as overly simplistic. 

o A complex method to produce a more accurate percentage that 

encompasses the matters set out in NPPF and PPG is not only 

considerably more difficult for most consultees or users to 

understand but is also more resource intensive and 

disproportionate to the evidence required for these policy 

figures, mindful that these are future windfalls on sites that are 

not identified at this time. 

 Might give rise to assertions that the level of accuracy of the figures 

could be perceived as spurious and that it is not possible to produce 

‘robust’ projections at this small scale, given the data available. 

 It complicates the calculation of the housing requirement figures and 

make them less easy to understand. 

8.16. The advantages of omitting projected windfall supply from the DNA 

requirement figures are that it removes risk because it: 

page 134



Page 53 
 

 Avoids the difficulties of apportioning a basic windfall projection rate to 

the DNAs. 

 Avoids the problems associated with the evidence work to justify this. 

 Removes the potential for assertions of ‘spurious accuracy’, 

particularly in the smaller DNAs where windfall numbers are low; and 

 Is potentially simpler and may be easier to understand.  

8.17. However, if the windfall supply is excluded, there is a risk that the DNA 

housing requirement for the plan period is seen as incomplete and therefore 

potentially misleading about the expected scale of development. 

 

Options for apportioning the district windfall allowance to DNAs 

8.18. To reflect the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development set 

out in the Plan it is proposed that the housing requirement for neighbourhood 

areas for the period (2021 – 2039) is distributed according to the overall 

strategy for the pattern of development in the Plan, any relevant allocations in 

the Plan, any extant planning permissions and a proportion of the 

development expected from ‘windfall’ over the Plan period, taking account the 

population of the neighbourhood area. 

8.19. Windfall Option A. One simple way to apportion the allowance would be as 

follows: 

a) Calculate the Designated Neighbourhood Area’s percentage share of the 

District’s actual completions on nongarden land windfall sites of 20 or less 

dwellings. So, they would be based on the historic completions for the 

monitoring years 2018/19 to 2022/23 inclusive which are used in the latest 

East Devon Housing Monitoring Update (HMU 2023)  

b) Then apply that Designated Neighbourhood Area’s percentage to the total 

district windfall allowance (adjusted) which is currently 1,965 dwellings for 

the plan period 

8.20. This approach would be based on historic rates, where the planning 

applications were approved in the context of previous local plans and national 

policy, not in the context of the emerging local plan. Nevertheless, for most 

areas, the spatial strategy and approach to the smaller windfalls in both plans 

is broadly similar. 

8.21. However, the disadvantage of this option is that it results in the following: 

a) 7 Designated Neighbourhood Areas have relatively low apportioned 

windfall projections for the plan period, when compared with 

apportionment based on latest Census households. 4 of the 7 (Axminster, 

Honiton, Seaton, and Sidmouth) contain coastal and market towns in tier 

2 and Budleigh Salterton is a Local Centre in Tier 3 in the emerging Local 

page 135



Page 54 
 

Plan November 2022 Regulation 18 stage.  In part, the low historic 

windfall rates in those area is likely to be due to the completions on large 

sites (21 or more dwellings) on allocated or windfall sites which have 

absorbed more of the housing demand in these areas. 

b) There are several Designated Neighbourhood Areas with settlements in 

Tiers 3 and 4 where the apportioned windfall projections for the plan 

period appears to be high, when compared with apportionment based on 

latest Census households. This includes Aylesbeare, Bishops Clyst, 

Broadhembury, Clyst Honiton, Clyst George, Colyton and Colyford, 

Dunkeswell, Lympstone, Otterton, Payhembury, Rockbeare and Whimple. 

Most of these named Designated Neighbourhood Areas would have 

future windfall rates higher than that at Seaton. The council considers that 

this appears inconsistent with the spatial strategy and illogical. 

8.22. Windfall Option B - Another simple way to apportion the windfall allowance 

could be to use the latest household30 figure for the Designated 

Neighbourhood Area as a proportion of the district household, based on the 

2021 census household data.  That percentage would then be applied to the 

total district windfall allowance (adjusted) which is currently 1,965 dwellings. 

In some areas, the number of households in dwellings resulting from planned 

strategic development and historic large scale windfalls has been significant. 

This impacts on the percentage, notably at the following locations: Axminster, 

Honiton, Seaton, and Sidmouth. They have higher apportioned windfall 

projections for the plan period resulting from the demographic (i.e. household 

numbers) method, when compared with apportionment based historic windfall 

rates. This outcome would be consistent with the spatial strategy for 

focussing development at Tiers 1 and 2 settlements, outside the West end of 

the district . 

8.23. However. there is one Designated Neighbourhood Area in Tiers 3 and 4 

(Broadclyst) where the household based approach results in a significantly 

higher apportioned windfall allowance (73 dwellings) compared to the historic 

rates (28 dwellings). The former figure of 73 is very similar to that projected 

for Budleigh Salterton because both have similar number of households 

(2,445 and 2,567 respectively). This is partly due to significant housing 

development in the Broadclyst DNA in recent years at Pinn Court Farm, Old 

Park Farm, Mosshayne, Tithebarn/Blackhorse Drove. The resultant 

population and households in the new housing was captured by the 2021 

census results. 

8.24. The table in Appendix E compares the percentages derived from Windfall 

options A and B. 

                                                                 
30 Mindful of PPG Neighbourhood Planning Paragraph 101’s reference to ‘population’,  the council 
considers that households containing population not in institutional accommodation is a better statistic 
to use than the total population. 

page 136



Page 55 
 

8.25. More complicated methods might be conceived, starting from population/ 

household forecasts to take account of the settlement strategy and hierarchy, 

and adjusting for areas or assess of particular importance as protected by 

NPPF policies. However, the assumptions that would need to be made would 

be challenging to justify and the small numbers involved in some places 

would raise concerns about spurious accuracy. 

8.26. CONCLUSION 16The council concludes that at this time, windfalls should 

not be included in the Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement 

figures for the following reasons: 

 The advantages of omitting projected windfall supply (on non-garden 

land sites of 20 or less dwellings) from the Designated Neighbourhood 

Area requirement figures are that it removes risk because it:  

o Avoids the difficulties of apportioning a basic windfall projection 

rate to the Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

o Avoids the problems associated with the evidence work to 

justify this 

o Removes the potential for assertions of ‘spurious accuracy’, 

particularly in the smaller Designated Neighbourhood Areas  

where windfall numbers are low, and  

o Is potentially simpler and may be easier to understand.  

 However, if the windfall supply is excluded, there is a risk that the 

Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirement for the plan 

period is seen as incomplete and therefore potentially misleading 

about the expected scale of development.   

8.27. CONCLUSION 17 : At this time, the council concludes that if an apportioned 

windfall allowance is included in the supply based method, then it should be 

based on Windfall Option B (i.e. based on the share of households in the 

district). On balance adding the apportioned Designated Neighbourhood Area 

windfall allowance based on Windfall Option B to the other actual and 

forecast supply for the plan period would be a “reasonable alternative”, 

although that option has currently been rejected i.e. is not the preferred 

method for calculating the housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. 

Reason:  Windfall Option B is a simple method for breaking down the district 

windfall allowance down to Designated Neighbourhood Areas. It is also the 

method that is closest to meeting PPG paragraph 101, being more consistent 

with the spatial strategy. This is a reasonable approach which overall is 

consistent with the spatial strategy.  Depending on the outcome of the Spring 

2024 consultation, the council could consider whether to reduce the 

Broadclyst Designated Neighbourhood Area  housing requirement figure. 

page 137



Page 56 
 

However, to avoid an overall loss in projected windfalls in the district the 

council would then have to consider how to apportion the amount of that 

‘reduction’ to other parts of East Devon. 

 

page 138



Page 57 
 

9. METHOD OPTIONS - ASSESSMENTS 

9.1. NPPF and the PPG are the starting point for establishing housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. PPG Neighbourhood 

Planning paragraph 104 makes clear that the strategic policies “will, however, 

have established the scale of housing expected to take place in the 

neighbourhood area”. Neither NPPF nor PPG specify the method to use. The 

council therefore has to provide and justify the method used to calculate the 

housing requirement figures. This means identifying a method that is 

consistent with NPPF/PPG and resolves the internal inconsistencies and 

contradictions within and between NPPF and PPG which this report has 

identified. It also means producing figures that are effective in supporting 

neighbourhood planning. 

9.2. Informed by the updated evidence, the council has revised the initial list of 

options reported to Strategic Planning Committee on 7 March 2024 which the 

council used to assist the early engagement activity in 2023. Based on its 

analysis of local plans and lessons learnt, the council considers that there are 

two broad approaches to calculating housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas but within them there are several potential but 

somewhat nuanced options.  The potential options are now as follows: 

A. Housing supply based methods 

1. All supply categories, excluding a projected windfall allowance 

2. All supply categories, including a projected windfall allowance 

3. Emerging Local Plan allocations only 

4. Emerging Local Plan allocations and future Neighbourhood Plan 

allocations. 

5. Emerging Local Plan allocations and commitments 

6. Future Neighbourhood Plan allocations only. 

B. Other methods based on ‘apportionment’ of the District requirement 

7. Simple apportionment based on broad percentage figures for 

settlement tiers in the emerging local plan (Regulation 18 stage -

November 2022) 

8. Simple apportionment based on population  

9. Complex apportionment based on matters referred to in the NPPF 

and PPG i.e. population, spatial strategy, and areas or assets of 

particular importance which are listed in NPPF footnote 7. 

9.3. The council has considered these options in the light of conclusions 1 to 17 

in the previous sections of this report. To aid analysis, the council has also  

found it helpful to consider five criteria, set out in Table 1 below. These 

page 139



Page 58 
 

criteria relate to the tests of soundness used to examine local plans. Options 

to calculate the housing requirement figures for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas are ‘reasonable alternatives’ where they match all criteria in Table 1 

i.e. no red risk indicators in Tables 3 and 4, particularly regarding 

deliverability. 

TABLE 1  Criteria for assessing if methods would be reasonable alternatives 

CRITERIA REASONS FOR THE CRITERIA 

1. They are consistent with 
NPPF and PPG 

Methods inconsistent with NPPF and/or PPG could result 
in a local plan policy that is inconsistent with the relevant 

test of soundness  

2. They are simple, 
transparent, not 

misleading, and easy to 
understand and use for 
plan-making, 

development 
management and 

development monitoring 

Methods that are too complex can be misunderstood, or 
require disproportionate evidence and effort, which 

neighbourhood planning resources could not provide. The 
focus should be on how well a method: supports and 
expedites the neighbourhood plan process; the 

neighbourhood plan’s use for development management 
purposes; and monitoring. 

Local plan policy needs to be clear so that the decision 
maker knows how to respond to development proposals, 
if the policy is to be consistent with NPPF paragraph 16d 

3. They enable 

neighbourhood plans to 
encompass housing 

provision, including 
supply on deliverable 
housing site allocations  

Any method needs to be clear about the scale of housing 

growth ‘expected’ from specific supply sources and be 
clear what sources of potential supply the neighbourhood 

planning role has responsibility for, as well as not capping 
that role. It needs to be realistic about the likelihood of 
existing and future neighbourhood plans incorporating 

housing provision. This is part of the soundness test of 
‘effectiveness’ i.e. deliverability; and consistency with 

NPPF paragraph 67 

4. They support the 
strategic vision, 
objectives and spatial 

strategy for growth and 
development, tested 

against sustainability 
objectives 

Methods that do not support the local plan’s vision, 
objectives and spatial strategy could undermine  delivery 
of the emerging Local Plan, and so result in a policy that 

is inconsistent with the tests of soundness on the plan 
‘being positively prepared’ and ‘effectiveness’. 

5. They can be justified by 
evidence and can 

enable progress against 
the DNAHR to be 

monitored in the future 

The method needs to evidence what is rational and 
relevant. It needs to be clear about what supply sources 

are taken into account, including current or historic 
growth, and whether other supply sources are additional 

to the scale of housing ‘expected’. Local Plan policy that 
is not supported by proportionate, robust evidence would 
be inconsistent with test of soundness on being ’justified’. 

1. Housing supply based methods 

page 140



Page 59 
 

9.4. Assessment of supply based methods starts with the supply categories, see 

Table 2, and then the supply combinations are assessed in Table 3. 

page 141



Page 60 
 

TABLE 2  Assessment of individual supply sources 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

Completions 

(dwellings built since 
the start of the plan 

period for the 
emerging local plan) 

Part of the complete supply picture – 

recognises development that has 
already occurred within any DNA 

(currently between1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2023). 

Completeness of the DNAHR in 

showing the scale of growth in any 
and each DNA and communities with 

significant numbers of completions 
since 2020 may feel the DNAHR 
figure is not a fair reflection of scale 

of housing requirement 
accommodated in their DNA if 

excluded. 

Fixed and known numbers, mix, 
location and timings of delivery. 

No risk of any shortfall or need for 
neighbourhood plans to allocate for 

these numbers as they already exist. 

Note Parts of some planning 
approvals may have delivered 

dwelling completions before April 
2020. These are not included in the 

They cannot be changed or controlled 

through plan making. Neighbourhood 
planning does not need to make housing 

provision in response to this supply 
category as the completions have already 
happened. 

Their relevance in the figures is limited to 
description/context i.e. as part of the total 

supply expected for the plan period. 

NOTE: Data is currently available for the 
2023 monitoring point but will be subject 

to change when subsequent monitoring 
point data is available, until the supply 

data is set at a fixed point in time for 
recalculation and inclusion in the Local 
Plan. 

Include this supply 

category in preferred 
option method. 

 Consultees can 
comment on whether 
they would prefer this 

‘given’ part of the 
housing supply to be 

included or excluded). 

page 142



Page 61 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

supply category figures for the 
DNAHR as they are not in the plan 
period for the emerging local plan. 

Commitments Part of the complete supply picture. 

Recognises development that has 
already been permitted within any 

DNA but not completed or expired as 
at 31 March 2023, where completions 
are forecast to be delivered by end 

March 2040.  Therefore ‘expected’. 

For completeness of the DNAHR in 

showing the scale of growth expected 
in any and each DNA.  Communities 
with significant numbers of dwellings 

committed as at the 2023 monitoring 
point  may feel the DNAHR figure is 

not a fair reflection of the expected 
scale of housing requirement 
accommodated in their DNA if this 

category is excluded  

(NOTE:  Some sites that are 

commitments have commenced. 
Some have dwellings under 
construction or dwelling construction 

not started)  Commitments do not 
include any completions on the site. 

Commitments at the 2023 monitoring 

point cannot be changed or controlled 
through plan making.  Neighbourhood 

planning does not need to make housing 
provision in response to this supply 
category as the planning approvals have 

already happened.  

Their relevance in the figures is limited to 

description/context. i.e. as part of the total 
supply for the plan period. 

NOTE: Data is currently available for the 

2023 monitoring point but will be subject 
to change when subsequent monitoring 

point data is available, until it is set at a 
fixed point in time for recalculation and 
inclusion in the Local Plan) 

Once fixed and included in the DNAHR, if 
permissions are not implemented and 

expire, or schemes are not completed or 
are delayed/stalled, neighbourhood plans 
could potentially be at risk of not being 

able to demonstrate they are meeting 
their DNAHR without allocating to 

Include this supply 

category in preferred 
option. 

Consultees can 
comment on whether 
they would prefer this 

‘given’ part of the 
housing supply to be 

included or excluded  

page 143



Page 62 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

Currently fixed and known numbers, 
mix, location, but this will change 
over time as planning applications 

are approved in the future. Only 
count supply forecast to be 

completed by 31 March 2040. 

Timing not certain but LPA forecasts 
housing delivery from this source so 

this is monitored and risk of 
commitments not translating into 

delivery of housing numbers is 
managed at the district level by the 
proposed inclusion of 10% headroom 

in our total plan period supply, reliant 
on the scale of local plan allocations 

address the shortfall . However, this could 
be explicitly addressed in the Local Plan 
policy or its supporting text, including how 

the local plan is managing that risk 
through ‘headroom’. 

 

Cranbrook Plan 

(adopted 
Development Plan 
Document)  

Expansion Area 
Allocations 

A substantial part of the complete 

supply picture – recognises 
development allocations in an 
adopted DPD and therefore part of 

the development plan for the district. 
Ei planned for, tested at examination, 

and adopted.   Therefore ‘expected’. 

Timing not certain but LPA forecasts 
housing delivery so this is monitored 

and risk of allocations not translating 
into delivery of housing numbers is 

Cranbrook plan allocations are strategic 

sites and cannot be changed or controlled 
through neighbourhood plan making. One 
of the four expansion areas (Bluehayes 

EA) is wholly in Cranbrook parish which is 
not a DNA. Part of The Cobden EA is in 

Cranbrook (nonDNA) and part is in 
Whimple DNA. Treasbeare EA is in the 
non-DNA part of Clyst Honiton parish, 

and Grange EA is in Rockbeare DNA.   

Include in preferred 

option. 

Consultees can 
comment on whether 

they would prefer this 
‘given’ part of the 

housing supply to be 
included or excluded  

page 144



Page 63 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

managed at district level by the 
inclusion of 10% headroom in our 
total plan period supply. 

‘Known numbers’, location from the 
allocations, although the numbers 

may change as the result of planning 
approvals, which will be monitored. 

Timing not known but included in 

LPA s housing delivery forecasts so 
this is monitored. Risk is managed at 

district level by the inclusion of 10% 
headroom in our allocations. 
Neighbourhood plans would not be 

expected to offset any shortfall in this 
strategic supply category 

DNA communities affected may feel 
the DNAHR figure is not a fair 
reflection of scale of housing 

requirement expected to be 
accommodated in their DNA if 
excluded. 

 

Neighbourhood planning does not need 
to make housing provision in response to 
this supply category as the sites have 

been allocated and are part of the 
development plan.  

Data about the allocations (including 
commitments eg through committee 
resolutions to grant approval) is currently 

available for the 2023 monitoring point 
but will be subject to change when 

subsequent monitoring point data is 
available, until it is set at a fixed point in 
time for recalculation and inclusion in the 

Local Plan supply assessment.  Need to 
avoid double counting of allocations and 

commitments (there are outline planning 
applications on Cranbrook allocations 
with committee resolution to grant 

approval, expected to be delivered by end 
March 2040 i.e. ‘expected’.) 

Once fixed and included in the DNAHR, if 

permissions on the allocations are not 
implemented and expire, or schemes are 

not completed or are delayed/stalled, 
neighbourhood plans might potentially be 
at risk of not being able to demonstrate 

they are meeting their DNAHR without 

page 145



Page 64 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

allocating to address the shortfall 
(although this could be explicitly 
addressed in the Local Plan policy or its 

supporting text, including how the local 
plan is managing that risk through 

‘headroom’). 

Emerging East 
Devon Local Plan 
Allocations 

Currently the 
November 2022 

Regulation 18 draft 
plan includes a new 
community, 

development north of 
Topsham, and 

allocations associated 
with the settlement 
hierarchy. 

This supply category is a substantial 
part of the complete supply picture in 
the East Devon It is the largest of the 

supply categories forecast to deliver 
in the plan period. The draft Local 

Plan relies on this to meet district 
housing requirement. It will provide 
the main ‘heavy lifting’ by identifying 

housing sites through plan allocation 
that are forecast to be delivered in 

the plan period, to ensure that supply 
is sufficient to meet the local plan 
requirement. 

Numbers, location and mix will be 
known when the Local Plan is 

adopted.  Therefore ‘expected’ 

At present the sites from the 
November 2022 Regulation 18 

consultation can be counted as 

Allocations informed by site assessments, 
following on from sites submitted and 
assessed as achievable and deliverable 

through the Local Plan preparation (& 
HELAA), married to spatial strategy and 

local circumstances. On-going uncertainty 
until local plan allocations have been 
tested at examination and included in the 

adopted Plan. 

Complexity – allocation sites that cross 

DNA boundaries would need to have 
figures apportioned between them which 
adds a layer of complexity to robustly 

calculating the DNAHR in those cases. 
Possible to make working assumptions at 

this stage for most sites and show the 
apportionment ‘splits’ and justification in 
the DNAHR tables in Appendix F of this 

technical report. However, there is 
noevidence at this time about the timing 

and location of the forecast 2,500 

Include all proposed 
allocations excluding 
the 2nd new settlement 

in preferred option. 

Consultees can 

comment on whether 
they would prefer this 
‘expected’ part of the 

housing supply to be 
included or excluded  

page 146



Page 65 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

‘expected’ supply for the purposes of 
generating the DNAHR figures 

Sites may be subject to change 

through the plan making process .  
Greater certainty will emerge at the 

Regulation 19 stage, and as the plan 
progresses through Examination.   

Timing not known but will be included 

in LPA housing delivery forecasts, so 
this is monitored, 

Risk of commitments not translating 
into delivery of housing numbers is 
managed at district level by the 

inclusion of 10% headroom. 

Neighbourhood plans would not be 

expected to allocate to offset any 
delivery shortfall as this would be the 
responsibility of the Local Plan/LPA. 

dwellings in the proposed 2nd new 
settlement that would be expected to be 
delivered  in the plan period. Therefore 

those 2500 dwellings are not shown at 
this time in Appendix F.  This will need to 

be evidenced for the Regulation 19 stage 
of the emerging local plan.  

Sites to be allocated the local plan should 

not then be allocated in a future 
neighbourhood plan. Neighbourhood 

plans could propose alternatives to non-
strategic sites but would need to provide 
new evidence to show why the LP 

allocation was no longer appropriate (the 
evidential burden on neighbourhood 

planning groups to demonstrate this could 
be onerous). 

Once fixed and included in the DNAHR, if 

Local Plan allocations are not approved 
and implemented and /or permissions on 
them expire, or schemes are not 

completed or are delayed/stalled, 
neighbourhood plans might potentially be 

at risk of not being able to demonstrate 
they are meeting their DNAHR without 
allocating to address the shortfall 

(although this could be explicitly 

page 147



Page 66 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

addressed in the Local Plan policy or its 
supporting text, including how the local 
plan is managing that risk through 

‘headroom’). 

Other Development 
Plan Document  

allocations 

i.e. Neighbourhood 
Plan allocations 

(made plans) 

Part (albeit currently small) of the 
complete housing supply picture – 

already planned for and tested at 
examination. Therefore ‘expected’. 

Recognises the wishes and efforts of 

communities who have included 
allocations in their neighbourhood 

plans. 

Known numbers and locations, 
although the numbers may change 

when planning applications are 
submitted and approved on these 

sites. 

Delivery timing can be forecast and 
monitored by LPA. Timing of supply 

delivery may be tested at Local Plan 
examination and could be a burden 

on neighbourhood planning groups. 
The risk to the local plan is small  due 
to the small number of sites. 

Small number of sites for a small number 
of dwellings, some of which are already 

delivered.   

Need to omit completions delivered 
before 1 April 2020 on neighbourhood 

plan allocations.  

Need to omit completions 1 April 2020 to 

31 March 2023 and commitments as at 
31 March 2023 that are on 
neighbourhood plan allocations, to avoid 

double counting.  (These are in the 
completions and commitments supply 

category figures.) 

Some sites now in adopted 
neighbourhood plans were shown as 

preferred allocations in the Regulation 18 
draft Local Plan. However, need to just 

count these under the made 
Neighbourhood Plans supply category (or 
as commitments if approved) to avoid 

double counting. 

Include in preferred 
option. 

No reason to exclude 
and doing so would 
undermine / fail to 

recognise made Plans 
that have allocations. 

page 148



Page 67 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

NOTE: Dwellings on neighbourhood 
planning allocations delivered before 
April 2020 would not be able to be 

included in the housing requirement 
figures for the plan period for the 

emerging local plan but would be 
noted on the supply tables eg in 
Appendix G of this technical report. 

The status of emerging neighbourhood 
plans will be revisited when producing the 
housing requirement figures for the 

Regulation 19 local plan. Neighbourhood 
plans that have reached the stage of 

recommended for referendum will be 
included in this category. The council will 
need to consider the implications for any 

proposed local plan allocations on those 
sites (in whole or part). And the supply 

calculations will need to avoid double 
counting. 

Emerging 
neighbourhood plan 

allocations 

Emerging plans at a very advanced 
stage eg at Examination, that 

propose housing allocations, could 
form part of the complete picture of 

housing supply if there is robust 
evidence about deliverability. 

Except for sites at a very advanced stage, 
this supply source would be currently 

‘unknown’ as regards specific sites.  They 
cannot be regarded as ‘expected’ at this 

time for the purposes of calculating DNA 
housing requirements. 

Do not include as an 
‘expected’ source of 

housing supply to be 
relied on. 

Made neighbourhood 
plans and plans 
recommended for 

page 149



Page 68 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

Recognises the wishes and efforts of 
communities who have included 
allocations in their neighbourhood 

plans. 

Known numbers and locations, 

although the numbers may change 
through the neighbourhood plan 
examination or when planning 

applications are submitted and 
approved on these sites. 

Delivery timing can be forecast and 
monitored by LPA. Timing of supply 
delivery may need to be tested at 

Local Plan examination and could be 
a burden on neighbourhood planning 

groups. The risk to the local plan is 
small due to the likely small number 
of sites and dwellings. 

Could in theory increase the number 
and role of neighbourhood plans in 
making allocations in East Devon. 

If neighbourhood plans took on more 
of the responsibility for meeting 

housing requirement through 
allocating sites through yet to be 

No neighbourhood plan will be under any 
legal obligation to identify housing site 
allocations. 

Lack of evidence at this time that future 
neighbourhood plans would propose 

housing on allocations in any significant 
numbers. Evidence to date suggests no 
strong appetite for neighbourhood plans 

to take on more of the responsibility for 
the ‘heavy lifting’ role of allocating sites.    

Likely to continue to be a small part of 
overall supply for the foreseeable future. 
Limited number of currently active 

emerging neighbourhood plans and only 
3 of these currently signalling an intention 

to allocate.  The risk to the local plan is 
relatively small if it only relied on a few 
emerging neighbourhood plans if those 

plans do not meet basic conditions, or are 
not being recommended for referendum, 
or are not made . This could be explicitly 

addressed in the Local Plan policy or its 
supporting text, including how the local 

plan is managing that risk through 
‘headroom’.  

referendum are 
covered by a separate 
supply category) –. 

Allocations coming 
through future 

neighbourhood plans 
therefore count as 
additional supply (they 

are not ‘windfalls’). 

page 150



Page 69 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

prepared/ made neighbourhood 
plans, there could then be a reason 
for potentially reducing the amount of 

Local Plan allocations.   

The council still needs to ensure that 

sufficient sites and dwellings are 
identified by neighbourhood plans 
and the local plan so that the housing 

requirement and headroom can be 
met from all identified sites from the 

forecast date of local plan adoption. 

 

Once in an adopted neighbourhood plan, 
the supply is known but before then, there 
would be uncertainty about this source 

(numbers, location, mix and timing), yet 
the Local Plan examination would be 

looking for robust justification of 
achievability/ deliverability. 

Local plan policy will rely on evidence 

used to prepare the Regulation 19 Local 
Plan. The progress of plan making for 

emerging neighbourhood plans will 
change up to the point  when the 
Regulation 19 Local Plan is approved as 

‘Pre-submission’ plan for consultation. 
Would need a cut-off point about when to 

include  plans that are made or 
recommended for referendum. 

Significant risk to the local plan from 

relying on delivery of housing not yet 
identified as proposed allocations in new 
or reviewed neighbourhood plans, for a 

specific  percentage of ‘expected’ housing 
supply in the plan period from emerging 

neighbourhood plans.  Risk is increased if 
the local plan allocations are reduced in 
DNAs as a consequence of expectation 

page 151



Page 70 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

of potential neighbourhood plan 
allocations being proposed.  

Further risk if relying on future, unknown 

allocations in neighbourhood plans and 
these did not come forward as planning 

applications and commitments. 

More onus on neighbourhood plans to 
evidence and justify the supply, including 

site housing delivery trajectories. They 
may not have the resources to undertake 

this role. 

Once fixed and included in the DNAHR, if 
allocations are not included in the 

emerging neighbourhood plan, then the 
neighbourhood plans would be at risk of 

not being able to demonstrate they are 
meeting their DNAHR without allocating 
to address the shortfall. 

Excluding as yet unknown neighbourhood 
plan allocations would not preclude 
neighbourhood plans from bringing 

forward allocations to meet local identified 
needs (as they have been doing under 

the adopted Local plan). Housing 
delivered on such allocations would be 

page 152



Page 71 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

additional to the expected development – 
in the housing requirement figure for the 
Designated Neighbourhood Area. 

Projected windfalls 

allowance  

For housing supply 

from future sites yet 
not allocated or 
proposed to be 

allocated, and not 
consented as at the 

cut-off date for supply 
calculations to be 
included in the new 

Local Plan) 

 

Part of the complete supply picture – 

the Local Plan depends on a district 
allowance for housing delivery from 

projected non-garden land windfall 
sites of 20 or less dwellings as part of 
forecast supply to meet the district 

housing requirement. 

The council has compelling evidence 

that at the District level, windfalls on 
non-garden land windfall sites of 20 
or less dwellings will continue to 

occur as a reliable source for the plan 
period. Therefore, the projected 

’allowance’ supply is ‘expected’. 

Each year the district basic windfall 
projection is updated to take account 

of new evidence and adjusted to 
avoid double counting with actual 

windfall completions.  This is reported 
in the Housing Monitoring Update. 

The projected district windfall 

allowance used for the forecast 

Site specific numbers, locations, mix and 

timing - all not known at this time.  

Including a windfall allowance may also 

be seen as unnecessary, as these would 
happen, without Neighbourhood Plans 
making direct housing provision. 

Need to apportion the district allowance 
to calculate a windfall allowance for each 

Designated Neighbourhood Area. 
Projecting the allowance for these 
smaller, subdistrict areas is less robust. It 

relies on a method to apportion the 
allowance. Simplest methods are to 

apportion based on the number of 
households, as a share of the district total 
or on a DNA’s historic windfall rates. This 

can lead to anomalies, particularly for 
some smaller DNAs where recent windfall 

completions can result in a significant 
windfall allowance figure. It also produces 
low windfall allowance figures for most 

towns in East Devon, which would be 
inconsistent with the spatial strategy. 

Preferred approach is 

to omit the windfall 
allowance from the 

DNAHR due to the 
difficulty of projecting a 
windfall allowance at 

DNA level in a 
meaningful and 

appropriately accurate 
way, and justifying this 
at the local plan 

examination: 

it is considered that 

their inclusion in supply 
is a reasonable 
alternative option but 

‘rejected’ for the 
consultation on the 

method.   

The preferred 
apportionment method 

is based on the DNA 

page 153



Page 72 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

housing supply is likely to be tested 
at the local plan examination.  

 

 

Risk to justifying supply if windfalls do not 
continue to come forward at historic rates, 
which could be influenced by various 

factors, albeit that the council considers 
that at the district level there is compelling 

evidence to justify a projected windfall 
allowance. 

Notwithstanding that NPPF/PPG make 

clear that DNA housing requirements are 
minimums, risk that communities may use 

the total DNA windfall projections to seek 
to prevent additional speculative windfall 
development. 

Neighbourhood plans could allocate sites 
that might otherwise come forward as 

speculative windfalls in order to have 
more control. Uncertainty over whether 
future Neighbourhood Plan allocations 

(not yet identified) might otherwise come 
forward as non-garden land windfalls on 
sites of 20 or less dwellings. 

No PPG guidance on justifying a windfall 
supply projection at the DNA level for the 

plan period.  This could be tricky. It would 
require a method to apportion the basic 
district windfall projection (currently 

share of the districts’ 
households.   

page 154



Page 73 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

138/year) between the DNAs and the 
other parishes in East Devon.  

To be easy to understand, needs a 

simple way to apportion the district 
allowance. One way could be based on 

demographic data (DNA usually resident 
population or households, as a share of 
the district population/households). 

Another would be to use past completions 
in the DNA on non-garden windfall sites 

of 20 or less dwellings windfall 
completions as a proportion of those 
types of windfalls in the district.  

The resultant percentage is applied to the 
district basic windfall projection rate to 

give a DNA projection rate. We then 
discount relevant windfall commitments in 
the DNA to avoid double-counting. 

Other ways to apportion the basic windfall 
projection would be more complex, and 
less easy to understand. 

 

The advantages of omitting projected 

windfall supply from the DNA requirement 
figures are that it is simpler, so should be 
easier to understand, and there is no 

need to apportion the district windfall 
allowance to the DNAs. This avoids the 

page 155



Page 74 
 

Source of supply Reasons to include in DNAHR 
figures  

Reasons to exclude from DNAHR 
figures 

Planning Judgement 
Recommendation for 
Reg 18 Consultation  

problems associated with the evidence 
work to justify this and the risks of 
assertions of ‘spurious accuracy’, 

particularly in the smaller DNAs where 
windfall numbers are low. 

However, if the windfall supply is 
excluded, there is a risk that the DNA 
housing requirement for the plan period is 

seen as incomplete and therefore 
potentially misleading about the expected 

scale of development.  page 156



Page 75 
 

TABLE 3  Assessment of combinations of supply sources 

Note: Table 1 Criteria risk assessment  – ‘Traffic light’ signals conclusion categorised as Red/Amber/Green  

Method 

Option 
Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

OPTION 1 

Supply based 

whole plan 
period - all 
supply 

categories, 
excluding a 

projected 
windfall 
allowance 

Based on the following 
supply categories with 

development expected to 
be completed in the plan 
period  1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2040  

 Completions 1 April 

2020 to 31 March 2023 

 Commitments i.e. 

Planning permissions 
(excluding completions) 
that had not expired as 

at 31 March 2023 

 Cranbrook Plan 

Expansion Areas -
allocations 

 Proposed Local Plan 

Allocations 

 Neighbourhood Plan 

allocations (Made or 
Recommended for 

referendum) 

1 Consistent with 
NPPF/PPG  

 

 DNA supply category and total figures for whole 
plan period can be included in strategic policy so 

that it is clear to decision makers how to respond 
to development proposal 

 Justified by robust supply forecast evidence 

 Relies on same supply evidence used to justify 
emerging local plan housing requirement figure 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations -that are 
consistent with and support delivery of the local 

plan strategy (which take account of HELAA and 
site assessments; areas and assets of particular 

importance; roles of settlements/ services) 

Low 

2 Simple, transparent, 
not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Identified DNA supply from supply categories  

 Simple sum of expected deliverable supply in 

plan period from supply categories. Evidence in 
technical report (will need to be updated to 2024 
monitoring point and use Reg 19 allocations) 

 Will need to make monitoring data available each 
year on actual and forecast completions by DNA 

Low 

3 Clear about the scale 

of housing expected to 
take place 

 Supply based method – deliverable in plan period  

 Clear on what is counted for each supply 
category; and what is the reliance (if any) on 

neighbourhood plan allocations 

 Potentially incomplete picture of expected 

housing as it excludes DNA apportioned windfall 
allowance. Policy must be clear DNAHR figure is 
a minimum, & does not prevent windfalls 

Medium 

 

page 157



Page 76 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

4 Supports emerging 

local plan strategy 
 DNA HR figures are supply based, so through the 

scale of local plan allocations include an element 
of supply headroom to provide appropriate 
flexibility to manage risk and help ensure district 

housing requirement can be achieved. 

 Includes emerging LP allocations that are 

consistent with & support delivery of LP strategy 

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ 

allocations to deliver strategy, but as the DNA HR 
figure will be a minimum it does not preclude 
neighbourhood plans from allocating additional 

non-strategic sites, or alternative sites provided 
that they do not reduce overall DNA housing total 

Low 

5 Justified by evidence 

and enables monitoring 
 Supply based actual and forecast completions 

using the same net housing supply evidence for 
the plan period as used to justify the emerging 
local plan’s district housing requirement  

 Doesn’t rely on ‘apportionment’ e.g. of windfalls 

 Adds to LPA monitoring burden - need to make 

monitoring data available each year on actual and 
forecast completions by DNA. Will need updating 

(2024 monitoring data & Reg 19 allocations) 

Low 

OPTION 1 OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would be realistic (would meet tests of soundness) & is deliverable, provided DNA Housing Require ment 
figures are minimums and do not prevent windfalls or neighbourhood plan allocations (the latter would not be windfalls). It is sufficiently 

distinct from other alternative options to highlight the different sustainability implications so that meaningful comparisons between options 
can be made. Therefore Option 1 is a reasonable alternative. 

Based on Tables 2 and 3 analysis EDDC concludes this reasonable alternative option performs best. 
So Option 1 is the  Recommended Preferred Option 

     

page 158



Page 77 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

OPTION 2 

Supply based 
whole plan 
period - all 

supply 
categories, 

including a 
projected 
windfall 

allowance 

Based on the following 

supply categories with 
development expected to 
be completed in the plan 

period  1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2040  

 Completions 1 April 
2020 to 31 March 2023 

 Commitments i.e. 

Planning permissions 
(excluding completions) 

that had not expired as 
at 31 March 2023 

 Cranbrook Plan 

Expansion Areas -
allocations 

 Proposed Local Plan 
Allocations 

 Neighbourhood Plan 
allocations (Made or 
Recommended for 

referendum) 

 DNA projected windfall 

allowance 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 DNA supply category and total figures for whole 

plan period can be included in strategic policy so 
that it is clear to decision makers how to respond 
to development proposal 

 Justified by sufficiently robust supply forecast 
evidence 

 Relies on same supply evidence used to justify 
emerging local plan housing requirement figure 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations -that are 
consistent with and support delivery of the local 
plan strategy (which take account of HELAA and 

site assessments; areas and assets of particular 
importance; roles of settlements/ services) 

Low 

2 Simple, transparent, 

not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Identified DNA supply from supply categories  

 Simple sum of expected deliverable supply in 
plan period from supply categories. Evidence in 

technical report (will need to be updated to 2024 
monitoring point and use Reg 19 allocations) 

 Inclusion of a projected windfall allowance is 

transparent but an apportionment method is less 
easy to understand and/or subject to challenge  

 Will need to make monitoring data available each 
year on actual and forecast completions by DNA 

Medium 

 

3 Clear about the scale 

of housing expected to 
take place 

 Supply based method – deliverable in plan period  

 Complete picture of expected growth as it 
excludes apportioned DNA windfall allowance 

 Clear on what is counted for each supply 
category; and what is the reliance (if any) on 
neighbourhood plan allocations 

Low 

page 159



Page 78 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

4 Supports emerging 

local plan strategy 
 DNA HR figures are supply based, so through the 

scale of local plan allocations include an element 
of supply headroom to provide appropriate 
flexibility to manage risk and help ensure district 

housing requirement can be achieved. 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations that are 

consistent with & support delivery of LP strategy 

 Consistent with emerging plan policy towards 

accommodating future windfalls  

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ 
allocations to deliver strategy, but as the DNA HR 

figure will be a minimum it does not preclude 
neighbourhood plans from allocating additional 

non-strategic sites, or alternative sites provided 
that they do not reduce overall DNA housing total 

Low 

5 Justified by evidence 
and enables monitoring 

 Relies on simple ‘apportionment’ eg of windfalls 

based on DNA’s percentage share of District 
households applied to the District projected 
windfall allowance for the plan period.   Method to 

apportion district windfalls to DNAs may be 
subject to challenge eg on the issue of accuracy  

 Supply based actual and forecast completions 
using the same net housing supply evidence for 
the plan period as used to justify the emerging 

local plan’s district housing requirement  

 Will add to LPA monitoring burden and need to 

make monitoring data available each year on 
actual and forecast completions by DNA 

 Will need updating (2024 monitoring data & 
Regulation 19 allocations) 

Medium 

 

page 160



Page 79 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

OPTION 2 OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would be realistic (would meet tests of soundness) & is deliverable, provided DNA housing require ment 
figures are minimums and do not prevent neighbourhood plan allocations. It is sufficiently distinct from other alternative options to 
highlight the different sustainability implications so that meaningful comparisons can be made. Therefore Option 2 is a reasonable 

alternative. 
 

Based on Tables 2 and 3 analyses, EDDC concludes that Option 2 does not perform quite as well as Option 1, due to the issues of how 
to justify a sufficiently robust apportionment of a windfall allowance at the parish/DNA level that is easy to understand  and which is not 
perceived as being spuriously accurate. 
So Option 2 is Recommended as Rejected 

     
 

page 161



Page 80 
 

 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

OPTION 3 

Supply based– 
emerging Local 
Plan proposed 

allocations only 

Based on the following 

supply categories with 
development expected to 
be completed in the plan 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2040  

 Proposed Local Plan 
Allocations 

 

 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 DNA supply category and total figures are the 

same, and for whole plan period, and can be 
included in strategic policy so that it is clear to 
decision makers how to respond to development 

proposal 

 Justified by robust supply forecast evidence 

 Relies on same supply evidence used to justify 
emerging local plan housing requirement figure 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations -that are 
consistent with and support delivery of the local 
plan strategy (which take account of HELAA and 

site assessments; areas and assets of particular 
importance; roles of settlements/ services) 

 Very incomplete picture of housing expected to 
take place in DNA 

Medium 

 

2 Simple, transparent, 

not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Exclusion of ‘known completions/commitments/ 

Cranbrook Plan allocations; made neighbourhood 
plans and future windfalls is not transparent  and 
likely to be subject to challenge, particularly if it is 

perceived as misleading and prejudging the 
content of future Neighbourhood Plans 

 Identified DNA supply from supply categories  

 Simple – only one type of supply.  

 Evidence in technical report (will need to be 
updated to use Reg 19 allocations) 

  

High 

page 162



Page 81 
 

3 Clear about the scale 
of housing expected to 
take place  

 A very incomplete picture of expected growth as it 
excludes all supply sources except the proposed 

local plan allocations. 

 Supply based method – deliverable in plan period  
  

High 

4 Supports emerging 

local plan strategy 
 DNA HR figures are supply based, and through 

the scale of local plan allocations include an 
element of supply headroom to provide 

appropriate flexibility to manage risk and help 
ensure district housing requirement can be 

achieved. 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations that are 
consistent with and  support delivery of Local 

Plan strategy 

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ 

allocations to deliver strategy, but as the DNA HR 
figure will be a minimum it does not preclude 
neighbourhood plans from allocating additional 

non-strategic sites, or alternative sites provided 
that they do not reduce overall DNA housing total 

Low 

5 Justified by evidence 

and enables monitoring 
 Supply based actual and forecast completions on 

the proposed allocations using the same net 
housing supply evidence for the plan period as 

used to justify the emerging local plan’s district 
housing requirement  

 Clear on what is counted for the supply category; 

and what is the reliance (if any) on 
neighbourhood plan allocations 

 Will need updating (2024 monitoring data & 
Regulation 19 allocations) 

 
 

Low 

page 163



Page 82 
 

OPTION 3  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would meet not meet all tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF and 
PPG – as it fails to be clear about the scale of housing expected (so does not provide a sufficient policy context for neighbourhood 

planning to consider making housing provision), even if policy makes that clear DNA housing requirement figures are minimums and do 
not prevent neighbourhood plan allocations or windfalls. Therefore Option 3 not a reasonable alternative. 

Based on Tables 2 and 3 analyses, EDDC concludes Option 3 is Recommended as Rejected 

     

page 164



Page 83 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

OPTION 4 

Supply based– 
emerging Local 
Emerging 

Local Plan 
allocations  

and future 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 

allocations 

Based on the following 

supply categories with 
development expected to 
be completed in the plan 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2040:  

 Proposed Local Plan 
Allocations 

 Future Neighbourhood 

Plan allocations 
 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 DNA supply categories and total figures for whole 

plan period can be included in strategic policy so 
that it is clear to decision makers how to respond 
to development proposal 

 Relies on supply evidence about Local Plan 
allocations used to justify emerging local plan 

housing requirement figure. Justified by robust 
supply forecast evidence for emerging local plan 
allocations. These are consistent with and 

support delivery of the local plan strategy (which 
take account of HELAA and site assessments; 

areas and assets of particular importance; roles 
of settlements/ services) 

 Lack of robust evidence about location and scale 

of supply from future neighbourhood plan 
allocations, therefore inconsistent with NPPF 

regarding proportionate/robust evidence 

 Incomplete picture of housing expected 

Medium 

 

2 Simple, transparent, 

not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Exclusion of ‘known completions/commitments/ 

Cranbrook Plan allocations; and future windfalls 
is not transparent  and likely to be subject to 

challenge, particularly if it is perceived as 
misleading and prejudging the content of future 
Neighbourhood Plans 

 Identified DNA supply from two supply categories  

 Simple sum of expected supply from two supply 

categories deliverable in plan period. Some 
evidence in technical report (will need to be 

updated to and use Reg 19 allocations) 

High 

page 165



Page 84 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

 Only including future planned development i.e. 

Local Plan allocations and future Neighbourhood 
Plan allocations may be easier to understand 

3 Clear about the scale 
of expected growth  

 Very incomplete picture of expected growth as it 

excludes the ‘knowns’ (i.e. completions to the 
2023 monitoring point, commitments, Cranbrook 
Plan allocations) as well as a DNA apportioned 

windfall allowance 

 Supply based method – deliverable in plan period  

 Clear on what is counted for each supply 
category 

 At least some future neighbourhood plan 

allocation figures would have to be more than 
NIL, otherwise including this supply category in 

this option would be pointless. 

High 

4 Supports emerging 
local plan strategy 

 DNA HR figures are supply based,  

 Includes emerging local plan allocations that are 

consistent with and support delivery of the local 
plan strategy. Through the scale of local plan 

allocations includes an element of supply 
headroom to provide appropriate flexibility to 
manage risk and help ensure district housing 

requirement can be achieved. 

 DNA housing requirement figures would include a 

forecast of future neighbourhood plan allocations. 
DNA housing requirement figures are part of, not 
additional to the District housing requirement, so 

it would mean that the Local Plan would depend 
on future neighbourhood plans allocations 

delivery as part of the supply to deliver the local 

Medium 

 

page 166



Page 85 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment Risk 

plan strategy & district housing requirement. 

There is a risk if future neighbourhood plans do 
not allocate sites, or if the sites do not deliver 
housing. As they are outside EDDC control 

regarding delivery, the council would need to 
consider whether to it would be necessary to 

manage the risk on non-delivery of 
neighbourhood plan allocations. For example, by 
increasing the district supply headroom through 

additional local plan allocations. 

5 Justified by evidence 
and enables monitoring 

 No evidence at this time about which sites will be 
allocated in which future neighbourhood plans. ,.  

Lack of evidence about unknown sites’ scale and 
deliverability likely to lead to challenge 

 Will add to evidential burden for neighbourhood 

planning groups and on the Council   

 Supply based forecast completions for local plan 

allocations using the same net housing supply 
evidence for the plan period as used to justify the 

emerging LP’s district  housing requirement  

 Will need updating (Reg19 LP allocations; and 
latest position on neighbourhood plan allocations) 

High 

 OPTION 4  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency 
with NPPF and PPG – as it fails to be clear about the scale of housing expected (so does not provide a sufficient policy 
context for neighbourhood planning to consider making housing provision) and is not deliverable. Therefore Option 4 
not a reasonable alternative. 

Based on Tables 2 and 3 analyses, EDDC concludes that Option 4 is Recommended as Rejected 

     
 

page 167



Page 86 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment RAG 

OPTION 5 

Supply based– 
Emerging 
Local Plan 

allocations and 
commitments 

 

Based on the following 

supply categories with 
development expected to 
be completed in the plan 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2040:  

 Proposed Local Plan 
Allocations 

 Commitments i.e. 

Planning permissions 
(excluding completions) 

that had not expired as 
at 31 March 2023 

 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 DNA supply categories and total figures are for 

whole plan period, and can be included in 
strategic policy so that it is clear to decision 
makers how to respond to development proposal 

 Justified by robust supply forecast evidence 

 Relies on same supply evidence used to justify 

emerging local plan housing requirement figure 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations -that are 

consistent with and support delivery of the local 
plan strategy (which take account of HELAA and 
site assessments; areas and assets of particular 

importance; roles of settlements/ services) 

 Incomplete picture of housing expected to take 

place in DNA 

Medium 

 

2 Simple, transparent, 
not misleading, easy to 

understand 

 May be perceived as potentially misleading as it 
omits other supply sources, so does not provide a 

complete picture of the supply context Identified 

 DNA supply from supply categories  

 Simple – only two types of supply.  

 Evidence in technical report (will need to be 
updated to use Regulation 19 allocations and 

2024 monitoring point data) 

High 

3 Clear about the scale 
of housing expected to 

take place  

 Supply based method – two supply categories 
counted; deliverable in plan period  

 An incomplete picture of expected growth as it 
excludes supply sources from completions, 

Cranbrook Plan allocations, made neighbourhood 
plans and windfall allowance. 

 

Medium 

 

page 168



Page 87 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria Assessment RAG 

4 Supports emerging 

local plan strategy 
 DNA HR figures are supply based, and through 

the scale of local plan allocations include an 
element of supply headroom to provide 
appropriate flexibility to manage risk and help 

ensure district housing requirement can be 
achieved. 

 Includes emerging local plan allocations that are 
consistent with & support delivery of LP strategy 

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ 

allocations to deliver strategy, but as the DNA HR 
figure will be a minimum it does not preclude 

neighbourhood plans from allocating additional 
non-strategic sites, or alternative sites provided 

that they do not reduce overall DNA housing total 

Low 

5 Justified by evidence 
and enables monitoring 

 Supply based actual and forecast completions on 
the proposed allocations and commitments using 
the same net housing supply evidence for the 

plan period as used to justify the emerging local 
plan’s district housing requirement  

 Clear on what is counted for the supply 
categories 

 Will need updating (2024 monitoring data & 
Regulation 19 allocations) 

Low 

OPTION 5  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF and PPG 

– as it fails to be clear about the scale of housing expected (so does not provide a sufficient policy context for neighbourhood planning to 
consider making housing provision). Therefore Option 5 not a reasonable alternative. 

 
Based on Tables 2 and 3 analyses, EDDC concludes that Option 5 is Recommended as Rejected 

 

page 169



Page 88 
 

 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria  Assessment Risk 

OPTION 6 

Supply based 
from Future 
Neighbourhood 

Plan 
allocations 

only.   
 

Based on the following 

supply categories with 
development expected to 
be completed in the plan 

period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2040:  

 Future Neighbourhood 
Plan allocations 

 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 DNA supply category and total figures for whole 

plan period are the same, can be included in 
strategic policy so that it is clear to decision 
makers how to respond to development proposal 

 Lack of robust evidence about location and scale 
of supply from future neighbourhood plan 

allocations, therefore inconsistent with NPPF 
regarding proportionate/robust evidence 

 Very incomplete picture of housing expected 

Medium 

 

2 Simple, transparent, 
not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Exclusion of ‘known completions/commitments/ 
Cranbrook Plan allocations; proposed local plan 
allocations and future windfalls and 

apportionment method is not transparent and 
likely to be subject to challenge, particularly if it is 

perceived as misleading and prejudging the 
content of future Neighbourhood Plans 

 Identified DNA supply from one supply categories  

 Simple - only supply categories deliverable in 
plan period. Some evidence in technical report 

(will need to be updated to and use Reg 19 
allocations) 

 Only including future Neighbourhood Plan 
allocations may be easier to understand 

High 

3 Clear about the scale 

of expected growth  
 Very incomplete picture of expected growth as it 

excludes the ‘knowns’ (i.e. completions to the 
2023 monitoring point, commitments, Cranbrook 
Plan allocations) as well as proposed local plan 

allocations a DNA apportioned windfall allowance 

High 

page 170



Page 89 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria  Assessment Risk 

 Supply based method – deliverable in plan period  

 Clear on what is counted for the one category 

 At least some DNA housing requirement figures 

would have to be more than NIL, otherwise this 
option would be pointless 

4 Supports emerging 
local plan strategy 

 DNA HR figures are supply based,  

 Omits emerging local plan allocations that are 
consistent with and support delivery of the local 
plan strategy  which make provision for an 

element of supply headroom to provide 
appropriate flexibility to manage risk and help 

ensure district housing requirement can be 
achieved. 

 DNA housing requirement figures would include a 

forecast of future neighbourhood plan allocations. 
DNA housing requirement figures are part of, not 

additional to the District housing requirement, so 
it would mean that the Local Plan would depend 
on future neighbourhood plans allocations 

delivery as part of the supply to deliver the local 
plan strategy & district housing requirement. 

There is a risk if future neighbourhood plans do 
not allocate sites, or if the sites do not deliver 
housing. As they are outside EDDC control 

regarding delivery, the council would need to 
consider whether it would be necessary to 

manage the risk on non-delivery of 
neighbourhood plan allocations. For example, by 
increasing the district supply headroom through 

additional local plan allocations. 

High 

page 171



Page 90 
 

Method 
Option 

Supply categories Table 1 Criteria  Assessment Risk 

5 Justified by evidence 

and enables monitoring 
 Very limited evidence at this time about which 

sites will be allocated in which future 
neighbourhood plans.   Lack of evidence about 
unknown sites’ scale and deliverability likely to 

lead to challenge 

 Will add to evidential burden for neighbourhood 

planning groups and on the Council   

 Will need updating (latest position on 

neighbourhood plan allocations) 

High 

OPTION 6  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF and PPG 
– as it fails to be clear about the scale of housing expected (so does not provide a sufficient policy context for neighbourhood planning to 
consider making housing provision) and is not deliverable. Therefore Option 6 not a reasonable alternative. 

 
Based on Tables 2 and 3 analyses, EDDC concludes that Option 6 is Recommended as Rejected 

 

 

 

page 172



Page 91 
 

2. Other methods 

 

9.5. Three ‘other methods’ based on ‘apportionment’ are assessed in this section 

below , with more details in Table 4. 

a) Simple apportionment based on broad percentage figures for 

settlement tiers 

9.6. To date, the council has not had a local plan policy for housing requirements 

for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. However, it previously tried to use a 

simple policy percentage figure to identify housing requirements for 

settlements that were “Smaller towns and larger villages”. The figures were 

set out in the Strategic Policy 27 in the East Devon Local Plan Pre-

Submission Plan (i.e. the Regulation 19 publication plan stage).  In 

paragraph 15.15, the reasoned justification to that policy stated: 

“..........Smaller towns and larger villages will see a minimum growth in 

dwellings at a rate of 5% (based on the number of Council Tax banded 

properties within the Built-up Area Boundary of each settlement as at 31st 

March 2011) over the Plan period.........In some cases Parish Councils 

have justified alternative (higher) figures where, for instance, additional 

housing is needed to deliver a particular project or environmental 

constraints or there are local aspirations for growth..... “ 

9.7. However in paragraphs 28 to 31 of the Inspector’s report on the Examination 

of the Submission Local Plan, the Inspector concluded that: 

“28  As submitted Strategy 27 assigned dwellings to the small towns and 
larger villages in the District. The number of dwellings assigned to each 

settlement was not based on a proper assessment of its ability to 
accommodate that number. The Council propose to amend Strategy 27 
by listing settlements that may be able to accommodate growth but 

deleting any reference to numbers. The provision of new housing in the 
listed settlements will be left to Neighbourhood Plans. The table at 

Strategy 2 indicates that villages and rural areas will contribute 1,123 
dwellings to the housing target. In order to be successful this approach 
depends on Town and Parish Council’s producing a Neighbourhood 

Plan and for that plan to allocate land for housing. 
 

29.  Strategies 6 and 7 as modified by MMs 18 and 19 would give local 
communities the flexibility to allocate land outside built up area 
boundaries. However, there is no requirement for communities to 

produce a Neighbourhood Plan and most of the Town and Parish 
Councils engaged in the examination resisted rather than welcomed 

new housing. As Strategy 27 (as proposed to be changed) no longer 
assigns housing numbers, it seems to me that a Neighbourhood Plan 
which did not allocate land for housing could not be said to conflict with 

the Local Plan. 
 

page 173



Page 92 
 

30.  The Council is confident that new housing will come forward through 
Neighbourhood Plans but there is no guarantee that they will nor does 

this strategy give the Council any control over when or where they will 
be delivered. However, the table at Strategy 2 indicates 887 of the 

1,123 dwellings allocated to small towns and villages had been built, 
were under construction or had planning permission in September 
2014. The number remaining to be delivered through Strategy 27 is 

relatively small compared to the overall target and lack of delivery does 
not pose a significant threat to meeting the overall target. 

 
31.  For the reasons given above Strategy 27 of the submitted Plan is not 

sound. By no longer assigning numbers the new Strategy 27 avoids the 

problems of its predecessor and to that extent MMs 6, 69, 70, 71, 72 73 
and 63 are necessary to make the Plan sound. Chardstock and 

Dunkeswell have limited facilities and do not benefit from access to 
public transport. Their addition to Strategy 27 is not supported by the 
Council’s Small Towns and Villages Development Suitability 

Assessment 2014 and I have removed them from Strategy 27.” 

9.8. The Inspector accepted that the strategic figure in policy 2 for small towns 

and larger villages would largely be met by completions and commitments 

and the small residue would not pose a significant threat to meeting the 

overall target. But it was only the removal of the unjustified settlement-

specific figures that enabled policy 27 to be made sound. 

9.9. The council cannot simply decide to use arbitrary, ‘guesstimated’ percentage 

figures for settlements or for Designated Neighbourhood Areas to identify the 

scale of expected housing development without evidencing how that number 

is derived and whether it is deliverable. The previous East Devon local plan 

inspector’s conclusions, and the resultant Main Modifications that had to be 

made to the plan, clearly shows that for a policy to be found sound or that it 

can be made sound, it must be supported by proportionate evidence that 

provides a ‘proper assessment” of deliverability. 

9.10. Consequently, the council concludes that basing the housing requirements 

for designated neighbourhood areas on a simple policy percentage figure 

without evidence of deliverability cannot be relied on to justify a local plan 

policy. At this time the evidence in Appendix B on deliverability of housing 

from future neighbourhood plan allocations does not support trying to 

forecast an element of expected supply from neighbourhood plans. It does 

not support including a percentage of supply from future neighbourhood 

plans in the local plan policy on housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. It is therefore not a reasonable alternative. 

b) Simple apportionment based on population 

9.11. Applying the Designated Neighbourhood Area’s share of the district 

population to the total district housing requirement would be a relatively 

page 174



Page 93 
 

simple, easy-to-understand way to calculate each area’s housing 

requirement figure.  

9.12. However, none of the apportioned figure would take direct account of the 

emerging spatial strategy or areas and assets of particular importance, as 

required by NPPF and PPG.  (Unlike the rejected Option 2, reasonable 

alternative supply based method identified in this technical report, where 

only the apportionment of the windfall allowance is based on demographic 

data (in that case, households), and the largest supply component of Local 

Plan allocations reflects the spatial strategy and has taken account of areas 

and assets of particular importance.) 

9.13. It could result in a distribution of development that would undermine the 

spatial strategy. This could mean that the scale of expected housing is 

undeliverable, and thereby not meet the test of soundness. 

9.14. Consequently, the council concludes that basing the housing requirements 

for designated neighbourhood areas on a simple apportionment based solely 

on population is not consistent with NPPF and PPG. It is therefore not a 

reasonable alternative. 

Complex apportionment 

9.15. From reviewing other local plans, only two used a complex apportionment 

approach. Both are hybrids (i.e. spatial strategy/ categories/distribution of the 

residual using strategy and constraint, and then considering specific supply 

categories): 

A. Wiltshire Local Plan Review (Regulation 19) – where the starting point 

uses the Core Strategy’s Area Strategies to set the overall scale of 

growth in settlements in  settlement tiers and allocating sites for 

development. The emerging Local Plan review then focuses on justifying 

a new policy for housing requirements for DNAs in rural areas, where the 

method then considers how to breakdown the rural requirement to 

individual rural settlements: 

 It starts by assuming a baseline annual housing development figure for 

each rural settlement with boundaries (depending on the settlement 

type – 5pa in Local Service Centres and 1pa in Large Villages), applies 

a 100m buffer around the edge of each settlement then identifies key 

constraints in the settlement and buffer 

 In the constrained area, the baseline annual figure is adjusted 

downward depending on the area extent and the severity of the 

constraint, and the type of rural settlement (this is not based on actual 

sites’ availability/suitability/achievability) 

page 175



Page 94 
 

 In the unconstrained area, the housing requirement is based on the 

size of settlement and number of households 

 The constrained and unconstrained area requirements are then added 

together to give a settlement total 

 Subtracting completions and commitments from the overall rural 

housing requirement gives a residue which either neighbourhood plans 

can address, or if they don’t then the LPA will address through a future 

Site Allocations Development Plan Document. 

B. South Worcestershire Development Plan Review (submitted)– where 

the methodology for calculating the additional housing requirement for 

the 40 designated Neighbourhood Areas in south Worcestershire takes 

account the following factors:  

i. The overall strategy for the pattern of development to 2041. The 

SWDPR development strategy distributes the dwellings required in 

the SWDPR in the following proportions:  

 40.1% in new or expanded settlements 51.9% in the main urban 

areas and urban extensions  

 4.7% in Category 1 villages  

 2.4% in Category 2 villages  

 0.8% in Category 3 villages. 

ii. The scale of additional development required to 2041. The adopted 

SWDP, which was tested and found sound at Examination makes 

provision for around 28,400 dwellings. The SWDPR is therefore 

making provision for an additional 13,240 dwellings (including 500 at 

Mitton for Tewkesbury Council’s needs) in the period to 2041 over-

and-above those which have already been delivered or are likely to be 

delivered based on current housing commitments, completions and 

reallocations. 

iii. Relevant site allocations. The housing requirement for each 

Neighbourhood Area takes account of proposed allocations in the 

SWDP Review, together with any allocations in made or submitted 

Neighbourhood Plans.  

NOTE: The methodology does not take account of any specific physical, 

environmental or infrastructure constraints to future growth in a 

Neighbourhood Area. The method acknowledges that not all 

Neighbourhood Areas may be able to deliver the housing requirements 

due to local constraints. 

9.16. Neither the Wiltshire nor the SWDP plan review has yet reached the stage of 

Examination Inspector’s Matters, Issues and Questions for hearings. It is 

page 176



Page 95 
 

therefore not possible to learn lessons from those plans directly.  But the 

council can apply the assessment criteria in Table 1, based on the broad 

lessons learnt from other plans and their examinations.  

 

C   Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan (adopted 21 

March 2019) 

9.17. The adopted Joint Local Plan was produced under transitional arrangements 

in the context of NPPF 2012 and related PPGs.  It incorporated a strategic 

policy approach that included an overall figure for housing supply in villages 

in the South Hams and West Devon that are in settlement tiers where the 

Joint Local Plan did not propose allocations in those tiers.  

9.18. Policy TTV23 Development in Sustainable Villages states that “provision in 

the order of 550 homes will be sought from the sustainable villages as part of 

the overall housing supply for the TTV Policy Area.”  This largely related to 

the potential for neighbourhood plans to make housing provision.  

9.19. In effect the policy anticipated changes to NPPF and PPGs.  The plan 

includes figures for Indicative levels on new housing in Table 5.8 in the plan 

which identified which named villages fall into the categories of being able to 

accommodate around 10, 20 or 30 dwellings each (none in the AONB).  The 

focus in the named villages is on sustainable development for meeting local 

needs.  

9.20. The evidence justifying that scale of growth included settlement tier and 

functions, sites identified by the HELAA call for sites (with HELAA evidence 

on suitability/achievability / availability deliverability); constraints (not just 

deliverability).  The purpose of this analysis was not to propose sites as 

allocations but to provide evidence about the potential for sites for housing at 

each village. 

9.21. This method only applied to the smaller villages. It was not a method for 

apportionment across the whole district. The initial evidence indicated a 

potential total supply of 1050 dwellings from this category. The figure was 

reduced to 720 in the submission plan, following further evidence on 

constraints and settlement roles. The policy and the supporting evidence 

were tested at Examination and as a result, following Main Modifications, the 

figure in the submission plan Policy 30 for 720 dwellings was reduced to 550 

in the renumber Policy 25 in the adopted plan  That policy relating to a 

supply category allowance is in the context of a very healthy supply 

headroom of 21% across the JLP (and a very robust 29% in the South Hams 

part of the Thriving Towns and Villages policy area). 

page 177



Page 96 
 

9.22. Extract from the Inspectors report 18 March 2019 on the Plymouth and 

South West Devon Joint Local plan 

“Sustainable villages allowance 

89.   Figure 5.8 in the Plan identifies the sustainable villages and 

indicative levels of housing provision for each village. This includes 

villages within the AONB. However, these are not justified as the evidence 

does not demonstrate that due consideration has been given to the level 

of protection AONB has in national policy. These villages are therefore to 

be deleted from figure 5.8 as set out in MM35. However, the deletion of 

villages within the AONB from the list does not necessarily rule out any 

housing development in these locations over the period of the Plan. 

Where there is evidence to demonstrate that unacceptable harm will not 

be caused to the AONB, proposals may continue to be brought forward 

through neighbourhood plans in accordance with Policy DEV27.  

90. The allowance for development in the sustainable villages needs to be 

reduced to 550 dwellings to reflect the deletion of villages within the 

AONB from figure 5.8. This needs to be incorporated within Policy TTV30 

to ensure that the level of housing provision expected to be delivered and 

the overall policy intentions are clear [MM34]. It also provides consistency 

with the changes to the housing supply figure 3.3 proposed under MM3. 

Consequential changes to figure 5.1 are also necessary and this 

requirement has been added to MM3.  

91. MM34 and MM35 also makes some other changes to Policy TTV30 

and its supporting text to ensure it is clear that the housing numbers in 

figure 5.8 are indicative only. Actual provision is to be provided through 

neighbourhood plans or through meeting identified local needs, subject to 

being consistent with other relevant Plan policies. It also adds some 

villages and deletes others within Figure 5.8 to reflect the evidence and 

ensure the list of sustainable villages is justified. Whilst the amended 

wording refers to development being ‘within’ the sustainable villages, the 

Plan does not define settlement boundaries. It will be up to neighbourhood 

plans or other development plan documents to determine what sites are 

‘within’ each settlement. 

9.23. The lessons learnt from the Joint Local Plan are the importance of evidence 

and giving appropriate weight to areas/assets of particular importance. This 

plan predates the current NPPF which requires that housing requirements 

are set out in Strategic Policy (therefore are not “indicative”) and are for the 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas.  

9.24. The assessment of the three ‘other options’ are as set out in Table 4 below. 

page 178



Page 97 
 

9.25. Finally, for the avoidance of doubt, the ‘other method’ options identified by 

the council does not include an option for a scale of expected housing based 

on its “popularity”. Local Plan policy is based on meeting legal tests and the 

tests of soundness (including proportionate evidence to justify policy). The 

local plan is not a referendum.  None of the method options take into 

account the level of support regarding the expected level of housing.  

 

page 179



Page 98 
 

TABLE 4 Assessment of other options 

Method 
Option 

Table 1 Criteria Assessment RAG 

OPTION 7 

Simple 

apportionment 
based on 

arbitrary/ 
‘guesstimated’ 
percentage 

figures for 
settlement  

tiers (similar to 
Policy 27 
approach in 

East Devon 
Local Plan 

Submission 
Plan -2013 to 
2031)  

1 Consistent with 
NPPF/PPG  

 

 Arbitrary figures are not robust. Cannot be relied on to justify policy 

 ‘Guesstimated’ percentages not derived from population, spatial strategy, 

settlement roles and taking account of areas/assets of particular 
importance, would be inconsistent with NPPF 

 Incomplete picture of housing expected to take place in DNA. Not 
justified by robust supply forecast evidence. Does not rely on same 

supply evidence used to justify emerging local plan housing requirement 
figure. In the absence of supply information, unclear whether a DNA HR 
figure means that a neighbourhood plan would need to allocate site(s), 

unless the figure was zero 

 DNA total figures are for whole plan period, and can be included in 

strategic policy but unclear to decision makers how to respond to 
development proposal, unless policy also makes clear what actual and 
forecast supply counts towards the DNA housing requirement  

High 

2 Simple, transparent, 
not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Applying one or more percentage figures to the District housing 
requirement is simple, and relatively easy to understand 

 Unclear what the resultant housing requirement figure means for 

neighbourhood planning, unless the figure is zero  

 May be perceived as potentially misleading as it does not provide a 

picture of the expected housing supply context (i.e. which housing supply 
categories would count against it) 

Medium 

 

3 Clear about the scale 

of housing expected to 
take place  

 Indicates scale of housing expected to take place Low 

4 Supports emerging 
local plan strategy 

 Unless the percentages are derived from population, spatial strategy, 

settlement roles and taking account of areas/assets of particular 

Medium 

 

page 180



Page 99 
 

importance, then it is unclear how the policy DNA housing requirement 
figures would support the emerging local plan strategy 

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ allocations to deliver 

strategy, but as the DNA HR figure will be a minimum it does not 
preclude neighbourhood plans from allocating additional non-strategic 

sites, or alternative sites provided that they do not reduce overall DNA 
housing total 

5 Justified by evidence 

and enables monitoring 
 In the absence of robust evidence justifying the percentages chosen and 

whether the resultant scale of housing is deliverable, then high risk of the 
policy not meeting the tests of soundness on effectiveness, justified, and 
consistency with NPPF. The problems of not basing the number of 

dwellings assigned to each area on a proper assessment of its ability to 
accommodate that number were highlighted in the Inspector’s report for 

the previous East Devon Local Plan (with numbers deleted from the plan) 

 Popularity of /community support for a percentage figure is not robust 

evidence nor an adequate reason to justify using a ‘guesstimated’ 
percentage figure to calculate DNA housing requirements 

 Lack of evidence that guesstimated figures would be deliverable 

 The policy would need to make clear what supply categories would be 
counted against the DNA housing requirement  

High 

OPTION 7  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF 
and PPG – as the percentage applied and the resultant housing requirement figures would not be based on proportionate 
evidence and therefore not justified, and is not evidenced as deliverable. Therefore Option 7 not a reasonable alternative. 

 
Based on Table 4 analysis, EDDC concludes that Option 7 is Recommended as Rejected 

 

page 181



Page 100 
 

Method 
Option 

Table 1 Criteria Assessment RAG 

OPTION 8 

Simple 
apportionment 
based on 

population 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 Percentages derived from population evidence, but does not also take 

account of spatial strategy, settlement roles or areas/ assets of particular 
importance. This would be inconsistent with NPPF 

 Not justified by robust supply forecast/deliverability evidence; Does not 

rely on same supply evidence used to justify emerging local plan housing 
requirement figure 

 Incomplete picture of housing expected to take place in DNA. Not 
justified by robust supply delivery forecast evidence. Does not rely on 

same supply evidence used to justify emerging local plan housing 
requirement figure. In the absence of supply information, unclear whether 
a DNA HR figure means that a neighbourhood plan would need to 

allocate site(s), unless the figure was zero 

 DNA total figures are for whole plan period, and can be included in 

strategic policy but unclear to decision makers how to respond to 
development proposal, unless policy also makes clear what actual and 
forecast supply counts towards the DNA housing requirement  

High 

2 Simple, transparent, 

not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Applying a percentage figure to the District housing requirement is 

simple, and easy to understand 

 Unclear what the resultant housing requirement figure means for 

neighbourhood planning, unless the figure is zero  

 May be perceived as potentially misleading as it does not provide a 

picture of the expected housing supply context 

Medium 

 

3 Clear about the scale 
of housing expected to 

take place  

 Indicates scale of housing expected to take place Low 

4 Supports emerging 
local plan strategy 

 Does not take spatial strategy into account 

 Unclear how the policy DNA housing requirement figures would support 

the emerging local plan strategy.  

Medium 

 

page 182



Page 101 
 

 Does not rely on future neighbourhood plans’ allocations to deliver 
strategy, but as the DNA HR figure will be a minimum it does not 

preclude neighbourhood plans from allocating additional non-strategic 
sites, or alternative sites provided that they do not reduce overall DNA 
housing total 

5 Justified by evidence 

and enables monitoring 
 Percentages derived from population evidence. Current population is a 

reflection of many historic factors.  Population projections would simply 
project past trends. Producing population forecasts at the DNA/Parish 

area level is fraught with difficulties, the need to make some heroic 
assumptions, liable to challenge, and where the level of accuracy is likely 
to be regarded as spurious 

 Does not take account of spatial strategy, settlement roles and taking 
account of areas/ assets of particular importance.) 

 Lack of evidence that housing requirement figures would be deliverable 

 The policy would need to make clear what supply categories would be 

counted against the DNA housing requirement 

High 

OPTION 8  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF 

and PPG – as the method does not evidence how the requirements would support the spatial strategy, and is not evidenced as 
deliverable. Therefore Option 8 not a reasonable alternative. 

 
Based on Table 4 analysis, EDDC concludes that Option 8 is Recommended as Rejected 

 

page 183



Page 102 
 

Method 
Option 

Table 1 Criteria Assessment RAG 

OPTION 9 

based on 
Complex 
apportionment. 

 

 

1 Consistent with 

NPPF/PPG  
 

 Percentages derived from assessment that takes account of population, 

spatial strategy, settlement roles and taking account of areas/assets of 
particular importance, would be consistent with NPPF 

 Complete picture of housing expected to take place in DNA.  

 Not underpinned by robust supply delivery forecast evidence. Does not 
rely on same supply evidence used to justify emerging local plan housing 

requirement figure. In the absence of supply information, unclear whether 
a DNA HR figure means that a neighbourhood plan would need to 

allocate site(s), unless the figure was zero 

 DNA total figures are for whole plan period, and can be included in 
strategic policy but unclear to decision makers how to respond to 

development proposal, unless policy also makes clear what actual and 
forecast supply counts towards the DNA housing requirement  

Medium 

 

2 Simple, transparent, 

not misleading, easy to 
understand 

 Complex method. Not easy to understand. 

 Unclear what the resultant housing requirement figure means for 
neighbourhood planning, unless the figure is zero  

 May be perceived as potentially misleading as it does not provide a 
picture of the housing supply/delivery context 

High 

3 Clear about the scale 

of housing expected to 
take place  

 Indicates scale of housing expected to take place Low 

4 Supports emerging 
local plan strategy 

 With figures derived from population, spatial strategy, settlement roles 

and taking account of areas/assets of particular importance, the policy 
DNA housing requirement figures would support the emerging local plan 
strategy 

 Policy needs to make clear whether future neighbourhood plans’ 
allocations are to be relied on to help deliver strategy the local plan 

strategy, (i.e. are part of the supply to meet the district requirement, not 
additional to the forecast supply. DNA HR figure will be a minimum so 

Low 

page 184



Page 103 
 

does not preclude neighbourhood plans from allocating additional non-
strategic sites, or alternative sites provided that they do not reduce 
overall DNA housing total 

5 Justified by evidence 
and enables monitoring 

 Lacks evidence about deliverability 

 Not supply based so not using the same net housing supply evidence for 
the plan period as used to justify the emerging local plan’s district 

housing requirement  

 Need to consider the consequences of the sum total of housing 

requirements, if this does not meet the district housing requirement 

 Need to consider how this process aligns with the use of evidence to 

justify the local plan allocations, to avoid undermining that evidence 

 Particularly onerous in term of evidence needed, for example about:  

o Households/population/Dwellings in settlement(s) in the DNA 
o Proximity of settlements to other built up areas which have their 

own housing requirements, where dwellings in parts of those 

settlements are within the DNA 
o The extent that the settlements and immediate surrounds are 

constrained by: Flood Zones 2 and 3, AONB, international and 

national habitat sites, designated heritage assets (including 
Scheduled monuments, Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas), 

Local Green Space in Made Neighbourhood Plans 

 Adjusting baseline information to take account of the significant 

constraints and the ability to accommodate growth is challenging. Risk of 
‘heroic assumptions’ as some data is at District level 

 Risk of challenge, depending on interpretation of evidence on constraints, 

changes to the mix/size of housing, and ability to accommodate growth, 
liable to challenge, and where the level of accuracy is likely to be 

regarded as spurious 

 What evidence about housing need at the local level can be relied on? 

 Need to be clear about how to take account of future housing 
development in the countryside, which is in the DNA, otherwise the 
picture of expected housing is incomplete  

High 

page 185



Page 104 
 

OPTION 9  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

Policy based on this option would not be realistic. It would not meet all the tests of soundness – notably consistency with NPPF 
and PPG regarding effective engagement, mindful of the complexity of the method, and it would not directly provide evidence that 
the housing numbers are deliverable, or alternatively may not deliver the District housing requirement. Therefore Option 9 not a 
reasonable alternative. 

 
Based on Table 4 analysis, EDDC concludes that Option 9 is Recommended as Rejected 

 

 

page 186



Page 105 
 

10.    CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

10.1. The District Council has drawn together the principal lessons learnt, the 

results of the early engagement and the need for proportionate and robust 

evidence to justify local plan policy. Appendix D sets out the technical 

information and analysis about specific local plans from which lessons have 

been learnt from. Appendix C presents the information in a simplified, 

summary table format. 

RECOMMENDATION 1 

10.2. To avoid or at least minimise the risk of the policy on Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figures not being found sound, 

the following is recommended as an appropriate approach for the emerging 

local plan: 

a) Set out Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figures 

in ‘strategic policy’ in the local plan. 

b) Base Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figures 

on ‘the scale of housing expected’ in the plan period in each area and 

be clear about what is meant by ‘expected growth’ (i.e. what, where 

and when) and how this is justified.  

c) Evidence how the method for calculating Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas housing requirement figures directs development requirements 

consistent with NPPF/PPG: 

 The spatial strategy in the emerging Local Plan. 

 Characteristics of the neighbourhood area including its population 

and role in providing services; and 

 Consideration of the areas or assets of particular importance31 

that may restrict the scale, type or distribution of development in a 

neighbourhood plan area 

d) Explain how a Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement 

policy helps neighbourhood planning groups in preparing 

neighbourhood plans, notably;  

 Does the housing requirement figure provide sufficiently clear 

information to provide a context for neighbourhood plan making? 

 What are the relative roles of the local plan and the neighbourhood 

plan regarding site allocations for housing? In particular, how is the 

‘heavy lifting’ achieved to ensure that housing supply can be 

                                                                 
31  As set out in NPPF paragraph 11, footnote 7 

page 187



Page 106 
 

delivered over the plan period to achieve the housing requirements 

for the Designated Neighbourhood Area and for the district? 

 Does the housing requirement figure mean there is or is not an 

identified housing supply gap that a Neighbourhood Plan is 

expected to meet through neighbourhood plan site allocation(s)?   

 Does the housing requirement figure enable additional allocations 

to be included in a Neighbourhood Plan? 

 Make clear what the policy means for those parts of East Devon 

without Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement 

figures. 

10.3. The council acknowledges the variation in other plans and in that Inspectors 

at examinations have accepted or appear to have accepted a variety of 

approaches to how the Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing 

requirement figures are presented in plans and justified. However, the 

recommended approach for the East Devon Local Plan is driven by the tests 

of soundness in particular consistency with national planning policy, 

effectiveness (i.e. deliverability) and that the plan is ‘justified (i.e. evidenced)  

10.4. There are two broad approaches for calculating the requirement figures: 

1. Forecasts of specific categories of housing supply in a Designated 

Neighbourhood Area which are added together to give the 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figure; or 

2. Disaggregating the district figure of growth for the plan period, by 

breaking this down through an apportionment algorithm to produce 

a Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirement figure for 

each Designated Neighbourhood Area. 

10.5. From the evidence, results, analysis and individual conclusions set out in this 

technical report the council concludes the following: 

1.  Nine potential options are identified for calculating the housing 

requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon. Six 

are supply based, and three are ‘other methods’ based on 

apportionment. 

2.  Based on planning judgements by the council, of the nine method 

options assessed for East Devon, only two are judged to be realistic and 

deliverable, and therefore are ‘reasonable alternatives”. These are  

Option 1: All supply categories, excluding a projected windfall allowance. 

Option 2: All supply categories, including a projected windfall allowance. 

page 188



Page 107 
 

3.  The outcome of applying both methods is shown in the tables of supply 

categories and total housing requirements by Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas in Appendix F (summary table) and Appendix G 

(detailed tables). 

4.   Of the two reasonable alternatives, Option 1 (the supply based method 

using all supply categories excluding a projected windfall allowance) is 

assessed as the best option. Option 1 performs slightly better than 

Option 2 (all supply categories including a projected windfall allowance). 

RECOMMENDATION 2:  

10.6. The recommended option for the calculating the Designated Neighbourhood 

Area housing requirement figures and presenting them in the plan is as 

follows: 

1. OPTION 1 method: That is, use all supply categories, excluding a 

projected windfall allowance as the basis for calculating the figures for 

Designated Neighbourhood Area housing requirements to be included in 

Strategic Policy in the emerging East Devon Local Plan.  It is a 

reasonable alternative option that is preferred because the assessment in 

Section 9 of this report leads to the conclusion that it performs better than 

the other reasonable alternative (OPTION 2). 

2. The strategic policy should include a table showing the net figures for the 

total housing requirement for the whole plan period (1 April 2020 to 31 

March 2040) for each Designated Neighbourhood Area in East Devon 

and the individual supply categories sum to those totals, so that it is clear 

how the totals were derived and which supply categories count towards 

the totals.  The table can be in an appendix to the local plan provided that 

the table/appendix is explicitly referred to in the strategic policy. 

10.7. The housing requirement figures calculated by applying the Option 1 method 

using currently available data are shown in summary in Appendix F of this 

report. They illustrate the outcome of summing the forecast of housing 

delivery from the supply categories.  More details are in Appendix G. 

10.8. The recommended method option does not include a forecast of housing 

supply from future neighbourhood plans. The consequences of the 

recommended Option 1 are that: 

1. Housing supply from allocations in future new or reviewed neighbourhood 

plans is not part of the scale of housing expected in Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas and therefore not part of their minimum housing 

requirements. Future new or reviewed neighbourhood plans therefore do 

not have to include additional housing allocations in order to achieve their 

minimum housing requirement figures. 

page 189



Page 108 
 

2. The emerging East Devon Local Plan does not rely on housing supply 

from  future new or reviewed neighbourhood plans in order to achieve 

strategic policies on either the minimum district housing requirement or to 

achieve the Designated Neighbourhood Area minimum housing 

requirements. 

3. Forecast supply from the emerging Local Plan allocations is included as a 

supply category in calculating the housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. In combination those allocations enable a level of 

supply headroom for the local plan, to manage the risks of non-delivery 

over the plan period. So, there is no need for neighbourhood plans to 

allocate housing sites in order to compensate for the risk of non-delivery 

on sites in other supply categories that comprise their housing 

requirement figures. 

4. The net housing figures for the supply categories will need to be updated 

for the Regulation 19 local plan, to capture latest information from 2024 

monitoring point data and data about proposed allocations in the 

Regulation 19 plan and updates about allocations in Neighbourhood 

Plans that are made or with a recommendation for referendum. 

5. The housing requirement figure for each Designated Neighbourhood 

Area is a minimum.  It does not prevent neighbourhood plans from 

allocating additional or alternative32 sites for additional housing. Nor does 

the figure prevent development of future windfall housing sites in the 

Designated Neighbourhood Area. 

RECOMMENDATION 3:  

10.9. OPTION 2 method (all supply categories, including a projected windfall 

allowance) is rejected at this stage, but is a reasonable alternative option. 

The housing requirement figures calculated by applying the Option 2 method 

using currently available data are also shown in summary in Appendix F of 

this report. 

10.10. Comments on both reasonable alternative options (Options 1 and 2) as 

methods for calculating the housing requirement figures for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas are invited at the Spring 2024 consultation stage. 

Respondents can also comment on the other options which have been 

assessed as not reasonable alternatives (3 to 9 in this report). They can also 

put forward their own method options, setting out how those options would 

meet the tests in Table 1 of this report, ideally using the same formats as in 

Tables 3 or 4 of this report. 

                                                                 
32 PPG Neighbourhood planning ....”A neighbourhood plan can also propose allocating alternative sites to 

those in a local plan (or spatial development strategy), where alternative proposals for inclusion in the 
neighbourhood plan are not strategic, but a qualifying body should discuss with the local planning authority 
why it considers the allocations set out in the strategic policies are no longer appropriate.” 

page 190



Page 109 
 

11. FUTURE STAGE - TECHNICAL REPORT: VERSION 2  

 

11.1. Readers are advised that Version 1 of this document will be updated and 

replaced by Version 2 at a future date. Evidence from feedback on the 

Spring 2024 consultation on this matter will be included in Version 2 of this 

technical report as part of the audit trail demonstrating how the policy figures 

were developed. 

Updating Technical Evidence Report: Version 2 

11.2. The Version 2 document will be finalised after the council considers the 

consultation responses and the updated evidence when selecting which 

method to use to calculate the requirement figures to include in strategic 

policy. 

11.3. If the selected method uses housing supply categories, the calculations set 

out in Version 2 will use the latest available supply forecast information. This 

will be in the context of the net district housing requirement to be set out in 

strategic policy in the Regulation 19 Publication stage Local Plan. This is 

expected to include housing monitoring data at the 2024 housing monitoring 

point and the site capacities and delivery trajectories of housing site 

allocations identified in the Regulation 19 Plan. 

11.4. Version 2 of the technical document will be produced in time to inform 

decisions on the Regulation 19 Plan. So, that document will justify the 

housing requirement figure for each of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

within East Devon district to be included in strategic policy in the Regulation 

19 plan. It will also therefore be published and available in time for the 

Regulation 20 consultation stage on that plan, and subsequently part of the 

evidence base supporting the Submission Plan. 

11.5. Readers should note that the local plan’s strategic policy on Designated 

Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirements will depend in part on the 

overall scale of housing requirement for the district for the plan period. A 

district requirement figure has been the subject of the previous Regulation 

18 consultation. However, that figure will be revisited when preparing the 

Regulation 19 Publication plan. It will be subject to national planning policy 

and guidance at that time. Implementation of the government’s proposals for 

wider changes to the planning system, including the Levelling-up and 

Regeneration Act will also be a consideration for our plan making. 

 

page 191



Page 110 
 

APPENDICES           

 

page 192



Page 111 
 

APPENDIX A    Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon 

 

In alphabetical order, and whole parishes unless stated otherwise, these are: 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

Contain  

Reg 18 plan 
settlement(s) 

Strategic developments 

Close to Exeter 
or Cranbrook EAs 

All Saints NO  

Axminster YES  

Axmouth NO  

Aylesbeare NO  

Beer YES  

Bishops Clyst (Clyst St Mary & Sowton 

parishes) 
YES 

 

Broadclyst YES YES (New Settlement) 

Broadhembury YES  

Budleigh Salterton  YES  

Chardstock YES  

Clyst Honiton (part of parish including 
strategic west-end development such as 

Skypark) 

NO YES (Cranbrook 
Expansion Area) 

(New Settlement) 

Clyst St George NO YES (N of Topsham) 

Colyton (Colyton and Colyford parishes) YES  

Cotleigh NO  

Dalwood NO  

Dunkeswell YES  

East Budleigh with Bicton (2 parishes) YES  

Exmouth YES  

Farringdon NO YES (New Settlement) 

Feniton YES  

Hawkchurch YES  

Honiton YES  

Kilmington YES  

Luppitt   

Lympstone YES  

Membury NO  

Monkton NO  

Newton Poppleford and Harpford YES  

Otterton YES  

Ottery St Mary  YES  

Payhembury YES  

Rockbeare 
NO 

YES (Cranbrook 

Expansion Area) 

Seaton YES  

Sidmouth (Sid Valley)  YES  

Stockland NO  

page 193



Page 112 
 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas 
Contain  

Reg 18 plan 
settlement(s) 

Strategic developments 
Close to Exeter 

or Cranbrook EAs 

Uplyme NO  

Upottery NO  

West Hill YES  

Whimple YES YES (Cranbrook EA) 

Woodbury (includes Exton) YES  

Yarcombe NO  

 

Notes: 

Sidbury settlement is wholly in Sidmouth DNA  

Exton settlement is in wholly Woodbury DNA  

The detailed tables in Appendix G listing sites counted towards the housing 

requirement figures includes a column for notes which shows which allocations, 

commitments and completions in a DNA also extend into adjoining  DNAs. Note that 

some settlements may be in more than one DNA 

 

page 194



Page 113 
 

APPENDIX B    Early Engagement - Feedback 

B1. On 7 March 2023 Members approved early engagement to be undertaken 

with town and parish councils and neighbourhood plan groups. The purpose 

of the engagement was to help raise awareness and give an understanding 

of the concept and help inform the LPA’s thinking on a suitable approach to 

take towards calculating the housing requirements for Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. The engagement comprised a webinar and a 

Neighbourhood Plan intentions survey. 

Webinar 

B2. 40 delegates joined the webinar, between them representing more than half 

(23 out of the 4033) of the Designated Neighbourhood Areas in East Devon, 

including the majority (7 out of 8) of those with experience in making, or 

actively progressing work towards, site allocations. 

B3. Officers presented an introduction to the Designated Neighbourhood Area 

Housing Requirement topic and overview of the potential options and 

implications (as identified in the March 2023 Committee Report). This led 

into an open facilitated discussion to tease out initial thoughts / appetite from 

communities for taking on a greater role through neighbourhood plans (than 

currently envisaged by EDDC in the draft Local Plan) for allocating sites. 

B4. The discussion did not indicate any strong appetite for neighbourhood plans 

to take greater control of making allocations. There was some doubt voiced 

as to whether there would in fact be any merit in Neighbourhood Plans 

making allocations, given the lead on this that the emerging Local Plan has 

already taken thus far, and bearing in mind the unpopularity of many of the 

sites/proposed levels of growth in many communities. Overall, there was 

much more concern about how to ensure allocations made via the Local 

Plan would address local community needs, including the role 

Neighbourhood Plan policies and local housing needs assessments could 

play. 

B5. There was an acute awareness expressed, including by those with 

experience, of the amount of work involved by communities if they wish to 

make site allocations, and the need for support with this process.  There was 

also a recognition in the discussion of the wide variety of experience and 

situations with regard to neighbourhood plan making across different 

parishes/communities and the issue this would present for selecting a single 

                                                                 
33 Since the webinar there is now an additional Designated Neighbourhood Area in the district (for West Hill  
parish separate to Ottery St Mary Designated Neighbourhood Area), bringing the total to 41 Designated 
Neighbourhood Areas.   

page 195



Page 114 
 

method for the district for assessing the Designated Neighbourhood Area 

Housing Requirement. 

B6. Critically, it became clear from the webinar that the Designated 

Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirements topic itself and the presentation 

and scrutiny of multiple and seemingly rather nuanced options for calculating 

it broken down by different aspects of housing supply, was likely to be overly 

complex and technical, and would need to be considerably simplified to 

enable meaningful engagement in the public consultation. 

B7. This can be summed up by the following quote captured in the notes made 

by a delegate involved in neighbourhood plan preparation as follows: 

“Mindful of the limited capacity and professional planning knowledge in 

Neighbourhood Plan groups, the very different circumstances in 
different areas where Neighbourhood Plan work exists, and the 
complexity of the topic, can this be kept as simple as possible and 

agree that the approach would need to be the same across all of the 
parishes for consistency and to avoid over-burdening Neighbourhood 

Plan groups and the Neighbourhood Plan process? Also need to be 
mindful that there can be enough difficulty in preparing a 
neighbourhood plan and getting agreement between the local planning 

authority and the local community about what development is 
appropriate locally and that this will add extra complexity and 

challenge, particularly in explaining and consulting on the concept of 
Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement figures through 
any public consultation….” 

 
B8. Officers agreed the need to endeavour to keep the consultation as 

straightforward as possible, and to give further consideration to this and 

consider any further thoughts from delegates. The presentations and notes 

from the webinar were supplied to all who attended and all town/parish 

clerks. 

 

Neighbourhood Plan Intentions Survey 

B9. The survey sought to provide an up-to-date picture of neighbourhood 

planning across east Devon (in communities with and without Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas / neighbourhood planning experience) to help inform 

the on-going preparation of the Local Plan, including the approach to 

Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirements 34. Building on the 

discussion at the webinar, it sought to further test the appetite and intention 

for Neighbourhood Plans regarding make housing allocations. It also 

                                                                 
34 The opportunity was taken through the survey to gather more general information and feedback from 

communities to help increase the council’s understanding of their needs/aspirations, issues and support needs 
in respect of neighbourhood planning.   

page 196



Page 115 
 

gathered data on the progress with delivery of sites already allocated in 

Neighbourhood Plans. 

B10. A summary analysis of responses to the Strategic Planning Committee on 13 

February 2024 as follows. 

B11. “There was a good response rate, with 45 surveys returned for 43 parishes. 

These cover the full spectrum of neighbourhood plan experience across the 

district, including responses from 32 out of our 41 towns/parishes who 

currently have a Designated Neighbourhood Area, and 11 with no 

Designated Neighbourhood Area at present. 

B12. Analysis of the responses revealed considerable differences based on 

experience of neighbourhood planning experience to date, identified 

interest/likelihood of pursuing new or updated plans in the foreseeable 

future, levels of development pressure experienced, and the nature/ 

perceived impact of the strategy/ proposals in the emerging Local Plan. 

B13. Key messages from the analysis of relevance to Designated Neighbourhood 

Area Housing Requirements are: 

1. Almost all town/parish councils with a ‘made’ plan responding to the 

survey indicated they either are currently (or have intention within the 

next 3 years) to review their neighbourhood plans: 

 Mostly related to the changing national and local plan policies, but 

also desire to improve effectiveness of plan policies and address 

areas where plans have become outdated. 

 Not all yet know if they expect to submit a revised plan as a result of 

reviews, as this will depend on the findings (and final content of the 

new Local Plan). 

 7 (mostly already emerging plans) expect to submit a new or 

updated plan before the new Local Plan is adopted, with indications 

that a further 8 would expect to do so within 3 years but after Local 

Plan adoption. 

 Little indication that areas currently without a Designated 

Neighbourhood Area would be likely to pursue neighbourhood plan 

preparation due largely to there being no identified imperative to do 

so (only one parish currently actively considering this). 

 

2. Of the 25 responses to whether new emerging or updated plans (to be 

progressed within the next 3 years) will make allocations for housing, 9 

parish councils indicated this to be either likely or very likely: 

page 197



Page 116 
 

 Roughly half of these had previously made allocations in made 

neighbourhood plans and progress reported on delivery of those 

sites was mixed but generally positive.  

 4 would be expecting to submit their Plans before the new Local 

Plan is adopted but noted only 2 are well advanced in this process. 

To note depending on timing of submission, they may still be 

examined under the adopted Local Plan to 2031 only. 

 As might be expected, some parishes (7no) indicated they were 

currently unsure as to whether their plans would seek to include 

allocations. 

 10 respondents reported making housing allocations was considered 

unlikely (1) or very unlikely (9). 

 

3. In more general terms, 13 responses recorded an interest in ‘securing 

new housing of any kind (including affordable or self-build homes)’ and 

15 responses of ‘progressing delivering community-led development 

(e.g. affordable housing via a Community Land Trust (or a renewable 

energy scheme)’. However, these expressions of interest do not 

necessarily align with stated known intent at this current time around 

making allocations. 

 

4. Regarding evidence of communities feeling the need and motivation to 

undertake neighbourhood planning activity, including proposing site 

allocations, the survey indicates that this is being particularly affected 

by: 

 The proposals in the emerging Local Plan, including the scale of 

development proposed in some areas and the general uncertainty 

about the eventual plan content in many cases (the latter reported as 

the biggest issue/barrier to neighbourhood planning, recorded as 

such by 68% of respondents); 

 The amount of local resource (especially volunteer time) needed to 

prepare a new or updated neighbourhood plan in itself (recorded by 

55% of respondents), and considerations of this being weighed up 

alongside some concern/doubt about the influence/weight the 

neighbourhood plan is likely to have on development and in planning 

decisions in the plan area. 

 Survey responses also pointed to other constraints on the ability/will 

to make allocations for housing, including a lack of suitable sites; 

being within the AONB (National Landscapes), capacity of road and 

other infrastructure.  In the more rural areas, where growth is not 

proposed through the Local Plan there was generally less of a need 

identified / desire to pursue production of a neighbourhood plan, 

page 198



Page 117 
 

including in some cases where work had progressed to some extent 

in the past.  

 Despite all of this several communities are continuing to pursue 

allocations via neighbourhood plans despite and in some cases in 

response to the emerging Local Plan, and to meet specific identified 

community needs.”

page 199



Page 118 
 

APPENDIX C    Examples of local plan approaches to housing requirement figures 

C1. Table 5 highlights the key different approaches to calculating Designated Neighbourhood Areas housing requirements used 

in other adopted and emerging local plans, drawing on the more detailed information.in Appendix D. The key approaches are 

supply based and apportionment. However, there are plans with no DNA housing requirement figures and therefore no 

approach to calculating them. 

 

Table 5 Key different approaches to calculating DNA figures 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

Mole Valley  

Local Plan   

 

June 2022 Written 

Statement response on 

Matter 2 Issue 5 Policy 

H1 Housing Delivery  

Main modifications 

consultation delayed  

(Jan 2023)   

2023 Examination pause 

25 Jan 2024 Secretary of 

State Direction to MVDC 

not to withdraw LP.  

25 Jan 2024 

Extraordinary Council 

Policy H1 Criterion 4 (this is 

a strategic policy) listing 

DNAs and their housing 

requirement figures. 

Document ED59 includes 

Proposed Main Modification 

MM7 to amend the DNA 

housing requirement figures 

(to encompass a revised end 

date to the plan period ) 

Doc ED 70  Inspector Note 

27.  (16 Feb 2024)  The 

Inspector ....will work with 

the Council to progress the 

ALL SUPPLY 

SOURCES 

DNA housing 

requirement figures are 

based on all supply 

categories including a 

small sites windfall 

allowance. 

MVDC Hearing 

statement clarified that 

DNA-HR nos. are supply 

based and are the total 

housing supply in the 

plan period in each DNA 

Inspector’s post hearing note 

and proposed Main modifications 

do not change approach to 

supply categories.:  

Proposed Main Modifications 

have not yet been out for 

consultation. 

Noted that MVDC is finalising a 

paper setting out the implications 

for its Plan of changes in national 

policy and guidance, as 

requested by the Inspector in her 

Inspector Note 26 (ED65) and to 

set out any changed 

circumstances within the area 

page 200



Page 119 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

resolved to progress 

examination of draft LP 

as submitted 

Examination to move 

towards consultation on her 

main modifications. 

expected from the 

following sources: 

Local plan allocations; 

Commitments, 

Completions;            

Small sites windfall 

allowance (apportioned); 

and where applicable 

Policy H4 Development 

Opportunity areas  

during the extended pause 

(December 2022 to end of 

January 2024) and its 

implications for its Plan. 

Kings Lynn and 

West Norfolk 

Local Plan 

Review (2016 – 

2036) 

Local Plan submitted for 

Examination on 29 March 

2022 ( 

Hearings held in 

November 2022 and 

January 2023.  

Resumed hearings to be 

held in March, April and 

September 2024 

Submission Plan –  

 

Council have now proposed 

a main modification to insert 

a new policy on 

Neighbourhood Plans into 

the plan which would set out 

the housing requirements for 

designated neighbourhood 

areas. Methodology for 

calculating the housing 

requirement is set out in 

Paper F47.   

WINDFALLS ONLY 

The methodology looks 

at supply categories to 

forecast total growth 

expected. It does not 

predict supply from 

future neighbourhood 

plans. But the housing 

requirement figures in 

the new policy are 

calculated by subtracting 

commitments and local 

plans from expected 

growth (so are based on 

windfalls only) 

On 13 February 2024 the 

Inspector asked additional MIQ 

questions about the proposed 

approach to insert a new policy 

on this issue. No information at 

this time about the council or 

other participants’ responses to 

those questions or the 

Inspector’s views on the 

proposals. 

page 201



Page 120 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

Bath and North 

East Somerset 

Local Plan Partial 

Update 

Inspector’s Report  

13 Dec 2022  

Adopted by the council 

on 18th January 2023 

Main  Modification made to 

the local plan inserted table 

of DNA-HRs figures into 

strategic policy DW1. 

LOCAL PLAN 

ALLOCATIONS ONLY 

 

DNA-HR numbers for 

the remainder of the plan 

period. based only on 

Local Plan allocations 

(Core Strategy & Local 

Plan Partial Update) 

Inspector’s recommendation 

includes main modification to 

policy to insert DNA-HR figures 

based on only Local Plan 

allocations. i.e. not total scale of 

housing expected in DNA. 

Purbeck Local 

Plan 2018-2034 

Main Modifications– (Nov 

2020 to Jan 2021). 

Further Proposed Main  

Modifications Dec 2021 

to Jan 2022 & next steps 

Inspectors Interim 

findings & next steps    

24 May 2023 – including 

need for supplementary 

main modifications 

Still at Examination 

Main modification MM26 

inserted a table into strategic 

policy which simply identifies 

6 DNAs and text for each 

about the scale of allocations 

in the made or emerging 

neighbourhood plans as the 

housing requirement, or 

states there is no specific 

requirement because the 

made or emerging 

neighbourhood plan does 

not seek to allocate housing 

sites or because there is no 

intention to produce a 

neighbourhood plan. 

NEIGHBOURHOOD 

PLAN ALLOCATIONS 

ONLY 

There are only 6 

designated 

neighbourhood areas in 

the Purbeck area. 

MM26 housing 

requirement for DNAs 

where a made, or 

emerging neighbourhood 

plan allocates land for 

new homes in support of 

the Council’s strategy for 

meeting Purbeck’s 

housing needs 

The main modifications are to a 

strategic policy and have been 

consulted on. The policy element 

relates to DNAs and their 

individual housing requirements. 

The housing requirement figures 

are not the total scale of housing 

expected in each of the 6 DNAs.  

But policy is clear whether there 

is no specific housing 

requirement or what is the total 

scale of housing on sites 

identified or allocated in the 

neighbourhood plan  

page 202



Page 121 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

South 

Worcestershire 

Development 

Plan Review 

Regulation 19 

consultation held  Nov-

Dec 2022 

Submitted for 

examination 17 

September 2023 

29 January 2024 

Inspector’s letter - 

requesting programme 

for completion and 

submission of 

outstanding evidence 

(MIQs not to be 

published at this time) 

The individual Designated 

Neighbourhood Area 

housing requirement figures 

are not explicit in strategic 

policy, but the figures are in 

Annex E of the plan (and 

evidenced in a topic paper). 

No cross reference in Policy 

SWDPR02 to Annex E, but 

Annex E is referred to in the 

reasoned justification 

paragraph 2.2Unclear 

whether the figures are 

“strategic policy” or 

“indicative”. 

COMPLEX 

APPORTIONMENT 

Provides housing 

requirement figures for 

all DNAs. 

DNA-HR nos. based on 

mathematical formula – 

share of population & 

share of highest order 

settlement category 

housing growth from LP 

allocations; but HR is 

compared to LP 

allocations.  

Annex E of the plan also shows 

“outstanding” requirements by 

deducting forecast LP & NP 

allocations supply from the 

requirement. This results in 

some negatives (surpluses) & 

positives (shortfalls – i.e. scope 

for Neighbourhood Plan 

allocations). 

The method does not take 

account of any specific physical, 

environmental or infrastructure 

constraints to future growth in a 

Neighbourhood Area.  

The plan acknowledges that not 

all Neighbourhood Areas may be 

able to deliver the housing 

requirements due to local 

constraints. This could raise 

issues about deliverability and 

whether the policy is effective. 

East 

Northamptonshire 

Local Plan Part 2 

(2011-2031) 

 

Exam09 - Council 

response to Inspectors 

initial question IQ3 (in 

Exam05 16 July 2021) 

about status of Table 18 

Additional Modification AM22 

to amend para 8.17 

proposed to be consistent 

with table 18, i.e.  that the 

numbers in table 18 are 

DEMOGRAPHIC 

APPORTIONMENT 

Applied a rural 

population 

apportionment method to 

Partial method – only applied to 

setting village housing 

requirements. The plan is part 2 

page 203



Page 122 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

Adopted by Full 

Council on 7 

December 2023 

and DNA HR figs and 

method. 

 

Plan now adopted 

indicative (i.e. not strategic 

policy) 

estimate indicative 

growth figures for 

individual parishes/ 

villages for the 820 rural 

housing requirement for 

the plan period for the 

Plan period (submission 

Table 18) 

(following on from the Joint Core 

Strategy) 

Indicative figures only. 

Very simple demographic 

method using 2011 census 

population data to apportion a 

total rural housing requirement. 

Reasoned justification in table 16 

(not strategic policy) states 

ranges of numbers of indicative 

growth /housing need over 20 

years for named parishes/ 

villages.  Commitments/ 

completions/ neighbourhood plan 

allocations count towards the 

need. 

Dartmoor Local 

Plan 2018-2036  

adopted 3 

December 2021 

(submitted 

21/09/2020) 

No inspectors questions 

or MIQs on this matter 

No strategic policy or 

indicative figures included in 

the plan 

 

 

NO DNAHR FIGURES 

Housing Topic Paper 

(HTP) Sept 2020 #5.5.9 

Considered 2 

approaches  

 Indicative figure if up 

to date housing need 

data 

Noted: HTP #5.5.9 cont. stated   

“Given this, considered with the 

needs-led approach and the 

limited uptake of and success of 

Neighbourhood Plans in the 

National Park, it is not proposed 

to set out at this stage a figure 

for each area. Instead it is 

reasonable that, in line with the 

page 204



Page 123 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

 estimated figure 

based on further 

apportionment of the 

indicative housing 

delivery figure 

Concluded that “neither 

is ideal, and, even less 

when recognising that 

the overall 

apportionment by 

settlement type is 

considering very small 

numbers which means 

that whichever approach 

is taken forward is going 

to have a fair degree of 

uncertainty. “  

apportionment described above, 

DNPA assist Neighbourhood 

Plan groups seeking an 

indication of anticipated housing 

figure on a case by case basis, 

considering the most up to date 

information available at that point 

in time.” 

No main modification on this 

issue. Plan was found sound. 

Teignbridge Local 

Plan 2020 to 

2040 

Regulation 19 

consultation. Local Plan 

Proposed Submission  23 

January to 13 March 

2023 

Subsequently:  

Local Plan Proposed 

Submission Addendum 

Housing requirement figures 

are not set out in local plan 

policy, nor in the plan. 

Strategic Policy GP5 – lists 

criteria to which housing 

allocations in a 

neighbourhood plan should 

refer to when determining an 

NO DNAHR FIGURES 

Para 1.16 of the Reg 19 

plan  (Addendum 

version) states 

“However, there is no 

indication or guarantee 

that existing or newly 

designated 

No DNA housing requirement 

figures in a strategic policy. 

No figures in the plan on the 

scale of expected housing in 

DNAs. 

Teignbridge DC confirmed that it 

will be for a neighbourhood 

page 205



Page 124 
 

Local Plan Latest stage Housing requirement 

figures status 

Supply sources  Analysis 

(Regulation 19) 

consultation 8 November 

to 22 December 2023. 

appropriate housing number 

for the plan   The policy does 

not list Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas (but 

the geographic extent of 

DNAs is illustrated on the 

draft Policies Map) 

Neighbourhood Plan 

areas will allocate sites, 

or do so within a 

sufficient timeframe, to 

meet the overall housing 

requirement for the 

district. As such, there is 

no specific housing 

requirements set for any 

Neighbourhood Plan 

area.” ........ 

planning body to either request 

an ‘indicative’ housing 

requirement figure from 

Teignbridge DC, or exceptionally 

to establish a requirement figure, 

if they intend making provision 

for housing in their 

Neighbourhood Plan 

 

page 206



Page 125 
 

APPENDIX D    Analysis of other Local Plans 

D.1 The following analysis of the approaches to Designated Neighbourhood Areas 

housing requirements used in about 20 adopted and emerging local plans and 

relate questions by Inspectors at examinations has helped to shape the 

conclusions and recommendations in this technical report.  The plans are 

listed alphabetically for ease of reference. 

Submitted local plan included policy SP04, part of which stated 

“Neighbourhood Plans  

In order to assist with delivery of the overall district housing need 

requirements, designated Neighbourhood Plan areas will be expected to plan 

to deliver the minimum housing requirements set out in Table 4. 

Neighbourhood Plan documents can seek to exceed these requirements, 

should the unique characteristics and planning context of the designated area 

enable so.”  

Inspector’s Question Matter 4 Q4.8  

Are the “Total homes required” figures for Neighbourhood Plan Areas, 

detailed in Table 4, a sum of the outstanding planning permissions (as of 

1/4/18) and the sites allocated for housing in the plan in each Neighbourhood 

Plan Area? If so:  

(a) are all outstanding permissions from after 1/4/18 identified as housing 

allocations in the plan or do they need to be otherwise accounted for?  

(b) is it sufficiently clear as to how and when the requirement to identify the 

indicated total number of homes required in each Neighbourhood Plan (NP) 

Area will operate in practice; in particular:  

(i) in respect of outstanding permissions in NP areas which expire (both 

those pre- and post-dating 01/04/18)?  

(ii) in respect of housing sites allocated in the plan in NP areas for 

which planning applications do not come forward?  

(iii) is not flexibility to reflect existing permissions/housing allocations 

which do not come forward already accounted for in the approximate 

20% buffer of housing provision over the housing need targets? 

 

a. Babergh and Mid Suffolk Joint Local Plan (Inspectors report 19 

September 2023.  Part 1 Plan adopted 20 and 21 November 2023 

page 207



Page 126 
 

Babergh and Mid Suffolk Hearing Statement: 

Key points confirmed by the councils’ response were that:  

 the DNA requirement figures are for the plan period and were based on 

the respective sum of outstanding planning permissions (as at 

01/04/18) and new local plan allocations (counted after 01/04/18). 

  Some of the allocations have since had planning permission, so there 

was a need to avoid double counting. 

  Minor outstanding permissions (upon which some NPs rely) after 

01/04/18 are generally not identified in the Plan.  

 Planning permissions granted after 01/04/18 on sites which have not 

been allocated within the JLP were classified as windfall development. 

  the Councils had identified sufficient allocation sites in the JLP so that 

the NP minimum targets can be met.  

 Since pre-submission further windfalls have occurred.  

 Where housing sites allocated in the Plan in NP areas do not come 

forward, the Councils can review these allocations (and potentially the 

NP minimum housing requirement) as part of any Plan formal review 

process. Alternatively, emerging/reviewed NPs can consider whether 

the minimum housing requirement from Table 04 of the Plan has been 

met or can be met through alternative/further allocations. 

 If each NP area rely on the 20% buffer as a sufficient reason why it 

should not meet the minimum number of dwellings for its designated 

area, the delivery of the overall district supply would be jeopardised. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.2 The Inspectors report (8 September 2020) included Main Modifications for 

addressing the lack of robustness of the site allocation selection process and 

the spatial strategy by deleting the plan’s spatial strategy and site a llocations, 

thereby making the plan a Part 1 Plan, to be supported in due course by a 

Part 2 Plan. Consequently MM13, MM14 and MM15 deleted policy SP04 and 

its supporting text which sets out the housing spatial distribution; MM91 – 

update to and revision of the Housing Trajectory to identify the amount of new 

housing to be allocated in the Part 2 plan; and ▪ MM93 – deletion of all 

housing allocations and corresponding background and supporting text.  

D.3 The issue of housing requirements for Designated Neighbourhood Areas is 

therefore left to the Part 2 plan. Therefore, it is not possible to draw firm 

conclusions from this local plan at this time. However, the questions are useful 

indicators of the type of questions asked by Inspectors. The responses are 

interesting, but not necessarily applicable to East Devon. 

page 208



Page 127 
 

Submitted local plan included Policy ST2 Residential Growth in Rural 

Bassetlaw 

1. Large Rural Settlements and Small Rural Settlements, as defined in the 

settlement hierarchy in Policy ST1, will experience residential growth to 

support their role and function through completed sites, sites with planning 

permission (committed housing development), site allocations in this Local 

Plan, and/or from site allocations in made neighbourhood plans. Eligible 

settlements are individually required to grow over the plan period by....: 

(table of growth by settlement type (20% for large rural settlements; 5% of 

small rural settlement) 

Inspector’s Question Matter 5 Q5.4 

Should there be a housing requirement for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas in Policy ST1? (paragraph 67 in the NPPF) If so, what should this 

be?  

Bassetlaw DC Hearing Statement Response: “ 

“The Council does not consider it necessary for there to be a housing 

requirement for designated neighbourhood plan areas in Policy ST1. Policy 

ST1 provides the strategic policy framework for the spatial strategy and broad 

distribution of growth attributed to each tier within the settlement hierarchy, 

including rural Bassetlaw.  

In response to paragraph 67 of the NPPF, and as detailed in the Council’s 

response to Matter 2.4, a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood 

plan areas has been provided in Part 1 of Policy ST2, as per paragraph 67 of 

the NPPF. Due to the extent of the rural area and the role neighbourhood 

planning plays in the District, the approach provides for an appropriate level of 

growth within rural settlements (as per NPPF, paragraph 79), commensurate 

with the provisions of Policy ST1 but also takes local circumstances into 

account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each settlement, 

so thereby supports the aims of achieving sustainable development as per 

NPPF, paragraph 78. As such, the Council considers the housing requirement 

for Designated Neighbourhood Areas are better suited to a separate, but 

complementary policy to ST1.” 

Bassetlaw DC Response to Q2.4  (part) 

“…..In parallel, it was considered that the significant number of existing 

residential planning permissions across the rural area should also be 

better considered in the proposed housing requirement for the rural 

settlements. As such, the individual housing requirements for eligible 

b.   Bassetlaw Local Plan2020 - 2038 

page 209



Page 128 
 

settlement were re-assessed and Policy ST2 identified a different 

percentage growth requirement for large and small settlements relative to 

their sustainability credentials”. 

Main modifications consulted on 5 August to 3 October 2023 

Policy ST2 provides a flexible framework to manage both the impacts of 

committed and future residential development within eligible settlements 

through a housing requirement. Consistent with national policy1 , this should 

be used as the housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas, 

and reflects the approach taken by the spatial strategy in Policy ST1 to 

maintain the sustainability, vitality and character of each settlement. 

This Policy ST1 growth for Large and Small Rural Settlements will be 

“apportioned via an individual minimum housing requirement for each 

settlement. This requirement has two functions 

a) It contributes towards the District’s overall housing requirement in Policy 

ST1; and  

b) b) For the purposes of Neighbourhood Planning, it provides each 

settlement with a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood 

areas as required by national policy.” 

The identified housing requirement for each eligible settlement is calculated 

from the number of dwellings within each Parish (as of 1 April 2020 when the 

data was collected). A percentage uplift has then been applied to each 

settlement. To promote sustainable development, in the rural area, the 

percentage uplift for each settlement category has been set at Policy ST2 

requires that growth should not exceed the number of dwellings in eligible 

settlements by:  

 20% growth for eligible Large Rural Settlements; and  

 5% growth for eligible Small Rural Settlements.  

5.2.7 The percentage uplift differs for Large and Small Rural Settlements. 

This reflects the varying sustainability credentials that exist between these 

categories in the settlement hierarchy. 

 

Policy ST2 only identifies those settlements (within a parish area) that meet 

the necessary sustainability criteria as identified in Figure 4. If a parish or 

settlement is not listed, then it means that it does not meet the sustainability 

criteria, and the housing requirement in relation to this policy is considered to 

be zero.  

 

 

page 210



Page 129 
 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.4 It appears that commitments and completions 2018 to 2020 are discounted so 

the figures are not a complete picture of the scale of housing expected in the 

plan period.  It is not clear whether the DNA housing requirement figures are 

based on DNA geography or on settlements as the RJ also states that it is “ 

the housing requirement for each identified settlement within”. Also, the 

source of the 20% and 5% figures is not clear in the evidence. But it may be 

that these issues were clarified in the hearings.  It is prudent to be clear about 

the geography, supply categories counted and the time period. 

 

Local Plan Partial Update adopted 19 January 2023 (following receipt of the 

Inspectors Report dated 13 December 2022). 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

 

Inspector’s Question - Matter 2 Issue 5 Policy H1 Housing Delivery 

QUESTION 1. What is the justification for the housing requirements in relation 

to Neighbourhood Areas as set out in policy H1 4? In relation to each 

Neighbourhood Area, are the housing requirements justified by the evidence?  

Inspectors report paragraphs 109 to 110 and related Main Modifications 

“109. The submitted Plan is inconsistent with the NPPF in that it does not set 

out in a strategic policy a housing requirement for Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas which reflects the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of 

development and any relevant allocations. This is addressed in MM2 through 

the confirmation of minimum housing requirements for the Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas in Policy DW1. The minimum requirement figures 

reflect the allocations of the Plan, and those set out in the Core Strategy and 

Placemaking Plan and are therefore justified.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.5 This shows the variability of plans and of Inspectors’ conclusions. The 

Inspector’s question and conclusions demonstrate the importance of including 

DNA housing requirement figures in strategic policy and for these to be based 

on DNA geography. It confirms that the figures are minimum requirements. 

c.   Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan -Partial Update 

page 211



Page 130 
 

D.6  However, the figures that were inserted in Table 1D of policy DW1 through 

main modifications are for the remainder of the plan period (2022-2029) and 

are based on the combined local plan’s allocations. They do not include a 

windfall allowance. So, they are not a complete picture of the scale of housing 

expected for the whole plan period.  

 

Local plan adopted April 2023 (following receipt of the Inspectors’ Report 

dated 28 March 2023) 

The adopted local plan does not include a strategic policy specifying DNA 

housing requirement figures.  However, housing requirement figures for 

neighbourhood plans are set out in tables in Appendix 1 of the plan. These 

figures are for all parishes plus a Designated Neighbourhood Area in a non-

parished area. Neighbourhood areas made up of multiple parishes may 

combine the requirements across the parishes to create a requirement for the 

neighbourhood area. Housing requirement figures for smaller than parish area 

would be provided by the LPA on request. 

The housing requirement figures are supply based. But does not include a 

windfall allowance. I.e. they are based on:  

a)  Homes built since the start of the plan period (1 April 2018-31March 

2021).  

b)  Homes on sites with planning permission at 1 April 2021 (including, but 

not limited to sites that are also proposed for allocation in this plan). 

c)  Allocations in this local plan; and 

d)  Other made neighbourhood plans at 1 March 2021 that have yet to 

receive permission. 

As such the requirement from the plan in Table A1.1. below should not be 

viewed in addition to sites built, with permission or allocated in this plan. 

Inspectors’ questions and conclusions 

In the MIQs, the inspectors asked questions about the status of sties and 

about sites allocated in neighbourhood plans that are allocated in the local 

plan. It is unclear whether questions were raised in hearings about Appendix 

1. 

d.   Central Lincolnshire Local Plan (adopted April 2023) 

page 212



Page 131 
 

The Inspector’s Report paragraph 76 states “...............Neighbourhood Plans 

also provide an appropriate mechanism to identify and allocate sites for 

housing until the next Local Plan Review.”  It appears that there were no main 

modifications to Policy or Appendix 1 regarding housing requirements for 

DNAs. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.7 This shows the variability of plans and of Inspectors conclusions. It is unclear 

if the matter was discussed at the hearings. The Inspector’s report is silent on 

the issue and the plan is adopted with figures for all parishes plus one DNA in 

a non-parished area that do not appear to be in or linked to a strategic policy.  

Also, the figures are not a complete picture of expected housing as they 

exclude supply from future small windfalls. (Notwithstanding that a windfall 

allowance is included in the district 5 year housing land supply calculation, i.e. 

windfalls are counted towards the district housing requirement.)  

D.8 However, mindful of other local plan inspectors’ conclusions and reports there 

are risks if local plan policy is not consistent with NPPF regarding DNA 

housing requirement figures. 

Regulation 19 (Pre-submission Local Plan) consultation ended 17 March 

2023.  The plan has not yet been submitted for Examination. 

Policy H2 includes one broad location for development with the allocation of a 

site within the BLD to be identified through either the neighbourhood planning 

process or subsequent Site Allocation DPD. The policy also identifies 3 

strategic locations where neighbourhood plans are anticipated to be prepared 

to identify the sites required. If draft neighbourhood plans making provision for 

at least the minimum housing numbers of the relevant area have not made 

demonstrable progress, the council will allocate sites within a development 

plan document in order to meet the requirements of this Local Plan. 

Policy H3 Small-scale housing sites will be identified to help provide for the 

needs of local communities in accordance with the parish housing 

requirements. The policy specifies non-strategic parish housing requirement 

figures for 28 parishes where suitable sites will be identified either through 

neighbourhood plans or subsequent development plan document. 

e.   Chichester Local Plan 2021 to 2039 

page 213



Page 132 
 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.9 NPPF is clear that DNA housing requirement This shows the variability 

between local plans in addressing this issue numbers should be set out in 

strategic policy. Policy H3 appears to be non-strategic, and where the 

numbers are ‘indicative’ This plan has not yet been submitted for Examination 

so it is not possible to draw conclusions at this time about whether this 

proposed policy would be found sound, although there are risks if local plan 

policy is not consistent with NPPF.  Also, Policy H2 focuses on strategic sites 

and locations. It is not clear if the numbers are for whole DNAs or relate to 

parts of DNAs. The text to the plan acknowledges that there are some sites 

adjoining h City settlement boundary that are in other parishes. 

D.10 Policies H2 and H3 rely on a contingency mechanism whereby if parish 

councils do not wish to prepare their own neighbourhood plan, the council will 

work with the parishes to identify sites in a subsequent development plan 

document. This raises the issue of deliverability and the effectiveness of 

policy. Again, it is not possible to draw conclusions at this time about whether 

this proposed policy would be found sound, although there are risks if local 

plan policy is not consistent with NPPF. 

 

 

Local Plan Partial Update adopted 19 January 2023  (following receipt of the 

Inspectors Report dated 13 December 2022) 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report 

The DNPA housing Topic Paper 6 paras 5.5.8 to 5.5.9 acknowledged the 

emerging government policy towards identifying housing requirements for 

DNAs. 2 possible approaches were considered (an indicative figure based on 

up to date local housing needs survey; or an estimated figure on the basis of 

a further apportionment of the indicative housing delivery figure). 

Para 5.5.9 of that topic paper concludes “Neither of the above approaches is 

ideal, and, even less when recognising that the overall apportionment by 

settlement type is considering very small numbers which means that 

whichever approach is taken forward is going to have a fair degree of 

uncertainty. Given this, considered with the needs-led approach and the 

limited uptake of and success of Neighbourhood Plans in the National Park, it 

is not proposed to set out at this stage a figure for each area. Instead it is 

reasonable that, in line with the apportionment described above DNPA assist 

Neighbourhood Plan groups seeking an indication of anticipated housing 

f. Dartmoor Local Plan 2018 - 2036 

page 214



Page 133 
 

figure on a case by case basis, considering the most up to date information 

available at that point in time.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.11 This shows the variability between local plans in addressing this issue. There 

are no DNA housing requirement figures in either strategic policy or in text or 

non-strategic policy the adopted local plan. There was no question on this 

matter in the Inspector’s MIQs and the Inspector’s report is silent on the 

matter. 

D.12 Mindful that the local plan is for Dartmoor where national park legislation takes 

priority over national planning policy, and mindful that East Devon does not 

include a National Park, it is unlikely that the Dartmoor local plan approach to 

DNA housing requirements could be applied in East Devon. 

Part 2 of the plan was adopted on 7 December 2023, following receipt of the 

Inspector’s report dated 31 July 2023. 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

Inspectors conclusions 

Inspector’s report paragraphs 76 to 80  states 

“76 Paragraph 66 of the Framework states that strategic policies should also 

set a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas which 

reflects the overall strategy and pattern and scale of development and any 

relevant allocations. Paragraph 67 goes onto state that where it is not 

possible to provide a requirement figure for a neighbourhood area the 

local planning authority should provide an indicative figure which should 

take into account factors such as the latest evidence of local housing 

need, the population of the neighbourhood area and the most recently 

available planning strategy of the local planning authority.” 

77. Whilst the JCS requirement for the rural area of East Northamptonshire 

will be met, it is recognised that this is not a maximum figure and that 

further housing may come forward in rural areas through windfalls, 

specific brownfield sites and also may be proposed in NPs.  

78. Table 18 of the Plan sets out a rural housing need for Parish Council 

areas of a particular scale in terms of population. As the rural housing 

g. East Northamptonshire Local Plan Part 2, 2011 to 2031 

page 215



Page 134 
 

requirement will be met, the figures are intended as indicative guidance 

for potential/emerging NPs in terms of helping them to meet future 

housing need, as opposed to a policy requirement. It would be in addition 

to the housing requirement.  

79. Annex 1 of BP10 explains how the indicative figures have been arrived at. 

The methodology utilises the 2011 Census figures for the population of 

rural parishes which corresponds to the start of the Plan period. The 

Census individually lists parishes with populations of greater than 100 

which is the basis for the apportionment of the 820 dwellings rural housing 

requirement. An indicative growth figure is applied to each figure based on 

the apportionment, which is set out at Annex 1. Whilst relatively simple, 

the Council has undertaken a systematic and proportionate approach to 

identifying indicative rural housing need figures for the parishes. The 

approach is a pragmatic one which provides some scope for parish 

councils/communities to allocate further housing sites through NPs if there 

is a local desire to do so. Furthermore, the approach provides additional 

flexibility in terms of meeting the housing requirement. 

80. MM48 is necessary to incorporate updated housing figures to 1 April 2020 

within the supporting text and Table 17 which summarises the residual 

housing requirement for the rural areas. With MM48, I consider the 

approach to meeting the housing requirement in the rural areas is 

positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent with the JCS and the 

Framework.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.13 This is a partial method using population to apportion a residual rural areas 

housing requirement figure to parishes above a threshold size. In this 

circumstance the Inspector has accepted he figures are intended as indicative 

guidance for potential/emerging NPs in terms of helping them to meet future 

housing need, as opposed to a policy requirement. It would be in addition to 

the housing requirement. She also accepted the approach as systematic, 

proportionate and pragmatic. 

D.14 The approach does not make clear the total scale of housing expected in the 

rural area DNAs. Nor does it provide figures for all DNAs, for example 

Irthlingborough or Thrapston, although Table 3 of the Part 2 Plan shows the 

housing requirements for market town settlements. Notwithstanding this, the 

part 2 plan was found sound with the main modifications made. However, 

there are risks if local plan policy is not consistent with NPPF. 

page 216



Page 135 
 

 

Local plan adopted on 24 September 2020 following receipt of the Inspector’s 

report dated 8 September 2020 (the plan is for former Suffolk Coastal District, 

now part of East Suffolk Council) 

The Suffolk Coastal local plan sets out housing requirements for the plan 

period 2018 to 2036 for DNAs at the time of the Reg 19 plan production. The 

figures are set out in Policy SCLP12.1 Neighbourhood Plans.  This follows the 

method set out in a technical paper.35  These requirement figures are in 

addition to existing planning permissions, allocations and dwellings with 

resolution to grant as at 31 March 2018, and made neighbourhood plan 

allocations.  

(Note: There are no housing requirements for designated neighbourhood 

areas in the other part of East Suffolk because the Waveney Local Plan was 

prepared prior to the publication of the 2019 NPPF.) 

Inspector’s conclusions 

In the Inspector’s report to East Suffolk Council 

Policy SCLP12.1: Neighbourhood Plans  

“111. The Framework in paragraph 65 states that strategic policies should 

set out a housing requirement for Designated Neighbourhood Areas. As 

submitted, Policy SCLP12.1 sets indicative housing requirements for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas which reflect the overall strategy for the 

pattern and scale of development. Policy SCLP12.1 should be amended to 

make clear that the stated number of dwellings required are minimum 

figures, not indicative targets so as to be consistent with national policy 

(MM50).” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.15 The policy figures must be minimums and not indicative targets. This shows 

the variability between local plans in addressing this issue. 

                                                                 

35 Neighbourhood-Plans-Indicative-Housing-Requirements-methodology.pdf 

(eastsuffolk.gov.uk) 

 

h.   East Suffolk – Suffolk Coastal  Local Plan 2018 to 2036 

page 217

https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Neighbourhood-Planning/Preparing-a-Neighbourhood-Plan/Neighbourhood-Plans-Indicative-Housing-Requirements-methodology.pdf
https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Neighbourhood-Planning/Preparing-a-Neighbourhood-Plan/Neighbourhood-Plans-Indicative-Housing-Requirements-methodology.pdf


Page 136 
 

 

The local plan was adopted on 30 March 2022 following receipt of the 

Inspectors’ report on 23 February2022. 

Inspectors questions  

MIQ  Matter 3 Housing Requirement 

Question 7   Should there be a housing requirement for any Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas within the District (Paragraphs 65 and 66 of NPPF)? 

If so, what should these be?  

In its hearing Statement on Matter 3 (The Housing Requirement), the 

council considers from  NPPF and PPG that “the principal purpose of 
identifying a housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood 

Area would be for a neighbourhood plan to:  

•  Allocate sites where only a local plan has or is being prepared and a 

portion of the housing requirement is still to be identified through the 
preparation of a separate site allocations development plan 
document; or to  

•  Allocate ‘reserve sites’ as a preferred / alternative approach should a 
future review of the local plan reveal that a site previously allocated is 

no longer suitable, available or deliverable to ensure that the 
emerging evidence of housing need is addressed.” 

Paragraph  1.54 of the hearing statement states that “The Council considers 

that in the context of the preparation of the Core Strategy Review, it is not 

necessary to set a housing requirement for any of the Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas within the district.”.  Of the 4 Designated Neighbourhood 

Areas in the district,  

 St Mary in the Marsh Neighbourhood Plan is the district’s was made in 

2018. But it allocates not sites for housing. The local plan allocation in 
the DNA is under construction, So “it is believed that the St Mary in the 
Marsh Neighbourhood Area is delivering on its housing requirement for 

the plan period in full. Therefore, the development requirement for St 
Mary in the Marsh Parish for the plan period has been assumed to be 

met” 

 In the DNAs of Sellindge and Lypmne, the council considers that this 
may prove problematic in the context of the proposed garden 

settlement. The new garden settlement spans the majority of these 
neighbourhood areas and it could prove difficult to quantify the level of 

requirement of each parish without limiting flexibility for future 
masterplanning and phasing of delivery over the plan period 

Folkestone and Hythe Core Strategy Review 

page 218



Page 137 
 

 At Hythe New Romney, Lympne and Sellindge, no progress has been 
made with the preparation of draft neighbourhood plans for pre-

submission consultation The council understands that neighbourhood 
plans are not being actively pursued for these areas. 

The adopted local has text about neighbourhood plans and the housing 
requirement but no policy or housing requirement figures. The text states  

“St. Mary in the Marsh is significantly advanced and its Neighbourhood 

Development Plan has proceeded to referendum; however the other 
areas have not progressed with neighbourhood plans since the areas 

were designated some time ago. Given this, the Core Strategy Review 
does not set out a housing requirement for any designated area within 
the district and neighbourhood plans have not been relied on in 

meeting the district's housing requirement.” 

Inspector’s conclusions 

The Inspectors report appears to be silent on this matter. There are no main 

modifications relating to DNA housing requirements. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.16 This shows the variability between local plans in addressing this issue. With 

no main modification this appears to imply that the Inspector has agreed with 

the LPA view that it is not necessary to set a housing requirement for any of 

the four Designated Neighbourhood Areas. 

 

 

Local Plan adopted on 22 February 2022 following receipt of the Inspectors Report 

dated 19 January 2022. 

Inspector’s questions and conclusions 

Inspectors  MIQ for the Matter asked the following question (Q7): 

Does the Plan include strategic policies that set out a housing requirement 

for Designated Neighbourhood Areas which reflects the overall strategy for 

the pattern and scale of development and any relevant allocations, as 

required by paragraph 6536 of the Framework?  

 

                                                                 
36 Now paragraph 66 in the 2021 NPPF 

j. Hambleton Local Plan 

page 219



Page 138 
 

Inspectors report Paragraph 339:  

“339. Policy S4 has been criticised for not establishing a housing 

requirement for each ‘designated area’ as set out in paragraph 66 of the 

Framework. Whilst the policy identifies designated ‘neighbourhood areas’, it 

does not set out a specific housing figure for each one. The Council’s 

justification for this is that as the Plan identifies sufficient land to meet the 

overall housing requirement, there are no outstanding needs that could be 

accommodated in each neighbourhood area or, as a result, any clear 

evidence as to what the requirement would be. Moreover, through Policies 

S5 and HG5, the Plan seeks to introduce a flexible and positive strategy by 

removing settlement boundaries and allowing growth within and adjacent to 

rural villages. The scale of growth permitted in each village is purposely not 

set out and will be determined by the application of the windfall policies. In 

this particular case the Council’s approach is therefore justified and sound.  

The housing requirement number should be for the whole Designated 

Neighbourhood Area, not for individual settlements or the largest settlement 

in the neighbourhood area.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.17 This shows the variability between local plans in addressing this issue. It 

would appear that the Inspector has agreed with the LPA view that it is not 

necessary to set a housing requirement for any if the four Designated 

Neighbourhood Areas. 

D.18 It should be noted that the at this time the emerging East Devon Local Plan 

proposes including settlement boundaries so the Folkestone and Hythe 

approach would not appear to be appropriate. 

 

Local Plan was submitted for Examination on 29 March 2022 (hearings were 

held in November 2022 and January 2023. Resumed hearings to be held in 

March, April and September 2024. 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

Inspector’s MIQ questions 

33. Given that paragraph 66 of the NPPF expects strategic policies to set out 

the housing requirements for designated neighbourhood areas, is the Plan, in 

particular Policy LP01 and its supporting text, justified and consistent with 

k.  Kings Lynn and West Norfolk Local Plan Review (2016 – 2036) 

page 220



Page 139 
 

national policy in not doing so for each parish and/or each KRSC and Rural 

Village (RV) in the Borough? 

Additional MIQ questions (13 February 2024) 

New Policy on Neighbourhood Plans  

AQ9. Are the proposed housing requirements for designated neighbourhood 

areas, as set out in the Spatial Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy Topic 

Paper [F47], justified as appropriate, based on proportionate and robust 

evidence, taking into account the reasonable alternatives?  

AQ10. Is the proposed New Policy for Neighbourhood Plans consistent with 

national policy in setting out housing requirements for neighbourhood areas 

that reflect the overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development in 

King’s Lynn & West Norfolk and any relevant allocations? 

Council evidence 

The evidence in the topic paper F47 is available online 37  It sets out a 

methodology where the housing requirement is calculated using a supply 

based method according to the overall strategy for the pattern of development 

in the Plan. It considers the scale of housing growth expected to take place in 

the neighbourhood area over the whole plan period. That is supply from any 

relevant allocations in the Plan, any extant planning permissions and a 

proportion of the development expected from ‘windfall’ over the Plan period, 

taking account the population of the neighbourhood area. The housing 

requirement in Table 2 is then the expected growth minus allocations and 

extant planning permissions. In effect the housing requirement matches the 

windfall requirement. 

The topic paper includes a method for calculating the proportion of 

development expected from future windfalls. It apportions the district windfall 

allowance for the plan period to settlement tiers based on the proportion of 

growth from housing allocations, and then apportions this settlement tier 

windfall requirement to DNAs using an adjustment based on the number of 

households in the parished or non-parished DNAs in each tier.  

In future potential neighbourhood areas the same method applies. Table 3 in 

the topic paper shows that the housing requirement is then zero in some 

parishes where the windfall figure is zero. 

The council has proposed a Main Modification that will introduce a new policy 

on Neighbourhood Plans  

Policy xx Neighbourhood Plans The Council will support the production 

of Neighbourhood Plans in identifying appropriate, locally specific 

policies that are in general conformity with the strategic policies of this 

Local Plan. Where Neighbourhood Plans seek to plan for housing 

                                                                 
37   https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/8020/f47_topic_paper_spatial_strategy_settlement_hierarchy_neigh
bourhood_areas.pdf  

page 221

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/8020/f47_topic_paper_spatial_strategy_settlement_hierarchy_neighbourhood_areas.pdf
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/8020/f47_topic_paper_spatial_strategy_settlement_hierarchy_neighbourhood_areas.pdf
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/8020/f47_topic_paper_spatial_strategy_settlement_hierarchy_neighbourhood_areas.pdf


Page 140 
 

growth, they will be expected to plan for the minimum housing 

requirements set out below: 

The table identifies the Neighbourhood Plan area and the minimum net 

housing requirement for each NPA based on the housing requirement from 

Table 2 in the topic paper.  

The proposed main modification would also add a new appendix to the plan 

setting out the neighbourhood Plan Housing Requirement Methodology. This 

includes the Table 2 supply categories used to calculate those requirement 

figures. This Appendix is referred to in Policy LP1 for the purposes of 

calculating housing requirements for Neighbourhood Areas that are 

designated in the future. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.19 The additional MIQ questions are very recent, and the Kings Lynn and West 

Norfolk Council’s responses are not available at the time of writing this 

technical report.  Likewise, we don’t know the Inspector’s conclusions about, 

the proposed methodology or the new policy (in particular the housing 

requirement figures in policy being only the apportioned windfall supply), and 

the proposed methodology for producing the housing requirement figures for 

neighbourhood areas not yet designated. 

D.20 This shows the variability between local plans in addressing this issue. The 

methodology in the proposed new Appendix for the Kings Lynn and West 

Norfolk Local Plan includes ‘Table 2’ and the supply categories counted 

towards the expected growth. This clearly does not include a specific 

expectation of supply from future neighbourhood plans’ allocations. However, 

unlike the evidence document, the draft policy does not make clear whether 

any future neighbourhood plans’ allocations would be additional to the DNA 

housing requirement figures in the proposed policy, rather than a substitution 

for the windfall requirement. 

Local plan submitted for examination 14 February 2022 

Main modifications available but consultation delayed (Jan 2023) , but 

following Secretary of State Direction Mole Valley DC has resolved to 

progress examination of draft LP as submitted 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

Inspector’s Question - Matter 2 Issue 5 Policy H1 Housing Delivery 

l.  Mole Valley Local Plan 2020-2037 (now to 3038)   

page 222



Page 141 
 

QUESTION 1. What is the justification for the housing requirements in relation 

to Neighbourhood Areas as set out in policy H1 4? In relation to each 

Neighbourhood Area, are the housing requirements justified by the evidence?  

Mole Valley DC Hearing Statement: 

Confirmed that the housing requirements are supply based, and are 

determined by totalling the housing supply from the following sources within 

each neighbourhood area:  

  Expected capacity from development site allocations. 

  Housing developments with planning permission as at 31 March 2021.  

  Housing developments completed since the start of the plan period, 

from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  

  Small sites windfall allowance; and,  

  Where applicable, Development Opportunity Areas as set out in 

Policy H4. 

Confirmed that: The calculation of the small sites windfall allowance is a 

district-wide figure, based on the average delivery of small sites over a ten-

year period The calculation is set out in detail in the Housing Supply Topic 

Paper. However, it was not possible to use the trends for small 

neighbourhood areas and so the approach taken was to use the proportions 

set out in Policy S1: Sustainable Mole Valley where applicable. Where this 

was not possible, a proportion was calculated by dividing small site delivery in 

the Neighbourhood Area by total small site delivery across the District over 

the same time period. Table 1 shows the differences in percentages used to 

calculate small site windfall for the neighbourhood areas. 

 

Main modification MM7 proposes to amend the DNA housing requirement 

figures in Policy H1 Criterion 4 (to encompass a revised end date to the plan 

period). 

4. The housing requirements for the designated Neighbourhood Areas within 

the District for the plan period (2020-2038) are as follows:  

page 223



Page 142 
 

• Ashtead - 694 net new dwellings  

• Bookham – 472 net new dwellings  

• Capel Parish –  193 net new dwellings  

• Ockley Parish – 776 net new dwellings  

• Westcott –  69 net new dwellings 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.21 Policy H1 (as proposed to be modified) is a strategic policy. This plan uses 

the same method as set out in Option 2 in this technical report. The main 

modification proposed MM7 indicates that a supply based method that is clear 

about the supply categories used to calculate the housing requirement, and 

the time periods and DNA geography can be appropriate, It suggests that that 

the policy could be sound (but is subject to the Inspector’s Final Report.) 

Local plan submitted for examination 11 May 2023.  Hearings commenced 

January 2024 (plus hearings were held in February and also scheduled for 

March 2024) 

The plan does not explicitly identify housing requirement figures for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas.  Policy SS1 Spatial strategy sets out the 

spatial strategy and settlement hierarchy for North Norfolk. This states that in 

settlements classed as Small Growth Villages development will be delivered 

via a policy which allows for growth both within, and outside of, a defined 

Settlement Boundary, with the current exception of Corpusty and Saxthorpe, 

where growth is directed through the adopted Neighbourhood Plan 

The Policy allows for each village to grow by in the region of 6% in dwelling 

numbers from the date of adoption of the Plan. The 6% 'allowance' is 

specified in Table 2 'Small Growth Villages Housing Apportionment'. The 

allowance is measured from the number of dwellings present within the 

defined settlement boundary as of 2021. The allowance relates to each 

individual settlement and once reached no further permissions will be granted 

other than for the exempted types of development listed in Appendix 4 of the 

plan.  

4.1.10 The 6% housing allowance does not include any development that is 

brought forward through Policy SS 3 'Community-Led Development', Policy 

HOU 3 'Affordable Homes in the Countryside (Rural Exceptions Housing)', or 

conversions and dwelling subdivisions within the defined settlement.  

m. North Norfolk Local Plan 2016 -2036 

page 224



Page 143 
 

4.1.11 The indicative level of growth that this approach could deliver across 

the Small Growth Villages over the plan period is set out below in the Housing 

Apportionment Table below (i.e. in the reasoned justification). The Table also 

forms the basis for any subsequent Neighbourhood Plan that seeks to set a 

housing target with the LPA and bring forward housing policies including 

allocations. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.22 It is unclear whether the figures in the apportionment table are DNA housing 

requirements. It is noted that the apportionment table is for an Indicative 

housing allowance (31 March 2021) for named settlements but then table 

says Settlement (Parish). 

D.23 The plan is at Regulation 19 consultation stage. So at this time there are no 

Inspector’s questions or conclusions. It is too early to draw conclusions from 

this plan’s approach. However, mindful of other plans’ examinations there are 

potential risks if the plan is not consistent with consistent with national 

planning policy. 

 

 

This local plan currently at Regulation 19 Plan (consultation ended January 

2024) 

Strategic Policy SP8 

For designated neighbourhood plan areas ,the minimum housing requirement 

will be determined on the basis of the local plan allocations, existing 

commitments and estimated windfall. 

Reasoned Justification 

NPPF advises that strategic policies should set out a housing requirement for 

designated neighbourhood areas which reflects the overall strategy for the 

pattern and scale of development and any relevant allocations. For North 

Somerset the minimum housing requirement will be calculated from the 

existing local plan allocations and commitments within the designated area 

plus a figure for small site windfall anticipated over the plan period. 

 North Somerset Council are expecting to submit the local plan for examination 

after Easter 2024. 

n. North Somerset Local Plan 2039  

page 225



Page 144 
 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.24 The policy provides some clarity about how the housing requirements will be 

calculated. But it doesn’t include completions to date, so may not provide a 

complete picture of the scale of housing expected in the plan period. There 

are no DNA housing requirement figures in the local plan policy.  

The plan has not been submitted at this time so there are no questions yet 

from the examination Inspector. 

 

At Examination : Suite of Main modifications, Further Main Modifications and 

then Supplementary Proposed Main Modifications  latter consultation closed 

on 22 December 2023) 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

 

Inspector’s Question –  

Q6. Is the second part of policy H1 which indicates that the Council will work 

with each of the existing six neighbourhood plan areas, and any emerging or 

future, neighbourhood plan groups to determine the housing requirement for 

the designated area consistent with national policy as set out in paragraph 65 

of the Framework? 

 

Main Modification to policy H1 

Main modification SMM26 inserted a table into strategic policy H1 which 

simply identifies 6 DNAs and text for each about the scale of allocations in the 

made or emerging neighbourhood plans as the housing requirement, or states 

there is no specific requirement because the made or emerging 

neighbourhood plan does not seek to allocate housing sites or because there 

is no intention to produce a neighbourhood plan. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.25 The reason for modification SMM27 (which covers the wider Policy H1 

modifications) are to ensure consistency with NPPF/PPGs, the plan is 

positively prepared and justified, and the plan is clear and unambiguous. This 

o.  Purbeck Local Plan  2018-2034   

page 226



Page 145 
 

demonstrates the importance of meeting those tests of soundness (including 

consistency with NPPF paragraph 16d about clarity for decision makers). 

 

Local plan submitted for examination 3 September 2021. 

Stage 1 hearings July 2022; Additional hearing - Duty to Cooperate Jan 2023; 

Minerals and Waste hearings May 2023. Inspector’s interim findings July 

2023. 

Inspector’s Further Initial Questions Nov 202138  

“19  Paragraph 66 of the Framework requires that the local plan’s strategic 

policies set out a housing requirement for each designated neighbourhood 

planning area and also that the neighbourhood area requirement figures 

reflect the strategy for the pattern and scale of development and any 

relevant allocations.  

20. It is not clear to us that this has been done in Policy SP2. Furthermore, 

it is unclear if the individual Place Plans contain a specific requirement for 

each Designated Neighbourhood Area. If there is no apportionment for a 

given neighbourhood area then this should be explicitly stated for the sake 

of clarity. It is also unclear whether any Neighbourhood Plans are intended 

to contain site allocations. Again, this should be made clear in the 

submitted plan.  

21.Consequently, can the Council please confirm whether the Place Plan 

areas and apportionments reflect the Designated Neighbourhood Area 

boundaries; and what apportionments (if any) have been made to each 

specific neighbourhood area.” 

Shropshire Council response  

There are 13 Designated Neighbourhood Areas, 4 of which have made 

Neighbourhood Plans. The DNAs are parish based or multiple comprising 

parishes if joint neighbourhood plans.  In their response to the Inspectors’ 

questions Shropshire council provides a table of relevant proposed residential 

development Guideline in the draft Shropshire Local Plan. The table is a 

summary of each of the areas the proposed apportionment of residential 

development to them. Where a scale of growth is quantified, the growth is 

                                                                 
38 id2-inspectors-further-initial-questions.pdf (shropshire.gov.uk)    letter of 24 November 2021 

(note: Stage 1 of The Shropshire plan Examination is still in progress at the time of preparing this 

EDDC consultation document; possible that the issue of housing requirement numbers for 

designated neighbourhood areas could be the subject of Stage 2 (or later) Examination hearing 

p. Shropshire Local Plan (2016 – 2038) 

page 227

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/21829/id2-inspectors-further-initail-questions.pdf


Page 146 
 

focused on specific settlements. For most DNAs the table states.  “It is not 

considered necessary or appropriate to identify a specific residential 

development guideline for the wider rural area within the/these Parishes, 

given the proposed spatial strategy for the distribution of development across 

Shropshire and the characteristics of these areas”.  For 2 named DNAs “it is 

not considered necessary or appropriate to identify a specific residential 

development guideline for this rural Parish, given the proposed spatial 

strategy for the distribution of development across Shropshire and the 

characteristics of this wider rural area.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.26 At this time it is unclear whether the issue was discussed at hearings.  There 

appears to be no direct MIQ questions on this matter.  The Examination is still 

in progress, and therefore there is no Inspectors Report at this time. so at this 

time there are no Inspector’s conclusions. It is too early to draw conclusions 

from this plan’s approach. However, mindful of other plans’ examinations 

there are potential risks if the plan is not consistent with consistent with 

national planning policy. 

 
 

 

Local plan submitted for examination 17 September 2023.  

No Inspector’s MIQs as at end February 2024 as the Inspector has requested 

a programme for completion and submission of outstanding evidence by the 

LPA before he will publish the MIQs. 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

No strategic policy setting out the individual Designated Neighbourhood Area 

housing requirement figures, but the figures are in Annex E of the plan. Annex 

E is referred to in the reasoned justification.  There is a strategic policy on the 

district housing requirement 2021 to 2041. 

The technical evidence background paper produced by the South 

Worcestershire councils sets out the methodology for calculating the 

additional housing requirement for the 40 designated Neighbourhood Areas in 

south Worcestershire. It takes account the following factors:  

i. The overall strategy for the pattern of development to 2041. The 

SWDPR development strategy distributes the dwellings required in 

the SWDPR in the following proportions:  

q. South Worcestershire Development Plan Review  

page 228



Page 147 
 

 40.1% in new or expanded settlements 51.9% in the main urban 

areas and urban extensions  

 4.7% in Category 1 villages  

 2.4% in Category 2 villages  

 0.8% in Category 3 villages. 

ii. The scale of additional development required to 2041. The adopted 

SWDP, which was tested and found sound at Examination makes 

provision for around 28,400 dwellings. The SWDPR is therefore 

making provision for an additional 13,240 dwellings (including 500 at 

Mitton for Tewkesbury Council’s needs) in the period to 2041 over-

and-above those which have already been delivered or are likely to be 

delivered based on current housing commitments, completions and 

reallocations. 

iii. Relevant site allocations. The housing requirement for each 

Neighbourhood Area takes account of proposed allocations in the 

SWDP Review, together with any allocations in made or submitted 

Neighbourhood Plans.  

NOTE: The methodology does not take account of any specific physical, 

environmental or infrastructure constraints to future growth in a 

Neighbourhood Area. The method acknowledges that not all 

Neighbourhood Areas may be able to deliver the housing requirements 

due to local constraints. If this is the case, then it should be explored and 

explained in the Neighbourhood Plan. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.27 Currently there are no MIQs so at this time there are no Inspector’s questions 

or conclusions. It is too early to draw conclusions from this plan’s approach. 

However, mindful of other plans’ examinations there are potential risks if the 

plan is not consistent with consistent with national planning policy. 

 

Submitted to examination 25 October 2021 

Hearings held in March and June 2023. 

Inspectors’ letter 5 February 2024 Examination currently paused for the works 

to be undertaken to address the Inspectors’ concerns about the strategic 

highway network. 

r. Stroud District Local Plan Review 

page 229



Page 148 
 

Inspector’s Question  

MIQ Q17   Paragraph 65 of the Framework states that ‘strategic policies 

should also set out a housing requirement for designated neighbourhood 

areas….’. The Council’s evidence details that there are 17 neighbourhood 

areas within the District with 10 made Neighbourhood Plans (NP). The 

Council’s Topic Paper on Neighbourhood Planning (EB5) explains that as no 

made or emerging NP allocate housing sites, housing requirements are to be 

set through site allocations in the Plan currently under our examination.  

a. Is this approach consistent with national policy, particularly with 

regard to paragraphs 65-67 of the Framework? 

 b. Is it clear which sites are within each defined neighbourhood area 

and what the proposed housing requirements in these areas would be?  

c. What are the implications of these proposed housing allocations on 

the designated neighbourhood areas and any emerging or made NP? 

Stroud DC information 

Stroud District Council has confirmed that during the Examination hearing 

sessions in 2023, the Inspector raised the issue of housing requirements for 

Designated Neighbourhood Areas. Stroud District Council were asked by the 

Inspector to provide the following modification: 

Disaggregate the Local Plan housing supply (when finalised) by parish (or 
NDP area if different) to identify the housing target for NDPs.  

Stroud DC has confirmed that they have agreed to include this as an appendix 

to the Local Plan once the final housing supply and distribution has been 

agreed. They are still considering what this actually looks like.  Possibly the 

approach would be to take the final site allocation numbers for all sites within 

each Parish/Town Council and provide that as the requirement figure for 

neighbourhood development plan purposes. It would then be up to the 

neighbourhood development plan to propose more houses if they wanted to 

and provide the relevant evidence. 

Table 2 housing supply in the submission plan does not include supply from 

future neighbourhood plans. Stroud DC has confirmed that the Stroud Local 

Plan has not relied on neighbourhood plans to provide housing numbers as so 

far none of the neighbourhood plans have shown interest. Kingswood PC in 

their hearing statement have raised that they haven’t been asked to provide 

housing and they could have done through a neighbourhood plan rather than 

the site allocation in the draft local plan. However, all of their consultation 

responses have been clear they don’t want any new housing. 

 

page 230



Page 149 
 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.28 Inspectors ask questions about this issue. The local plan policy on this issue 

needs to be consistent with NPPF and needs to be clear about what sites are 

included in the DNA figures and the housing requirement figures. It is 

important for the local plan to make clear what are the implications of DNA 

housing requirement figures for Designated Neighbourhood Areas and for 

neighbourhood plans. 

D.29 A supply based approach is appropriate, using Designated Neighbourhood 

Area geography, which takes account of the finalised supply information. The 

latter implies including supply from Local Plan allocations that takes account 

of main modifications. If the approach also includes commitments and 

completions, then it suggests using the latest monitoring point information 

supplied to the examination. It is appropriate not to include a supply category 

relating to future neighbourhood plans if the evidence indicates that is little 

appetite for allocating sites in neighbourhood plans or that the plans are 

unlikely to be pro-growth.  

 

Regulation 19 consultation. Local Plan closed 13 March 2023 

Local Plan Proposed Submission Addendum (Regulation 19) consultation      

8 November to 22 December 2023. 

Summary in Appendix C Table 5 of this report. 

Para 1.16 of the Reg 19 plan  (Addendum version) 

“....., there is no indication or guarantee that existing or newly 

designated Neighbourhood Plan areas will allocate sites, or do so 

within a sufficient timeframe, to meet the overall housing requirement 

for the district. As such, there is no specific housing requirements set 

for any Neighbourhood Plan area.” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.30 The plan has not yet been submitted for examination, so at this time there are 

no Inspector’s questions or conclusions. It is too early to draw conclusions 

from this plan’s approach. However, mindful of other plans’ examinations 

there are potential risks if the plan is not consistent with consistent with 

national planning policy. 
 

 

s. Teignbridge Local Plan 2020-2040 

page 231



Page 150 
 

 

Local Plan adopted 4 December 2023 (following receipt of Inspectors report 

dated 23 October 2023) 

 Inspector’s conclusions 

Inspectors Report Paragraph 50:  

“There are four designated neighbourhood areas in the Borough. A significant 

part of three of these falls within the boundary of the South East Warrington 

Urban Extension Main Development Area (Policy MD2). Distributing the total 

number of houses between the different neighbourhood areas prior to a 

comprehensive development framework for the allocation site would be 

premature and prejudice this process. In the case of Lymm, the Local Plan 

proposes specific site allocations. In light of these particular circumstances, 

the Local Plan is justified in not identifying housing requirements for the 

designated neighbourhood areas” 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.31 This shows the variability between plans and between Inspectors’ 

conclusions. In this case not including designated neighbourhood area 

housing requirement figures in the plan is driven by the specific circumstances 

of being unable to evidence how to distribute housing on a strategic site 

across three DNAs.  

D.32 This is similar to the current situation for the 2nd new settlement in East Devon 

where figures for the site have not been included in Options 1 and 2 because 

of the lack of delivery information about phasing and distribution across the 

site.  If and when a comprehensive development framework (eg a Masterplan) 

is available including phasing across the site, then the supply figures for the 

site could be included in a supply based method for calculating DNA housing 

requirements. 

D.33 However, omitting a figure for Lymm is unusual precisely because there are 

proposed local plan allocations (they are known, ‘expected’ and quantified). 

 

 

t.  Warrington Local Plan 2022/23 to 2038/39 

page 232



Page 151 
 

 

West Suffolk Local Plan Regulation 19 – consultation 30 January to 12 March 

2024 

 

Strategic Policy SP 11 – Sets out its support for the preparation of 

neighbourhood plans. It sets out the housing requirement for designated 

neighbourhood areas over the plan period to 2040 and approach to areas 

designated or reviewed after this local plan is adopted. 

SP11  “The minimum housing requirement for the period 1 April 2023 to 31 
March 2040 for each designated neighbourhood areas is set out in 

appendix G of this plan. This provision accords with the spatial strategy 
of this local plan and which seeks to address the strategic housing 
needs of the district. The council has identified site allocations to meet 

the minimum housing requirement for each designated neighbourhood 
area in this plan. There is no need for the neighbourhood groups to 

repeat these allocations in their neighbourhood plans. Neighbourhood 
groups may choose to identify additional sites in their neighbourhood 
area to address their locally identified housing needs. 

There is no identified housing requirement for the designated 
neighbourhood areas which only contain Type B villages and or the 

countryside, as no allocations are made in these locations in this plan. 

Following adoption of the local plan, indicative housing requirements 
will be provided upon request for those neighbourhood plan bodies 

undertaking a review of their neighbourhood plan. They will also be 
provided where a new neighbourhood area is designated. The housing 

requirement will be assessed based on the approach set out in the 
National Planning Policy Framework or any successor policy.” 

Appendix G of the Reg.19 plan gives a single housing requirement figure for 

each of the named DNAs.  (There are 3 named neighbourhood plan areas 

with no housing requirement) 

 

Reasoned Justification (extract) 

“4.4.40 Within each designated neighbourhood area, the housing requirement 

will reflect the number of homes allocated within that area. For neighbourhood 

areas only containing Type B villages and or the countryside (including small 

settlements within it), and where no housing allocations are made in this plan, 

there will be no housing requirement. This accords with the spatial strategy to 

make no provision for new homes given the lower order settlements limited 

range of services and facilities. 

 

u.   West Suffolk Local Plan Regulation 19  

page 233



Page 152 
 

4.4.41  No housing requirement is set for Great Barton neighbourhood area as 

the plan is made and not currently under review. Neither is there a housing 

requirement for Exning neighbourhood area which, although it has a 

designated area, is no longer being taken forward. 

 

4.4.42The strategic housing requirement for each designated neighbourhood 

area, accords with the spatial strategy pattern and scale of growth for the 

settlement types within the neighbourhood plan area, dependent upon 

infrastructure and environmental capacity. This assessment has informed the 

allocation of sites in this plan. The neighbourhood housing requirement does 

not include an allowance for windfall provision to come forward, as windfall by 

its nature is unexpected delivery of homes and is not relied upon to meet the 

housing needs.” 

 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.34 The Regulation 19 consultation is in progress at the time of writing this 

technical report so at this time there are no Inspector’s questions or 

conclusions. It is too early to draw conclusions from this plan’s approach. 

However, mindful of other plans’ examinations there are potential risks if the 

plan is not consistent with consistent with national planning policy. 

D.35 It is noted that this plan does not rely on a windfall allowance as part of its 

district supply to meet the housing requirement but considers that the 

allowance is a contingency buffer as an additional source of housing supply. 

The LPA has chosen not to rely on future windfalls to meet housing needs 

when calculating the DNA housing requirements. 

 

 

Pre-Submission draft 2020-2038 (Regulation 19) September 2023 – 

consultation closed 22 November 2023. 

The draft plan acknowledges NPPF policy on providing a housing requirement 

for each designated Neighbourhood Area. Paragraph 3.46 states that: 

“....The requirement for each designation is effectively determined by the type 

of settlements in the plan area, as set out below. The Plan anticipates that 

new neighbourhood areas will be designated over the Plan period and so sets 

out requirements for all settlements to provide a framework to support the 

preparation of neighbourhood plans across the Plan period” 

v. Wiltshire Local Plan  

page 234



Page 153 
 

Paragraph 3.49 states “The neighbourhood plan area designation housing 

requirements are provided as a part of each Principal Settlement and Market 

Town's policy, and are listed for Large Villages and Local Service Centres in 

the tables in the Rural Area section for each of the four Area Strategies”. 

Lessons learnt/conclusions drawn 

D.36 The plan has not yet been submitted for examination.  At this time, it is not 

wholly clear whether the figures are based on the whole Designated 

Neighbourhood Area or are only for the named settlements, and whether only 

supply within the settlement boundaries is to be counted, or what happens if a 

settlement is in more than one DNA. 

D.37 Mindful of other Inspectors’ concerns about the need for policy clarity this 

would suggest the need to ensure there is clarity about the geography used, 

what supply is counted and when and implications for neighbourhood plans. 

 

page 235



Page 154 
 

APPENDIX E    Comparison of Windfall Options A and B   

Table 3 Comparison of percentages derived from Windfall Options A and B 

Designated Neighbourhood Area Windfall Option A 

(share of district’s average annual windfalls*) 

Windfall Option B 

(share of district’s Census 2021 households) 

 Annual 
Average 

Percentage Apportioned District 
Windfall Allowance 

Total Percentage Apportioned District 
Windfall Allowance 

All Saints 0.4 0.3 6 238 0.4 8 

Axminster 2.2 1.6 31 3,678 5.5 108 

Axmouth 0 0.0 0.0 228 0.3 6 

Aylesbeare 1.4 1.0 20 255 0.4 8 

Beer 1.2 0.9 17 586 0.9 18 

Bishops Clyst 3.0 2.2 42 665 1.0 20 

Broadclyst 2 1.4 28 2,445 3.7 73 

Broadhembury 4 2.9 57 307 0.5 10 

Budleigh Salterton 3.4 2.5 48 2,567 3.8 75 

Chardstock 1 0.7 14 389 0.6 12 

Clyst Honiton 1 0.7 14 139 0.2 4 

Clyst St. George 1.4 1.0 20 354 0.5 10 

Colyton and Colyford 4.6 3.3 65 1,516 2.3 45 

Cotleigh 0 0.0 0 94 0.1 2 

Dalwood 0 0.0 0 184 0.3 6 

Dunkeswell 3.2 2.3 45 835 1.3 26 

East Budleigh with Bicton 0 0 0 455 0.7 14 

Exmouth 34.8 25.2 495 15,998 24 472 

Farringdon 0.6 0.4 9 148 0.2 4 

Feniton 0.4 0.3 6 852 1.3 26 

Hawkchurch 0.6 0.4 9 237 0.4 8 

page 236



Page 155 
 

Designated Neighbourhood Area Windfall Option A 
(share of district’s average annual windfalls*) 

Windfall Option B 
(share of district’s Census 2021 households) 

 Annual 

Average 

Percentage Apportioned District 

Windfall Allowance 

Total Percentage Apportioned District 

Windfall Allowance 

Honiton 8 5.8 114 5,316 8.0 157 

Kilmington 0.4 0.3 6 407 0.6 12 

Luppitt 0.4 0.3 6 186 0.3 6 

Lympstone 4.2 3.0 60 894 1.3 26 

Membury 0.8 0.6 11 226 0.3 6 

Monkton 0 0.0 0 77 0.1 2 

Newton Poppleford and Harpford 2.2 1.6 31 989 1.5 29 

Otterton 2.8 2.0 40 292 0.4 8 

Ottery St. Mary 10.6 7.7 151 3,357 5.0 98 

Payhembury 3.8 2.7 54 308 0.5 10 

Rockbeare 2.4 1.7 34 374 0.6 12 

Seaton 2.2 1.6 31 3,874 5.8 114 

Sidmouth (including Sidford and 
Sidbury) 

8.2 5.9 117 6.976 10.4 204 

Stockland 0.4 0.3 6 282 0.4 8 

Uplyme 2.2 1.6 31 740 1.1 22 

Upottery 0 0.0 0 306 0.5 10 

West Hill 2.2 1.6 31 854 1.3 26 

Whimple 3.4 2.5 48 768 1.1 22 

Woodbury 3.2 2.3 45 1,369 2.0 39 

Yarcombe 0.6 0.4 9 212 0.3 6 

* Windfall completions in the DNA on non-garden land sites of 20 or less for the 5 monitoring years 2017/18 to 2022/23 inclusive 

Data from the EDDC housing monitoring database which was used to identify windfall completions in Table 9 and then to calculate the basic windfall 

allowance rate in Table 10 the East Devon Housing Monitoring Update end March 2023 Table  

Weblink to the report on the council’s website:  hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023            

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/ii1ddtjo/hmu-to-year-end-31-march-2023-sept-2023-v2.pdf 

page 237



Page 156 
 

APPENDIX F    TABLE 5  DNA HOUSING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY 

NET HOUSING SUPPLY IN THE PLAN PERIOD (ACTUAL AND FORECAST COMPLETIONS) BY SUPPLY CATEGORY  

   FOR EACH DESIGNATED NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA  

DESIGNATED  
NEIGHBOURHOOD  

AREA 

Emerging 
Local Plan 
Allocations 

Adopted 
Cranbrook 

Plan 
Allocations 

Neighbour- 
hood Plan* 
Allocations  

(without 
planning 

permission) 

Future 
Neighbour-
hood Plan 
Provision 

Completions  
01/04/2020 

to 
31/03/2023 

Commit-
ments at 
31/03/23 

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure 

(OPTION 1) 

Windfall 
allowance 

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure 

(OPTION 2) 

All Saints 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 8 10 

Axminster 1,115 0 0 0 182 140 1,437 108 1,545 

Axmouth 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 6 9 

Aylesbeare 0 0 0 0 1 6 7 8 15 

Beer 0 0 0 0 1 42 43 18 61 

Bishops Clyst # 102 0 0 0 10 87 199 20 219 

Broadclyst 175 90 44 0 777 1,261 2,347 73 2,420 

Broadhembury 10 0 0 0 12 12 34 10 44 

Budleigh Salterton 152 0 0 0 38 51 241 75 316 

Chardstock 30 0 0 0 0 1 31 12 43 

Clyst St. George 580 0 0 0 1 2 583 10 593 

Clyst Honiton # 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 6 

Colyton and Colyford 49 0 0 0 21 87 157 45 202 

Cotleigh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 

Dalwood 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 6 8 

Dunkeswell 43 0 0 0 4 25 72 26 98 

East Budleigh with 
Bicton 0 0 0 0 2 6 8 14 22 

Exmouth 730 0 0 0 401 534 1,665 472 2,137 

Farringdon # 0 0 0 0 2 3 5 4 9 

Feniton 42 0 0 0 14 11 67 26 93 

page 238



Page 157 
 

DESIGNATED  
NEIGHBOURHOOD  
AREA 

Emerging 
Local Plan 
Allocations 

Adopted 
Cranbrook 

Plan 
Allocations 

Neighbour- 
hood Plan* 
Allocations  

(without 
planning 

permission) 

Future 
Neighbour-
hood Plan 
Provision 

Completions  
01/04/2020 

to 
31/03/2023 

Commit-
ments at 
31/03/23 

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure 

(OPTION 1) 

Windfall 
allowance 

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure 

(OPTION 2) 

Hawkchurch 38 0 0 0 2 3 43 8 51 

Honiton 397 0 0 0 143 147 687 157 844 

Kilmington 28 0 24 0 2 2 56 12 68 

Luppitt 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 6 8 

Lympstone 359 0 0 0 14 113 486 26 512 

Membury 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 6 10 

Monkton 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 

Newton Poppleford and 
Harpford 0 0 0 0 10 11 21 29 50 

Otterton 23 0 0 0 15 2 40 8 48 

Ottery St. Mary 416 0 5 0 101 50 572 98 670 

Payhembury 0 0 0 0 7 16 23 10 33 

Rockbeare 0 780 0 0 14 13 807 12 819 

Seaton 217 0 0 0 48 204 469 114 583 

Sidmouth (including 
Sidford and Sidbury) 206 0 0 0 64 196 466 204 670 

Stockland 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 8 11 

Uplyme 0 0 19 0 11 14 44 22 66 

Upottery 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 10 12 

West Hill 57 0 0 0 2 5 64 26 90 

Whimple 33 500 0 0 12 14 559 22 581 

Woodbury 354 0 0 0 17 36 407 39 446 

Yarcombe 0 0 0 0 1 5 6 6 12 

TOTAL (ALL DNAs)       11,666  13,438 

page 239



Page 158 
 

Notes:          

Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.      
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set 
point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan 

Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.  

# Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available. 

Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5   
*Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made neighbourhood plan or neighbourhood plan with recommendation for referendum (as of 
end February 2024) (where the site has not been wholly completed or consented (committed)) 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.  
Provision from future neighbourhood plans (emerging or not yet started and not yet recommended to referendum) are not included in these minimum 
figures (indicated by being shown as zero in all cases).  Site allocations in these would be additional supply. 

Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan 

Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)       

Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)      

Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report 
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing 
supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance) 

Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing 
supply categories (including a windfall allowance) 

Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published 
by the Council annually):  

Monitoring - East Devon       

          

 

 

page 240

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/monitoring/


Page 159 
 

APPENDIX G    Detailed Tables of DNA Housing Requirement by DNA -Supply categories and Totals (2023 monitoring 

point) 

 

See separate file for the detailed tables. These will be incorporated into the final document. 

 

 

page 241



All Saints Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name
Plan

Policy No.

Planning Application 

Reference

Number of 

Dwellings
NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0

Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Porch Farm, Smallridge 20/1825/PDQ 2

Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0

Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 0

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2

Windfall allowance DNA 8

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 10

Notes:

Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  

The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan

Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.

Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.

Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))

Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.

Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.

Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan

Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)

Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)

Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report

Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories ( excluding a windfall allowance)

Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories ( including a windfall allowance)

Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 

Monitoring - East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 242

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/monitoring/


Axminster Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_10 19 10
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_02 19 100
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_08 19 68
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_12 19 9
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_07 19 50
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) GH/ED/83 19 215
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) GH/ED/79 19 93
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) GH/ED/80a 19 200
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_09 19 270
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Axmi_11a 19 100
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land At Dukes Way, Axminster, Devon 09/2350/MFUL 19
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land At Cloakham Lawns, Chard Road, Axminster 10/0816/MOUT 145
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Mike James Electrical, West Street, Axminster 08/0888/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Brookhill, Chard Road, Axminster 13/0600/FUL 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 42 St Andrews Drive, Axminster 15/0048/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Chattan Hall Cottage, Woodbury Lane, Axminster 15/0147/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Tower Cottage, Castle Street, Axminster 17/0703/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 10 St Andrews Drive, Axminster 18/1083/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Westwater Barn, Land North Of Westwater, Axminster 18/1444/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Axminster Methodist Church, Lyme Road, Axminster 18/2739/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Coombe Orchard, Coombefield Lane, Axminster 19/0350/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Axminster Police Station, Lyme Close, Axminster 19/0412/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Fawnsmoor Farm, Lyme Road, Axminster 19/1165/PDQB 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Coach House, Musbury Road, Axminster 20/0792/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Fairacre, Lyme Road, Axminster 20/2875/OUT 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land At Cloakham Lawns, Chard Road, Axminster 10/0816/MOUT 66
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land south-east of West Street car park, Axminster 18/1681/MOUT 10
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Residual land at Halletts Way, Axminster 11/0509/VAR 18
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 New Commercial Inn, Trinity Square, Axminster 07/0808/COU 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sandbanks, Crewkerne Road, Raymonds Hill, Axminster      08/0872/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Brookhill, Chard Road, Axminster 10/0894/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Axe Vale Social Club, Chard Street, Axminster 11/2496/FUL 7
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Coombe Lane, Axminster 16/1294/OUT 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Above Trinity House, Axminster 17/0724/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Kings Farm, Woodbury Lane, Axminster 17/2178/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Tindle House, South Street, Axminster 17/2729/PDO 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 4 Coles Lane, Axminster 17/2870/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Gamberlake, Axminster 18/1702/OUT 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Axminster Police Station, Lyme Close, Axminster 19/0412/FUL 6
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Former Natwest Bank, Victoria Place, Axminster 20/0753/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Old Park Farm, Lyme Road, Axminster 20/1992/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 47 Foxhill, Axminster 21/0679/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Old Public Toilets, Castle Street, Axminster 21/0768/FUL 1

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 243



Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 3 Lyme Street, Axminster 21/1428/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Great Trill Farm, Musbury, Axminster 21/1914/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 High Croft, Wyke, Axminster 22/2098/FUL 2
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 1,437

Windfall allowance DNA 108
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 1,545

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 244



Axmouth Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Higher Barn, Higher Lane, Axmouth 21/2379/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Stepps House, Stepps Lane, Axmouth 15/0628/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barn West Of Higher Bruckland Farm, Musbury 19/1732/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 3

Windfall allowance DNA 6
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 9

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 245



Aylesbeare Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent To Glebe Farm, Aylesbeare 18/1031/OUT 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Rosamondford Farm, Perkins Village 22/2796/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 St Andrews Harp Lane, Aylesbeare 22/1889/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Greenfields, Sidmouth Road, Aylesbeare 21/3022/PDQ 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Houndbeare Court, Oak Road, Aylesbeare 23/1664/PDQ 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 7

Windfall allowance DNA 8
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 15

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 246



Beer Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Land Adjacent Short Furlong, Beer H3 18/1957/MOUT

Outline consent for 
30 homes - 
included in 
Commitments 
figures below

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent 4 Higher Meadows, Beer 16/1974/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Nethercombe Lodge, Barline, Beer 21/1511/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent Short Furlong, Beer 18/1957/MOUT 30
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Glenmore, Barline, Beer 16/3059/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Beer Social Club, Berry Hill, Beer 19/2674/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Seddul Bahr, Barline, Beer 20/2427/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Marine Villas, Fore Street, Beer 19/1017/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Colebrooke House, Fore Street, Beer 23/0277/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Windward, Mare Lane, Beer 15/0290/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Treasure Chest, Fore Street, Beer 19/1254/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Music Room, Berry Hill, Beer 19/1431/COU 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 43

Windfall allowance DNA 18
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 61

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 247



Bishops Clyst Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Sowt_09 26 35
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Sowt_03 26 37
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Sowt_11a 26 30
New Settlement (Option 1)
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Emerging Plan - too 
early to include at 
this stage

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Cider Press, Winslade Barton, Clyst St Mary 17/1420/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Greendale Farm, Greendale Lane, Clyst St Mary 19/0784/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Coxes Farm, Sidmouth Road, Clyst St Mary 19/2273/VAR 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Maltsters Arms, Clyst St Mary 14/0530/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Maltsters Arms, Clyst St Mary 09/1170/FUL 3
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Friends Provident, Winslade Park, Clyst St Mary 16/2460/MOUT 78
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barns At Winslade Barton, Clyst St Mary 18/1238/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Myrtle Coach House, Clyst St Mary 20/2600/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Greendale Farm, Greendale Lane, Clyst St Mary 21/0403/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Venns Farm, Sowton 23/0443/FUL 3
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 199

Windfall allowance DNA 20
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 219

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 248



Broadclyst Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Brcl_09 25 15
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Brcl_12 25 136
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Brcl_29 25 24

Cranbrook Plan Allocation Bluehayes Expansion Area CB2 90 Also in Cranbrook 
parish (non DNA)

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Blackhorse Gardens Site, Blackhorse H1 4
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Broadclyst Station: Site between Shercroft Close and Cotterell Ro H2 24
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Heathfield Site / Land Adjacent To Elbury View, Broadclyst H3 23/1537/MOUT 16

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Pinn Court Farm 12/0795/MOUT 162

No dwellings on the 
small overlap 
outside of EDDC 
boundary

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Redhayes, North of Blackhorse 12/1291/MOUT 303

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Old Park Farm (Phase 2) 13/0001/MOUT 109

No dwellings on the 
small overlap 
between 
Broardclyst and 
Poltimore

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Mosshayne, North of Tithebarn Lane 14/2761/MOUT 193
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Exeter Science Park, Clyst Honiton 18/2799/MOUT 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land South Of Clyst Avenue, Broadclyst Station 12/1916/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 St Peters Evangelical Church, Station Road, Broadclyst 18/1147/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Little Barton Farm, Broadclyst 19/2694/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Clystside, Blackhorse Lane, Blackhorse 20/1617/FUL 2

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Pinn Court Farm 12/0795/MOUT 134

No dwellings on the 
small overlap 
outside of EDDC 
boundary

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Pinn Court Farm Phase 3b 21/1838/MFUL 20
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Redhayes, North of Blackhorse 12/1291/MOUT 94

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Old Park Farm (Phase 2) 13/0001/MOUT 66

No dwellings on the 
small overlap 
between 
Broardclyst and 
Poltimore

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Mosshayne, North of Tithebarn Lane 14/2761/MOUT 707
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Exeter Science Park, Clyst Honiton 18/2799/MOUT 142
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land North Of Moonhill Copse West Clyst Exeter 18/1653/MOUT 69
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Kerswell Barton Farm near Broadclyst 12/1285/MFUL 12

Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 39 Pinn Hill, West Clyst 13/1867/FUL 1 Overlaps into 
Exeter

Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Little Brock, Brockhill, Station Road, Broadclyst 13/2087/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land West Of Lower Burrowton, Broadclyst 17/1422/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Coach House, Hele 18/2349/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Heath Cottages, Broadclyst 19/1073/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Little Barton Farm, Broadclyst 19/2694/FUL 3

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 249



Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Harepathstead Farm, Westwood, Broadclyst 21/0383/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Heath Cottages, Broadclyst 21/3112/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Gardens, Blackhorse 22/0549/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pinhoe Target Shooting And Rifle Club, Langaton Lane 22/0910/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sutherlake, Broadclyst 23/0087/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Adjacent To Sutherlake, Broadclyst 23/1175/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2,347

Windfall allowance DNA 73
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 2,420

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 250



Broadhembury Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Brhe_09 26 10
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Paddocks, Kerswell 14/1384/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Hembury Court Cottages, Upcott Farm, Broadhembury 14/1569/VAR 4
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Dennis Cottage, Dennis Farm, Kerswell 19/2267/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Artist View (Former Hen Barn), Nr Dane Mill Copse, Payhembury 19/2573/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Willowhayes, Dulford 19/2743/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Birch Cottage, Dulford 20/0381/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Buildings At James Barn, Kerswell 21/1508/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Blackdown Barn, Dulford 21/3004/CPL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Barn, Dulford 12/0547/VAR 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South West Of Knapp Farm, Dulford 19/1968/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Upcott Farm, Broadhembury 20/1170/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barns North Of Luton Lane Farm, Payhembury 21/0875/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Paddocks, Dulford 21/1150/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 West Of Upcott Farm, Upcott, Broadhembury 22/2226/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barn At Kerswell, Kerswell 22/2420/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pitney Water Storage Tank, Broadhembury 22/2697/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Egremont Barn, Payhembury 23/1556/FUL 4
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 34

Windfall allowance DNA 10
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 44

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 251



Budleigh Salterton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Budl_06 25 20
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Budl_03 25 44
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Budl_02 25 38
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Budl_01 25 50
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land South Of B3178, Budleigh Salterton 11/2629/MFUL 15
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Cedar House, Budleigh Salterton 12/2801/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 29 Victoria Place, Budleigh Salterton 13/1916/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Covered Reservoir And Water Works, Budleigh Salterton 15/0437/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 7 West Hill Lane, Budleigh Salterton  16/1998/FUL 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 3 Westfield Close, Budleigh Salterton 16/2401/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 20 Clinton Close, Budleigh Salterton 17/1278/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Aller House, Knowle Village, Budleigh Salterton 17/1392/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 13 High Street, Budleigh Salterton 18/0512/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Ottervale Products, Budleigh Salterton 18/0702/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 68 East Budleigh Road, Budleigh Salterton 18/1674/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 11 Coastguard Road, Budleigh Salterton 18/1906/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 4 Hooker Close, Budleigh Salterton 19/1018/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 5 Northview Road, Budleigh Salterton 19/1875/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Former bank, Fore Street, Budleigh Salterton     19/2017/FUL 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Old Clink, Budleigh Salterton 19/2061/FUL -2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 3 High Street, Budleigh Salterton 19/2088/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 10 Vales Road, Budleigh Salterton 19/2587/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Brook Road, Budleigh Salterton 21/1054/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Rolle Road, Budleigh Salterton 22/0571/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South Of B3178, Budleigh Salterton 11/2629/MFUL 39
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 3 Westfield Close, Budleigh Salterton 16/2401/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 14 Leas Road, Budleigh Salterton 19/1472/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Store Building, Station Road, Budleigh Salterton 19/2551/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 47 High Street, Budleigh Salterton 22/1472/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Sorting Office, 52-54 High Street, Budleigh Salterton 23/1217/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 9 West Hill Lane, Budleigh Salterton 23/1398/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 21 Clinton Terrace, Budleigh Salterton 23/2147/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 241

Windfall allowance DNA 75
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 316

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 252



Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 253



Chardstock Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Char_04a 26 30
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Earlys Garage, Chardstock, Axminster 21/0893/VAR 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 31

Windfall allowance DNA 12
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 43

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 254



Clyst St George Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Development next to the M5 and north of Topsham 17 580
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land North Of Ebford Lane Between Kingston Hill And Netherfield 16/0757/RES 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Lloret, Old Rydon Lane 19/0758/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Higher Thatch, Ebford 13/0679/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 583

Windfall allowance DNA 10
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 593

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 255



Clyst Honiton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
New Settlement (Option 1)
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Emerging Plan - 
too early to include 
at this stage

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Axehayes Farm, Clyst St Mary 15/0324/PMB 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old School, Clyst Honiton 22/0942/RES 1

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2

Windfall allowance DNA 4

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 6

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 256



Colyton & Colyford Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Coly_02a 25 25
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Coly_02b 25 24
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land north of Yaffles, Coly Road, Colyton 13/1401/MOUT 16
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 St Andrew's Church Hall, Colyton 17/0352/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Swallows Eaves Hotel, Colyford 18/2665/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Borough House, Colyford 19/1341/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Ceramtec, Sidmouth Road, Colyton 18/1850/MOUT 72
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land At Whitwell Farm, Whitwell Lane, Colyford 08/0382/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land south of Yaffles, Coly Road, Colyton 15/0269/OUT 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Holywood Farm, Whitwell Lane, Colyford 16/0032/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Former Lloyds Bank, Market Place, Colyton 17/2745/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Alaska Lodge, Stafford Barton, Swan Hill Road, Colyford 20/0934/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Colyton Guide Association HQ, Rosemary Lane, Colyton 20/1758/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sceat Cottage, Colyton 21/2781/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Swan Hill House, Swan Hill Road, Colyford 22/0596/COU 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Elmwood Residential Home, Swan Hill Road, Colyford 22/0757/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Clarkham Cottages, Swan Hill Road, Colyford 22/2632/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Wild Flowers, Seaton Road, Colyford 23/2240/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 157

Windfall allowance DNA 45
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 202

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 257



Cotleigh Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 0

Windfall allowance DNA 2
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 2

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 258



Dalwood Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Green End House, Dalwood, Axminster 12/0453/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Ashdale Farm, Dalwood 22/2633/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2

Windfall allowance DNA 6
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 8

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 259



Dunkeswell Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Dunk_05 26 43
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land To The North Of Old Highwood Farm, Dunkeswell 12/2654/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land South Of The Old Forge, Dunkeswell 12/1071/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 High Dunscott, Dunkeswell 19/2467/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Turbury Farm, Dunkeswell 17/0734/OUT 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Higher Park Farm, Dunkeswell 16/2464/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land North Of Louis Way, Dunkeswell 18/0089/FUL 9
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hill View Nursery, Dunkeswell 20/2518/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Woodside, Dunkeswell 21/0382/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Building Adjacent Turbury, Dunkeswell 21/1497/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Cob Blocks, Dunkeswell Airfield, Dunkeswell 21/2431/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent Hangar 2, Dunkeswell Airfield, Dunkeswell 22/1058/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Turbury Farm, Stamps Coaches, Dunkeswell 22/1547/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Bowling Green, Culme Way, Dunkeswell 22/2773/FUL 5
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 72

Windfall allowance DNA 26
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 98

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 260



East Budleigh with Bicton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Pynes Close, East Budleigh 18/0954/FUL 2
Major Commitments at 31/03/23
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land at Frogmore Road (east of Oak Hill), East Budleigh 16/1673/OUT 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Pound, Lower Budleigh 18/1464/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 8

Windfall allowance DNA 14
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 22

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 261



Exmouth Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_04a 20 55 ALSO IN LYMPSTONE DNA 

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_06 20 44
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_08&16 20 45
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_17 20 400
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_20b 20 150
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Exmo_23 20 12
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Lymp_14 20 24 ALSO IN LYMPSTONE DNA

Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Withycombe Brook, Exmouth 12/1016/MFUL 33
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Pankhurst Close Trading Estate, Exmouth 13/1230/MFUL 105
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 34 Cranford Avenue, Exmouth 13/2647/MFUL 12
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 4 Elwyn Road, Exmouth 15/2654/FUL 9
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Q Club, Elm Grove, Exmouth 16/0153/MFUL 15
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Plumb Park, Exmouth 16/1022/MOUT 140
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Exebank & Danby House, Mudbank Lane, Exmouth 16/1978/MFUL 5
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Sarlsdown Road, Exmouth 17/0762/MFUL 9
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 14 Rolle Street, Exmouth 20/0201/COU 8
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rear Of 4B Littleham Road, Exmouth 13/1353/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land South Of Elgin, Bassetts Gardens, Exmouth 14/1674/RES 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 10 Cyprus Road, Exmouth 14/2480/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Manor Hotel, The Beacon, Exmouth 14/2933/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Spindrift, Maer Road, Exmouth 15/0205/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1A Victoria Way, Exmouth, EX8 1EW 15/1304/PDO 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 First Floor, 15 Rolle Street, Exmouth 15/1794/PDO 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent Cranford Sports Club, Exmouth 16/1155/RES 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 2 Dagmar Road, Exmouth, EX8 2AN 16/1514/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Flat 2, 105 Victoria Road, Exmouth 16/2273/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 51 Parade, Exmouth 16/2385/PDO 4
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land To The Rear Of 9 Seafield Avenue, Exmouth 17/1020/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Pilot Inn, 5 Chapel Hill, Exmouth 17/1542/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Noble House, 1 Stevenstone Road, Exmouth 17/1785/FUL 4
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 64 Masey Road, Exmouth 17/1845/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 45 Masey Road, Exmouth 17/2107/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 8 Drakes Avenue, Exmouth 17/2358/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 9-10 High Street, Exmouth 17/2659/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Magnolia House, 42 Morton Road, Exmouth 17/2860/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Flat 1, Channel View, Esplanade, Exmouth 17/3003/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 The Broadway, Exmouth, EX8 2NW 18/1582/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 190 Withycombe Village Road, Exmouth 18/1911/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Westdown Farm, Sandy Bay, Exmouth 18/2295/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rear Of 15 Exeter Road, Exmouth 18/2379/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 2/3 Magnolia Walk, Exmouth 18/2394/FUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Mountbatten Close, Exmouth 18/2540/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 11 Drakes Avenue, Exmouth 18/2726/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 18B St Andrews Road, Exmouth 18/2781/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 35 Dening Court, Exmouth 19/0110/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Bystock Court, Old Bystock Drive, Exmouth 19/0590/LBC 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 78 Salterton Road, Exmouth 19/0601/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent To 157 St Johns Road, Exmouth 19/0958/FUL 1

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 262



Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Spice Lounge, Prince Of Wales Drive, Exmouth 19/1087/FUL 9
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 10 Green Close, Exmouth 19/1090/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Garages 1-7, Raddenstile Lane, Exmouth 19/1638/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 3 Exeter Road, Exmouth 19/1719/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent 33 Brooklands Road, Exmouth 19/1971/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 40-42 Rolle Street, Exmouth 20/0263/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 35 Dening Court, Exmouth 20/0327/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Sunny Slope, Bicton Villas, Exmouth 20/0810/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 96 Exeter Road, Exmouth 20/1321/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 27 Parade, Exmouth 20/2393/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 52 Douglas Avenue, Exmouth 20/2483/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 15 Rolle Street, Exmouth 21/0082/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 17 Chaucer Rise, Exmouth 21/1055/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 9 Garratt Close, Exmouth 22/0189/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 8 Rolle Street, Exmouth 22/0502/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 12A Parade, Exmouth 22/0779/PDM 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 6 Portland Avenue, Exmouth 11/0733/FUL 6
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Withycombe Brook, Exmouth 12/1016/MFUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Pankhurst Close Trading Estate, Exmouth 13/1230/MFUL 15
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Goodmores Farm, Dinan Way, Exmouth     14/0330/MOUT 191 Also in Exmouth DNA 

Major Commitments at 31/03/23 The Q Club, Elm Grove, Exmouth 16/0153/MFUL 3
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Rolle College playing pitches, Douglas Avenue, Exmouth  16/0787/MOUT 23
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Plumb Park, Exmouth 16/1022/MOUT 60
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Sams Funhouse, St Andrews Road/Imperial Road, Exmouth 19/1753/MFUL 34
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Site Of Redgate & Land At Tesco, Salterton Road, Exmouth 19/2710/MFUL 59
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land At The Former Rolle College, Exmouth 20/1838/MFUL 33
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 251C Exeter Road, Exmouth 09/2220/RES 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 6 St Andrews Road, Exmouth 12/0427/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 27 Albion Street, Exmouth 12/0920/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 24B Salterton Road, Exmouth 12/1703/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Anglesea, Maer Lane, Exmouth 12/1959/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Lower Knoll, Douglas Avenue, Exmouth 13/0032/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 30 Salterton Road, Exmouth 13/0682/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 40 Moorfield Road, Exmouth 13/1179/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 10 Cyprus Road, Exmouth 13/2649/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 6 Portland Avenue, Exmouth 14/1332/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Manor Hotel, The Beacon, Exmouth 14/2933/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South Of Ashcroft, Bassetts Gardens, Exmouth 15/1490/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Sail Loft, 9-11 Camperdown Terrace, Exmouth 16/2118/FUL 6
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Rear Of Hillbrae, Maer Lane, Exmouth 16/2368/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Opposite 9 Albion Hill, Albion Hill, Exmouth 18/0721/OUT 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Bystock Court, Old Bystock Drive, Exmouth 19/0590/LBC 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sheerwater, Maer Lane, Exmouth 19/1113/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 45 Morton Road, Exmouth 19/1143/COU 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 28 Raleigh Road, Exmouth 19/1230/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 27 Exeter Road, Exmouth 19/1802/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 84 Ashleigh Road, Exmouth 19/2549/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 2 Merrion Avenue, Exmouth 19/2809/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 58A Salterton Road, Exmouth 20/0152/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 20 Cranford Avenue, Exmouth 20/0197/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 10 Ellwood Road, Exmouth 20/0209/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Orchard, 8 Foxholes Hill, Exmouth 20/0726/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent To The Meetings, Maer Lane, Exmouth 20/0842/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 42 Lawn Road, Exmouth 20/1052/FUL 2

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 263



Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sundown, Littlemead Lane, Exmouth 20/1963/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 121 Hulham Road, Exmouth 20/2165/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 15 Rolle Street, Exmouth 21/0082/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Chestnuts, 65 Salterton Road, Exmouth 21/0103/FUL 9
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 53 Salterton Road, Exmouth 21/0518/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Annexe, The Mews Cottage, Brixington Lane, Exmouth 21/0806/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hillcrest School Bungalow, St Johns Road, Exmouth 21/0817/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 10 Brimpenny Road, Exmouth 21/1530/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1A Jarvis Close, Exmouth 21/1853/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 20 The Strand, Exmouth 21/2174/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Store, Little Bicton Place, Exmouth 21/3187/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Maer Farm, Maer Lane, Exmouth 21/3293/FUL 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 4-6 Rolle Street, Exmouth 21/3350/FUL 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Olleston, St Johns Road, Exmouth 22/0873/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Eldin House, Fairfield Road, Exmouth 22/0972/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 65 Moorfield Road, Exmouth 22/1260/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 16 Raddenstile Lane, Exmouth 22/1773/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 South Lodge, Courtlands Lane, Exmouth 22/1797/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Little Foxholes, 15 Foxholes Hill, Exmouth 22/1996/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 18 Hartley Road, Exmouth 22/2699/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 80 Birchwood Road, Exmouth 22/2720/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Jersey House, Foxholes Hill, Exmouth 22/2774/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 130 Withycombe Village Road, Exmouth 23/0592/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Mount, 9B Portland Avenue, Exmouth 23/0895/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Shirley, 116 Littleham Road, Exmouth 23/0987/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 2 Seymour Road, Exmouth 23/1659/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 74A Byron Way, Exmouth 23/1684/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Beacon Vaults, Beacon Hill, Exmouth 23/1872/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land To Rear Of Sundown, Littlemead Lane, Exmouth 23/2131/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 86A Exeter Road, Exmouth 23/2156/FUL 2
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 1,665

Windfall allowance DNA 472
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 2,137

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually):
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 264



Farringdon Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
New Settlement (Option 1)
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land north-west of The Old Workshops, Farringdon 13/2699/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Three Tree Barn, Farringdon 19/1462/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land north-west of The Old Workshops, Farringdon 13/2699/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barn At Upham Farm, Farringdon 23/2176/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Waldrons Farm, Sidmouth Road, Farringdon 22/1723/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 5

Windfall allowance DNA 4
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 9

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 265



Feniton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Feni_05 26 42
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land north of Acland Park, Feniton      11/1021/MFUL 13
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Shoots Barn, Colestock 18/2176/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land north of Acland Park, Feniton      11/1021/MFUL 7
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Long Park Farm, Talaton Road, Feniton 17/1877/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Feniton Chapel, Feniton 12/1640/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Halls Farm, Feniton 23/1084/PDQ 2
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 67

Windfall allowance DNA 26
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 93

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 266



Hawkchurch Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Hawk_01 26 38
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Granary, Hawkchurch 14/2289/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Barn South West Of 2 Westhay Cottages, Hawkchurch 19/2814/PDQ 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pound Farm, Hawkchurch 15/1867/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Furzehill Farm, Hawkchurch 12/1247/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land And Building South East Of Courshay Springs, Hawkchurch 21/3211/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 43

Windfall allowance DNA 8
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 51

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 267



Honiton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_GH/ED/39a 21 100
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_01 21 79
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_05 21 40
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_06 21 30
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_07 21 30
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_10 21 21
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_11 21 57
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_13 21 10
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Honi_14 21 30
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Ottery Moor Lane (former industrial estate), Honiton 14/0557/MOUT 107
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 37 High Street, Honiton 06/1204/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 160 High Street, Honiton 12/2118/FUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Central Place, High Street, Honiton 15/1394/FUL 6
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Barn Mews, King Street, Honiton 15/2237/FUL 6
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 15 Minifie Road, Honiton 16/1814/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Old Coach House, Chapel Street, Honiton 16/2233/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Ascona, 1 Bowling Green Lane, Honiton 17/0596/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Old Court, Dowell Street, Honiton 17/1486/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 4 Chapel Street, Honiton 17/1742/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Pit Nightclub, Honiton 18/0868/FUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 32-34 High Street, Honiton 19/0527/FUL 4
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Barn At Perrie, Hale House, Northcote Hill, Honiton 19/2161/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 109 High Street, Honiton 19/2447/COU 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 56 Millers Way, Honiton 20/0874/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 11 Walnut Road, Honiton 20/2723/FUL 2
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Ottery Moor Lane (former industrial estate), Honiton 14/0557/MOUT 43
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Land off Clapper Lane, Honiton 13/2508/MOUT 10
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Honiton Cattle Market, Silver Street, Honiton 20/2410/MFUL 57
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Merchant House, 19 High Street, Honiton 16/0443/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Rear of former NatWest Bank, Honiton 17/0809/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Myrtle Villa, King Street, Honiton 18/0436/PDO 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pegasus House, Honiton  19/1065/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land To The Rear Of 102 High Street, Honiton 19/2246/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Rear Of St Johns Close, High Street, Honiton 19/2767/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 19 George Street, Honiton 20/1295/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Middle Hill House, Church Hill, Honiton 20/2256/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 36 Millers Way, Honiton 21/0580/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Green Door, Old Mill Cottage, King Street, Honiton 21/0753/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Stores 5 And 8, Central Place, High Street, Honiton 21/0943/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land To Front Of 20 Highfield, Honiton 21/1279/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 80 High Street, Honiton 21/2377/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent 6 The Chase, Honiton 21/2813/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent Crosslyn, Exeter Road, Honiton 22/0269/FUL 1

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 268



Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 King Street, Honiton 22/0440/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 136 Abingdon House, Antique Centre, High Street, Honiton 22/1070/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pegasus House, King Street, Honiton 22/1719/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 105, 105A And 105B, High Street, Honiton 22/2263/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 70D High Street, Honiton 23/1900/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 687

Windfall allowance DNA 157
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 844

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 269



Kilmington Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022)

LP_Kilm_11

26 0

Residual figure 
deducting overlap 
with made NP 
allocation

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022)

LP_Kilm_09

26 23

Residual figure 
deducting overlap 
with made NP 
allocation

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Kilm_10 26 5
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Land off George Lane (adjacent to Dares Field) HD3 14
Part overlap with 
LP allocation 
Kilm_09

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Land off Whitford Road (north of The Beacon) HD4 10
Part overlap with 
LP allocation 
Kilm_11

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Highcroft, Whitford Road, Kilmington 18/0039/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Fernwood Farm, Kilmington 19/2678/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Birchwood Farm, Kilmington 19/0530/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Studhayes Farm, Kilmington 15/1765/OUT 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 56

Windfall allowance DNA 12

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 68

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 270



Luppitt Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 17/2466/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 21/0372/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2

Windfall allowance DNA 6
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 8

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 271



Lympstone Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Exmo_04a 20 15
ALSO IN EXMOUTH DNA (0 .6 
Ha in Lympstone DNA (300m 
x 20m) with plots 20m wide =  

15 plots )

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) GH/ED/73 25 46
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) GH/ED/75 25 6
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_01 25 14
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_07 20 100
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_08 20 14
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_09 20 54
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_10a 20 75

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Lymp_14 20 35
ALSO IN EXMOUTH DNA 
(60% of site total(59) = 35 

dws)

Cranbrook Plan Allocation 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 

Made NP site 
allocations 
completed.  
Dwellings included 
in completions 
figures (for sites 
completed since 
01/03/2020)

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Lympstone Nurseries 18/2589/MFUL 10
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land west of Strawberry Hill, Lympstone 15/1970/MFUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Lympstone House, Strawberry Hill, Lympstone 12/0147/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land to the west side of Exmouth Road, Lympstone 17/0053/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Atlantis, Sowden Lane, Exmouth 18/0478/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Goodmores Farm, Dinan Way, Exmouth     14/0330/MOUT 106 Also in Exmouth DNA 

Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Candys, Burgmanns Hill, Lympstone 14/0632/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 21 Strawberry Hill, Lympstone 14/1567/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sowden Lane, Lympstone 19/1801/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Strawberry Fields Livery Yard, Lympstone 19/2208/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 3 Withalls Gardens, Greenhill Avenue, Lympstone 20/2733/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South Of Underhill Close, Lympstone 22/2410/RES 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land North East Of Grange Close, Lympstone 23/1079/OUT 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 486

Windfall allowance DNA 26

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 512

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 272



Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Alloction GH/ED/72  Is at the settlement of Lympstone but is not in Lynmstrone DNA,  It is in Woodbury DNA 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 273



Membury Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Challenger Farm, Membury 15/1768/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Park Farm, Membury 13/0143/OUT 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 New House Farm, Membury 15/2381/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land To The West Of Higher Hares Farm, Yarcombe 20/0258/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 4

Windfall allowance DNA 6
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 10

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 274



Monkton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 0
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 0

Windfall allowance DNA 2
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 2

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 275



Newton Poppleford & Harpford Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Holmleigh, Back Lane, Newton Poppleford 11/2679/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 Hillside, Burrow 13/1970/OUT 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Former coal yard, Newton Poppleford 18/0199/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rushmer Lodge, Newton Poppleford 18/1806/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Homefield Farm, Newton Poppleford 18/2772/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 1 The Old Coal Yard, Back Lane, Newton Poppleford 21/2113/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South Of King Alfred Way, Newton Poppleford 18/2608/OUT 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Waterleat, Newton Poppleford         16/0218/OUT 9
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 21

Windfall allowance DNA 29
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 50

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 276



Otterton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otto_01 26 10
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otto_02 26 8
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otto_03a 26 5
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 North Star, Ottery Street, Otterton 11/1597/MFUL 14
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Colehayes Cottage, Otterton       11/1602/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 15 & 17 Bell Street, Otterton 17/1076/VAR 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Colehayes Cottage, Otterton        11/1602/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 40

Windfall allowance DNA 8
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 48

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 277



Ottery St Mary Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Feni_08 22 83
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_GH/ED/27 22 60
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_GH/ED/29a 22 40
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otry_01b 22 70
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otry_04 22 45
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otry_09 22 90
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otry_10 22 20
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Otry_15 22 8
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Land at the Devon Mushroom Farm, Alfington NP27 5
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land at Barton Orchard, Tipton St John 11/2172/MFUL 5
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Town Mills Regeneration Area 1, Ottery St Mary 12/2770/MFUL 17
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Town Mills Regeneration Area 2, Ottery St Mary 12/2771/MFUL 29
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Island Farm, Exeter Road, Ottery St Mary 14/2553/MRES 19
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Town Mills Regeneration Area 3, Ottery St Mary 16/0093/MRES 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rear of The London, Gold Street, Ottery St Mary 15/2309/MFUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Otter View, Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 16/0094/RES 7
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Oak Lodge, Holcombe Lane, Ottery St Mary 17/0623/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Barns At Fluxton Farm, Fluxton 17/2491/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Priory, Paternoster Row, Ottery St Mary 18/1585/FUL 7
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 8 Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 18/2435/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Salvation Army, Hind Street, Ottery St Mary 18/2824/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Slade Farm, Slade Road, Ottery St Mary 19/0157/VAR 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Lloyds Bank, 6 Silver Street, Ottery St Mary 19/1605/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 9 Broad Street, Ottery St Mary 20/0714/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Flat 1, Pendennis House, 4 Gold Street, Ottery St Mary 20/1193/COU 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Former Colbert Hall, Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 20/1316/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Ottery St Mary Children's Centre, Tip Hill, Ottery St Mary 20/2120/VAR 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Little Ash Farm Bungalow, Fenny Bridges 21/2285/PDQ 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Salston Manor Hotel, Ottery St Mary 13/0496/MFUL 26
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Town Mills Regeneration Area 2, Ottery St Mary 12/2771/MFUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land to the east of Hall's Farm, near Metcombe 05/0943/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Bidwell Court, Ottery St Mary 14/2609/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 2a Hind Street, Ottery St Mary 18/1347/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 36 Longdogs Lane, Ottery St Mary 19/1518/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 8 Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 19/2046/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Former Colbert Hall, Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 20/1316/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 3 Orchard Close, Ottery St Mary 21/1313/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 29 Winters Lane, Ottery St Mary 21/1692/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Old Fire Station, Brook Street, Ottery St Mary 21/1799/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barrack Farm, Exeter Road, Ottery St Mary 21/1860/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Clapperentale Farm, Escot Park, Ottery St Mary 21/3273/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 64 Mill Street, Ottery St Mary 22/0144/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Four Elms Farm, Alfington Road, Ottery St Mary 22/2362/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Tumbling Weir Hotel, Canaan Way, Ottery St Mary 23/0694/FUL 1

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 278



TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 572

Windfall allowance DNA 98
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 670

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 279



Payhembury Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Victoria Dairy, Payhembury 15/0679/PDQ 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Tarrants Farm Cottage, Payhembury 17/2685/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Upton Ley Farm, Payhembury 18/1278/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Higher Leyhill Farm, Broadhembury 19/1490/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Higher Leyhill Farm, Broadhembury 20/0969/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Little Barn, Colestocks 21/1673/VAR 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Monkton Park Farm, Payhembury 21/1043/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barn West Of Tale Head Cottage, Payhembury 21/2780/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Slade Barton, Payhembury 20/0550/MOUT 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Tuck Mill Barns, Payhembury 15/0301/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Tarrants Farm, Payhembury 18/2668/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 23

Windfall allowance DNA 10
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 33

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 280



Rockbeare Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation Grange (Cranbrook expansion zone) CB5 780
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Broomfield View, Rockbeare   11/1035/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 High Bank, Bridge View, Rockbeare 14/1976/OUT 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Home Farm, Rockbeare Manor 18/0333/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Elms, London Road, Whimple 18/0388/FUL 4
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Lower Upcott, Marsh Green 19/1489/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Elms, London Road, Whimple 19/1606/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Lower Southwood Farm, Rockbeare 18/0783/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Lowbrook, Rockbeare 18/2364/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Jack In The Green Inn, London Road, Rockbeare 21/1077/OUT 5 Tiny Overlap 
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land South Of Hazel Grove, Rockbeare 22/2824/OUT 4
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 807

Windfall allowance DNA 12
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 819

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 281



Seaton Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Seat_02 23 40
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Seat_03 23 70
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Seat_05 23 100
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Seat_09 23 7
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Adjacent to Tesco, Harbour Road, Seaton 09/0022/MOUT 35
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land north of Rowan Drive, Seaton 13/1091/MOUT 1
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land off Barnards Hill Lane, Seaton 15/1195/MOUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Tregenna, Highcliffe Crescent, Seaton 13/1288/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Quantock, Harepath Road, Seaton 16/1903/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Seaton Beach (Trebere), East Walk, Seaton 16/2795/FUL 6
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 4 Court Lane, Seaton 17/2673/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 139 Harepath Road, Seaton 19/1464/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 11 Newlands Park, Seaton 21/0140/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 15 York Road, Seaton 21/1473/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Adjacent to Tesco, Harbour Road, Seaton 09/0022/MOUT 60
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 39 Fore Street, Seaton 14/1960/MRES 13
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Former Racal site, Riverside Way, Seaton 16/0503/MRES 90
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land north of Macwood Drive, Seaton 14/2207/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 3 Seaton Down Road, Seaton 15/0959/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Quantock, Harepath Road, Seaton 16/1903/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Seaton Police Station, 76 Queen Street, Seaton 18/0980/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 8 Everest Drive, Seaton 18/2265/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 John Wood, Church House, 49 Queen Street, Seaton 19/1688/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Vintage Court, The Square, Seaton 19/2445/FUL 7
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Foxford, 51 Fore Street, Seaton 20/0959/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 4 And 5 Trevelyan Road, Seaton 20/1456/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hook And Parrot Inn, East Walk, Seaton 21/0891/FUL 6
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Montpelier House, 78 Queen Street, Seaton 21/1446/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 9 Meadow Avenue, Seaton, EX12 2AU 21/3315/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Willoughby House, Fore Street, Seaton 22/0653/FUL 5
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 15 Townsend Road, Seaton 22/1386/OUT 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 2 Harepath Road, Seaton 22/1492/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Halstead, Sea Hill, Seaton 23/0845/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 191 Beer Road, Seaton 23/1355/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Seaswift House, Sea Hill, Seaton 23/1968/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 469

Windfall allowance DNA 114
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 583

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 282



The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 283



Sidmouth (including Sidford and Sidbury) Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Sidm_01 24 127
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Sidm_06a 24 30
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Sidm_17 24 11
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Sidm_34 26 38
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Green Close, Drakes Avenue, Sidford 18/1779/MFUL 38
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Westcliff Hotel, Manor Road, Sidmouth 11/1521/FUL 8
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Hill, Muttersmoor Road, Sidmouth 12/2003/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 69 Temple Street, Sidmouth 16/1971/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rings Of Gold jewellers, Sidmouth 17/2488/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Bear House, Sidbury 17/2896/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 84 Winslade Road, Sidmouth 18/1733/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 55 Peaslands Road, Sidmouth 19/2142/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rear Section Of 40-42 High Street, Sidmouth 19/2614/FUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Sheffield House, Church Street, Sidmouth 20/2265/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Trow View, Two Bridges Road, Sidford 21/0910/FUL -1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 113 High Street, Sidmouth 21/1083/FUL 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Bindon Residential Home, 32-42 Winslade Road, Sidmouth 21/1600/VAR 6
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 110 High Street, Sidmouth 21/2500/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Victoria Hotel, The Esplanade, Sidmouth 06/2382/MRES 14
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Vacated EDDC offices, The Knowle, Sidmouth 16/0872/MFUL 134
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Green Close, Drakes Avenue, Sidford 18/1779/MFUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 36 Ladymead, Sidmouth  10/0806/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Kingsdown Business Park, Salcombe Regis 12/1805/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Former Scout group HQ, Manor Road, Sidmouth 14/1096/COU 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Lower Chelson Farm, Salcombe Regis 16/2290/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Utopia, 20 Fore Street, Sidmouth 17/0421/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Oaks, Brook Close, Sidford 17/0936/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Old Chapel, Chapel Street, Sidmouth 17/2882/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Rockshaw, Moorcourt Close, Sidmouth 17/2890/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 Laundry Lane, Sidford 18/1169/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land north of West Park Road (Tarn Hows), Sidmouth 18/1346/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Synderborough Farm, Sidbury 18/1643/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 St John Ambulance, Blackmore Drive, Sidmouth 18/1994/FUL 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 77 Alexandria Road, Sidmouth 19/0251/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land North Of Manstone Avenue, Sidmouth 20/0393/OUT 7
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Mentone, Vicarage Road, Sidmouth 20/2062/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 6 Church Street, Sidmouth 21/0960/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land To The Rear Of Trow View, Two Bridges Road, Sidford 21/1132/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 6 Holmdale, Sidmouth 21/1365/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sidcliffe Cottage, Questant Lane, Sid Road, Sidmouth 21/2921/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 70 Malden Road, Sidmouth 22/0547/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent Higher Fortescue, Sid Road, Sidmouth 22/1498/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Cutlers Hill House, Higher Greenway Lane, Sidmouth 22/2296/FUL 1

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 284



Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Kingdom Hall, Russell Street, Sidmouth 23/1158/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Ascerton Cottage, Ascerton Road, Sidmouth 23/1227/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 37 Alexandria Road, Sidmouth 23/1713/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 36A Fore Street, Sidmouth 23/1902/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 466

Windfall allowance DNA 204
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 670

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 285



Stockland Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Broadhayes Farm, Stockland 18/2400/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Court Place Farm, Wilmington 22/1953/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Churchstyle Farm, Stockland 20/1334/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 3

Windfall allowance DNA 8
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 11

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 286



Uplyme Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Tappers Knapp/Springhead Road UHG4 10
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Masters Close UHG4 5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation Lime Kiln Lane UHG4 4
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Harcombe House, Harcombe 20/0361/VAR 8
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Annie's Field Farm, (Land North Of Carswell Farm), Harcombe 15/2359/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent Greentie, Lyme Road, Uplyme 14/2547/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Garage At (Former) Lymewood Retirement Home, Lyme Road, Uplyme 19/1465/COU 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Talbot Arms, Uplyme 16/0824/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Dell Cottage, Uplyme 16/1869/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land oppostite Hillside Farm, Harcombe 17/1608/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 17 Glebelands, Uplyme 18/2169/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Waterside, Mill Lane, Uplyme 20/0713/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Higherfold, Whalley Lane, Uplyme 20/1141/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Harcombe House, Harcombe 20/1452/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Sunbeams, Rhode Lane, Uplyme 21/0970/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Harcombe Farm, Harcombe 21/2471/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Cathole Farm, Cathole Lane, Uplyme 22/1173/FUL 2

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 44

Windfall allowance DNA 22

TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 66

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 287



Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 288



Upottery Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Barn Five Metres South Of Underdown Farm, Upottery 21/0316/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Tarka Barn, Rawridge 18/0723/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 2

Windfall allowance DNA 10
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 12

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 289



West Hill Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_West_01 26 6
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_West_04 26 26
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_West_06 26 25
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land north of Eastfield, West Hill 14/2861/MRES 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Old Vicarage, West Hill 16/1039/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 West Hayes, West Hill Road, West Hill 17/1413/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Star and Sheene, West Hill 17/3050/RES 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Workshop at the Old Village Hall, West Hill 19/0161/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hasta La Vista, West Hill 16/2517/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Elsdon House (Land At Orchard Cottage), Elsdon Lane, West Hill 21/1565/OUT 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 64

Windfall allowance DNA 26
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 90

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 290



Whimple Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) Whim_11 26 33
Cranbrook Plan Allocation Cobdens Expansion Area CB4 22/0406/MOUT 500 Also in Cranbrook parish 

(not DNA) 

Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Emerging Plan - too 
early to say at this 
stage

Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Strete Ralegh Farm, Whimple 15/2655/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 East Strete Farm, Whimple   16/1648/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Applemead House, Whimple 17/1573/FUL 7
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Hazelsfield, Whimple 19/0425/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Barn At Larkbeare Court, Holly Ball Lane, Whimple 19/1764/PDQ 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Crockernhayes, Whimple 20/0991/PDQ 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Strete Ralegh Farm, Whimple 15/2655/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Laurels, Whimple 17/0907/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Whimple House Cottage, Whimple 19/0479/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 1 The Square, Whimple 20/2509/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Rutton Barns, Rull Lane, Whimple 21/0651/FUL 2
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Wymcot, Church Road, Whimple 22/1580/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Pithayes Farm, Church Road, Whimple 22/2207/FUL 4
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hand And Pen Garage, London Road, Whimple 22/2834/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land North Of Railway (Little Monitor Cottage), Whimple 23/1147/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 559

Windfall allowance DNA 22
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 581

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 291



Woodbury Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_GH/ED/72 25 131 NOT IN LYMPSTONE DNA

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_01 25 17
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_10 25 60
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_16 25 67
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_20 25 28
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_23 25 18
Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) LP_Wood_28 25 33
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land Adjacent To Trederwen, Town Lane, Woodbury 14/1380/MOUT 5
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 St Johns, Exmouth Road, Exton 14/1982/OUT 2
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Bridge Farm, Stony Lane, Woodbury Salterton 14/2969/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 4 Park View, Broadway, Woodbury 15/1433/FUL 3
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Riverhayes, Green Lane, Exton 15/2917/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Rydon Farm, Rydon Lane, Woodbury 16/1166/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Oakleigh, Woodbury Salterton 17/0746/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Moon River, Green Lane, Exton 18/2612/FUL 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Hope Cottage, 5 Fulford Way, Woodbury 19/1970/OUT 1
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 The Yard, Station Road, Exton 20/0811/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 Exton Farm, Exmouth Road, Exton 19/2132/MFUL 10
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent To Orchard House, Woodbury Salterton 07/2205/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Penryn, Woodbury 10/2179/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Orchard House, Globe Hill, Woodbury 13/0971/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjacent To Trederwen, Town Lane, Woodbury 14/1380/MOUT 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Hills, Venmore, Woodbury 14/2927/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Large Mobile Dwelling, Greendale Lane, Clyst St Mary 16/0201/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land Adjoining Woodbury Post Office, Broadway, Woodbury 16/2230/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Cannonwalls Farm, Woodbury Salterton 17/0829/PDQ 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Ness, Globe Hill, Woodbury 20/0205/RES 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Exton Top Yard, Exmouth Road (A376), Exton 22/0988/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Land At Venmore Barn, Woodbury 22/1761/FUL 8
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Marandor, Exmouth Road, Exton 22/2549/OUT 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Coombe Park Farm, Woodbury Salterton 23/0046/PDQ 3
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 407

Windfall allowance DNA 39
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 446

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 292



Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 293



Yarcombe Designated Neighbourhood Area (DNA)

Housing Supply Category Site Name Plan
Policy No.

Planning Application 
Reference

Number of 
Dwellings NOTES

Emerging Local Plan Allocation (Reg 18 2022) 0
Cranbrook Plan Allocation 
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation 
Major Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 0
Minor Completions 01/04/2020 to 31/03/2023 Land to the east of Littledown, Yarcombe 19/2471/FUL 1
Major Commitments at 31/03/23 0
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Ley Farm, Yarcombe 20/2890/FUL 3
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 Littledown Farm, Yarcombe 22/2680/FUL 1
Minor Commitments at 31/03/23 The Belfry Country Hotel, Yarcombe 23/0782/FUL 1
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 1 ) 6

Windfall allowance DNA 6
TOTAL (MINIMUM) DNA Housing Requirement Figure (OPTION 2 ) 12

Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan.
Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available.
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made or 'Recommended for Referendum' Neighbourhood Plan (which has not been wholly completed or consented (committed))
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures.
Sites proposed for allocation in emerging Neighbourhood Plans (prior to being Recommended to Referendum) are not included in these minimum figures, and would be additional.
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan
Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Report
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories (including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually): 
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 294



DESIGNATED 
NEIGHBOURHOOD 

AREA

Emerging 
Local Plan
Allocations

Adopted 
Cranbrook 

Plan 
Allocations

Neighbourhood 
Plan* 

Allocations 
(without 
planning 

permission)

Future 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Provision

Completions 
01/04/2020 to 

31/03/2023

Commitments 
at 31/03/23

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure

(OPTION 1 )

Windfall 
allowance

TOTAL DNA 
Minimum 
Housing 

Requirement 
Figure

(OPTION 2)
1 All Saints 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 8 10
2 Axminster 1,115 0 0 0 182 140 1,437 108 1,545
3 Axmouth 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 6 9
4 Aylesbeare 0 0 0 0 1 6 7 8 15
5 Beer 0 0 0 0 1 42 43 18 61
6 Bishops Clyst # 102 0 0 0 10 87 199 20 219
7 Broadclyst 175 90 44 0 777 1,261 2,347 73 2,420
8 Broadhembury 10 0 0 0 12 12 34 10 44
9 Budleigh Salterton 152 0 0 0 38 51 241 75 316

10 Chardstock 30 0 0 0 0 1 31 12 43
11 Clyst St. George 580 0 0 0 1 2 583 10 593
12 Clyst Honiton # 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 6
13 Colyton and Colyford 49 0 0 0 21 87 157 45 202
14 Cotleigh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2
15 Dalwood 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 6 8
16 Dunkeswell 43 0 0 0 4 25 72 26 98
17 East Budleigh with Bicton 0 0 0 0 2 6 8 14 22
18 Exmouth 730 0 0 0 401 534 1,665 472 2,137
19 Farringdon # 0 0 0 0 2 3 5 4 9
20 Feniton 42 0 0 0 14 11 67 26 93
21 Hawkchurch 38 0 0 0 2 3 43 8 51
22 Honiton 397 0 0 0 143 147 687 157 844
23 Kilmington 28 0 24 0 2 2 56 12 68
24 Luppitt 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 6 8
25 Lympstone 359 0 0 0 14 113 486 26 512
26 Membury 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 6 10
27 Monkton 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2
28 Newton Poppleford and Harpford 0 0 0 0 10 11 21 29 50
29 Otterton 23 0 0 0 15 2 40 8 48
30 Ottery St. Mary 416 0 5 0 101 50 572 98 670
31 Payhembury 0 0 0 0 7 16 23 10 33
32 Rockbeare 0 780 0 0 14 13 807 12 819
33 Seaton 217 0 0 0 48 204 469 114 583
34 Sidmouth (including Sidford and Sidbury) 206 0 0 0 64 196 466 204 670
35 Stockland 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 8 11
36 Uplyme 0 0 19 0 11 14 44 22 66
37 Upottery 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 10 12
38 West Hill 57 0 0 0 2 5 64 26 90
39 Whimple 33 500 0 0 12 14 559 22 581
40 Woodbury 354 0 0 0 17 36 407 39 446
41 Yarcombe 0 0 0 0 1 5 6 6 12

13,438
Notes:
Numbers shown are not final and are all subject to change at this stage.  
The table will be updated to align to the emerging Local Plan as decisions are made AND the Annual Housing Monitoring Updates, up to a set point in time when figures will be fixed for inclusion in the final Plan
Local Plan Allocation means 'preferred' and 'second choice' sites in the December 2022 Regulation 18 draft of the emerging Local Plan
# Housing numbers by DNA are not yet included for the further new community proposed by the draft emerging Local Plan as they are not yet available
Cranbrook Plan Allocations in the adopted Development Plan Document are the 4 Expansion Areas in Policies CB2 to CB5
*Neighbourhood Plan Allocation means site allocated in a Made neighbourhood plan or neighbourhood plan with recommendation for referendum (as of end February 2024) (where the site has not been wholly completed or consented (committed
Neighbourhood Plan Allocations consented or completed since 01/04/20 are included in Commitments and Completions figures
Provision from future neighbourhood plans (emerging or not yet started and not yet recommended to referendum) are not included in these minimum figures (indicated by being shown as zero in all cases).  Site allocations in these would be additional suppl
Dwellings completed on sites before 01/04/2020 are not included in the figures as they fall outside the Plan Period of the emerging Local Plan

NET HOUSING SUPPLY IN THE PLAN PERIOD (ACTUAL AND FORECAST COMPLETIONS) BY SUPPLY CATEGORY FOR EACH 
DESIGNATED NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA 

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 295



Major means sites of 10 or more dwellings (gross figure)
Minor means sites of 9 or less dwellings (gross figure)
Windfall allowance means a part of the district windfall allowance apportioned to the DNA using the method set out in the Technical Repor
Option 1 is the preferred option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories excluding a windfall allowance)
Option 2 is the alternative option for calculating the housing requirement figure for a Designated Neighbourhood Area (based on the sum of all housing supply categories including a windfall allowance)
Planning application reference means the 'parent' application for the developed (as referred to in Appendix 2 of the Housing Monitoring Updates published by the Council annually)
Monitoring ‐ East Devon

Appendix G Technical Report Method options for calculating housing

page 296



Report to: Strategic Planning Committee 

 

Date of Meeting: 12 March 2024 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Coastal Preservation Area policy boundaries in the new Local Plan 

Report summary: 

At the 7 September 2021 meeting, this committee agreed that “that the Coastal 

Preservation Area boundary be reassessed in light of any new development or change of 
use which has taken place since the previous assessment. The assessment would follow 

the format used in the previous assessment”. This report explains the process that was 
followed to achieve this review and the attached appendix sets out the proposed new 
boundaries. It is intended that the proposed Coastal Preservation Areas, supported by the 

assessment work, be subject to public consultation in Spring 2024.  

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

 

1. That Strategic Planning Committee endorse the assessment supporting the Coastal 

Preservation Area policy of the Local Plan, set out in appendix 1 of this report. 
 

2. That Strategic Planning Committee agree that the draft Coastal Preservation Areas, 

drawn in accordance with the methodology set out in the appendix, be subject to 
public consultation. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that Coastal Preservation Areas are based on a logical and transparent 

assessment process and that the public are given an opportunity to comment on the 
proposals as part of the local plan production process.  

 

Officer: Ed Freeman  – Assistant Director, Planning Strategy and Development 

Management, e-mail – efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk, Tel 01395 517519 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☒ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☒ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

page 297

Agenda Item 9

mailto:efreeman@eastdevon.gov.uk


☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☒ Strategic Planning 

☒ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

. 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Medium Risk; It is important that we set out how Coastal Preservation Area 

boundaries are to be defined to ensure a rational process is followed and can subsequently 

be justified. It is important that the public are given the opportunity to provide feedback in 
response to the draft proposals. 

Links to background information  

See links in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 

 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Better homes and communities for all  

☒ A greener East Devon 

 
 

 

 

1. Introduction  

 

1.1 The current Local Plan contains a number of designations (and associated policies) 

that will protect the landscape element of the natural environment. The NPPF (para. 

180 c) requires local authorities to “maintain the character of the undeveloped coast, 

while improving public access to it where appropriate”. The current Local Plan 

contains Strategy 44 which protects the character of the undeveloped coast (including 

the World Heritage Site) and designates a Coastal Preservation Area (CPA). This 

local designation is based on the (now obsolete) Devon Structure Plan Coastal 

Protection Area, updated through a detailed character assessment of undeveloped 

coast in terms of openness and views to and from the sea carried out in 2012 (based 

on guidance from the Devon Landscape Policy Group). 

 

1.2 The CPA is a policy to protect the finite resource of the undeveloped coast from 

development.  Restrictions against development in CPAs are stronger than those for 

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs).   

 

1.3 To inform the new EDDC Local Plan a further re-assessment of the CPA boundary is 

required in the light of new development or land use change which has taken place 

since the previous assessment.  The assessment is to follow the format used in the 

page 298

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


previous assessment and as described in Appendix 1. 

 

1.4 The continued protection of the undeveloped coast was supported at Issues and 

Options consultation stage and this was reinforced by the strong support for the 

suggested Coastal Preservation Area policy approach shown through the Draft Local 

Plan consultation last year.  

 

2 Proposed Coastal Preservation Area Boundary and relationship to potential 

development allocations 

 

2.1 An assessment of the coastal area of East Devon (Appendix 1) has been undertaken 

by the EDDC Landscape Architect in accordance with the methodology set out within 

that assessment.  

 

2.2 The methodology is based on ‘An approach for defining undeveloped coast’ DLPG 

Advice note 3. The original Coastal Preservation Area designation provides a starting 

point or baseline for defining ‘Undeveloped Coast’ through the Local Plans and Local 

Development Documents.  This reflects the approach already adopted by many 

coastal planning authorities to date and uses the criteria recommended by the Devon 

Landscape Policy Group. 

 

2.3 Areas for inclusion within the CPA should be substantially unaffected by development, 

and should be generally either visible from cliff top, beach, sea or estuary, or form part 

of the view from significant lengths of an access road, public footpath or bridleway 

leading to the coast or from the long-distance coastal footpath. Members should be 

aware that several proposed development allocations are located within the CPA area 

and there could be potential for conflict between these allocations and the 

‘undeveloped’ character of the CPA, this is discussed below.   

 

2.4 Generally the CPA extends inland to the visual horizon beyond which close inter-

visibility with the marine environment ceases and coastal influences are largely lost. 

On the low-lying coastal levels, there is no abrupt cessation of views and maritime 

influence, but a progressive reduction inland. The inclusion of these areas within the 

Undeveloped Coast is principally related to the maritime influence on the vegetation, 

ecology and resulting character of the coastal hinterland. 

 

2.5 The outer (coastal) extents of the CPA designation follow that of the council’s 

jurisdiction to the Low Water Mark.  Where estuaries and tidal creeks are present, a 

line is drawn across the mouth of these to include the waterbody extending inland 

within the designation.  This is in recognition of the key associations and visual 

relationships between the estuaries and their landscapes, and the significant 

contribution these locally distinctive stretches of water make to the character of their 

associated landscapes. 

 

2.6 Settlements are excluded from the CPA where their size and form would be a clear 

departure from the key “undeveloped” characteristic.  Smaller development features 

page 299



may be included in the designation where they either positively contribute to the 

coastal character (e.g. historic hamlets, farmsteads and landmark buildings) or where 

their exclusion may perpetuate harmful forms of development in an otherwise 

undeveloped coastal location (eg. caravan/ holiday parks, and modern agricultural 

sheds). 

 

2.7 Taking the existing CPA boundaries as a starting point the review is a light touch 

assessment of their continuing appropriateness based on a combination of desk study 

and field observation.  The assessment refers in detail to the recent development and 

policy changes that have occurred since the current boundaries were adopted. It also 

identifies land within the CPA that is currently proposed for development in the 

emerging local plan and notes that the CPA boundary may need to be further 

amended (at Regulation 19 stage) to exclude the finalised development allocations. 

 

2.8 Along the East Devon coastline the exclusion of the larger settlements breaks the 

CPA up in to five distinct sections defined in the assessment as: 

Area 1 – Lyme Regis to Seaton 

Area 2 – Seaton to Sidmouth   

Area 3 – Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton 

Area 4 – Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth  

Area 5 – Exmouth to Topsham 

 

2.9 Each of these areas has been reviewed in the assessment and maps showing the 

proposed new extent of each section of the CPA are shown overleaf. Larger scale 

maps of these sections are shown in the proposed consultation material in Appendix 

3, along with detailed extracts showing the proposed changes in greater detail- these 

form the basis of the consultation.   

 

  

page 300



Area 1- Lyme Regis - Seaton  

page 301



 

page 302



 

 

 

page 303



 

page 304



 

2.10 Overall, the assessment concludes that relatively little development impacting 

upon the character of the undeveloped coast has taken place since the current 

Local Plan was adopted. This suggests that the policy approach has been 

successful in practice and supports the continued designation.  

 

page 305



2.11 In considering the attached report, Members should be aware that there is an 

overlap between the CPA designation (including a proposed extension to the 

CPA to include Land at Littleham see Exmo_17 below) and some of the 

preferred/proposed development allocations. This raises a potential conflict with 

the objective of the CPA – “to protect the finite resource of the undeveloped 

coast from development”.  

 

2.12 At this stage the CPA is a draft, consultation version of a technical assessment. 

It acknowledges that the boundary may need to be amended to reflect 

development allocations but, as these are not yet finalised, it is based on the 

coastal area at the present time. Members will need to ultimately decide 

whether these sites should be included in the CPA (as is currently proposed on 

the maps above) and, if so, should they not be allocated for development or 

whether, on balance, the need and justification for development outweighs the 

CPA inclusion arguments. At this stage it is suggested that the full extent of the 

CPA as established in the technical assessment be subject to consultation and 

any further amendments to the boundary be decided (based on the outcome of 

the consultation, final decisions on site allocations and any other evidence) 

prior to the Regulation 19 consultation. The affected sites are as follows: 

  

Seaton to Sidmouth Section 

Site Seat_09 proposed for 7 homes (Seaton) 

 
 

 

 
page 306

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpseat09/step1


Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth Section (Exmouth) 

Exmo_17 proposed for 410 homes, 1.6ha employment  

 
 

Ebford to Exmouth Section 

Exmo_23 proposed for 12 homes (Exmouth) 

 
page 307

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpexmo17/step1
https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpexmo23/step1


 

Ebford to Exmouth Section 

Lymp_07 proposed for 100 homes and 0.4ha employment 

(Exmouth) 

 
 

Ebford to Exmouth Section 

GH/ED/72 proposed for 131 homes and 0.52ha employment 

(Lympstone) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
page 308

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lplymp07/step1
https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpghed72/step1


Ebford to Exmouth Section (Lympstone) 

GH/ED/73 proposed for 46 homes and 0.18 employment  

 
 

Ebford to Exmouth Section  

Lymp_08 proposed for 14 homes (Exmouth) 

 page 309

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpghed73/step1
https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lplymp08/step1


 

Ebford to Exmouth Section  

Lymp_09 proposed for 54 homes (Exmouth) 

 

 

Ebford to Exmouth Section (Exmouth) 

Lymp_10a proposed for 75 homes and 1ha employment  

 page 310

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lplymp09/step1
https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lplymp10a/step1


 

Ebford to Exmouth Section  

Wood_28 proposed for 33 homes and 0.13ha employment 

(Exton) 

 
 

3 Consultation 

 

3.1 It is proposed that public consultation on various local plan designations and 

allocations, including Coastal Preservation Areas as set out in Appendix 2, will 

be undertaken as soon as possible after receiving SPC approval. Such 

consultation will last for a minimum of 6 weeks. 

 

 

Financial Implications:  

There are no direct financial implication resulting from the report.  

Legal Implications:  

There are no direct legal implications resulting from the report.  

 

 

 
page 311

https://eastdevonlocalplan.commonplace.is/en-GB/proposals/lpwood28/step1


1 
 

EAST DEVON COASTAL PRESERVATION AREA REVIEW 

Introduction 

NPPF para. 1801 requires that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the 

natural and local environment by [inter-alia] maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, 

while improving public access to it where appropriate.  Alongside other local authorities in Devon, 

the councils have decided to define the Undeveloped Coast through policy designation, to allow the 

consistent application of this NPPF principle. 

 
In East Devon the Undeveloped Coast is designated as Coastal Preservation Area (CPA) in the Local 
Plan.  The CPA is a policy to protect the finite resource of the undeveloped coast from development.  
Restrictions against development in CPAs are stronger than those for Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONBs).  Areas for inclusion within the CPA should be substantially unaffected by 
development, and should be generally either visible from cliff top, beach, sea or estuary, or form 
part of the view from significant lengths of an access road, public footpath or bridleway  
leading to the coast or from the long-distance coastal footpath. 

 

Generally the CPA extends inland to the visual horizon beyond which close inter-visibility with the 

marine environment ceases and coastal influences are largely lost. On the low-lying coastal levels, 

there is no abrupt cessation of views and maritime influence, but a progressive reduction inland. The 

inclusion of these areas within the Undeveloped Coast is principally related to the maritime 

influence on the vegetation, ecology and resulting character of the coastal hinterland. 

 

The outer (coastal) extents of the CPA designation follow that of the council’s j urisdiction to the Low 

Water Mark.  Where estuaries and tidal creeks are present, a line is drawn across the mouth of these 

to include the waterbody extending inland within the designation.  This is in recognition of the key 

associations and visual relationships between the estuaries and their landscapes, and the significant 

contribution these locally distinctive stretches of water make to the character of their associated 

landscapes. 

 

Settlements are excluded from the CPA where their size and form would be  a clear departure from 

the key “undeveloped” characteristic.  Smaller development features may be included in the 

designation where they either positively contribute to the coastal character (e.g. historic hamlets, 

farmsteads and landmark buildings) or where their exclusion may perpetuate harmful forms of 

development in an otherwise undeveloped coastal location (eg. caravan/ holiday parks , and modern 

agricultural sheds). 
 

As part of the new local plan making process the existing CPA boundaries have been subject to 

review to ensure they remain relevant.  Along the East Devon coastline the exclusion of the larger 

settlements breaks the CPA up in to five distinct sections defined here as: 

Area 1 – Lyme Regis to Seaton 

Area 2 – Seaton to Sidmouth   

Area 3 – Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton 

                                                                 
1 National Planning Policy Framework December 2023 

page 312



2 
 

Area 4 – Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth  

Area 5 – Exmouth to Topsham 

Each of these areas has been reviewed.  Taking the existing CPA boundaries as a starting point the 

review is intended as a light touch assessment of their continuing appropriateness based on a 

combination of desk study and field observation.  CPA maps highlighting proposed changes are 

provided in Appendix 1.  A detailed methodology is set out in Appendix 4 and is based on that used 
in the previous assessment.   

The review is informed by published landscape character assessments comprising National Character 

Areas (NCAs), Landscape Character Areas (LCAs) and East Devon Landscape Character Types (LCTs).  

NCAs are a suite of landscape character assessments covering the whole of England and are based 

on broad geographical areas.  LCAs are prepared at County level and may be viewed on the Devon 

CC environment viewer2.  They are place specific geographic entities made up of groupings of LCTs.  

A total of 68 LCAs have been described covering the entire county.  LCTs are based on landform (eg 

Coastal cliffs; Planned inland plateau; etc.) and can occur in different locations across the District.  

They are described in the East Devon and Blackdown Hills Landscape Character Assessment, EDDC, 

20193.  A summary of key characteristics for each of the LCTs within the CPA is provided at Appendix 
2.   

 

Review of CPA areas 

AREA 1: Lyme Regis to Seaton 

Overview 

Area 1 extends from the County and District boundary in the east, which coincides with the urban 

edge of Lyme Regis, westwards across to and including the Axe valley.  Apart from the Axe estuary, 

the seaward boundary is marked by cliffs and landslips along its full length.  The A3052 forms the 

inland boundary which varies between 1 and 3km from the shore and generally follows an 

undulating ridgeline rising up to 158mAOD affording views southwards over the open coastal 

plateau with dramatic wind clipped trees and occasional glimpse views of the sea.  At its western 

end the landform drops sharply to the broad Axe estuary and marshes.  The settlements of 

Axmouth, Colyford and Seaton are excluded from the CPA.  All of this CPA section falls within the 
East Devon AONB. 

Landscape Character 

The CPA within Area 1 is entirely within the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA except for a 

small strip at the western end which falls within the Axe Valley LCA.  Special qualities and key 

features of the LCAs relevant to Area 1 are summarised below: 

Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA – Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 

                                                                 
2 Devon Landscape Character Areas - https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/landscape/devon-
character-areas/east-devon-area/ 
3 East Devon and Blackdown Hills Landscape Character Assessment, Fiona Fyfe Associates 2019  

page 313

https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/landscape/devon-character-areas/east-devon-area/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/landscape/devon-character-areas/east-devon-area/


3 
 

 Area between the cliff tops and Mean Low Water Mark forms part of the Dorset and East Devon 
Coast WHS, of outstanding world value for its geological and geomorphological formations 
(particularly fossils). 

 Undercliffs valued for nature conservation and geological formations – Axmouth to Lyme Regis 

Undercliffs SSSI, SAC and NNR. 

 Historic Park and Garden at Rousdon. 

 High value for recreation, including part of the South West Coastal Path long distance route. 

 Many cultural associations with writers and artists who have been inspired by the dramatic 
coastal scenery including Lionel Aggett, John Fowles and Carolyn Vernon. 

Axe Valley LCA - Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 
 The middle and lower reaches of the valley floor are typically broad and open.  
 Meandering course of the river Axe and network of drainage ditches are features of the 

floodplain and maritime tidal marsh at the estuary and coast. 
 Historic settlements sited at old river crossing points just above the floodplain including Seaton 

and Colyford. 
 River Axe is SSSI and SAC. 
 Estuary habitats valued for their saltmarshes and mudflats (Seaton Marshes CWS) and waders.  
 Vernacular buildings of cob and thatch and village church towers that add to the picturesque 

qualities of the area. 
 Second World War pillboxes within flood plain form a distinctive landscape feature.  
 Important area for recreation including walking and horse riding – area includes the East Devon 

Way long distance footpath which runs through the valley. 

This section of the CPA comprises a total of seven LCTs most of which are coastal  as summarised in 

the table below.  Their key features relevant to the CPA are set out in Appendix 1. 

LCTs within CPA Area 1 Estimated percentage 
cover 

Coastal LCTs  
1B Open coastal plateau   60 

4H Cliffs 15 

4B Marine levels and coastal plains 10 
4A Estuaries 2 

4D Coastal slopes and combes 3 
Inland LCTs  

3A Upper farmed and settled slopes 8 
3B Lower rolling farmed and settled slopes 2 

 

The landscape within CPA Area 1 is generally representative of the LCA and LCT descriptions.  Overall 

it is of good scenic quality with few modern detractors present and a high degree of tranquillity and 

remoteness away from main roads.  There is a strong sense of openness and exposure across the 

plateau in marked contrast to the shelter and enclosure of the combes and, at its western end, the 
low-lying breadth of the Axe estuary. 

Consistency with CPA boundaries 

Pockets of LCTs 3A and 3B that occur in CPA Area 1 to the eastern edge of the Axe Valley, are inland 

character types which rise from the coastal plain to the open coastal plateau.  Their inclusion within 

page 314



4 
 

the CPA boundaries is consistent with the methodology in that they are minor elements with coastal 
context. 

The existing boundaries of the CPA are generally consistent with relevant LCAs and LCTs.  In some 

places the Open coastal plateau LCT extends northwards beyond the current CPA boundary, but in 

such instances land has a northerly aspect preventing views of the sea, is sheltered somewhat by 

rising land to the south and coastal influences are very limited or negligible.  Similarly some land 

within the CPA boundary to the south of the A3052 has an inland aspect.  However, in such instances 

slopes are gentle and the overall windswept open coastal plateau character prevails.  The alignment 
of the inland CPA boundary with the A3052 is therefore justified and provides a clear marker. 

Recent development and policy changes 

There are no recent developments or other physical changes within the existing CPA boundaries that 

adversely affect its character or would require adjustment of its current boundaries. 

There are no proposed policy changes or land allocations within the emerging new Local Plan that 
would affect the CPA boundaries.  

Area 1 Recommendation: Retain CPA boundaries to Area 1 as existing. 

 

AREA 2: Seaton to Sidmouth 

Overview 

Area 2 extends from the western edge of the Axe estuary westwards to the eastern edge of 

Sidmouth and Sidford excluding the built-up areas of Seaton and Colyford.  The built-up areas of 

Beer and Branscombe are also excluded.  The coastline is predominantly high cliff dropping to 

occasional steep-sided combes.  The inland extent varies between 1 to 2.2km from the coast.  At its 

eastern and western ends the A3052 marks the inland boundary but over the middle section where 

the A3052 swings further inland the CPA boundary is defined by minor lanes or field boundaries.   All 

of the Area 2 CPA section lies within the East Devon AONB apart from a strip at the eastern end 

between the built-up areas of Beer and Seaton extending inland as far as the A3052. 

Landscape character 

Area 2 lies entirely within the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA except for a small area in 

the northwest corner, north of the hamlet of Fortescue, which lies within the East Devon Central 

Ridge LCA.  Special qualities and key features of these LCAs relevant to this section of the CPA are 

summarised below: 

Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 

 The landform varies from steep cliff to open exposed coastal plateau to incised steep combe 

valleys which penetrate, curve and branch inland. 

 Woodland and vegetation is restricted to more sheltered locations of the combe valleys and 

undercliff; while trees on the open plateau top comprise distinctive shelterbelts of  Monterey 

pine and larch or occasional windblown gnarled hedgerow trees. 

 Mainly arable land use on the plateau top with medium-sized regular fields defined by low 

hedgebanks, with small scale fields on old cliff landslips e.g. Branscombe, Beer.  

 Steep combe valley sides mainly pastoral with small irregular fields. 

page 315



5 
 

 Semi-natural habitats that include the undercliff, where landslips have occurred and scrub and 

woodland vegetation has developed, chalk grasslands, saltmarsh, mudflats and old ash pollards 

important for lichen flora. 

 Historic settlements in the combes and larger settlements on the estuaries (Beer, Sidmouth).  

 Area of high tranquillity away from larger settlements and A3052 coastal road, particularly in the 

sheltered combes. 

 Exceptional views out to sea and along the coast 

 Area between the cliff tops and Mean Low Water Mark forms part of the Dorset and East Devon 

Coast WHS, of outstanding world value for its geological and geomorphological formations 

(particularly fossils). 

 The chalk and limestone cliffs unique in a Devon context and the most westerly chalk cliffs in 

England. 

 Rare chalk grassland along the coast which is designated SSSIs and CWS. 

 Undercliffs valued for nature conservation and geological formations – Sidmouth to Beer Coast 

SSSI and SAC. 

 High value for recreation, including part of the South West Coastal Path long distance route.  

 Many cultural associations with writers and artists who have been inspired by the dramatic 
coastal scenery including Lionel Aggett, John Fowles and Carolyn Vernon. 

East Devon Central Ridge LCA - Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 

 Elevated narrow ridge with a rolling topography underlain by clay-with-flints or Upper 

Greensand. 

 Steep scarp slopes that are densely wooded – ancient oak with bluebells and primroses; and 

some conifer plantations which extend onto the ridges. 

 Low narrow earthbanks with hedges on the ridgetop, with wider historic banks in the upper 

farmed valleys and more species-diverse Devon hedges (e.g. beech, sycamore, ash, hazel and 

gorse) with flower, fern and moss-rich banks on lower slopes. 
 Mainly pasture (often improved) and dairy farming with some mixed farming on heavy brown 

soils. 
 High scenic quality  
 Outstanding views across East Devon 

This section of the CPA comprises a total of eight LCTs most of which are coastal as summarised in 

the table below.  Their key features relevant to the CPA are set out in Appendix 1.  

LCTs within CPA Area 2 Estimated percentage 
cover 

Coastal LCTs  
1B Open coastal plateau   40 

4A Estuaries 5 

4B  Marine levels and coastal plain 10 
4D Coastal slopes and combes 25 

4H Cliffs 9 
Inland LCTs  

2A Steep wooded scarp slopes 3 
3A Upper farmed and settled slopes 5 

3B Lower rolling farmed and settled slopes 5 

3C Sparsely settled farmed valley floors 3 
 

page 316



6 
 

The landscape within CPA Area 2 is generally representative of the LCA and LCT descriptions.  This is 

a particularly varied stretch of coastline comprising a series of headlands and ebbs with a changing 

geology clearly seen in high cliffs ranging from white chalk at Beer to soft red marls at Sidmouth.  

The hinterland of the coastal plateau is incised by a number of north/ northwest running deep and 

branching coastal combes.  There is a strong sense of time depth with extensive evidence of 

occupation by early peoples and numerous important archaeological sites.  Overall it is of very high 

scenic quality and heritage value.  Although there are several large caravan sites, most notably at 

Beer Head, their visual impact tends to be localised.  Otherwise there are few modern detractors 

present.  Beer and Branscombe together with the Donkey Sanctuary at Weston are popular 

recreation destinations.  There is a high degree of tranquillity and sense of remoteness away from 

the main settlements and tourist hot spots, while the varied topography affords spectacular views 

over and along the coast.    

Consistency with CPA boundaries 

The existing boundaries of the CPA are consistent with relevant LCAs and LCTs.  In some places the 

Open Coastal Plateau LCT extends northwards beyond the existing CPA boundary, but in such 

instances intervening landform and vegetation prevent views to the coast, coastal influences are 
slight and the inland boundary can be more conveniently defined by the A3052.   

As developed land, Beer Quarry has been excluded from the current CPA.  However, an undeveloped 

field parcel to the north of the quarry extending up to Paizen Lane is also excluded.  As Paizen Lane 

runs along a ridge and forms the CPA boundary to the east and west, there is an argument for 

inclusion of this field within the CPA.  Field visits have identified sea views from adjoining fields and 

glimpse views through the hedgerow bordering Paizen Lane adjacent to this parcel. 

At its western end, CPA Area 2 drops steeply down from the coastal plateau to the Sid Valley 

through inland LCTs 2A and 3A.   From the hamlet of Fortescue these afford views to High Peak and 

coastal promontories beyond (notably from the descent of Sidmouth footpath 117).  North of 

Fortescue the valley slope assumes a northwesterly aspect and views of the coast are prevented by a 

combination of landform, vegetation and buildings and coastal character is lost.  This is ref lected in a 

change of LCA from the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau to the inland East Devon Central 

Ridge LCA.  Despite this the CPA currently extends north from Fortiscue to the A3052, which appears 
to be an anomaly.   

Recent development and policy changes 

A parcel of land within the CPA at Short Furlong, Beer below the school site has recently been 

developed as a small housing scheme.  Adjacent land is allocated for housing within the Beer 

Neighbourhood Plan and has outline consent for up to 30 dwellings.  Nearby, consent has recently 

been granted for development of a large storage building and sound studio at the Pecorama site also 
within the CPA but it is less certain that this development will proceed.  

There are no proposed policy changes or other land allocations within the emerging new Local Plan 

that are likely to affect the CPA boundaries.  

Area 2 Recommendation:  

a) To amend the CPA boundaries to omit land west of Soldiers Wood between Fortescue 
and the A3052 as fig. 1 below.   

page 317



7 
 

 

Figure 1 – Land outlined red recommended for omission from current CPA (blue hatch) 

b) To amend CPA boundaries to include land between Beer Quarry and Paizen Lane – Parcel A 
in fig. 2 below) 

c) To amend the CPA boundaries to exclude land allocated for housing in the Neighbourhood 

Plan at Short Furlong Beer (parcel B in fig. 2 below). 

  

 

Figure 2 - Land recommended to be added to CPA (parcel A) and omitted from CPA (parcel B) 

 

page 318



8 
 

AREA 3: Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton 

Overview 

Area 3 extends from the western edge of Sidmouth westwards to the eastern edge of Budleigh 

Salterton, the dominant landscape features being High Peak and Peak Hill.  The inland extent varies 

between 1.5 to 2km from the shore. The inland boundaries comprise a mix of minor lanes and at the 

western end follow the course of the former railway between Otterton and Budleigh Salterton.  All 
of the Area 3 CPA lies within the East Devon AONB. 

Landscape character 

Area 3 lies entirely within the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA.  Key features of the LCA 
relevant to this section of the CPA are summarised below: 

Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA - Distinctive character and special qualities 

 Coastal cliffs of red sandstone with pebble and sandy beaches. 

 The landform varies from steep cliff to horizontal estuary and from open exposed coastal 

plateau to incised steep combe valleys which penetrate, curve and branch inland. 

 Woodland and vegetation is restricted to more sheltered locations of the combe valleys and 

undercliff; while trees on the open plateau top comprise distinctive shelterbelts of Monterey 

pine and larch or occasional windblown gnarled hedgerow trees. 

 Mainly arable land use on the plateau top with medium-sized regular fields defined by low 

hedgebanks. 

 Semi-natural habitats that include the undercliff, where landslips have occurred and scrub and 

woodland vegetation has developed, saltmarsh, mudflats and old ash pollards important for 

lichen flora. 

 Historic settlements in the combes and larger settlements on the estuaries (Budleigh Salterton 

and Exmouth). 

 Area of high tranquillity away from larger settlements and A3052 coastal road, particularly in the 

sheltered combes. 

 Exceptional views out to sea and along the coast. 

 Area between the cliff tops and mean low water mark forms part of the Dorset and East Devon 

Coast WHS, of outstanding world value for its geological and geomorphological formations 

(particularly fossils). 

 Undercliffs valued for nature conservation and geological formations – Ladram Bay to Sidmouth 

SSSI. 

 Estuary habitats valued for their saltmarshes and mudflats (i.e. Otter Estuary SSSI and LNR and 

Otter Meadows CWS).  

 High value for recreation, including part of the South West Coastal Path long distance route.  

 Many cultural associations with writers and artists who have been inspired by the dramatic 
coastal scenery including Lionel Aggett, John Fowles and Carolyn Vernon. 

This section of the CPA comprises a total of eight LCTs most of which are coastal as summarised in 
the table below.  Their key features relevant to the CPA are set out in Appendix 1. 

LCTs within CPA Area 3 Estimated percentage 
cover 

Coastal LCTs  

1B Open coastal plateau   20 

page 319



9 
 

4A Estuaries 5 
4B Marine levels and coastal plains 10 

4D Coastal slopes and combes 15 
4H Cliffs 5 

5D* Estate wooded farmland 25 

Inland LCTs  
2A Steep wooded scarp slopes 5 

3A Upper farmed and wooded slopes 5 
3B Lower rolling farmed and settled slopes 10 

*Although LCT 5D is a lso found in inland areas it i s considered coastal in this context as i t essentially comprises the 

des igned Bicton estate landscape on the Otterton peninsula overlaid on what would otherwise be considered open coastal 

plateau.    

The landscape within CPA Area 3 is generally representative of the LCA and LCT descriptions.   It is a 

landscape of very high scenic quality.  The coastline is marked by striking red sandstone cliffs and 

includes the highest points on the East Devon coastline (High Peak 157m and Peak Hill 159m AOD) 

and the prominent land mass of Mutter’s Moor behind.   Although the large holiday park of Ladram 

Bay lies within the CPA its visual impact is localised.  Otherwise, there is very little modern 

development evident within the CPA boundaries.  There are very extensive views afforded along the 
coast and to the hinterland rising to the Pebblebed Heaths.  

Consistency with CPA boundaries 

At the western end of Area 3, covering the Otterton peninsula and Otter estuary and tidal flats, 

there is a good correlation between the CPA boundaries and the published landscape character 

assessments.  From Buddleigh Salterton to Otterton the disused railway course clearly defines the 

inland boundary of the CPA.  Between Otterton and Sidmouth the topography becomes more 

complex.  This is reflected in the frequency of changes of LCTs which include a number of inland 

types which have limited coastal influence but which, due to their elevation and aspect, afford views 

to the coast and sea or form a visually prominent, undeveloped horizon in views from the coast.  

From Otterton eastwards the inland CPA boundary for Area 3 follows a mix of field boundaries, 

minor roads and green lanes and the urban edge of Sidmouth, generally following the Sidmouth and 

Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA boundary.  This takes in the north side of Bulverton Hill (northern end 

of Mutter’s Moor) despite its northerly aspect on a wooded slope with no coastal influence or views, 

but which forms part of spectacular panoramic views over undeveloped East Devon coastline from 
high ground to the west of Budleigh Salterton.  

A few field parcels between Stantyway Farm and Otterton included in the CPA have a steep 

northwesterly aspect with no coastal views or influence but form part of the view to undeveloped 

coastline seen from the high ground of the Pebblebed heaths to the northwest and their inclusion in 
the CPA is justifiable for this reason. 

Recent development and policy changes 

There are no proposed policy changes within the emerging new Local Plan that are likely to affect 

the CPA boundaries but housing allocations proposed at Sidmouth to the east of the B3176 (Bawd-

Sidmouth road) within the draft new local plan would require amendment of the CPA boundaries if 
confirmed.  

Area 3 Recommendation 

page 320



10 
 

Retain CPA boundaries to Area 3 as existing with minor adjustment north of Otterton and southeast 

of Burnthouse Farm to incorporate a local ridgeline and better fit with LCT 4A Coastal slopes and 

combes boundary as fig. 3 below: 

 

Figure 3 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary north of Pinn Lane Otterton by addition of land outlined in red 

 

AREA 4:  Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth 

Overview 

Area 4 extends from the western edge of Budleigh Salterton to the eastern edge of Exmouth and is a 

continuation of the high cliff and open coastal plateau.  The inland extent varies between 0.8 to 2km 

from the shore.  The inland boundaries comprise a mix of minor lanes and the B3178 Salterton Road.  

The eastern and western ends abut the built-up boundaries of Budleigh Salterton and Exmouth 
respectively.  All of the Area 4 CPA lies within the East Devon AONB. 

Landscape character 

The CPA within Area 4 is entirely within the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA.  Special 

qualities and key features of the LCA relevant to Area 4 are summarised below: 

Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA - Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 

 The landform varies from steep cliff to open exposed coastal plateau. 

 Woodland and vegetation is restricted to more sheltered locations of the combe valleys and 

undercliff; while trees on the open plateau top comprise distinctive shelterbelts of Monterey 

pine and larch or occasional windblown gnarled hedgerow trees. 

 Mainly arable land use on the plateau top with medium-sized regular fields defined by low 

hedgebanks. 

 Semi-natural habitats that include the undercliff, where landslips have occurred and scrub and 

woodland vegetation has developed. 

page 321



11 
 

 Exceptional views out to sea and along the coast 

 Area between the cliff tops and Mean Low Water Mark forms part of the Dorset and East Devon 

Coast WHS, of outstanding world value for its geological and geomorphological formations 

(particularly fossils). 

 High value for recreation, including part of the South West Coastal Path long distance route.  

 Many cultural associations with writers and artists who have been inspired by the dramatic 
coastal scenery including Lionel Aggett, John Fowles and Carolyn Vernon. 

This section of the CPA comprises a total of two LCTs most of which are coastal as summarised in the 
table below.  Their key features relevant to the CPA are set out in Appendix 1. 

LCTs within CPA Area 4 Estimated percentage 
cover 

Coastal LCTs  

1B Open coastal plateau 85 

Inland LCTs  
1C Pebblebed Heaths 15 

 

The landscape within Area 4 is generally representative of the relevant LCA and LCT descriptions.  

This is a relatively simple landscape of coastal plateau and cliff edge intersected by a prominent 

ridge of high ground towards its eastern end affording panoramic views in all directions.  The 

coastline comprises hard bands of red sandstone forming the headlands of Orcombe Point and 

Straight Point with softer clays between which have been eroded into bays.  The famous Budleigh 

Salterton pebble beds dip through the cliffs to the west of the town.  Of the five CPA sections it is the 

second most affected by development in the form of the extensive Sandy Park holiday park, adjacent 

MOD shooting range and Budleigh Golf Club, while the built-up edge of Exmouth is visible in views 

north from sections of the South West Coast Path.  Notwithstanding this, the coastal scenery is 

rugged affording dramatic views along the coast, out to sea and across the Exe Estuary and there is a 
strong sense of light, openness and exposure near the coast.    

Consistency with CPA boundaries 

The CPA boundaries align closely with the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA boundaries  

except, correctly, where the Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA extends further inland to 

include most of Exmouth. 

Proceeding inland from the coast, the landform rises gently to a low ridge some 1km from the shore 

and roughly parallel with it.  North of this the landform drops to the valley of Littleham Brook and 

rises beyond to Salterton Road and the CPA extends across this valley.  Although coastal influences 

are slight within the valley and there are no views to the sea, it is clearly seen in views from high 

ground on the Coast Path in the vicinity of West Down Beacon.  There are also views down the valley 
to the Exe Estuary over the tops of houses in Littleham.  

West of Littleham the CPA stops short of the built edge of the village by 200m despite the 

intervening land being visible from the coast path and affording views to the cliff tops and being 

included in landscape Character type 1B- Open coastal Plateau.   

 

 

page 322



12 
 

Recent development and policy changes 

A large housing allocation within the current CPA boundaries to the east of Littleham (Exmo_07) is 

being is being considered for inclusion in the emerging new Local Plan that, if confirmed, is likely to 

affect the CPA boundaries.    

Area 4 Recommendation: 

To extend the CPA boundary up to the edge of Littleham church yard as fig. 4 below. 

 

Figure 4 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by addition of land outlined in red 

 

Area 5:  Exmouth to Topsham 

Overview 

Area 5 extends from the northern edge of Exmouth to Topsham.  In contrast to the other four 

sections of CPA it is entirely estuarine.  The inland extent varies between 0.7 to 1.6km from the 

shore.  The settlements of Lympstone, Exton and Ebford are excluded as is Lympstone Commando 

Station.  The inland boundaries mostly follow field boundaries and, in some instances, minor lanes.  

The southern end abuts the built-up boundary of Exmouth.   None of the Area 5 CPA lies within the 
East Devon AONB. 

Landscape character 

Only about half of CPA Area 5 falls within the Exe Estuary and Farmlands LCA which extends from the 

estuary shoreline to just beyond the A376 Exmouth Road.  The remainder lies within Clyst Lowland 

Farmlands LCA and Pebblebed Heaths LCA.  Special qualities and key features of these LCAs relevant 
to Area 5 are summarised below: 

Exe Estuary and farmlands LCA - Distinctive qualities and key characteristics 

page 323



13 
 

 Extensive open, low-lying estuary opening onto south coast flanked by undulating farmland. 
 Deep red, fertile underlying soils that support intensive mixed farming and are visible within 

ploughed fields and as red sandstone cliffs at the coast. 
 Shallow valleys with small rivers and streams draining into the estuary, a landscape shaped by 

natural processes which changes with the tides. 
 Mixed woodland and notable areas of mature parkland concentrated within designed 

landscapes. 
 Patchwork of medium to large-scale fields delineated by hedgerows (often gappy). 
 Dunes, marshes, mud and sand flats and estuarine habitats (including Eel Grass) important for 

waders, wildfowl and sea birds. 
 Settlement pattern of nucleated villages, hamlets, farms and houses with cob, thatch, stone, 

render and slate and some brick; settlement denser on the eastern than the western bank. 
 Network of sunken, winding lanes with often dense, high hedgebanks connecting historic 

settlements and contrasting with modern infrastructure such as railway. 
 Enclosed and sheltered landscape with expansive views across open water and intertidal 

mudflats from estuary edge and adjacent slopes. 
 Views to major urban areas including Exeter and Exmouth which lie adjacent.  
 Recreational influences seen in small boats, boatyards, moorings, quays and as well as in nature 

reserves and cycling and walking routes. 
 Variable sense of tranquillity: tranquil in inland valleys and parts of the estuary where there is a 

serene quality, but disturbed close to settlements, railway and main roads.  
 Strong sense of place and scenic quality derived from the open character of the estuary with its 

maritime influences. 
 Character and unique qualities reinforced by the contrasting wooded backdrop of elevated land 

at Haldon Ridge and Woodbury Common. 
 Internationally important habitats valued for wildfowl including Ramsar, SPA, SSSI, NNR, LNR and 

CWS designations for estuary habitats and sea cliffs near Dawlish.  
 Notable Historic Parks and Gardens – including Powderham Castle, Oxton House and A La Ronde 

and The Point-in-View – which influence landscape character and scenic qualities and have 
notable collections of veteran trees. 

 Extensive opportunities for water-based as well as coastal recreation (Exe Estuary Nature 
Reserve and East Devon Way and Exe Valley Way long distance routes).  

 Distinctive views across and up and down the estuary, which can be particularly scenic under 
certain light conditions; this, along with abandoned vessels or hulks in the estuary, attracts 
artists to the area. 

 Buildings and features which denote the rich commercial history of the e stuary.  

Pebblebed Heaths and farmland LCA - Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 

 Views out to sea and also across the Exe Estuary. 

 Distinctive, unspoilt, wooded skyline providing local distinctiveness and orientation.  
 Outstanding views across East Devon to west and east and also south to the coast. 

 Sense of isolation, tranquillity and remoteness. 

Clyst Lowland Farmlands LCA - Distinctive characteristics and special qualities 
 Lowland, undulating farmed landscape underlain by mudstones, siltstones and sandstones. 

 Generally well treed appearance due to significant numbers of hedgerow trees although few 
woodlands. 

 Mixture of small to medium scale fields often with curving boundaries reflecting medieval origin. 
 Mixed farming including arable and some pasture along watercourses where there is seasonal 

flooding, as well as areas of horsiculture and hobby farming. 

page 324



14 
 

 Dispersed pattern of small villages (particularly along the watercourses many with ‘Clyst’ place 
names), dispersed farmsteads and town of Honiton. 

 Overarching perceptions of tranquillity and quintessential English lowland farmland when away 
from infrastructure and communication corridors and a sense of isolation in parts.  

 Views to surrounding ridges of higher land. 

This section of the CPA comprises a total of three LCTs, of which only one is coastal covering just 15 

% of the designated area as summarised in the table below.  Their key features relevant to the CPA 
are set out in Appendix 1. 

LCTs within CPA Area 3 Estimated percentage cover 
Coastal LCTs  

4B Estuaries 15 

Inland LCTs  
3B Lower rolling farmed and settled valley 
slopes 

35 

3E Lowland Plains 50 
 

The landscape within Area 5 is generally representative of the relevant LCA and LCT descriptions.   

The settlements of Lympstone, Exton and Ebford together with the urban edge of Exmouth fragment 

the rural character and exert an urbanising influence on adjacent land.  The existing settlement 

pattern and well treed, rolling landform break it up visually and away from the immediate shoreline 

opportunities for expansive views of the estuary are limited.  There are however pockets of 

attractive rural landscape including historic parkland at Courtlands, Nutwell Park and west of 
Harefield House and National Trust farmland to the south of Courtlands.   

As well as the established settlements and transport infrastructure , including the railway and A376 

which run through the CPA, it is subject to particularly high development pressure due to the 

desirability of living in the historic estuary-side settlements while the proximity of the M5 to the 

northern end makes it attractive for commercial development and expansion.  Within the eastern 

portion of the CPA, away from the A376 there is a strong rural character and pervasive sense of 

tranquillity. 

Consistency with CPA boundaries 

The inland extent of the Exe Estuary and Farmlands LCA is limited to the line of the A376 reflecting 

the limits of obvious coastal influence.   Land to the east of this included in the CPA boundary has a 

southwesterly aspect and affords occasional views of the estuary through field gates and over 

hedges although these are rarely expansive and tend to be filtered by intervening vegetation.   While 

this area has limited coastal influence it also provides the green undeveloped setting to views from 
the estuary and the western shore.   

The inland extent of the CPA generally follows low northwest-southeast running ridgelines except to 

the east of Lympstone where the boundary only extends 400m east of the A376 despite the 

landform continuing to rise to a ridge line 1-3km beyond and visible from the estuary and western 
shore.   

Recent development and policy changes 

Recent commercial development at Darts Business Park extends into the CPA. 

page 325



15 
 

Two large agricultural stores have recently been erected within the CPA at Lympstone to the east of 
Meeting Lane.   

A small housing development has recently been constructed within the CPA to the northeastern 

edge of Lympstone adjacent to Meeting Lane.  Further CPA land between Meeting Lane and 
Strawberry Hill is proposed as a housing allocation within the emerging local plan. 

Area 5 Recommendations 

Amend CPA boundaries at Darts Business Park as per fig. 5 below to omit recently developed land: 

 

Figure 5 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by omission of land outlined red 

b) Amend CPA boundaries to omit recent housing development at Strawberry Hill Lympstone 

as fig. 6 below: 

 

Figure 6 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary to omit recent housing development west of Stawberry Hill Lympstone  

page 326



16 
 

c) CPA boundaries to wash over barns recently constructed to west of Meeting Lane.  

d) Extend CPA boundary inland to the ridgeline east of Lympstone and north of Summer Lane, 
Exmouth as per figure 7 below: 

 

Figure 7- Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by addition of land outlined in red 

e) In addition to these amendments a number of small, isolated pockets of undeveloped land 
along the estuary shoreline that were not included in the CPA previously have been incorporated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 327



17 
 

References 

Principles of defining and maintaining the character of Devon’s undeveloped coast, Devon 

Landscape Policy Group Advice Note 3 – Consultation draft November 2013 

Seascape Assessment for the South Marine Plan Areas, Marine Management Organisation 

 MCA1: Lyme Bay West 

 MCA2: Lyme Bay (East) 

National Character Areas, Natural England 

 NCA 147 – Blackdown Hills 

 NCA 148 - Devon Redlands 

Devon Landscape Character Areas, Devon County Council 

 Sidmouth and Lyme Bay Coastal Plateau LCA 

 Exe Estuary and farmlands LCA 

 Pebblebed Heaths and farmland LCA 

 Clyst Lowland Farmlands LCA 

 East Devon Central Ridge LCA 

East Devon and Blackdown Hills Landscape Character Assessment, Fiona Fyfe Associates Ltd 2019 

Jurassic Coast Partnership Plan 2020-2025 - Management Framework for the Dorset and East Devon 
Coast World Heritage Site 

Link to land with sea views mapping data: https://explore-marine-plans.marineservices.org.uk/ 

  

page 328

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/publications/nca/default.aspx
https://explore-marine-plans.marineservices.org.uk/


18 
 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 - Coastal Preservation Area maps showing recommended omissions and 
additions 

Appendix 2 -Key characteristics of LCTs within CPA 

Appendix 3 – Land with sea views mapping 

Appendix 4 - Methodology 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 329



19 
 

 

page 330



20 
 

 

page 331



21 
 

 

page 332



22 
 

 

page 333



23 
 

 

page 334



24 
 

 

page 335



25 
 

 

page 336



26 
 

page 337



27 
 

Appendix 2 – Relevant key characteristics and special qualities of Landscape 

Character Types occurring within CPA 

LCT 1B Open coastal plateau 

 High, undulating, open plateaux, dissected and separated by combes and river valleys. Underlain 

by Permian and Triassic sandstone and mudstone in the west and limestone in the east.  

 Little woodland, with occasional plantations and estate planting.  Some windblown vegetation.  

 A relatively large scale landscape, with a regular medium to large field pattern, dense low 

hedges, containing mix of species and occasional hedgerow oaks. Mixed land use, mainly arable.  

 Semi-natural habitats include salt-tolerant coastal grassland, hedgerows, trees and verges, and 

wind-cropped thickets of blackthorn.  

 Local influence of Rousdon Estate, and a postmedieval pattern of fields and farms.  

 Low settlement density, mainly limited to scattered farms or hamlets. There are also several 

campsites and caravan parks.  

 Few roads, but many rights of way, including long sections of the South West Coast Path. Main 

roads are straight and fast along ridges. Minor roads linking combes are narrow and often 

sunken.  

 Extensive views along coast, often visible from South West Coast Path. Much of the LCT has a 

sense of openness and exposure. Context of open sky to the south and land to the north adds to 
the sense of place. 

LCT 2A Steep wooded scarp slopes 

 A narrow band of steeply sloping land immediately below the plateau edges. 

 Extensive woodland, both deciduous and coniferous. Trees and hedgerows increase its wooded 

appearance. Notable mature oak and ash trees.  

 Land use of mixed woodland and semi-improved or unimproved pasture. Small scale, irregular 

field pattern.  

 Many patches of semi-natural habitats, including springline mires, scrub, grassland and 

woodland.  

 Lightly settled, with occasional scattered farms, often nestled in folds of the scarp.  

 Narrow winding lanes with well-treed banks. Lanes often run at an angle to the slope. Some 

green lanes and footpaths, but much of the LCT is inaccessible.  

 Strong sense of enclosure in wooded areas, and a contrast of light and darkness. Irregular fields 

create varied and distinctive patterns.  

 Seasonal contrasts in colour, particularly in deciduous woodlands, including spring bluebell 

woods and autumn leaves.  

 From less wooded areas, and openings in trees, there are sudden and spectacular views over 

surrounding landscapes.  

 Strong sense of tranquillity over much of the LCT, particularly away from roads and settlements.  

 A rich diversity of woodland, grassland and springline habitats, within an historic landscape 

pattern.  

 Its dramatic appearance as a steep ridge at the tops of the valley sites, creating a seasonally-

changing backdrop to the valleys below.  

 A strong sense of tranquillity, and magnificent views over surrounding valleys and across to 
scarps 

 

page 338



28 
 

LCT 3A Upper farmed and wooded valley slopes 

 Small V-shaped valleys on upper slopes.  

 Deciduous woodland and copses, especially on upper slopes. Hedgerow trees (mostly oak and 

ash) add to the green and lush appearance.  

 Well-treed pastoral farmland, with some arable cultivation on lower slopes. Small to medium-

size fields with irregular boundaries. Associated with traditional Devon smallholdings.  

 Wide, species-rich hedges with many hedgerow trees. Grassland, stream and woodland habitats 

add to rich biodiversity.  

 A dispersed settlement pattern of isolated farms and small villages. Villages are often nucleated 

around a church, and contain local stone (chert) and cob buildings.   

 Very winding narrow lanes, many sunken with high banks and flower-rich verges.  

 An intimate and intricate landscape with wider views often confined by vegetation. Where views 

occur, they contain distinctive patchwork patterns of fields.  

 Relatively remote and tranquil with little obvious modern development.  

LCT 3B Lower farmed and settled slopes 

 Gently rolling landform, sloping up from valley floor.  

 Oak and ash predominate, and there are small blocks of woodland.  

 Predominantly pastoral farmland, often with a wooded appearance. Variable sized fields with 

wide, low hedged boundaries and a mostly irregular pattern, reflecting different phases of 

enclosure.  

 Semi-natural habitats include streams and ditches, grassland, woodland and trees.  

 Views tend to occur across valleys, rather from within them. Higher land in other LCTs forms the 
backdrop to views.  

LCT 4A  Estuaries 

• Estuaries opening out onto south coast. Covered with shallow water at high tide, with creeks and 

tidal rivers highly influenced by prevailing tidal condition. Shingle spits/ beaches at the mouths of 

the Axe and Otter estuaries.  

• River channels can be narrow and shifting, with strong tidal flows.  

• Areas defined by permanently dry land to east and west. Red sandstone headlands are distinctive 

features.  

• No tree cover within LCT, although trees on headlands (including Estate pl anting) add to character.  

• Semi-natural habitats include extensive mudflats, with areas of sandbanks, mudflats and 

saltmarsh, supporting a range of wildlife.  

• Unsettled, but influenced by adjacent towns.  

• Small quays and jetties found along the shore line, often associated with settlements. Adjacent 

railway/ tram lines and bridges.  

• Few roads or public rights of way within the LCT, but South West Coast Path, cycle routes, 

Tramway & Exe Valley Railway line run adjacent. Exe is well-used for water-based recreation, with 

majority of boat traffic comprising small recreational boats.  

• Mainly tranquil away from major settlements, with strong sensory characteristics. Distinctive views 

of Exe from trains and stations.  

• An open and expansive landscape, with large skies. Church towers (particularly at Exmouth) are 
skyline features. 

 

page 339



29 
 

LCT 4B  Marine levels and coastal plains 

• Flat land and open water within a floodplain, based on alluvial or tidal deposits, and containing 

some reclaimed farmland in areas formerly estuary.  

• Vegetation influenced by coastal conditions, with some hedges but limited tree cover.  

• Largely unenclosed, with some pasture on reclaimed grazing marsh divided by ditches. Extensive 

informal recreational use, including nature reserves.  

• Habitats of national importance include coastal grasslands, reedbeds, open water and grazing 

marsh.  

• Non-designated archaeological sites including lime kilns, former ports (e.g. East Budleigh) and 

medieval saltworking sites.  

• Largely unsettled, due to flooding.  

• No roads within the LCT, although some run along the periphery. Recreational routes include the 

South West Coast Path, and Seaton Electric Tramway. Evidence of historic use for water transport.  

• Parts are exceptionally tranquil, however, in some locations, the proximity of roads and 

settlements in adjoining areas reduces tranquillity.  

• Strong sensory characteristics: colour and texture of marshes, reeds and water, smell of water, 

nearby saltmarsh and mudflats, sound of birdcalls, reflecting sunlight and seasonal inundation. • 
Flat, expansive landscape with a feeling of space and long views, especially along valleys.  

LCT 4H Cliffs 

• Steeply-sloping cliffs of varying heights, nearly vertical in places; slopes shallower elsewhere due to 

landslips. Narrow shingle beaches at base of cliffs.  

• A dynamic landscape, with distinctive landforms and rock stratifications related to limestone and 

sandstone geology which extends inland and out to sea.  

• Predominantly treeless, although the eastern end of the study area is densely vegetated, with 

deciduous woodland and fern-rich groundcover.  

• Unenclosed, with occasional surviving examples of undercliff ‘platts’ used for vegetable growing.  

• Cliff faces support important breeding colonies of seabirds, and succulent plants. Local examples of 

extensively vegetated slumped landslips on lower half of cliff.  

• Remains of prehistoric barrows on cliff tops, also industrial remains (e.g. limekilns) and military 

archaeology.  

• Unsettled  

• Accessible only along cliff top via South West Coast Path, or in some places along beach.  

• Extensive and sometimes wild, with dominant marine influence and high levels of tranquillity and 

remoteness away from settlements.  

• Strong influences of weather and season, and contrasting colours of white limestone and red 

sandstone.  

• Extensive and dramatic views along coastline from cliff-top path, and associations with artists. 

 

 

 

page 340



30 
 

 

page 341



31 
 

Appendix 4 – Methodology 

EAST DEVON COASTAL PRESERVATION AREA REVIEW 2023 

The following methodology is based on ‘An approach for defining undeveloped coast’  DLPG Advice note 3. 
  
The original Coastal Preservation Area designation provides a starting point or baseline for defining ‘Undeveloped 
Coast’ through the Local Plans and Local Development Documents.  This reflects the approach already adopted by 
many coastal planning authorities to date. 
 
General principles 
 
Where a need is established to amend or review boundaries, the Devon Landscape Policy Group recommends the 
following criteria for defining the Undeveloped Coast, developed from those used to define the Coastal Preservation 
Area and earlier advice in PPG20: 
 
a) Landscapes that have a coastal character, including direct maritime influences and coastal related activities. As a 
minimum the area should include the open coast down to mean low water, rias and estuaries up to the tidal limits 
and including the whole tidal estuary channel. Landscape character types with a distinct coastal component of their 
key characteristics may be useful when considering the landward extent.  
 
b) An area of coastal landscape perceived as undeveloped and unspoilt by modern development.   This should 
acknowledge that most coastal landscapes in Devon have been influenced by human activity over time, and may 
therefore include landmark buildings, historic rural hamlets, farmsteads, farmed landscapes and country lanes for 
example that positively contribute to the rural ‘undeveloped’ character of the coastal landscape.  
 
c) The landward extent of the visual envelope visible from cliff tops, beaches, sea or estuary; or form part of the view 
from significant lengths of public highway, or other publicly accessible routes, leading to and along the coast, 
including the South West Coast Path and the intended new coastal trail / access land.  
 
Where undeveloped coast abuts existing large villages or urban areas, there should be a presumption against 
allocating land for future development along the coast, given that the undeveloped coast is a finite resource. 
 
The inland extent of the undeveloped coast will depend on its intrinsic coastal character and whether it is perceived 
by people to be undeveloped, rather than a definitive distance. Coastal character may extend to variable distances 
inland, depending particularly on the topography and natural and cultural influences such as tidal range, vegetation, 
coastal industries and activities. 
 
The seaward extent of the area should integrate with the Marine Plan/Marine Character Area i.e. overlap to include 
to the tidal limits, to Mean Low Water and to the tidal estuary channel. Some of these areas may fall outside local 
authority boundaries and within the Crown Estate. 
 
In Devon, the visual and cultural relationship between land and sea is integral to the character of the coast.  
Therefore the seaward area visible from the undeveloped coast should be taken into account when reviewing 
proposals for offshore development. 
Evidence base 
 
Landscape and seascape character assessments should be used to help define the undeveloped coast and to inform 
how to maintain its distinctive character through the planning process.   Devon Character Areas, Landscape Character 
Types, and emerging seascape assessments prepared by the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) should be 
referred to, along with National Character Areas, as appropriate.   
 
The Devon Historic Landscape Characterisation and Historic Environment Record should be integrated with this 
process and reference should be made to the Historic Seascape Characterisation being carried out by English 
Heritage to inform the Marine Plans. 
 

page 342



32 
 

Existing management plan and strategies should be consulted, such as those compiled for East Devon AONB, Jurassic 
Coast World Heritage Sites, Shoreline Management and other coast or estuaries management plans. These will help 
to identify the special qualities and sense of place which inform protection and enhancement, as well as natural 
processes and the changing character of the coast. 
 
Since the last Local Plan some additional policy and guidance has been produced including South Inshore and South 
Offshore Marine Plan July 2018, Marine Character Areas MC1 Lyme Bay West and MC2 Lyme Bay East, 2013.  The 
East Devon Landscape Character Assessment was updated in 2019.  These may have some influence on the CPA 
boundaries and will be reviewed as part of the assessment process. 
 
Desk study 
A desk study to analyse the areas with direct maritime influences and coastal related activities will be undertaken 
including review of published landscape and seascape character assessments; topography; areas of floodplain and 
flood risk within the coastal flood zone and the extent of land visible from the shore.  
 
o It should be noted that the administrative area of Teignbridge District and East Devon District stop at the Mean 
Low Water Mark which is also the seaward limit of the Coastal Zone defined in PPG20. The permanent open water 
channel of the River Exe falls within Crown jurisdiction.  
 
o A judgement is required to set the distance from the coast or estuary shore at which visible land cannot be 
described as ‘coastal’, where direct maritime influences and coastal related activities are not significant. The extent 
to which these criteria affect the landscape varies considerably depending on elevation and exposure. High inland 
ridges many miles from the coast can be influenced by the effect of salt laden winds, and may afford distant views to 
the sea, however they are not considered to form part of the ‘Undeveloped Coast’. For the purposes of this study 
the inland limit is judged to be a maximum of 4km from the coast or estuary shore. The inland limit of the 
‘Undeveloped Coast’ therefore varies considerably, the farthest limits lying at approximately 4km.  
 
o An analysis of the settlement boundary (Urban Residential Development Boundary, Village Envelope and Holiday 
Development Area) would be undertaken and land developed since the Adopted Local Plan 2013 would be excluded 
from the ‘Undeveloped Coast’.  
 
 
o Woodland, trees and hedgerows visible from sea or estuary should be included since these are landscape elements 
which form part of the ‘Undeveloped Coast’.  Land falling behind such features which would otherwise be visible 
should be included since they are not permanent and generally have no specific protection under law.   
 
o Buildings on the other hand are more permanent features and are rarely cleared and replaced with open land, 
except perhaps in cases of coastal erosion. Whilst individual and small groups of buildings and other developments 
may be ‘washed over’, larger settlements (villages and towns) are excluded.  
 
o Land obscured behind buildings along a settlement boundary should in the ory therefore be excluded. The limits of 
field work, however, mean it would not be feasible to survey all land potentially obscured behind the settlement 
boundaries. Previous mapping of the CPA mapped to a recognisable feature e.g. a field boundary, result ing in small 
fields or parts of fields being included within the CPA when they were obscured by buildings.  
 
o Mapping to a recognisable field boundary is a pragmatic approach which is in general terms effective. In some 
instances, however, large fields which cross ridges and summits or vary dramatically in elevation clearly have visible 
and non-visible areas.  In these cases the limits of the ‘Undeveloped Coast’ would be effectively defined by contours.  
 
o Consideration will also be given to principle publicly accessible routes leading to and along the coast to help define 
the visual envelope where visibility is not defined by views from the sea or estuary. For the purposes of this study, 
routes leading to the coast were considered to terminate within 1km of the shore. Visibility from these routes was 
considered looking towards the coast or estuary. An inland limit of approximately 4km was set. Land beyond 4km 
from the coast or estuary was considered to have limited coastal or maritime influences. Routes al ong the coast 
were considered to be roughly parallel with and within the 4km limit.   
 

page 343



33 
 

o Where coastal land is not visible from sea or coast but potentially from significant lengths of a publicly accessible 
route, views may frequently be obscured by hedges, banks, trees or woodland or indeed buildings along the route.  
Land which is not visible from significant lengths is excluded, taking into account whether the view from the route is 
obscured by vegetation, banks or buildings along the route itself.  The exceptions to this are where land is under 
direct maritime or coastal influence, small areas included for mapping purposes or pockets washed over within a 
wider area.  
 
o Within the CPA pockets of land e.g. in deep valley bottoms, which are not visible but fall within a larger visible area 
should be ‘washed over’, rather than leave ‘holes’ in the CPA.  Static caravan sites have also been washed over as 
these are considered to be relatively impermanent, are low in height and their replacement with larger permanent 
structures could adversely impact surrounding undeveloped coastal land. 
 
 
Field study 
o If field study work is to be undertaken it should be focussed on areas of land identified for potential inclusion and 
exclusion using information from the desk study, visual analysis and informed information gained from further 
consultation exercises. Consultations will be undertaken with East Devon AONB/ Jurassic Coast WHS/ Teignbridge 
DC, and other interested parties. 
 
Field study observations will be recorded on a standard template (attached at end) to help provide consistency in 
forming judgements, combined with site photographs.  Copies should be retained as evidence for justification of 
changes.  
 
Presentation of findings 
Proposed changes to CPA boundaries will be mapped using GIS software and summary location, description and 
justification for change provided in written/ tabular form. 
 

page 344



34 
 

Coastal character checklist – Site: 

 
Physical characteristics 

 
Dominant coastal 
influence 

  
No coastal 
influence 

Topography aspect and 
orientation 
 

     

Maritime activities 
 
 

     

Shoreline development 
(including sea defences) 
 

     

Vegetation pattern 
 
 

     

Presence of natural 
processes 
 

     

 
Experiential  
characteristics 

 
Dominant coastal 
influence 
 

  
No coastal 
influence 

Sense of space and light 
 
 

     

Sense of exposure and 
relative wildness 
 

     

Sense of naturalness and 
remoteness 
 

     

Extent of human influence 
(including cultural 
associations) 

     

Sights, sounds and smells 
associated with marine 
environment 

     

 
Visual characteristics 
 

 
Dominant coastal 
influence 
 

  
No coastal 
influence 

Views of coastline/ marine 
edge 

     

Views of sea/ estuary 
 

    
 

 

Notes: 

 

Undeveloped coast applicable:   Yes  No 

page 345



APPENDIX 2- Proposed consultation material 

East Devon Local Plan 2020 to 2040  

Preferred Options Reg. 18 Further Consultation Draft Plan  

Spring 2024 

We consulted on a draft local plan from November 2023 to December 2024 that 
referred to the coastal preservation area. At that stage we suggested policy wording 

and showed a potential boundary on a map but now we have undertaken more 
assessment work and are showing a proposed, updated, boundary which we would 
welcome your feedback on.  

In considering this we would encourage you to look at the consultation  
commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf (eastdevon.gov.uk) as this sets out the 

context for the policy and also to read our background technical papers - insert link 
(the methodology and full assessments).  

We propose to identify a boundary for the coastal preservation area to ensure that 

the special character of the undeveloped coast is protected and access to it is 
improved.  

Within the Coastal Preservation Area we will apply the following policy:  

Policy xx - Coastal Preservation Areas  
Land around the coast and estuaries of East Devon, as identified on the Policies 

Map, is designated as a Coastal Preservation Area. The Coastal Preservation Area 
is defined on the basis of visual openness and views to and from the sea.  

Development or any change of use will not be allowed if it would damage the 
undeveloped/open status of the designated area or where visually connected to any 
adjoining areas.  

Appropriate proposals which increase public access to the coast will be supported. 

The maps that follow show the areas of land that we think should be designated as 

Coastal Preservation Area, based on the current boundaries in the adopted Local 
Plan. We welcome your views on whether you think we have shown appropriate 
boundaries. If you think that different boundaries would be more appropriate, 

please tell us where they should go and why.  

The Coastline has been split into 5 sections: 

Area 1 – Lyme Regis to Seaton (this section is shown on two maps) 

Area 2 – Seaton to Sidmouth (this section is shown on two maps)   

Area 3 – Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton (this section is shown on two maps) 

Area 4 – Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth  

Area 5 – Exmouth to Topsham 

The Coastal Preservation Area will not include the towns between each section. The 

maps show these sections and, where changes are proposed, these are also shown 
on more detailed maps. 

The main purpose of the Coastal Preservation Area is to protect the undeveloped 

coastline. There are some potential development sites on the edges of settlements 

but within the Coastal Preservation Area. If these sites are built on this will change 

the undeveloped character of the area. Do you think that sites proposed for new 

housing or employment development should be included in the CPA or should 

the CPA be redrawn to exclude them? 

page 346

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/3724891/commonplace-reg-18-final-071122.pdf


 

Area 1 – Lyme Regis to Seaton – No change to current CPA boundaries 

 

page 347



 
 

page 348



Area 2 – Seaton to Sidmouth- Maps showing detailed changes   

Proposed change- Delete land west of Soldiers Wood between Fortescue and the 

A3052 as fig. 1 below.   

 

Figure 1 – Land outlined red recommended for omission from current CPA (blue hatch)  

Proposed Change- Include land between Beer Quarry and Paizen Lane (Parcel A in 

fig. 2 below). 

Proposed Change- Delete land allocated for housing in the Neighbourhood Plan at 

Short Furlong, Beer (parcels B in fig. 2 below). 

 

Figure 2 - Land recommended to be added to CPA (parcel A) and omitted from CPA (parcel B) 

 

 

 

Area 2 – Seaton to Sidmouth 

page 349



 

page 350



 

 

page 351



Area 3 – Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton- Maps showing detailed changes 

Proposed Change- Keep CPA boundaries to Area 3 as existing with small changes 

north of Otterton and southeast of Burnthouse Farm to include a local ridgeline and 

better fit with the landscape character boundary as fig. 3 below: 

 

 

Figure 3 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary north of Pinn Lane Otterton by addition of land outlined in red 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 352



Area 3 – Sidmouth to Budleigh Salterton 

 

page 353



 

 

 

Area 4 – Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth- Maps showing detailed changes  

page 354



 

Proposed change- To extend the CPA boundary up to the edge of Littleham church 

yard as fig. 4 below. 

 

Figure 4 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by addition of land outlined in red 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Area 4 – Budleigh Salterton to Exmouth 

page 355



 

Area 5 – Exmouth to Topsham- Maps showing detailed changes 

 

page 356



Proposed Change- Change the CPA boundaries at Darts Business Park as per fig. 5 

to delete recently developed land: 

 
Figure 5 - Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by omission of land outlined red 

 

Proposed Change- Amend CPA boundaries to delete recent housing development at 

Strawberry Hill Lympstone as fig. 6 below: 

 

Figure 6- Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by omission of land outlined red  

 

 

Proposed Change- Extend the CPA boundary inland to the ridgeline east of 

Lympstone and north of Summer Lane, Exmouth as per figure 7 below. 

page 357



 

Figure 7- Proposed amendment of CPA boundary by addition of land outlined in red 

Note- In addition to these amendments a number of small, isolated pockets of 

undeveloped land along the estuary shoreline that were not included in the CPA 

previously have been incorporated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

page 358



Area 5 – Exmouth to Topsham

 

page 359


	Agenda
	6 Creation of Local Plan Member Working Group
	7 Proposed Employment Sites for Consultation
	Employment land report- Appendix 1, list of potential allocations
	Empl. Report Appendix 2_Site Selection

	8 Designated Neighbourhood Area Housing Requirement in the new Local Plan
	DNA- housing requirements methodologyV05
	DNAHR Technical Report Appendix G
	01 All Saints
	02 Axminster
	03 Axmouth
	04 Aylesbeare
	05 Beer
	06 Bishops Clyst
	07 Broadclyst
	08 Broadhembury
	09 Budleigh Salterton
	10 Chardstock
	11 Clyst St George
	12 Clyst Honiton_REVISED
	13 Colyton and Colyford
	14 Cotleigh
	15 Dalwood
	16 Dunkeswell
	17 East Budleigh with Bicton
	18 Exmouth
	19 Farringdon
	20 Feniton
	21 Hawkchurch
	22 Honiton
	23 Kilmington
	24 Luppitt
	25 Lympstone
	26 Membury
	27 Monkton
	28 Newton Poppleford and Harpford
	29 Otterton
	30 Ottery St Mary
	31 Payhembury
	32 Rockbeare
	33 Seaton
	34 Sidmouth
	35 Stockland
	36 Uplyme_REVISED
	37 Upottery
	38 West Hill
	39 Whimple
	40 Woodbury
	41 Yarcombe
	42 SUMMARY TABLE_revised


	9 Coastal Preservation Area Policy Boundaries in the new Local Plan
	Appendix 1-Coastal Preservation Areas assessments full report
	Appendix 2- Coastal Preservation Areas report, consultation material




